TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY DOCTORAL THESIS 29/2018

Ecotoxicological Impacts of Industrially Relevant Engineered Nanomaterials: Effects on *Tetrahymena thermophila*

KATRE JUGANSON



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Science Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHEMICAL PHYSICS AND BIOPHYSICS Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology

This dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on March 21, 2018.

Supervisors:Dr. Monika Mortimer, Project Scientist, Bren School of Environmental
Science & Management and Earth Research Institute, University of
California, Santa Barbara, United States

Dr. Angela Ivask, Senior Research Scientist, Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Estonia

Opponents: Prof. Dr. Bernd Nowack, Technology and Society Laboratory, Empa -Materials Science and Technology, Switzerland

Dr. Arvo Tuvikene, Institute of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Estonia

Defence of the thesis: June 15th, 2018

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for doctoral or equivalent academic degree.

Katre Juganson



Copyright: Katre Juganson, 2018 ISSN 2585-6898 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-83-257-6 (publication) ISSN 2585-6901 (PDF) ISBN 978-9949-83-258-3 (PDF) TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL DOKTORITÖÖ 29/2018

Tööstuslike nanomaterjalide keskkonnatoksilisuse hindamine: nanoosakeste mõju algloomale *Tetrahymena thermophila*

KATRE JUGANSON



CONTENTS

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	9
ABBREVIATIONS	10
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	12
1.1 Nanomaterials – innovative materials with a wide range of applications	12
1.1.1 Nanomaterial definitions and sources	12
1.1.2 Worldwide production of nanomaterials	13
1.1.3 Nanomaterial applications	14
1.1.4 Nanomaterial release and fate in the environment	16
1.1.5 Methodological considerations for physico-chemical characterisation of	
nanomaterials	18
1.2 Ecotoxicity of engineered nanomaterials	19
1.2.1 Ecotoxicity testing and hazard assessment of engineered nanomaterials	19
1.2.2 Existing test formats and their limitations in nanoecotoxicology	21
1.2.3 Ciliates as relevant and promising models for environmental hazard	
assessment	22
1.2.3.1 Tetrahymena thermophila as a promising ciliate model	22
1.3 Nanoparticle-triggered toxicity mechanisms	29
1.3.1 Nano-bio interactions	29
1.3.2 Dissolution of metal-containing nanomaterials	30
1.3.3 Reactive oxygen species generation	30
1.3.4 Other mechanisms of action	31
1.4 Current efforts to gather and analyse the existing nanoecotoxicological knowledge .	31
AIMS OF THE STUDY	33
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	34
2.1 Literature search and data analysis	34
2.2 Experimental studies	34
2.2.1 Methods for NP characterisation	34
2.2.2 Methods for studying Ag NP effects on Tetrahymena thermophila	35
2.2.3 Data analysis	35
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	37
3.1 Synthesis of existing data on ecotoxicological effects of engineered nanomateria	als
(Papers I-II)	37
3.1.1 Comparison of toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected	
organisms and in vitro test systems (Paper I)	37
3.1.2 NanoE-Tox database – a collection of ecotoxicity data of industrially relevant	t
engineered nanomaterials	39
3.1.2.1 Relevance and distribution of data, observations on keyword selection	n
in literature search	41
3.1.2.2 Analysis of data on physico-chemical characterisation of ENMs	43
3.1.2.3 Analysis of nanoecotoxicological data	45
3.1.2.4 Effects and mechanisms of action of selected ENMs based on the	
analysis of NanoE-Tox data	46
3.2 Effects of nanosilver on Tetrahymena thermophila (Papers III, IV)	47

3.2.1 Toxicity of silver compounds to Tetrahymena thermophila	48
3.2.1.1 Characterisation of Ag nanoparticles	48
3.2.1.2 Effects of silver compounds on Tetrahymena thermophila viability	49
3.2.2 Silver nitrate biomineralisation by Tetrahymena thermophila	50
3.2.2.1 Characterisation of formed silver nanoparticles	51
3.2.2.2 Toxicity of extracellularly formed silver nanoparticles to Tetrahymen	а
thermophila	52
3.2.3 Sub-lethal effects of silver compounds on Tetrahymena thermophila	52
3.2.3.1 Effects on gene expression	53
3.2.3.2 Effects on physiological responses	56
CONCLUSIONS	57
LIST OF FIGURES	58
LIST OF TABLES	59
REFERENCES	60
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	75
ABSTRACT	76
KOKKUVÕTE	78
PUBLICATION I	83
PUBLICATION II	105
PUBLICATION III	135
PUBLICATION IV	147
CURRICULUM VITAE	173
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	175

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications referred to by their Roman numerals in the text.

- I Bondarenko, O., **Juganson, K.**, Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A. (2013). Toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected environmentally relevant test organisms and mammalian cells *in vitro*: a critical review. *Archives of Toxicology 87*, 1181-1200.
- II **Juganson, K.**, Ivask, A., Blinova, I., Mortimer, M., Kahru A. (2015). NanoE-Tox: New and in-depth database concerning ecotoxicity of nanomaterials. *Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology 6*, 1788-1804.
- III **Juganson, K.**, Mortimer, M., Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., Kahru, A. (2013). Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila. Environmental Science-Processes & Impacts 15*, 244-250.
- IV Juganson, K., Mortimer, M., Ivask, A., Pucciarelli, S., Miceli, C., Orupõld, K., Kahru, A. (2017). Mechanisms of toxic action of silver nanoparticles in the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*: from gene expression to phenotypic events. *Environmental Pollution 225*, 481-489.

AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION TO THE PUBLICATIONS

- I The author participated in planning and meta-analysis of the study, was responsible for gathering the information about the effects of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles and their respective soluble metal salts to algae and protozoa and participated in the preparation of the manuscript. Her contribution was equal to the first author.
- II The author participated in the study design, was responsible for collecting ecotoxicological information on Ag, ZnO, CeO₂ and CuO nanoparticles, participated in collecting ecotoxicological information on TiO₂ nanoparticles, carbon nanotubes and fullerenes and uniformed the data collected by other contributors. She conducted the meta-analysis and was corresponding author of the manuscript.
- III The author was responsible for the study design, performed all the assays except visualisation of the formed silver nanoparticles with scanning electron microscopy. She was the major interpreter of the data and participated in the preparation of the manuscript.
- IV The author was responsible for the study design, performed all the assays except AAS analysis, interpreted the data and was corresponding author of the manuscript.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS IN RELATED FIELD

Kurvet, I., **Juganson, K.**, Vija, H., Sihtmäe, M., Blinova, I., Syvertsen-Wiig, G., Kahru, A. (2017). Toxicity of Nine (Doped) Rare Earth Metal Oxides and Respective Individual Metals to Aquatic Microorganisms *Vibrio fischeri* and *Tetrahymena thermophila*, *Materials* 10, Article ID 754.

Heinlaan, M., Muna, M., **Juganson, K.**, Oriekhova, O., Stoll, S., Kahru, A., Slaveykova, V.I. (2017). Exposure to sublethal concentrations of Co₃O₄ and Mn₂O₃ nanoparticles induced elevated metal body burden in *Daphnia magna*. *Aquatic Toxicology* 189, 123-133.

Jemec, A., Kahru, A., Potthoff, A., Drobne, D., Heinlaan, M., Böhme, S., Geppert, M., Novak, S., Schirmer, K., Rekulapally, R., Singh, S., Aruoja, V., Sihtmäe, M., **Juganson, K.**, Käkinen, A., Kühnel, D. (2016). An interlaboratory comparison of nanosilver characterisation and hazard identification: harmonising techniques for high quality data. *Environment International 87*, 20-32.

Joost, U., Juganson, K., Visnapuu, M., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A., Nõmmiste, E., Joost, U., Kisand, V., Ivask, A. (2015). Photocatalytic antibacterial activity of nano-TiO2 (anatase)based thin films: Effects on *Escherichia coli* cells and fatty acids. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B-Biology 142*, 178-185.

Ivask, A., **Juganson, K.**, Bondarenko, O., Mortimer, M., Aruoja, V., Kasemets, K., Blinova, I., Heinlaan, M., Slaveykova, V., Kahru, A. (2014). Mechanisms of toxic action of Ag, ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to selected ecotoxicological test organisms and mammalian cells *in vitro*: A comparative review. *Nanotoxicology 8*, 57-71.

Visnapuu, M., Joost, U., **Juganson, K.**, Künnis-Beres, K., Kahru, A., Kisand, V., Ivask, A. (2013). Dissolution of Silver Nanowires and Nanospheres Dictates Their Toxicity to *Escherichia coli. Biomed Research International*, Article ID 819252.

Klauson, D., Pilnik-Sudareva, J., Pronina, N., Budarnaja, O., Krichevskaya, M., Käkinen, A., **Juganson, K.**, Preis, S. (2013). Aqueous photocatalytic oxidation of prednisolone. *Central European Journal of Chemistry 11*, 1620-1633.

INTRODUCTION

Nanotechnology is believed to result in a paradigm shift in many fields. It is also considered to be the 21st century industrial revolution [1] as manipulating with materials in nanometre scale can result in lighter, stronger, more durable and more efficient materials. Sustainable nanotechnology aims to produce engineered nanomaterials (ENMs, particles with at least one dimension below 100 nm) that have the desired properties but do not trigger adverse environmental effects [2]. The design of environmentally safe ENMs has been hindered by the limited knowledge on the mechanisms of toxic action of ENMs. Moreover, ENM risk assessment and predictive modelling of ENM adverse outcomes need to overcome specific challenges posed by the variety of different sizes, shapes, crystallinities and coatings of ENMs, each driving a distinct toxicity profile. To facilitate ENM hazard characterisation, quantitative nanostructure-activity relationship (QNAR) models have been developed. However, the main drawback of such approach is the limited availability of data on ENM parameters, their fate and properties in the test environment and the details of the toxicity testing procedure because these are often not reported in the published literature [3].

Currently, silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) that have antimicrobial properties are one of the most used ENMs in consumer products. Namely, 12-24% of all the nano-enabled products registered in different inventories contain Ag NPs [4-6]. Thus, it is likely that in the course of the product life-cycle, Ag NPs may be released into the environment and reach water bodies. Alarmingly, Ag NPs are very toxic to many aquatic organisms but, albeit extensively studied, the mechanism of toxic action of Ag NPs is still debatable [3]. Therefore, additional information on toxicity mechanisms of ENMs to various species is needed for realistic environmental risk assessment. Protozoa, unicellular eukaryote consumers, are abundant in aquatic habitats and crucial in nutrient recycling. As grazers of bacteria, protozoa play an important ecological role in mineralisation of organic matter making nutrients more available to primary producers. Owing to their natural abundance and important ecological role, are excellent models in ecotoxicology, including nanotoxicology. protozoa Ciliated protozoan Tetrahymena thermophila, a popular molecular biology model organism, is well-suited for studying the mechanisms of toxic action of ENMs due to its extensively characterised cell structure, metabolism and genome [7].

In the current thesis, existing literature on the effects of selected industrially relevant, generally biocidal metal-based ENMs towards organisms that they are meant to fight (i.e., "target" organisms) and other organisms (i.e., "non-target" organisms) was critically reviewed. Further, ecotoxicological data on eight industrially relevant ENMs was mapped, analysed and published as an open-access database. Finally, Ag toxicity, both in nanoparticulate (Ag NPs) and ionic (Ag⁺) form, towards ciliate *Tetrahymena thermophila* was studied at gene transcription and physiological level to shed light on the detoxification and toxicity mechanisms of Ag in free-living phagotrophic protozoa.

ABBREVIATIONS

AAS	atomic absorption spectroscopy				
ATP	adenosine 5'-triphosphate				
BET	Brunauer-Emmet-Teller				
CAT	catalase				
CLP	Classification, Labelling and Packaging				
CNT	carbon nanotubes				
DCF	fluorescent 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein				
DCFH	non-fluorescent 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein				
DCFH-DA	2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein-diacetate				
DI	deionised water				
DLS	dynamic light scattering				
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid				
EC ₅₀	the median effective concentration of the toxicant that induces a designated effect in 50% of the test organisms after a specified				
	exposure time				
ENMs	engineered nanomaterials				
EU	European Union				
GPX	glutathione peroxidase				
GSR	glutathione reductase				
HSP	heat shock protein				
ISO	International Organisation for Standardization				
MDA	malondialdehyde				
MIC	minimal inhibitory concentration				
MTT	metallothionein				
NOEC	no observed effect concentration				
NOM	natural organic matter				
NP(s)	nanoparticle(s)				
OD	optical density				
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development				
PCR	polymerase chain reaction				
PDI	polydispersity index				
PS	polystyrene				
PVP	polyvinylpyrrolidone				
QDs	quantum dots				
Q(N)SAR	quantitative (nano)structure-activity relationship				
REACH	Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and restriction of				
	CHemicals				
RFU	relative fluorescence unit				
RLU	relative light unit				
ROS	reactive oxygen species				
SD	standard deviation				
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate				
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis				
SEF	soluble extracellular fraction of T. thermophila				

SEM	scanning electron microscopy
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SSA	specific surface area
ТВА	thiobarbituric acid
TBARS	thiobarbituric acid reactive substances
TEM	transmission electron microscopy
UV	ultraviolet
WoS	Clarivate Analytics Web of Science

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Nanomaterials – innovative materials with a wide range of applications

1.1.1 Nanomaterial definitions and sources

By most definitions, nanomaterials are materials that have at least one size dimension in the range of 1-100 nm. Thus, according to their shape, nanomaterials can be nanoparticles (all three dimensions in nanoscale), fibres and rods (two dimensions in nanoscale), or films and plates (one dimension in nanoscale) [8]. In order to ensure legal clarity, various organisations have developed their definition for "nanomaterial". European Commission recommended the following definition on October 18, 2011: 'Nanomaterial' means a natural, incidental or manufactured material containing particles, in an unbound state or as an aggregate or as an agglomerate and where, for 50 % or more of the particles in the number size distribution, one or more external dimensions is in the size range 1 nm-100 nm. In specific cases /.../ the number size distribution threshold of 50 % may be replaced by a threshold between 1 and 50 %. /.../ fullerenes, graphene flakes and single wall carbon nanotubes /.../ should be considered as nanomaterials [9]. This definition is also implemented in the EU biocidal products regulation [10], however, earlier regulations, such as cosmetic products regulation [11] and food-related regulations [12, 13], include different definitions. Namely, according to cosmetics regulation, nanomaterial is defined as intentionally manufactured insoluble or biopersistent material [11], and in food industry, any intentionally produced material that is \leq 100 nm or structures that are larger than 100 nm but retain nanoproperties, like large specific surface area and/or distinctive physicochemical properties, is considered a nanomaterial [12, 13].

Throughout their evolution, humans and the environment have been exposed to natural airborne ultrafine nanoscale particles. For instance, fullerenes and other nanomaterials are released during natural combustion processes like volcano eruptions and forest fires. Furthermore, most of the biological macromolecules are also "nanosized materials". With industrialisation, anthropogenic nanoparticles, released from different sources of thermo-degradation, e.g., power plants, jet engines, and internal combustion engines, were added to the natural ones [14].

Nanomaterials tend to be more reactive compared to their bulk counterparts due to higher specific surface area which means that relatively large fraction of atoms is exposed on the particle surface. The latter is the main driver of nanomanufacturing and design of novel ENMs during recent decades. Some examples of ENM desirable properties include quantum effects, novel optical and electrical properties. ENMs can vary both in size and chemical composition – some of the ENMs can be based on only one material (e.g., carbon nanotubes (CNT), Ag NPs) or metal oxide (e.g., CuO NPs, ZnO NPs, TiO₂ NPs), others have complex structures like quantum dots (QDs) that have core shell organisation [8, 15].

In the beginning of 1990s, the term "green chemistry" was introduced in the field of chemistry, the goal of which was to reduce chemical waste and the use of toxic substances, introduce novel biodegradable materials and increase overall sustainability

[16]. More recently, green chemistry principles have been applied also in ENM synthesis by employing a natural process, biomineralisation, which occurs at ambient conditions. Naturally occurring mechanisms of mechanical protection (SiO₂ for nanosized spikes, stronger shells), detoxification of metals (e.g., Au, Ag, Cd), and navigation (magnetic Fe₃S₄ and Fe₃O₄ NPs) have been successfully used for ENM synthesis in the laboratories [17]. Biomineralisation of metal ions by enzymatically detoxifying or reducing them to zero-valent metals, that then form nanosized particles, has been shown to take place in many different organisms, including bacteria, algae, plants and fungi [18]. Moreover, also cell-free extracts containing proteins, peptides, polysaccharides and other reducing compounds can be used to produce "green" ENMs [17].

1.1.2 Worldwide production of nanomaterials

The available information on ENM worldwide production volumes is limited, but it is estimated that the global ENM production levels exceeded 340,000 tonnes in 2016 [19]. Half of the world's ENMs (50%) are produced in the United States followed by the EU (19%) and China (12%) [20]. Based on the estimated global production volumes, the following ten ENMs are being produced at volumes exceeding 100 t/yr: SiO₂, TiO₂, Fe, Al₂O₃, ZnO, nanoclays, CeO₂, CNT, Ag, and Cu (Fig. 1). According to Sun et al. [21], the ENM production estimates have increased in time and in 2014 the annual production in the European Union had reached about 10,000 tonnes (t) for TiO₂-NPs, 1,600 t for ZnO-NPs, 380 t for CNT, 30 t for Ag NPs, and 20 t for fullerenes.



Figure 1. Estimated annual production of engineered nanomaterials globally (blue columns, based on Keller and Lazareva [20]) and in the European Union (EU, orange dashes, based on Sun et al. [21]). The minimum (Global low) and maximum (Global high) values and the values reported for EU are shown in the table below the graph and are in tonnes per year.

In the EU, France is in the front rank of states collecting data about production and import of ENMs. The French Ministry of the Environment, Energy, and the Sea announced in

its 2017 annual report that in 2016, reported production and import volumes of ENMs in France were 304,282 and 120,041 t/yr, respectively. Remarkably, the volumes of different types of ENMs registered in France reflect the global trends – SiO₂, TiO₂, and nanoclays are produced or imported to France over 10,000 t/yr, Al₂O₃ 1000-10,000 t/yr, Fe₂O₃, and CeO₂ 100-1000 t/yr, ZnO 10-100 t/yr, Fe₃O₄ and 1-10 t/yr, Ag 1-10 kg/yr, and CuO 0.1-1 kg/yr. In addition, the combined production and import of nanosized CaCO₃, carbon black (including CNT), AlO(OH) and some organic carbon compounds to France exceeded 100 t/yr in 2016 [22].

1.1.3 Nanomaterial applications

Nanomaterials have been used since ancient times. For example, Lycurgus Cup from fourth century contains gold and silver NPs and can change its colour from green to red depending on the illumination. Similarly, gold, silver and copper NPs have been used in stained glass windows and ceramics [23]. Nowadays, nanotechnology is applied in diverse fields, e.g., drug-delivery systems [24], water-filtration [25], agriculture, feed and food [26], electronics, thin film coatings [15], and intelligent textiles [27].

Based on three inventories that list nanotechnology products [4-6], thousands of nano-enabled products are available on the market. Ag NPs have been incorporated into the highest number of products, followed by TiO₂ NPs and SiO₂ (Table 1). The latter two are also produced in the largest volumes (Fig. 1). In the EU market, more than half (55%) of the nano-enabled consumer products are used in the field of "health and fitness", 21% of the products belong to "home and garden" category, and the third major field is "automotive" (12%) [28]. Additionally, humans can be exposed to ENMs *via* nanomedicine. ENMs are already used as contrast agents (e.g., iron oxide, functionalised gold) and drug delivery agents (e.g., polymeric micelles, polymer-drug conjugates, liposomes), and the course has been set to nanostructured implants that are based on nano-hydroxyapatite and Ag NP-based wound management [29]. In the next paragraphs, the applications of major ENMs (according to Fig. 1) are introduced.

,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,,	Consumer Products Inventory	The Nanodataba	Nanotechnology base Products Database	
	[4]	[5]	[6]	
Total number of products	1827	3005	7742	
CeO ₂	2	1	1	
Fe-containing	6	2	7	
Fullerenes	7	10	36	
Nanoclays	7	7	47	
Al ₂ O ₃	8	5	65	
Cu-containing	10	9	25	
ZnO	38	21	39	
CNT	38	64	55	
SiO ₂	43	54	222	
TiO ₂	92	123	511	
Ag	442	379	979	

Table 1. Nano-enabled products in different inventories. Search was performed on June 25, 2017.

The widest applications for CeO_2 have been in polishing applications and as an additive for diesel fuel to reduce soot [30]. In addition, CeO_2 NPs are used in electronic and optical devices, paints, metallurgy and as catalysts in petroleum refining [31]. Interestingly, CeO_2 could serve as anti-inflammatory material [30].

Due to their magnetic properties, **iron**-containing NPs have attracted interest in medicine as contrasting agents in magnetic resonance imaging and in drug delivery. In addition, Fe-containing ENMs can bind organic pollutants and heavy metals from the environment, and serve as an iron supplement for plants and animals [32]. Compared to bulk iron particles, nanosized Fe-compounds are better absorbed by farm animals, e.g., sheep and thus, serve as more efficient iron sources. Similar effects are expected also in humans where Fe-containing NPs could help to relieve iron deficiency [26].

Fullerenes are excellent radical scavengers and have been used as antioxidants in cosmetics and biological systems and to protect polymers. Fullerenes can also be used as electron acceptors in photovoltaics, and alkali metal doped fullerenes form superconducting crystals [33].

Nanoclays vary in composition and therefore properties, and include materials such as halloysite, smectites, and Laponite. Nanoclays are mainly used as fillers in polymers, toothpaste, cosmetics, coatings, and agriculture but also in medicine as drug carriers and as binders in catalysts. Due to porous nature nanoclays serve as adsorbents for various organic and inorganic pollutants [34].

Al₂O₃ has a wide range of useful properties such as high strength, good acid and alkali resistance, thermal conductivity and heat resistance, and high adsorption capacity. Thus, the applications of nano-alumina include catalysts, porous membranes, adsorbents for removing toxic contaminants, pigments, refractory materials, electrical insulators, thermometry sensors, abrasion resistant materials for surface protection and other fields [35, 36].

CuO has narrow band gap, low thermal emittance, high carrier concentration and good electrical properties. Nano-CuO applications range from catalysts, energy storage, sensors, photodetectors, cathodes or barrier layers in solar cells, and supercapacitors to absorbents for inorganic pollutants. CuO nanostructures are superhydrophobic which allows to use them in self-cleaning coatings, surface protection and microfluidics [37]. Since CuO NPs are antimicrobial, their potential applications include water treatment, and medical devices [38].

As opposed to CuO NPs, **ZnO** has wide band gap suitable for semiconductors, (UV-)shielding materials, sensors and filling materials [39]. Nano-ZnO is used in cosmetics, sunscreens and baby powders [40], and it is a promising material for remediation of hazardous waste [41]. In textile industry, ZnO whiskers have been used to enhance antistatic properties of synthetic fibres and render textiles UV-protective and antimicrobial [27]. ZnO may also be used in food packaging to protect food from pathogens [26].

CNTs have high aspect ratio, low density, high mechanical strength, and high electrical and thermal conductivity, rendering them suitable for electronics, sensors, energy storage devices, filters, automobiles and sporting goods [42]. CNT-coated cotton fibres can mimic lotus leaves. Additionally, CNT-polymer composites can decrease weight of textiles, improve their strength and toughness [27]. CNTs have potential

applications in medicine as implants, agents in tissue engineering and cell identification, and drug carriers [43].

Amorphous **silica** has been widely used as a stabiliser in medicine, food, and cosmetics. In addition, it is used as a filler, adsorbent, anti-caking agent and a carrier. Colloidal SiO₂ can also be used as a catalyst [44]. Furthermore, SiO₂ NPs have brought innovation to clothing industry as combining them with water-repellents results in hydrophobic textiles [27]. Porous hollow SiO₂ could potentially be used as a pesticide/herbicide carrier [26].

 TiO_2 is a common food additive that is used as a pigment for its white colour. It has usage as an antimicrobial agent and TiO₂-based sensors can be used in food packaging to monitor changes occurring to the product [26]. In textiles, TiO₂ NPs have been applied to reduce static charge, block UV-light, and impart antimicrobial properties [27]. Other uses of nano-TiO₂ include sunscreens and other cosmetics, paints, selfcleaning and anti-fogging coatings, and solar cells [45, 46].

In the EU market, **silver** is ENM that is added to the largest variety of consumer products [28]. Ag NPs antimicrobial activity has been exploited in many applications, for example in textiles [27], food packaging, and as a replacement to conventional antibiotics in drinking water of chickens and pigs [26], in cosmetics, in medicine for antimicrobial catheters, scalpels and bandages, and in coatings of mobile phones and toothbrushes [47]. In medicine, Ag NPs have perspective as antiviral agents to fight diseases like HIV, hepatitis, influenza, and norovirus. Other potential medical applications of Ag NPs include photothermal therapy and cancer treatment [48]. In addition, Ag NPs possess unique catalytic, optical and sensing properties that make them useful as catalysts and sensors, and in applications such as nanophotonics, solar cells and Raman spectroscopy [47].

1.1.4 Nanomaterial release and fate in the environment

Due to the increasing production and use, ENMs may enter to the environment during their life cycle starting from ENM production, incorporation into products, the use and finally disposal. As ENM detection in the environment is a challenging task, most of the data on ENM release into the environment are based on modelling [8]. An EU scale modelling study performed by Sun et al. [21] suggested that due to their wide applications in cosmetics, TiO₂ and ZnO NPs are the most prominently released NPs into wastewater during the production, product manufacturing and consumption. As TiO₂ is also used as a pigment, the residues of nano-TiO₂ may end up in landfills. Among other types of NPs that are incorporated into consumer products, Ag NPs were found to be mainly released into wastewater or recycled and carbonaceous ENMs burned in waste incineration plants or recycled. The same study stated that the annual increment for TiO₂, ZnO and Ag NPs, CNTs and fullerenes in soils due to ENM release is in ng/kg scale and the concentrations in surface waters below 1 μ g/L. Global-scale modelling performed by Liu et al. [19] found that ENMs are primarily released into water, followed by soil and air (Fig. 2).

In the environment, ENMs undergo different transformations that determine the environmental effects of these ENMs [49]. In aqueous environments, the stability, dissolution, surface reactions, and mobility of ENMs depend on both ENM surface properties and environmental conditions (pH, ionic strength, natural organic matter or

NOM). The main surface modifications of ENMs in the environment are adsorption/desorption of inorganic and organic compounds, chemical reduction, oxidation or sulphidation, and recrystallisation. As a result of these processes, the NP original pristine coating that usually provides suspension stability through steric or electric repulsions is replaced by NOM biocorona. It has been demonstrated with a variety of carbon-based, metallic, and metal-oxide NPs that NOM may either improve the stability of nanosuspensions or cause their coagulation. Interactions of NPs with inorganic ions may change the surface chemistry significantly and affect agglomeration processes. Chemical redox reactions occurring on the surface of metal-containing ENMs often lead to formation of coreshell structures. For instance, the surface of zero-valent iron NPs may corrode and form an iron oxide shell, Ag NPs may undergo complexation with chloride and sulphides and form AgCl or Ag₂S shell, Cu NPs may be oxidised to CuO₂ which oxide shell. results in the formation of copper Another type of transformation that certain metal-based NPs, such as Ag, ZnO, FeOx, CuO NPs, undergo is dissolution [50]. NP dissolution rate can vary in different environmental media and is an important characteristic of NPs that often contributes to NP toxicity. Similar transformation processes have also been described in soils; however, compared to aquatic environments, the prediction of ENMs' behaviour in soils is more complicated due to the complex nature of soil – solid matrix that may interact with NPs and aqueous phase containing high concentrations of natural particulate material [51].



Figure 2. The flows of global production, use, disposal and release of industrially relevant nanoparticles. The vertical size indicates estimated volumes (tonnes per year). NCs – nanoclays, MSW – municipal solid waste, WWTP – wastewater treatment plant, WIP – waste incineration plant. Sankey diagram by Liu et al. [19] is licenced under CC BY 2.0.

While potential transformation processes and their mechanisms have been mostly studied at laboratory-scale and by changing one experimental condition at a time, in natural environments several processes could occur at once. For instance, in case of Ag

NPs, besides physical transformations where Ag NPs may form homo- or heteroagglomerates [52], the particles may undergo simultaneous environment-dependent chemical transformations. In aerobic conditions, the first step of most chemical transformations is oxidative dissolution. Oxidative dissolution of Ag NPs, that in aerobic environment are usually coated with Ag₂O layer, has two stages: (i) the fast stage where the Ag_2O layer dissolves and Ag^+ ions are released from the NP surface, (ii) and the slow stage, where oxidation of NPs leads to the formation of Ag-core Ag₂O-shell structures [53]. The formed Ag₂O layer may again undergo fast dissolution; it might also protect the NPs from further oxidation. The dissolution rate is additionally controlled by the size and concentration of NPs – larger and highly concentrated particles tend to persist in the environment for longer time. Ag⁺, formed during oxidative dissolution, may react with Cl⁻, and the resulting AgCl may coat Ag NPs, hindering further dissolution. However, at high chloride concentrations (e.g., in seawater) the NP dissolution continues and species like $AgCl_2^-$, $AgCl_3^{2-}$, and $AgCl_4^{3-}$ may be released from the NPs. Simultaneously to chlorination, sulphidation of Ag NPs that have high affinity towards sulphur may occur leading to the formation of very stable Ag₂S. Remarkably, direct sulphidation of Ag NPs is also possible in anaerobic conditions (i.e. without prior Ag⁺ release) in the presence of high concentrations of sulphides; such conditions prevail in anaerobic zones of the wastewater treatment plants [53, 54]. In the presence of sunlight and dissolved organic matter the released Ag⁺ can be reduced to Ag⁰ that may deposit on the surface of Ag NPs or form new NPs. Such simultaneous oxidationreduction processes take place in all natural water bodies, making the elucidation of Ag NP fate, transport and mechanisms of toxic action in environmentally relevant conditions challenging [53].

1.1.5 Methodological considerations for physico-chemical characterisation of nanomaterials

In order to understand the environmental fate, transformations and toxicity mechanisms of ENMs, their physico-chemical properties need to be thoroughly characterised. At large, ENM properties can be divided into intrinsic and environment-dependent properties. The intrinsic properties of as-synthesised ENMs include chemical composition, crystallinity, purity, particle primary size, shape and surface properties (surface chemistry, charge and specific surface area). The environment-dependent properties reflect the changes that have occurred to ENMs during their storage, or during experiments. The latter include agglomeration, dissolution, change in the surface charge and biocorona formation [2].

Physico-chemical characterisation of ENMs usually involves the use of several different techniques, including (i) microscopic methods (atomic-force microscopy, scanning tunnelling microscopy, transmission, and scanning electron microscopy) to study the shape, size, surface texture, chemical composition and electrical conductivity; (ii) atomic spectrometry techniques, e.g., inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) to determine the elemental composition of ENMs; (iii) X-ray techniques that provide detailed information on surface chemistry, crystallinity, and elemental composition; (iv) light scattering techniques for measuring ENM hydrodynamic size in aquatic environments; and (v) spectroscopic techniques that enable to monitor the stability of ENM suspensions [55, 56].

Generally, using a combination of different characterisation techniques is needed for sufficient physico-chemical characterisation of ENMs to enable interpretation of the experimental data and elucidate ENM mechanisms of toxic action. However, the existing methods also have several drawbacks. For instance, microscopic sample preparation may often introduce artefacts, imaging techniques can be timeconsuming for quantitative analysis of ENMs, light scattering techniques are not suitable for ENM diameter measurements in samples with highly heterogeneous size distributions or non-spherical particles, and some techniques (like ICP-MS) fail to distinguish between metal-NP and respective ionic metal [55, 56]. Additionally, detection and accurate quantification of ENMs in the environment is currently still a challenge due to ENM low concentrations in the environment and high environmental backgrounds of natural nanoparticulate matter and colloids that have composition similar to the ENMs [8].

1.2 Ecotoxicity of engineered nanomaterials

1.2.1 Ecotoxicity testing and hazard assessment of engineered nanomaterials

In the early 2000s, the field of nanotoxicology emerged from the studies of airborne incidental particles with diameters <100 nm [29]. These studies outlined the importance of considering the unique properties of materials at nanoscale when evaluating the biological effects of such materials. Namely, it was argued that the ratio of surface atoms to total atoms determines the material reactivity and thus, nanosized particles were likely to have increased biological activity. In addition, the small size of ENMs that is in the same range of biological macromolecules facilitates cellular uptake and other ENM interactions with cells and subcellular structures [14].

According to EU Chemicals Regulation REACH, all substances that are manufactured in the EU or imported to the EU more than 1 t/yr have to be registered and characterised for their potential hazardous effects [57]. Although the term "nano" is not used in REACH, ENMs are included in "all substances"; thus, the same requirements for registration and hazard assessment apply to ENMs and other substances. In general, for hazard assessment, it is recommended to use more than one test species belonging to different trophic levels. For example, to estimate toxicity to aquatic food-web, usually one species of algae, crustaceans, and fish are used [58]. REACH regulation lists a variety of ecotoxicological assays that must be conducted along with assays that can be used to evaluate the toxicity towards humans. The exact requirements for ecotoxicological assays depend on the quantity of substance manufactured/imported, namely,

- acute effects on aquatic invertebrates (preferably *Daphnia* species) and the effect on growth of aquatic plants (preferably algae) must be studied for all substances manufactured/imported > 1 t/yr;
- substances produced/imported > 10 t/yr must be additionally tested with fish (either short- or long-term) and activated sludge;
- (iii) additional long-term tests with invertebrates (preferably *Daphnia* species) and fish (including various endpoints), and short-term tests with terrestrial invertebrates, plants and soil organisms are required for substances produced/imported > 100 t/yr;

(iv) and finally, long-term tests with terrestrial invertebrates and plants, sediment organisms, and birds must be additionally conducted if the production/import volume exceeds 1000 t/yr [57].

Based on the data obtained from these assays, acute and chronic hazard of a chemical (or an ENM) can be categorised according to EU's regulation on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures (CLP). Hazard evaluation is based on the half-effective or half-lethal concentration (i.e. the concentration that affects 50% of the population or tested organisms, $E(L)C_{50}$) of the substance in most sensitive organism, substance degradation rate and its bioconcentration factor. According to CLP, substances are classified as acutely very toxic to aquatic environment when $E(L)C_{50}$ for fish, crustaceans, algae or other aquatic plants is less than 1 mg/L. If the tested substance does not degrade rapidly or its bioconcentration factor exceeds 500, the substance could also pose long lasting effects to aquatic environment. In the latter case, the chronic hazard can be divided into 4 categories: $E(L)C_{50} \le 1mg/L - very$ toxic; $E(L)C_{50} > 1$ to ≤ 10 mg/L - toxic; $E(L)C_{50} > 10$ to ≤ 100 mg/L - harmful; and if $E(L)C_{50} >$ water solubility, the compound might cause long lasting harmful effects. [59]

On the other hand, the European Chemical Agency (ECHA) has admitted that due to the heterogeneous nature of ENMs, the implementation of REACH is challenging and resource intensive [60]. Moreover, Hjorth et al. [61] recently emphasised the importance of considering the dynamic properties of ENMs in the toxicity tests. The authors argued that there is a dilemma whether to use standard test guidelines for better comparability of the test results or modified test protocols for more realistic exposure conditions as standard guidelines often do not consider ENM-specific properties. Thus, alternative approaches for preliminary ENM hazard and risk evaluations are being developed to address the issue. For example, a recent review by Romero-Franco et al. [62] lists 18 existing risk assessment frameworks that could be applied for hazard identification or for risk assessment both in the natural and occupational environments. Among these, the most recent frameworks considering hazard evaluation of ENMs aim to divide ENMs into categories by applying either a road-map (NanoRiskCat, uses colour codes red-yellow-green-grey for high-mediumlow-unknown hazard respectively), decision-making tiered framework (DF4nanoGrouping, groups ENMs as soluble, biopersistent, passive or active) [63], or by modifying existing chemical hazard assessment tools (e.g., GreenScreen where after inclusion of nanospecific parameters the hazard of ENMs can be compared to the hazard of the same substances in conventional form) [64]. Furthermore, it has been proposed that for more cost-effective environmental risk evaluations, the tests for exposure, fate, kinetics, and hazard of ENMs should be performed in tiered approach, starting from simple screening tools and moving to more complex and realistic conditions if necessary [49, 65]. In parallel with experimental approaches, several studies have developed Q(N)SAR models or read-across methods to link existing hazard information with intrinsic properties of ENMs and thereby be able to predict the hazard of novel ENMs [66]. However, only a few of these studies have concentrated on environmentally relevant organisms. Chen et al. [67] modelled the effect of metallic ENMs to widest range of organisms – zebrafish Danio rerio, crustacean Daphnia magna, algae Raphidocelis subcapitata (formerly Selenastrum capricornutum and Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata), and bacteria Staphylococcus aureus, and

demonstrated higher than 80% predictability of toxicity values in species-specific models. Other two environmentally relevant QNARs modelled the effect of various ENMs towards D. rerio embryos to estimate qualitatively whether an ENM is toxic or not (accuracy over 70%) [68], and whether it induces mortality at 24 or 120 h post fertilisation (hpf) or causes heart malformations at 120 hpf (accuracy over 70%) [69]. Read-across methods for the prediction of ENM-caused hazard have been used even less and mainly with E. coli [66]. For example, Gajewicz et al. [70] proposed a nanoread-across method that consisted of the following steps: (i) calculation of the structural similarities of ENMs, (ii) grouping of the ENMs by the similarities, and (iii) read-across analysis that enabled qualitative estimation of ENM hazard. Interestingly, they showed that enthalpy of formation of the metal cation in the gas phase could explain about 85% of the toxicity of metal oxide ENMs towards Escherichia coli. However, this ENM property was effective only with *E. coli* and metal oxide NPs; for other model systems the calculation may result in both false negative and false positive predictions and thus, other specific ENM properties may be needed for read across purposes [70].

1.2.2 Existing test formats and their limitations in nanoecotoxicology

A number of guidelines are available for ecotoxicity tests with various aquatic, terrestrial and avian species that provide information about acute, chronic or specific effects, like reproduction, development, and respiration [71]. However, it is now widely recognised that, because of the possible interferences of ENMs with the assays, these protocols should be used and the results interpreted with reservations when testing ENMs [58]. For example, in aquatic assays, turbid ENM suspensions may cause shading of light, which in algal assays may lead to misinterpretation of the results. Moreover, some ENMs are known to cause cell agglomeration when in contact with test organisms (e.g., TiO₂ NPs entrap algae, ENM adsorption on crustaceans may immobilise or hinder the respiration of the organisms). Additionally, ENMs may interfere with toxicity assays by guenching the fluorescence of indicator dyes or interacting with other assay components. For instance, Comet assay, that is used to assess the extent of DNA damage, has been shown to indicate false positive results when used with ENMs [72, 73]. Another aspect of the existing standardised methods, that is considered problematic in ENM toxicity testing, is the flexibility in the selection of the test medium. Since various particle- and media-dependent changes occur to ENMs during the exposure, it is often difficult to attribute the observed toxic effects to pristine ENMs or their modifications. Thus, the use of different test media hinders the comparisons between the results obtained using ecotoxicological assays with the same organism [74]. Moreover, sometimes the effect of ENMs may be misinterpreted due to the study design – the effects of ENMs may be overestimated as some ENMs adsorb nutrients from the test media leading to nutrient depletion [72]. On the other hand, the effects of soluble ENMs might be underestimated due to unintentional use of chelators in the test media [74]. ENM testing in soils is even more complicated than in aqueous media because of the complexity of the soil matrix that makes defining "the representative soil" difficult. Another challenge in case of soil matrices is achieving homogeneous distribution of ENMs and ensuring equal ENM concentrations in each replicate [75].

Many of the aforementioned issues were addressed by Hund-Rinke et al. [75] who explored the applicability of eight OECD standard tests and proposed their modifications suitable for testing ENMs. For example, test guideline (TG) 201 for algal growth (*R. subcapitata*) was adapted for ENMs by removing a chelating agent from the medium and using chlorophyll A concentration measurements as a proxy for biomass instead of optical density that can easily be interfered with by the turbidity of ENMs. According to Hund-Rinke et al [62], ENM sedimentation was an issue in two tests: TG 202: "Acute immobilisation of *Daphnia magna*" and TG 210: "Fish early-life stage test". The proposed solution for TG202 was to use low ionic strength media, and for TG 210 to apply daily water changes. In the latter test, additional issue with the sensitivities of different developmental stages of the test organism to ENMs was noted – ENMs were more toxic to the hatched larvae than to fish embryos. As a solution, the authors proposed to employ the more sensitive developmental stage – larvae – in testing ENM toxicity to fish.

1.2.3 Ciliates as relevant and promising models for environmental hazard assessment

Ciliates are abundant in a range of different environments, including soil and aquatic ecosystems where they prey on bacteria and are a food source for larger organisms [76]. In addition, although the biological wastewater purification is primarily conducted with bacteria, organics- and bacteria-consuming protozoa are the second most abundant community in such systems where their main task is to clarify the effluent. Among the hundreds of different protozoan species identified in wastewater treatment plants, the ciliates are the most abundant group [77].

For environmental hazard assessment, majority of toxicological assays have been conducted with freshwater ciliates, including species from wastewater treatment plants [78]. The ciliate species most often used in toxicity testing belong to genera Tetrahymena, Paramecium, Colpidium, and Euplotes [76]. So far, Tetrahymena is the ciliate genera most widely employed in the toxicity assay development. TETRATOX assay that was developed by Schultz [79] has been used to test the toxicity of about 2400 industrial organic chemicals. The obtained dataset has been the basis for QSAR modelling in several reported studies [80, 81]. In addition, T. thermophila is the species used in the commercial protozoan toxicity test kit "Protoxkit F[™]" [82]. However, although widely employed by researchers, the ciliate toxicity tests have not been standardised at OECD or ISO level yet. On the other hand, in October 2017, OECD adopted its first guideline that involves ciliates - Protozoan Activated Sludge Inhibition Test (OECD 244). The test measures phagocytic activity of ciliates grazing on bacteria by comparing the turbidity decrease in the samples incubated with the test chemical and control samples without toxicants [83]. The results obtained with this method, however, may not be comparable across studies because of the varying composition of the inoculums collected from different sewage treatment plants.

1.2.3.1 *Tetrahymena thermophila* as a promising ciliate model *Tetrahymena* – a unicellular eukaryotic organism

The unicellular freshwater ciliated protists belonging to genus *Tetrahymena* could have appeared on the Earth tens of millions of years ago [84]. Overall, there are more than 41 different named species and many unnamed species in the genus *Tetrahymena*, all

of which have oral apparatus comprised of four ciliated oral structures and were initially designated as *T. pyriformis* [85].

Natural habitat for *Tetrahymena* is a freshwater lake, a pond or a stream that has some vegetation where they prefer to stay at the bottom, near decaying vegetation and bacteria [86]. While different *Tetrahymena* species are present in waterbodies all over the world, *T. thermophila* has been found exclusively in the Eastern United States [84, 87]. *T. thermophila* prefers to live in small ponds and roadside ditches near the shore [86]. In addition, *T. thermophila* has a role in the activated sludge process as was shown by Esteban et al. [88] who studied a sewage-treatment plant close to Madrid, Spain. Based on the sampling data, *T. thermophila* could be found only in the ponds where the water temperature exceeded 13 °C, and it is unclear how it survives the winters with temperatures below that. The upper tolerable temperature limit for *T. thermophila* is about 41 °C [86].



Figure 3. Schematic diagram of Tetrahymena thermophila. Illustration by the author of this thesis based on Fig. 3 by Frankel [95].

Compared to most eukaryotic cells, the size of *T. thermophila* is rather large – approximately $30 \times 50 \mu m$ [89]. *T. thermophila* cell is covered by multi-layer cortex that is semi-rigid and arranged into 15-25 longitudinal rows (ciliary rows) of cortical units containing basal bodies mostly accompanied by the cilia (Fig. 3). The cilia enable directional motility of the cells; additionally, pinocytosis can occur at the anterior of each basal body. Altogether, there are about 150 oral basal bodies and 500-600 somatic basal bodies in *Tetrahymena* cell. The number of somatic basal bodies increases dramatically in starving cells enabling them to swim more rapidly. In addition to pinocytosis, nutrients are taken up *via* phagocytosis that is the main feeding mechanism of *Tetrahymena* and occurs in a funnel-like oral apparatus located near the anterior cell pole. During the first stage of phagocytosis, the synchronous beating of the cilia in the oral apparatus directs food particles into the cytostome. The cytostome

opens into a passage where the food vacuoles are formed. The digestion of the internalised food occurs during phagosome maturation. In the course of the maturation various vesicles delivering acidification machinery or hydrolytic enzymes fuse with the food vacuoles, and new vesicles removing selected compounds from phagosomes are released. Near the posterior end of the cell is located cytoproct where undigested food particles are excreted from the cell. Osmoregulation of *Tetrahymena* cell is controlled by an organelle named contractile vacuole that accumulates and releases collected fluid through contractile vacuole pores [90, 91].

Like other ciliates, *Tetrahymena* species have two nuclei: polyploid somatic macronucleus that is transcriptionally active during vegetative growth, and diploid, germline micronucleus that is used during mating [84]. In the beginning of 2000s, the macronuclear genome of *T. thermophila* was sequenced [84]. *T. thermophila* has estimably 24,725 protein-coding genes in its macronucleus [92], which is substantially more than in another common unicellular eukaryotic model - yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (6,000 protein-coding genes), and is comparable to mammals (~20,000 protein-coding genes in humans; 19,000 in dogs; 30,000 in mice) [93]. Though *T. thermophila* mostly grows vegetatively in the presence of food, starving cells are capable of sexual reproduction during which two cells from different mating types (*T. thermophila* has seven mating types) exchange their genetic information [94]. Over the years, many fundamental biological discoveries have been made in *T. thermophila* research; namely, self-splicing RNA, structure of telomeres, discovery of telomerase, and how transcription is regulated by histone acetylation [87].

As T. thermophila can be grown in axenic media, i.e. without other microorganisms as a food source, and it has a relatively short doubling time (approximately 2 h at 37 °C), it has been adopted as a model organism in biochemical and physiological research [84, 89]. In toxicology, the most common endpoint in tests with T. thermophila has been growth inhibition, which has been commonly monitored in the proteose peptone based rich growth medium by counting the cells or measuring the optical density of the cultures [96-98]. To conduct tests in the conditions that are similar to these in the natural environment, mineral medium [99-102] or spring water [99] has been used for exposing *Tetrahymena* to toxicants. In some of the latter studies protozoan viability has been used as an endpoint, measured with fluorescent dyes or by ATP content [101, 103]. Other, more sensitive endpoints measured include respiration activity (determined with oxygen sensor) [97], heat (microcalorimetric measurements), production cell membrane fluidity (fluorescence polarisation) [98], enzymatic activities [82], behavioural changes (change in swimming speed or locomotion) [82, 104].

The use of Tetrahymena in nanotoxicology

In their review in 2008, Kahru et al. suggested that for better ecotoxicological hazard assessment of ENMs a multitrophic test battery involving primary producers (algae), consumers (crustaceans and protozoa), and decomposers (bacteria) should be used [105]. Specifically, *Tetrahymena* species were suggested to be of interest in nanotoxicological research. Using keywords *"Tetrahymena* AND (nanotech* OR nanopart* OR nanomat* OR nanotube*)" in searches performed in WoS and Scopus databases on August 23, 2017, 71 and 62 abstracts were retrieved, respectively.

Tetrahymena was used to study ENM bioeffects in total of 48 research papers; out of these, 45 papers were included in WoS and 43 in Scopus (Fig. 4A). Thus, most of the published papers were included in both literature databases. Other search results were conference abstracts, reviews and research papers on other topics. From the available papers it was evident that although there are numerous species in *Tetrahymena* genus, nanotechnological research has been conducted with only two of them – *T. thermophila* and *T. pyriformis* (Fig. 4B). *Tetrahymena* had been used as a model for studying CNT bioeffects in total of 9 research papers (Fig. 4C). These included the first study about the effect of ENMs on *Tetrahymena*, published by Zhu et al. [106] in 2006. In the aforementioned research, it was found that multi-walled CNTs even at high



Figure 4. Number of papers concerning Tetrahymena and engineered nanomaterials in WoS and Scopus on August 23, 2017 (A). Share of papers according to tested Tetrahymena species (B). Number of studies involving Tetrahymena and different nanomaterials (C).

concentrations (100 mg/L) could stimulate the growth of *T. pyriformis* in rich proteose peptone yeast extract medium. However, CNTs appeared to be toxic to *Tetrahymena* in filtrated pond water where CNTs induced lipid peroxidation and depleted SOD activity in *T. pyriformis*. Growth-stimulating effects of multi-walled CNTs in *T. pyriformis* culture were also reported in another study by the same authors [107]. In a later study the same group showed that dose-dependent growth-stimulating effects existed for glucosamine-functionalised multi-walled CNTs whereas decylamine-functionalisation lead to inhibition of *T. pyriformis* growth [108]. Multi-walled CNTs at concentrations up to 100 mg/L were shown to be non-toxic also to *T. thermophila* [109], while on the contrary, single-walled CNTs caused cell death at concentrations exceeding 10 mg/L [110, 111]. Furthermore, it has been noted that single-walled CNTs at low doses inhibited bacterivory: CNT-exposed *T. thermophila* egested vesicles that contained viable bacteria instead of digested content [111, 112]. Considering other carbonaceous materials, carbon black was proved to be non-toxic towards *T. thermophila* at concentrations as high as 7 g/L [111].

The effect of TiO₂ NPs on *Tetrahymena* was studied in nearly one third of the retrieved papers (Fig. 4C). Rajapakse et al. showed that while there was no effect on T. thermophila cell membranes at 100 mg/L [113], and doses as high as 1000 mg/L did not affect T. thermophila viability nor produced ROS or caused lipid peroxidation, high nano-TiO₂ concentrations increased the cell membrane thickness and decreased cell fluidity [114]. In addition, although TiO₂-exposed *T. thermophila* may grow as fast as control cells, it might not reach as high cell densities [102]. Other studies have reported dose- and time-dependent decrease of *T. thermophila* cell reproduction and viability, but these effects were observed at doses higher than 100 mg/L [115, 116]. Additionally, it has been reported that due to photoactivation, TiO₂ NPs have more pronounced effects under illumination compared to the exposures in dark [116-118]. Zou et al. [118] observed that co-exposure to TiO₂ NP and light irradiation caused lipid peroxidation and protein degeneration in T. pyriformis. Similarly, although TiO₂ NPs did not affect T. thermophila viability at concentrations up to 100 mg/L, proteomic analysis indicated ENM-specific effects on lipid and fatty acid metabolism and ion-regulation [119]. Only one study has reported that TiO₂ NPs may be harmful to *T. thermophila*: viability-based 24 h EC₅₀ value for bare TiO₂ NPs was 53 mg/L [120]. The latter effect was likely not caused by the test format as the same laboratory has found other TiO₂ NPs to be nontoxic to the same strain of *T. thermophila* [109]. Yang et al. [121] demonstrated the role of coating in nano-TiO₂ toxicity by determining that sodium polyacrylate (PAA)functionalised TiO₂ NPs were more toxic compared to bare TiO₂ NPs. Recently, Fekete-Kertesz et al. [122, 123] introduced a more sensitive sub-lethal test method phagocytic activity assay which showed that, compared to unexposed control cells, T. pyriformis exposed to 0.1 μ g/L of TiO₂ NPs (size 89 nm) produced only half the number of phagosomes. Interestingly, an inverse dose response was shown: the inhibitory effect to phagocytosis was not noted at higher concentrations, i.e. cells exposed to 10 mg/L of TiO₂ NPs did not differ in the number of phagosomes from the unexposed control cells. Such relationship was not observed for smaller TiO₂ NPs in sizes 16 nm and 36 nm [123].

The effects of ZnO and CuO NPs on *T. thermophila* have been reported in 7 papers for each of the NPs (Fig. 4C). ZnO NPs were toxic to *T. thermophila* in mineral media and

deionised water with 24 h EC_{50} values in the range of 1-10 mg/L [101, 109, 120, 124] and the observed effect was caused by the released Zn^{2+} ions. Decrease in ZnO NP toxicity was observed in metal complexing media such as river water, suggesting the major role of Zn²⁺ in ZnO NP toxicity [124]. In rich medium, Chen et al. [125] observed dose-dependent T. thermophila growth stimulating effect of ZnO NPs at concentrations up to 100 mg/L, while Nalecz-Jawecki [126], who employed the commercial Protoxkit F, found growth inhibitory effect with 24 h EC₅₀ values 11.5-13.5 mg/L. Gupta et al. [127] reported that in aquatic environments ZnO NPs and clay particles heteroagglomerated which, despite decreasing the NP-suspension stability, increased the bioavailability and toxicity of NPs to T. pyriformis. Similarly to ZnO NPs, Mortimer et al. [101], proposed that dissolution was a trigger for CuO NP toxicity. A follow-up study indicated that Cu²⁺ ions had only a partial role in CuO NP toxic effects to Tetrahymena: NPs caused higher oxidative stress and lower fluidity of the cell membranes than Cu²⁺ [128]. In addition, compared to ZnO NPs, there is a higher variation in the reported EC₅₀ values of CuO NP (from 2.0 mg/L to over 100 mg/L) and this variability can be attributed to the nature of test media. This in turn may indicate higher variability in CuO NP solubilisation rates in different media [101, 109, 120].

QD effects to Tetrahymena have been studied in total of 6 papers (Fig. 4C). Holbrook et al. [129] showed that bioaccumulation and biopersistence of CdSe/ZnS QDs depended on the functionalisation – while both carboxylated QDs (initial concentration 2.58*10¹² QDs/mL) and biotinylated QDs (initial concentration 1.63*10¹² QDs/mL) accumulated in time-dependent manner, the latter were retained in T. pyriformis for longer. The reported effects for QDs vary and seem to depend, among other parameters, also on capping, i.e. functionalisation of QDs with biomolecules might change the biological outcome. Namely, approximately 2.7 nM of biotinylated CdSe/ZnS QDs and up to 10 nM of carboxyl functionalised CdSe/ZnS QDs did not affect the ciliates [129, 130] while some capping ligands were shown to promote the growth of Tetrahymena. For instance, 0.5 nM of adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP)-capped CdSe/ZnS QDs stimulated the growth of T. thermophila [131], and even 56 nM of AMP-CdSe/ZnS QDs slightly increased T. thermophila growth rate compared to the control [132]. On the other hand, as low as 0.5 nM concentration of mercaptoacetic acid (MAA)-capped CdSe/ZnS QDs decreased T. thermophila metabolism [131]; moreover, 9.04 µM of MAA-CdSe/ZnS QDs resulted in 80.6% inhibition of T. thermophila growth [132]. In addition, ZnS shell rendered CdSe QDs less toxic to T. thermophila [132].

The effect of Ag NPs to *Tetrahymena* has been studied in 8 papers (Fig. 4C). Shi et al. [133] demonstrated that Ag NPs are toxic to *T. pyriformis* with 24-h IC₅₀ of 1.46 mg/L in the dark. They showed that, compared to dark conditions, less Ag ions were released under light irradiation resulting in decrease of Ag NP toxicity [134, 135]. The authors also reported a correlation between the size and toxicity of Ag NPs: smaller Ag NPs released higher amounts of Ag ions than larger Ag NPs, resulting in increased toxicity of the smaller NPs [134]. For *T. thermophila* the EC₅₀ values of Ag NPs range from 3 to nearly 300 mg/L depending on the particle tested [109, 136-138]. The effects of silver to *T. thermophila* have been discussed in detail in the "Results and discussion" section.

Regarding the effects of other ENMs to *Tetrahymena*, there are mostly one or two papers per ENM with the exception of FeO_x which was studied in 4 reports (Fig. 4C). Species-specific toxicity has been reported for Fe_3O_4 NPs: while Zou et al. [139] found

that Fe₃O₄ NPs have growth-inducing effect in *T. pyriformis* even at the highest concentration tested (17 mg/L), Fe₃O₄ NPs decreased *T. thermophila* viability with 24-h EC₅₀ being 26 mg/L [120]. NiO NPs proved toxic to *T. thermophila* (EC₅₀ of 0.58 mg/L), probably due to released ions [140]. Harmful effects on *T. thermophila* growth were reported also for ZrO₂ NPs (24-h EC₅₀ 12.8 mg/L) [141], and nanodiamonds at concentration of 20 µg/mL with 5 nm nanodiamonds being more toxic than 100 nm [142]. Other tested ENMs have not been shown to exert significant effects on *Tetrahymena* viability. CeO₂ NPs did not affect the growth rate of *T. pyriformis* in experiments lasting up to 64 days, however, the cells exposed to higher CeO₂ NP concentrations (200 mg/L) did not reach as high cell densities as control cultures [143]. Similarly, CeO₂ NPs and other doped rare earth metal oxides did not have effects on *T. thermophila* viability [144]. No harmful effects on *T. thermophila* viability were reported for SiO₂ NPs [109, 120], Al₂O₃, Co₃O₄, MgO, Mn₃O₄, Sb₂O₃, WO₃ and Pd NPs at concentrations up to 100 mg/L [120], and Au NPs at concentration up to 30 mg/L [109].

Only one study has reported the effects of *Tetrahymena* co-exposure to two different ENMs. Namely, TiO₂ NPs were found to reduce the toxicity of Ag NPs in the dark and in natural light. However, the two ENMs had a slight but non-significant synergistic toxic effect under continuous illumination due to increased oxidative stress which was confirmed by measuring the decrease in catalase activity [135].

Most studies have observed dose- and time-dependent phagocytic uptake of ENMs by Tetrahymena [101, 102, 110, 111, 114, 115, 117, 120-125, 127-130, 135, 139, 142-145]. Mortimer et al. [146] showed that maximum percentage of ENMs in T. thermophila population was reached faster with higher ENM concentrations, but the highest multi-walled CNT mass per one cell was measured at 2 h after the beginning of the exposure, independent of the dose. Similar observations were made with carboxyl functionalised CdSe/ZnS QDs for which the maximal uptake based on fluorescence values was after 2-h exposure and decreased after 24-h exposure [130]. Other ENMs like Au, Ag, CuO, and TiO₂ have also been shown to follow the same temporal pattern of NP uptake and depuration [147]. In addition, a study with differently capped CdSe/ZnS QDs showed that T. thermophila might preferably that capping with nutritional value like adenosine ingest QDs have 5'-monophosphate [131]. Mortimer et al. [147] have reported that the uptake rate of ENMs is independent of primary particle size for Au and Ag NPs. The fate of excreted ENMs might depend on Tetrahymena exposure medium and food source in proteose peptone based medium the faecal pellets can be small enough to be reingested but pellets from bacteria-based diet tend to form larger agglomerates [146]. However, the detection and quantification of ENM uptake into cells is often challenging at lower ENM concentrations and when bacteria serve as a food source to Tetrahymena. In such cases, elemental analysis has been employed. For instance, Angerer et al. [148] used time-of-flight secondary ion mass spectrometry (ToF-SIMS) to detect TiO₂ signals inside *T. pyriformis* and were able to generate 3D image of the cell to confirm that ENMs were localised in the food vacuoles. Another approach that has been used is labelling ENMs with isotopes that are not abundant in the environment such as ¹⁴C for labelling multi-walled CNTs [149].

In addition, a few studies assess the bioaccumulation and trophic transfer potential of ENMs. Mielke et al. [102] found that TiO_2 NPs adsorbed to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and were transferred to *T. thermophila* by phagocytosis of TiO_2 -encrusted bacteria.

TiO₂ NPs were shown not to biomagnify but reduced *Tetrahymena* population yield. Similarly, Mortimer et al. [146] have shown that multi-walled CNTs attached to *P. aeruginosa* accumulated in the digestive system of *T. thermophila* but did not biomagnify. Contrarily, Holbrook et al. [129] did not observe trophic transfer of CdSe/ZnS QDs from *E.* coli to *T. pyriformis* because the QDs were associated only with the surface of aggregated *E. coli* cells (which were too large for ingestion) but not individual cells. However, the latter is not attributable to all QDs as Werlin et al. [145] showed that *T. thermophila* could ingest *P. aeruginosa* that had accumulated 25% of Cd from CdSe QDs (initial concentration 75 mg Cd/L). Remarkably, *T. thermophila* did not recover from QD-poisoning after it was transferred to rich growth media without added Cd (only a few ciliates were motile) [145]. In addition, Mortimer et al. [130] found that 20-h incubation of *T. thermophila* in QD-free buffer did not lead to complete clearance of QD-s. It was found that QDs may persist in *T. thermophila* at least for two generations after the cells were transferred to QD-free rich medium. Thus, a transfer potential of these ENMs to higher trophic levels was suggested [130].

Some research papers report on method development for nanotoxicological research in *T. thermophila*. For instance, Mortimer et al. [149] have developed gradient centrifugation technique to separate ciliates and bacteria from multi-walled CNTs that could be used to quantify bioaccumulation and trophic transfer of ENMs. In addition, hyperspectral imaging microscopy has been shown to be a promising tool for semiquantitative analysis of ENM uptake in *T. thermophila* [147]. A few papers study the potential applications of *Tetrahymena* in nanotechnology. Kim et al. [150] introduced magnetite particles to *T. pyriformis* cells in order to create magnetotaxis and enable the use of these ciliates as magnet-controlled microrobots [151]. Another recent study showed that selenite could be reduced with the aid of glutathione into amorphous protein-bound selenium NPs with a diameter of 50-500 nm and length of up to 1 μ m inside *T. thermophila* cells [152].

1.3 Nanoparticle-triggered toxicity mechanisms

The mechanisms of toxic action of ENMs have been studied already in thousands and reviewed in hundreds of papers. Despite, for most ENMs the proposed toxicity mechanisms are still not conclusive [153]. A brief overview of the major suggested toxicity pathways is presented in the following sections.

1.3.1 Nano-bio interactions

One possible toxicity pathway for ENMs is through direct interactions with organisms [154]. For instance, ENMs could adsorb onto various aquatic organisms and inhibit their mobility, filtering and respiration efficiency [155]. Furthermore, it has been shown that cell-ENM contact is often needed to trigger or enhance the toxicity of ENMs [153]. For instance, positively charged chitosan particles could interact with cell membranes that have natural negative charge due to fatty acid chains. Such interactions increase membrane permeability and cause leakages of the cell. In addition, other positively charged particles (e.g. cationic polymer coated metal ENMs like Ag, ZnO) adsorbed to the cells and caused alterations of membrane properties [3, 156, 157]. In addition to electrostatic forces, ENMs may interact with cells by hydrophobic interactions, van der Waals forces or by interacting with receptors located on the surface of the cell.

The latter mechanism where ENM acts as a ligand could trigger various signalling cascades that may result in unexpected and adverse outcomes [157].

As ENMs are in the similar size range to proteins and biocorona formation renders NPs with similar properties to biomolecules, ENMs can be recognised by specific receptors in the cell membranes and transported into cells [158, 159]. Inside a cell, ENMs may interact with organelles and enzymes reducing or causing loss of their activity [157]. Among single-celled species, ENM interactions with intracellular machinery are more likely in phagocytosing organisms due to active uptake of ENMs into the cells [3].

Nano-bio interactions can also have indirect effects on the viability of the organisms. Namely, as ENMs have high affinity towards various biomolecules, nutrients may adsorb to the surface of ENMs that could significantly reduce the bioavailability of nutrients and consequently affect organisms in natural waters [72].

1.3.2 Dissolution of metal-containing nanomaterials

Many studies have shown that the toxic effects of partially soluble metal-containing ENMs can be often attributed to the respective metal ions that are released from the ENMs [153]. ENM dissolution depends strongly on particle size: smaller particles tend to dissolve faster than larger ones. Additionally, other ENM intrinsic properties like shape and surface coating may influence the solubility [160]. Direct link between solubility and toxicity has been drawn for instance for ZnO NPs which were less toxic when doped with iron that reduced the dissolution of NPs [161]. Some studies have demonstrated that ZnO NP toxicity is fully explainable by NP dissolution [162-164]. Other studies have shown that for some target organisms ZnO NP dissolution explains toxicity only partially and additional NP-specific mechanisms contribute to the NP adverse outcome [153]. The latter has been proven for both Ag and CuO NPs with various methods; however, for these NPs their dissolution strongly depends on the environment and could be altered by cell-NP contact [3].

1.3.3 Reactive oxygen species generation

Similar to airborne particles out of which the field of nanotoxicology emerged, generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is often associated with the toxic effects of ENMs. In fact, in their review Djurišić et al. claimed that only very few studies propose non-ROS mediated toxicity mechanisms for ENMs [153]. ROS-generation potency of ENM has been related to the presence of defects in its crystal structure. However, the exact mechanism of ROS generation and nature of oxygen species generated depends on the type of the ENM. For example, ZnO and TiO₂ NPs can be activated with illumination (commonly in the UV-region) that generates electron-hole pairs due to the wide band gap of these materials and results in the formation of superoxide anions (0_2^-) and hydroxyl radicals (•OH) [153]. Contrarily, CuO NPs produce free radicals by dissolution as dissolved Cu ions participate in Fenton reaction [3]. Like solubility, ROS production depends on particle size (smaller particles are more reactive), their crystal structure (TiO₂ anatase phase produces more ROS than rutile phase), and coating [160]. Generated ROS can react with various biomolecules, including DNA, thus ENMs may cause genotoxicity via ROS [165]. Interestingly, although many studies have observed ROS-driven toxicity mechanisms in cells, the causal link between ENM properties, their ROS-generation potency and resulting toxicity is yet to be discovered [166].

1.3.4 Other mechanisms of action

In addition to previously mentioned mechanisms, there are some specific mechanisms of action that depend on ENM properties and can be organism-specific. For example, due to their relatively small diameters and high aspect ratio, CNTs could cause physical damage by "piercing" the cells [156]. Similar effects have been shown for 2D graphene sheets that could act as blades and cut the lipid membrane of the cell [157]. ENMs could also inhibit the growth of algal cells by shading of the light, and hence inhibit photosynthesis [72].

1.4 Current efforts to gather and analyse the existing nanoecotoxicological knowledge

Since the beginning of 2000s, when the concern over the potential novel risks of ENMs to humans and the environment emerged, several countries and organisations have allocated funds for nanosafety research. For example, in the Framework Programmes 7 and Horizon 2020, the EU invested 332,000,000 euros into nanotechnology risk-related research between 2006 and 2016. The respective amount in the US was 830,000,000 USD between 2006 and 2015. The increase in funding has resulted in increased number of publications addressing the toxicity of ENMs [167]. Despite of that, in 2012 it was pointed out that there were very little data available on ENMs in environmental, health and safety databases [168]. However, collection, analysis and processing of the existing data are of great importance. Also, annexes VII-X of the REACH directive [57] state that "Before new tests are carried out /.../ all available in vitro data, in vivo data, historical human data, data from valid (Q)SARs and data from structurally related substances (read-across approach) shall be assessed first."

Since 2012 several projects have concentrated on developing databases for ENM hazard assessment [169]. Some of the most recent and largest ENM databases are discussed in the following paragraphs.

The Nanodatabase (http://nanodb.dk/) is an inventory of consumer products available in the EU that according to manufacturers' claims contain ENMs. Besides the information about the product and the ENM incorporated into it, the Nanodatabase includes safety evaluation for each product. However, as in nearly 60% of the products the ENMs have not been identified by the manufacturer, the database provides only an initial overview about the European ENM market along with some exposure and hazard evaluation data [28]. The hazard identification roadmap NanoRiskCat used for categorisation of data in the Nanodatabase is useful for qualitative hazard assessment but lacks quantitative data for specific products [62].

DaNa^{2.0} (https://www.nanopartikel.info/en/) enables to search ENM by commercially available applications. The database lists various inorganic ENMs and includes also their properties, toxicity to humans and environmental organisms. The articles on specific ENMs are compiled into different levels of complexity based on the background and interest of the potential user. The most complex level includes also original references used to generate the articles [170].

eNanoMapper (https://enanomapper.net/) intends to link the existing databases relevant for ENM toxicity assessment. It aims to integrate physical and chemical identities of ENMs in great detail (including particle size distributions, differences in

surface modification, manufacturing conditions, etc.) together with biological outcomes [169].

Recently, in June 2017 the European Union launched Observatory for Nanomaterials (EUON, https://euon.echa.europa.eu/) that is hosted by the European Chemical Agency (ECHA). The intent for this observatory is to provide reliable and neutral information on ENMs available on the EU market and their safety. The development of this data collection is still in progress and is planned to continue at least until 2020 [171].

AIMS OF THE STUDY

This thesis addresses the aspects related to hazard and risk assessment of industrially relevant ENMs that are essential for sustainable development of nanotechnology. The specific aims of the thesis were:

- to collect, analyse and critically evaluate existing literature data on ecotoxicology of industrially relevant engineered nanomaterials in order to (i) improve the understanding of ENM mechanisms of toxic action and (ii) identify the data gaps to guide further experimental work;
- to assess the hazard and determine the mechanisms of toxic action of nanosized silver a widely applied, industrially relevant ENM with known antimicrobial properties using the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila* as a model organism.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Literature search and data analysis

The literature searches for both Papers I and II were performed in WoS to ensure the comparability of these two studies. The main differences in conducting the data search were:

- in Paper I only data relevant for Ag, CuO and ZnO ENMs and their respective ionic constituents was included; in Paper II all industrially relevant ENMs were studied;
- in Paper I the search was conducted organism-wise by introducing keywords related to specific organism groups; in Paper II the search results were narrowed down by introducing truncated keyword ecotoxic* that enabled to give equal weight to all organisms;
- in Paper I only E(L,I)C₅₀ values and minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) were considered, and information was collected on ENM primary size, coating, and the test medium (mineral, complex, natural, pure water); in Paper II all endpoints and various characteristics of pristine ENMs, their behaviour in test media, toxicity test conditions and outcomes were included.

Meta-analysis for both Papers was carried out in Microsoft Excel, and the data collected in the frame of Paper II was compiled into Excel-format database NanoE-Tox, available as a supporting information of Paper II. More details about literature studies can be found in the respective Papers (I, II).

2.2 Experimental studies

The effects of two different commercial Ag NPs: Sigma-Ag (Paper III) and Collargol (Paper IV), AgNO₃ (Papers III, IV), and polystyrene NPs (Paper IV) on *T. thermophila* strains BIII (Paper III), CU427 and CU428 (Paper IV) were studied. All the experiments were conducted according to the previously established methods; exact details can be found in the publications included in this thesis. The main methods, differences between the two Papers and innovations are discussed below.

2.2.1 Methods for NP characterisation

- UV-Vis spectroscopy was used for the measurement of Ag NP absorbance spectra (Paper III);
- dynamic light scattering (DLS) technique was used to measure hydrodynamic size (Papers III, IV);
- electrophoretic light scattering (ELS) technique was used to address the particle zeta potential (Paper III);
- scanning electon microscopy (SEM) was used to visualise particles and their primary size (Paper III);
- sodium dodecyl sulphate gel electrophoresis (SDS-Page) with silver staining was used for protein corona assessment (Paper III);

- Ag/S-ion selective electrode was used to measure free Ag ion concentration (Paper III);
- atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS) was used to measure Ag NP dissolution (Paper IV);
- fluorescence based methods were used to determine the potential of NPs to generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Paper IV).

A novel method for Ag NP biosynthesis in the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of *T. thermophila* was developed in Paper III.

2.2.2 Methods for studying Ag NP effects on Tetrahymena thermophila

Prior to experiments with NPs, *T. thermophila* culture was grown in SSP medium (2% proteose peptone, 0.1% yeast extract and 0.2% glucose, supplemented with 250 μ g/mL each of streptomycin sulphate and penicillin G) overnight at 30 °C.

- In Paper III the cultivation was carried out in an Erlenmeyer flask with continuous shaking (100 rpm) to supply enough oxygen, at ambient light conditions.
- In Paper IV the cells were cultivated in a Petri dish where large surface area and low height of media column provided the oxygen needed for the cells. Thus, the Petri dishes were not shaken and the culture was grown in the dark. In addition, Fe-EDTA and fungicide amphotericin B were added to SSP medium to avoid nutrient depletion and fungal growth.

For toxicity tests, the test format described by Mortimer et al. [101] was modified in both Paper III and IV to avoid Ag speciation in the mineral test medium by transferring *T. thermophila* culture into deionised water where *Tetrahymena* could survive for at least a week [172]. In order to reduce the time needed for culture density adjustment, the cell number counted in a haemocytometer was correlated with optical density at 600 nm (5*10⁵ cells/mL corresponded to OD₆₀₀=1, published in Jemec et al. [137]). All the exposures were conducted in polystyrene vessels (96-well plate, 24-well plate, Petri dish with 4 sections, depending on the amount of sample needed for further analysis).

Viability of the *T. thermophila* cells was determined with ATP-assay. In Paper **IV**, an optimised ATP measurement protocol (developed by the author of this thesis, published in Jemec et al. [137]) for plate luminometer using 96-well white polypropylene plates was employed.

To assess **morphological changes** in *Tetrahymena*, the cells were visualised and imaged using a light microscope with a digital camera (Papers **III**, **IV**).

Real-time PCR (Paper IV) was used to study the changes in the **expression of** selected **genes** after exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of the tested substances. Oxidative stress related **physiological changes** at the same toxicant concentrations were monitored using fluorescence assays (DCFH-DA, TBARS), and enzymatic assays (superoxide dismutase and catalase activities).

2.2.3 Data analysis

For viability analysis, ATP concentration-based dose-response curves and EC_{50} values (with 95% confidence intervals) were constructed using the REGTOX software for Microsoft Excel. Differences in EC_{50} values were considered statistically significant if the 95% confidence intervals did not overlap.

Protein gel images (Paper III) were analysed with TotalLabQuant software. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) of the results of gene expression and physiological assays obtained with untreated control cells and *T. thermophila* treated with sub-lethal concentrations of substances were assessed in R using ANOVA followed by Tukey posthoc test (Paper IV).
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Synthesis of existing data on ecotoxicological effects of engineered nanomaterials (Papers I-II)

In order to provide thorough overview about ENM ecotoxic potential and their mechanisms of toxic action, two individual studies were performed. First, a review was conducted on published data regarding metal-containing ENMs that are known for their antimicrobial potential mainly because of their potential to release biocidal metal ions but that could also pose a threat to environmental organisms. Data on the effects of ENMs and their respective ions on the viability of selected organisms (MIC for bacteria, EC₅₀ for other organisms) were collected and analysed to identify correlations between ENM dissolution and toxicity (Paper I). Next, guided by the results of the review, in Paper II data were collected and analysed for a wider selection of ENMs that were considered industrially relevant. To enable further analysis of the collected data and make the information available for public use, the parameters considered relevant to ENMs and test conditions were organised into the database NanoE-Tox (Paper II).

3.1.1 Comparison of toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected organisms and *in vitro* test systems (Paper I)

According to the literature, both bulk- and nanosized Ag, CuO and ZnO are applied as antimicrobial agents to avoid unwanted growth of bacteria, fungi or algae (i.e., "target" organisms) [58]. Like pesticides, these ENMs could also cause adverse effects in other, i.e., "non-target" organisms that include various aquatic and terrestrial species. In order to weigh beneficial effects of ENMs against their potential harmful outcomes, toxicity data for bacterial and fungal species was compared to toxicity data for aquatic crustaceans, algae, fish, protozoa, the symbiotic bacterium *Vibrio fischeri* (a model for non-pathogenic bacterium), soil nematode, and mammalian cells *in vitro*. The ENMs selected for this study were all metal-containing, with negative surface charge at physiological pH, and soluble in aqueous media to certain extent.

The number of toxicity values (E(L)C₅₀ or MIC) reported in the literature for the three ENMs varied greatly by ENM and by test organism. Namely, while a relatively large number of studies could be found on toxicity of Ag NPs (166 values), there was substantially less information on ZnO NP toxicity (85 values) and the data on CuO NP toxicity (62 values) was rather scarce. On the other hand, data on soluble metal salts indicated that Cu-salts appeared to be studied the most (101 toxicity values), followed by Ag-salts (81 values) and Zn-salts (61 values) (Table 2, Fig. 5 in Paper I). Analysis of the toxicity values reported for the major organism groups showed that among crustaceans, most studies were conducted with D. magna, and among algae the most often used species was *R. subcapitata* (Table S2 in Paper I), both of which are widely acknowledged aquatic model organisms in regulatory toxicology [57, 58]. Further, Caenorhabditis elegans was most prominent among nematodes, E. coli among bacteria and S. cerevisiae among yeasts, all of which are considered as traditional model organisms in biology [173]. While data for crustaceans, algae and fish were mostly obtained with standard protocols, the test formats for other organisms varied to a great extent.

	Ag NPs		Ag ions	Ag ions CuO NPs		Cu ions ZnO NPs		Zn ions	CeO ₂ NPs	CNTs	FeOx NPs	Fullerenes	TiO ₂ NPs	
	Paper I	Paper II	Paper I	Paper I	Paper II	Paper I	Paper I	Paper II	Paper I	Paper II	Paper II	Paper II	Paper II	Paper II
Algae	0.36 [17] (0.005-21.2)	0.2 [4] (0.03-2.12)	0.008 [10] (0.001-0.59)	2.8 [5] (0.68-47)	25.7 [4] (2.8-57)	0.07 [20] (0.004-13)	0.08 [5] (0.05-4.56)	0.05 [5] (0.05-0.07)	0.09 [8] (0.04-3.48)	8.5 [21] (0.01-100)	12.6 [14] (0.1-41)	-	-	18.7 [18] (1.76-241)
Bacteria§	7.13 [46] (0.5-250)	5.8 [37] (0.26-571)	3.25 [27] (0.004-108)	200 [13] (20-280)	12.2 [17] (2.53-250)	32 [13] (0.4-640)	500 [15] (50-1000)	73.5 [26] (0.1-234)	30 [9] (12.5-1430)	46.6 [21] (0.27-100)	4.5 [3] (4.5-100)	240 [4] (52-1000)	-	589 [18] (0.62-66820)
Crustaceans	0.01 [17] (0.001-0.04)	0.02 [105] (0.0004-295)	0.0009 [8] (0.0005-0.008)	2.1 [8] (0.08-12.3)	5.9 [29] (0.05-224)	0.02 [8] (0.004-0.07)	2.35 [10] (0.62-22)	2.25 [28] (0.05-100)	1.33 [6] (0.41-1.8)	25.4 [17] (0.01-270)	9.8 [20] (0.4-100)	0.23 [1] (0.23-0.23)	10.5 [3] (9.34-100)	58.5 [68] (0.03-20000)
Echinoderms	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	0.1 [1] (0.1-0.1)	#N/A	-	-	-	-	-
Fish	1.36 [17] (0.03-12.6)	0.13 [29] (0.03-10.6)	0.06 [4] (0.005-0.15)	100 [1] (100-100)	-	0.28 [19] (0.01-7.5)	3.02 [4] (1.79-4.92)	2.07 [3] (1.79-3.97)	7.48 [3] (2.54-8.06)	-	-	44.7 [2] (36.1-53.4)	1.5 [1] (1.5-1.5)	30 [7] (2.46-500)
Insects	#N/A	0.95 [4] (0.59-20)	#N/A	#N/A	569 [1] (569-569)	#N/A	#N/A	3376 [2] (3159-3593)	#N/A	-	-	-	-	6.83 [2] (6.56-7.09)
Mussels	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	-	-	-	-	27.5 [2] (16.4-38.6)
Nematodes	3.34 [21] (0.1-55)	-	4.77 [4] (0.06-22)	-	-	19.4 [6] (1.27-101)	39.2 [6] (2.2-982)	2.2 [1] (2.2-2.2)	49.1 [6] (1.39-884)	-	-	-	-	79.9 [1] (79.9-79.9)
Plants	#N/A	12.5 [4] (9,36-20)	#N/A	#N/A	13.7 [2] (0.46-26.8)	#N/A	#N/A	46.5 [3] (10.8-64)	#N/A	-	-	-	-	-
Protozoa	38 [7] (1.46-286)	246 [2] (205-286)	1.5 [3] (1.46-1.8)	124 [6] (0.98-161)	80 [1] (80-80)	0.43 [14] (0.01-1.7)	11.7 [9] (5.35-574)	14.4 [4] (9.4-26.5)	7 [9] (3.58-175)	-	-	-	-	-
Rotifers	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	0.32 [2] (0.24-0.39)	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	-	-	-	-	10.4 [3] (5.37-267)
Snails	#N/A	0.009 [2] (0.002-0.02)	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	0.15 [1] (0.15-0.15)	#N/A	-	-	-	-	201 [2] (56.9-346)
Worms	#N/A	100 [2] (83-146)	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	#N/A	-	#N/A	-	338 [2] (176-500)	-	-	-
Yeasts	7.9* [14] (0.88-48.5)	-	2.16* [5] (0.22-10)	17.1 [4] (4.8-643)	-	11.1 [4] (0.82-516)	121 [7] (40-488)	-	78.2 [2] (75.3-81.2)	-	-	-	-	-
Mammalian cells in vitro	11.3 [25] (0.51-140)	#N/A	2 [18] (0.62-83)	25 [21] (13-100)	#N/A	53 [10] (5.56-80)	43.4 [25] (4.48-75)	#N/A	9.8 [11] (5.88-15.7)	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A	#N/A
Lowest median L(E)C ₅₀	0.01	0.009	0.0009	2.1	0.32	0.02	0.08	0.05	0.09	8.5	4.5	0.23	1.5	6.83
Minimal L(E)C and for	Crustaceans	Snails	Crustaceans 0.0005	Crustaceans	Rotifers	Crustaceans	Algae 0.05	Algae 0.05	Algae	Algae	Bacteria	Crustaceans	Fish 1 5	Insects
which organism	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Algae	Algae	Algae	Crustaceans	Algae	Crustaceans	Fish	Crustaceans

Table 2. Median $L(E,I)C_{50}$ values⁺ (mg/L) and number of entries⁺ for all compounds included in Papers I and II.

⁺ median half-lethal(effective, inhibitory) concentration [number of entries] (minimum-maximum value).

⁺ the differences in number of entries will be explained in section 3.1.2.1

⁵ median minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) in Paper I, median half-lethal(effective, inhibitory) concentration in Paper II.

* median of any reported effect for Ag NP or Ag ion exposed yeast.

#N/A - not assessed in the study; - - no respective L(E,I)C₅₀ values obtained with the selected search criteria.

L(E,I)C₅₀/MIC < 1 mg/L L(E,I)C₅₀/MIC 1...10 mg/L L(E,I)C₅₀/MIC 10...100 mg/L L(E,I)C₅₀/MIC >100 mg/L

Based on median $L(E,I)C_{50}$ values for the most sensitive organism, the toxicity order of ENMs studied in Paper I was: Ag NPs > ZnO NPs > CuO NPs. The most susceptible organisms to Ag- and Cu-compounds were crustaceans that are an important link in aquatic food webs. On the other hand, the most sensitive organisms to Zncompounds were algae that could be considered as targeted organisms e.g., through algaecidal ship paints; however, as primary producers, algal biomass is also crucial in energy and oxygen production, requiring protection from harmful effects of ENMs as non-target species [105]. In order to assess the potential hazard of studied compounds, the substances were ranked in Paper I; however, it was performed according to previous EU directive that did not take into account the degradation rate and bioconcentration factor of a substance. Nevertheless, the current CLP legislation [59] that is described in section 1.2.1 enables similar classification ranking of Ag NPs, Ag ions, Cu ions, ZnO NPs and Zn ions as acutely very toxic to aquatic organisms with potential chronic effects, and Cu NPs as potentially chronically toxic to aquatic organisms (Table 2, Fig. 6 in Paper I). Although one of the main targets of antimicrobial agents are bacteria, the median MIC values of metal NPs and their ionic forms were more similar to the median $L(E,I)C_{50}$ values of the respective compounds measured in mammalian cell cultures, and 1-2 orders of magnitude higher than the median $L(E,I)C_{50}$ values determined for non-target organisms, indicating that application of Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs as antimicrobial agents could potentially be a threat to non-target aquatic organisms.

The comparison of toxicity values of NPs and their respective ions provided some insight into the potential toxicity mechanism of ENMs. Namely, for Ag- and Zncompounds the sensitivity patterns of NPs and respective ions were highly similar, and the toxicity values correlated well as R² coefficient of determination was above 0.8 (Fig. 7 in Paper I). Moreover, for Zn-compounds the toxicity values nearly overlapped. The latter indicated that for ZnO NPs the toxicity could be caused by releasing toxic metal ions. While for ZnO NPs the dissolution seemed to be the only trigger of toxicity, it was not so obvious for CuO NPs that reportedly tend to form various complexes with organic media components [174]. Furthermore, as CuO NPs proved more toxic than Cu ions towards yeast and mammalian cells in vitro, CuO NPs appeared to possess intrinsic toxic properties that manifest in specific models. These observations are in accordance with a recent review on the potential ENM toxicity mechanisms by Djurišić et al. [153]. Another noteworthy finding of the study was that the toxicity values for CuO and ZnO NPs were less variable than the Ag NP toxicity values. Such difference was attributed to the range of different coatings used for stabilizing Ag NPs (e.g., PVP, citrate, peptides) while all CuO NPs and, with one exception, all ZnO NPs were uncoated (Table 2, Tables S3, S5, and S7 in Paper I).

3.1.2 NanoE-Tox database – a collection of ecotoxicity data of industrially relevant engineered nanomaterials

The ever-growing number of nanotoxicity-related scientific papers has recently inspired several review articles that have summarised specific aspects of the field [1, 3, 31, 58, 153, 175-179]. However, as mentioned in section 1.4 of this thesis, to our knowledge there was no comprehensive database that would include all parameters of ENMs that affect their potential toxicity, conditions for performed toxicity tests and detailed outcomes of the toxicity tests. To improve and assist predictive modelling of the

mechanisms of action of novel ENMs, [153], systematic approach to map and organise published nanoecotoxicity data into a database was implemented in Paper II.

Considering that thousands of papers have been published about (eco)toxicity of ENMs, Paper II focused on industrially relevant ENMs, i.e. ENMs with large estimated production values (Fig. 1). Accordingly, the initial list included SiO₂, TiO₂, Fe, Al₂O₃, ZnO, nanoclay, CeO₂, CNT, Ag, and Cu NPs and fullerenes. However, the list of ENMs was modified based on the results of the preliminary data collection. Specifically, SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ NPs and nanoclays were not included in the final database for the following reasons. Although SiO₂ has the highest estimated production volume, studies have reported that it is a biocompatible and non-toxic material that is generally safe [180]. Furthermore, silica is not biopersistent and does not bioaccumulate [44]. Similarly, nanoclay particles are promising drug delivery candidates, owing to their high absorptive capacity, chemical inertness and low toxicity [181]. During the literature search for Paper II, the data about ecotoxicity of Al₂O₃ NPs was limited and contradictory. Namely, while concentrations up to 1 g/L did not affect hatching rate of zebrafish embryos [182] and Al₂O₃ NPs had very low toxicity towards crustacean Ceriodaphnia dubia [183], reported 24-h LC₅₀ for nematode was 81.6 mg/L [184], chronic exposure to Al₂O₃ could induce oxidative stress in nematodes [185], and concentration of 1 mg/L was shown to reduce the viability of freshwater bacteria Bacillus *licheniformis* [186, 187]. Thus, these three ENMs were omitted from the further study.

Currently available QNAR modelling studies are applicable only to a small range of ENMs and limited number of organisms as they are developed using small experimental ENM libraries [188]. Modelling the relationship between biological activities and physico-chemical parameters of ENMs (i.e. development of QNARs) on a larger scale requires thorough characterisation of ENMs [1, 55, 58, 189-192] which was also pointed out in section 1.1.5 of this thesis. Therefore, several intrinsic (Fig. 5A) and test-environment-specific (Fig. 5B) parameters of ENMs were collected together with detailed descriptions of toxicity test conditions and outcomes (Fig. 5C) from the analysed papers and current knowledge on the development of *in silico* models in predicting and classifying the hazard of metallic ENMs, identified a list of ENM parameters including type, composition, size distribution, coating, purity, crystallinity, surface area, surface charge, shape, agglomeration, stability in the test medium, zeta potential, that were found to be essential for computational toxicology of ENMs. Moreover, Chen et al. suggested that ENM toxicity reports should include, at a minimum, details of the tested organisms (taxonomy, name of species, exposure route, life-stage, and strain), experimental conditions (test guideline, modifications, medium, pH, irradiation, and time), and endpoints (effects, endpoint type, value, and unit) [66]. The same data on organisms, test conditions and endpoints is also required by REACH Regulation [193]. Additional parameters specified in REACH Regulation, like dissolved oxygen levels, dissolved organic carbon, hardness and salinity of the test medium and other relevant parameters (e.g., total organic carbon) were also included in NanoE-Tox under the categories of "test media" and "other important conditions". Since the list of the parameters recorded in NanoE-Tox overlaps with the list suggested by Chen et al. and the regulatory requirements, the database developed in this study contains valuable information for the development of *in silico* approaches for ENM risk modelling and hazard assessment.





3.1.2.1 Relevance and distribution of data, observations on keyword selection in literature search

Altogether 1,518 toxicity values for all the selected NPs were organised into the database NanoE-Tox. The collected data was analysed for the number of papers published on ecotoxicity of each ENMs (Fig. 6A) and for the number of entries (number of toxicity values reported) for each ENM (Fig. 6B). Interestingly, the number of papers on a specific ENM did not reflect the amount of information available for the toxicity of the same ENM. The most papers were published on the toxicity of TiO₂ NPs (80 papers, 36% of the papers) which was also one of the first ENMs studied for its ecotoxicity, followed by Ag NPs (71 papers, 32%), and ZnO NPs (35 papers, 16%) (Fig. 6A). The most toxicity values (entries) in the database were for Ag NPs (528 entries, 35%) followed by TiO₂ NPs (332 entries, 22%), and CeO₂ NPs (197 entries, 13%) (Fig. 6B). According to this study (Paper II), the least information is published about fullerenes (16 papers, 57 entries), CuO NPs (15 papers, 87 entries), and FeO_x NPs (9 papers, 24 entries) (Fig. 6).

Compared to Paper I where more than 300 toxicity values were collected for Ag, ZnO and CuO NPs, nearly 2.5 times more values were collected for these NPs in Paper II. This difference was partly due to the increase in published papers (Fig. 6A), and partly due to the keywords used in Paper II which enabled to include a wider range of organisms. However, the main reason for the higher number of toxicity values in Paper II was the difference of the set goals – in Paper I, the aim was to include ten most recent papers per ENM per organism but in Paper II, all relevant papers retrieved with the selected search terms were included.



Figure 6. Evolution of information on ecotoxicity of selected nanomaterials according to (A) the number of papers and (B) the number of entries in NanoE-Tox database (SI File 2 of Paper II).

As the outcome of bibliographic search relies largely on the selection of keywords, the following points outline some of the observations made in the course of the literature search (Paper II).

- Although the keywords that were selected for the search were rather specific and involved truncated terms "nano*", "ecotoxic*" and truncated names, molecular formulas or common abbreviations of NPs of interest, only 224 out of the nearly 500 retrieved individual papers were research papers on the topic, i.e. about ENMs of interest.
- The importance of including synonyms in the list of keywords when performing a bibliographic search was noted. This is illustrated by the following example: while search with the keyword "cerium *oxide" resulted in the list of 30 papers, the search with the keyword "CeO2" resulted in 34 papers, whereas only 20 of these papers overlapped. Hence, for NanoE-Tox, data search was performed using truncated names, molecular formulas and abbreviations of the selected ENMs (Table 1 in Paper II).
- Including keywords such as "ecotoxic*" can result in incomplete list of relevant papers because not all ecotoxicity studies define the research as such. For example, in chronologically earlier Paper I where the search was organism specific (i.e., not confined to ecotoxicology), 17 EC₅₀ values were retrieved for Ag NPs towards algae. In Paper II, only 4 EC₅₀ values for Ag NP algal toxicity were obtained when including the keyword "ecotoxic*" (Table 2). This indicated that there could have been studies on Ag NP toxicity to algae and studies about other relevant ENMs and organisms that were not included in data synthesis in Paper II. However, by including the keyword "ecotoxic*" ecotoxic*" equal weight was given to all organisms in Paper II.

3.1.2.2 Analysis of data on physico-chemical characterisation of ENMs

To evaluate whether existing papers could be useful for modelling purposes, the coverage of available data on physico-chemical characterisation of ENMs used in the studies included in NanoE-Tox was analysed (Fig. 7). Although not an ENMspecific parameter per se, the origin of ENMs is important as it enables to identify whether NPs used in different studies were of the same origin and, therefore, comparable. The origin of NPs was reported in case of 99% of the entries in NanoE-Tox and 80% of the studied NPs were of commercial origin (Fig. 7A). Among the ENMspecific intrinsic parameters, size of the NPs was the most often reported parameter. Moreover, it was the only pristine particle-specific property that was reported in case of more than 50% of the entries (precisely for 93% of the entries). The latter is in agreement with the fact that the novelty of ENMs comes from their small dimensions and many authors have hypothesised that ENMs have sizedependent effects [194, 195]. Yet, it has been stated that only NPs with a diameter smaller than 20-30 nm have "true nano-effects" [196]. Indeed, Ivask et al. [197] have shown that for many different organism groups the toxicity of 20, 40, 60 and 80 nm monodisperse citrate-coated Ag NPs depends entirely on their dissolution but 10 nm Ag NPs seemed to act via an additional toxicity mechanism. The reported ENM size was below 30 nm in case of 62% of the entries (Fig. 7A).

In decreasing order of number of entries, the other reported intrinsic parameters were coating (44% of all the entries), specific surface area (37%), impurities (34%), shape (33%), and other observations like crystal structure, density, absorbance, etc. (33%, Fig. 7A). The relatively small proportion of entries where these parameters were reported is alarming as coating and/or surface functionalisation determines both the stability and surface chemistry of NPs and consequently also NP interactions with biomolecules and cells/organisms [159]. For instance, positively charged ENMs have been shown to interact with negatively charged cell membranes via electrostatic interactions, causing damage to the cell membranes [153, 198]. In some cases, the impurities from the synthesis process, such as chemical vapour deposition, may contribute to NP toxicity [199]. The fact that NP shape was reported in only approximately one third of the analysed papers and that most of these studies were conducted with spherical NPs, suggests that shape-related effects of NPs are understudied, despite of a few reports on higher toxicity of rod-shaped and triangular NPs compared to spherical ones [200-202].

The test environment could alter both the size (by causing agglomeration or dissolution of NPs) and surface charge (by ion sorption or biocorona formation on NPs) of NPs. Thus, NP characterisation in the ecotoxicological media before and during the test is essential for the interpretation of the test results. However, the analysis of the published literature showed that, compared to the intrinsic NP properties, the environment-specific properties of ENMs were reported less often (Fig. 7B). Hydrodynamic size was reported for 59% of all the entries; 69% of the reported diameters were larger than 100 nm indicating NP agglomeration in the aquatic media. Zeta potential is often used as an indicator of NP surface charge and stability. Namely, while some neutral NPs could be stabilised sterically by covalently bound biomolecules, other NPs are considered to form stable aqueous suspensions if their zeta potential is either greater than 30 mV or smaller

than -30 mV [203]. The information about zeta potential was available for 40% of the entries and stable positively charged NPs (i.e., NPs that are likely to interact, *via* electrostatic interactions, with cell membranes that have an overall negative surface charge) were used only in 1% of the studies. The least reported environment-dependent parameter was the dissolution of particles. While no dissolution data for TiO₂ NPs, CNTs and fullerenes was expected, only half (51%) of the studies about NPs that could potentially release toxic ions (Ag, ZnO, CuO, CeO₂ and FeO_x NPs) reported the solubility of NPs (Fig. 7B).



Figure 7. Coverage of available data on characterisation of ENMs in NanoE-Tox. Percentages of reported (A) intrinsic and (B) environment-specific parameters of all entries (1,518) in the database. (C) Number of reported ENM parameters (primary size, coating, surface area, possible impurities, shape, other observations, size in the test, zeta potential, dissolution) and percentage of all entries by publication year (lighter colour indicates more recent year). #N/A – data not available. Figure is modified from Paper **II**.

Finally, the data compiled in NanoE-Tox database was assessed from the perspective of its applicability for QNAR modelling. The analysis showed that the vast majority of the studies (85%) had reported 2-6 NP-specific parameters (Fig. 7C). One of the conclusions that can be drawn from the data analysis is that despite of the wide scientific discussion about the minimum set of parameters that should be included in a nanotoxicological report [66], there is still room for improvement. For instance, from all 224 individual studies none reported all parameters included in NanoE-Tox database and minority (9%) of the papers reported 7-8 parameters (Fig. 7C). However, considering that the majority of the studies reported ENM primary size and hydrodynamic diameter in the respective test medium, these data may be applicable for modelling of size-dependent biological effects.

3.1.2.3 Analysis of nanoecotoxicological data

Considering the increasing production volumes of ENMs, there is a need for nanoecotoxicological data for the hazard assessment in the framework for risk characterisation. Expectedly, more than half of the entries in NanoE-Tox involved organisms that are used in the standard aquatic toxicity testing crustaceans, algae and fish (Fig. 8, Fig. 5 in Paper II). As in Paper I, D. magna was the most prominent species among crustaceans, R. subcapitata among algae, E. coli among bacteria, and C. elegans among nematodes. Including also fish D. rerio and naturally luminescent bacterium V. fischeri, the mentioned six species constituted nearly half (47%) of all the entries in NanoE-Tox database. Overall. nanoecotoxicological studies were performed using a range of different types of organisms - the database includes 116 different species from the following groups: plants, yeasts, protists, amphibians, bivalves, cnidarians, echinoderms, insects, nematodes, rotifers, snails and worms (Table S5 in Paper II). However, the distribution of the toxicity data on ENMs among different organisms was uneven (Fig. 8). For instance, using the selected keywords, no information was found about the effects of fullerenes and FeO_x NPs on algae and only one study was found for CuO NP effects in algae (Table 2, Fig. 8). While this outcome could be influenced by the choice of keywords, overall, there appear to be data gaps in algal and fish nanotoxicity studies (Table 2).



Figure 8. Distribution of test organisms and tested ENMs by number of entries in NanoE-Tox database.

Contrary to ENM parameters that were not fully described in many papers, the toxicity test conditions were generally well reported: the test environment and duration were mentioned in nearly all the studies, the temperature was reported in more than 90% of the entries and illumination conditions in 75% of the entries. Further analysis of the data showed that 79% of the studies were conducted in artificial media that could complicate the knowledge transfer to natural conditions. The limited number of studies conducted under natural conditions has been also outlined in other papers [124, 204, 205]. The most commonly used toxicity endpoint was viability (77% of the entries) that was mainly reported as a half-effective concentration (EC₅₀, 28% of the entries), half-lethal concentration (LC50, 10% of the entries) or no observed effect concentration (NOEC, 20% of the entries). Other reported endpoints included NP effects on reproduction or NP-triggered malformations. Several studies had tested only one or two NP concentrations that did not allow for the construction of a dose-effect curve, and thus, calculation of half-effective or half-lethal concentrations needed for the risk evaluation. Another aspect that may compromise the suitability of some of the reported test results for hazard assessment is the use of modified standard test protocols. Namely, many of the results were obtained with standard test species, however, the protocols were often modified, e.g., the test duration was altered compared to the standard protocols.

3.1.2.4 Effects and mechanisms of action of selected ENMs based on the analysis of NanoE-Tox data

For modelling purposes, the most commonly used toxicity values are median $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values. In order to compare the toxic effects of different ENMs and to identify the most sensitive organisms, $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values reported for species that belonged to the same organism group were pooled together. Altogether 47 different median $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values were obtained. However, only 18 of these were based on data from three or more papers, 10 median values were calculated based on data from two papers and 19 median values were each based on data from only one paper (Fig. 6 in Paper II). Interestingly, $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values for ZnO NPs were derived from the tests with the widest selection of organisms (10 organism groups), followed by Ag and TiO₂ NPs (both values for 9 organism groups) and CuO NPs (values for 7 organism groups). For fullerenes, however, EC_{50} values were derived from only two organism groups, even though the number of papers in NanoE-Tox was the same for fullerenes and CuO NPs (Table 2, Fig. 6 in Paper II). In addition, the analysis by organism groups indicated that most of the nanotoxicity studies have been conducted with crustaceans and bacteria, while other types of organisms were relatively less studied.

Remarkably, the median $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values of Ag, ZnO and CuO NPs by organism groups in NanoE-Tox were comparable i.e. in the same order of magnitude to those collected in Paper I (Table 2). In addition, the median $E(L,I)C_{50}$ were in agreement with the values reported in other reviews [31, 58]. The most toxic were Ag NPs, followed by other ENMs in decreasing order of toxicity: Ag > ZnO > CuO > CeO₂ > CNTs > TiO₂ > FeO_x (Table 2, Fig. 6 in Paper II). Fullerenes were omitted from the analysis because of the limited toxicity data.

The most susceptible organisms determined based on the lowest median $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values, were crustaceans, algae and fish (Table 2). For some ENMs the derived median

 $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values were lower in organisms that belonged to other groups, for instance, the lowest $E(L,I)C_{50}$ value for Ag NPs was reported with snails, for CuO with rotifers, for CNTs with bacteria and for TiO₂ with insects. Although these values were calculated based on less than three papers, this may suggest the potential for the emerging new data to alter the current knowledge on the most sensitive species. Still, the single lowest reported $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values, i.e., minimal instead of median values, for each ENM were obtained with crustaceans, algae or fish, reinforcing the suitability of the established standard organisms [58] for the risk assessment of ENMs.

Majority of the studies included in NanoE-Tox did not provide information about toxicity mechanisms, but some papers suggested that the toxic effect might be at least partially NP-specific, i.e., not only caused by the released toxic ions. Admittedly, such results were mostly reported for insoluble NPs tested at high particle concentrations. The mechanism of toxic action of partially soluble NPs, such as Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs, was often explained by the release of respective metal ions. Namely, such mechanism was proposed in 53% of the papers observing the effect of CuO NPs, 17% ZnO NPs, and 14% Ag NPs (Table S2 in Paper II). As the distinction between the mechanisms triggered by the released ions and NPs is difficult [206], several modes of action that may be caused by both, ions and particles, have been reported. For instance, Ag NPs have shown to induce oxidative stress in the cells [207-213], cause destabilisation or mechanical damage of cell membranes [212-215], and DNA damage/genotoxicity [216-218]. Due to high affinity of Ag to S, Ag NPs may also bind to sulfhydryl groups of various proteins and disrupt their functions [219]. Effects on membranes, oxidative stress, and genotoxic effects were reported also for ZnO NPs [220-225]. Substantially less studies were performed to assess the toxic mechanisms of other ENMs, known to be practically insoluble (CeO₂, CNTs, and TiO₂). Still, when reported, the main mechanisms were membrane damage and oxidative stress (Table S2 in Paper II). 18 studies showed that NPs were ingested by various organisms and accumulated in the organisms (34 studies) or on their surface (15 studies) (Table S3 in Paper II).

In summary, the analyses performed in Papers I and II indicated that although the nanoecotoxicological data is emerging and a lot is already known about the toxicity of ENMs towards environmentally relevant organisms, there are still several data gaps, such as information on some standard and most non-standard test species and lack of detailed characterisation of tested ENMs. Similar conclusions were drawn in a recent review by Chen et al. [66] who outlined the limited existing data on nanotoxicity and incomplete reporting of the ENM parameters and test conditions. According to our knowledge, NanoE-Tox is currently the largest in-depth online-available database on ENM ecotoxicity. It enables comparison of both the effects of different ENMs towards single species and effects of specific ENMs towards multiple species which could be valuable for computational toxicology and hazard assessment.

3.2 Effects of nanosilver on Tetrahymena thermophila (Papers III, IV)

According to the estimations on production volumes, Ag NPs are not among the top three ENMs (Fig. 1); however, Ag NPs are the most prevalent in consumer products. Namely, Ag NPs are included in 12-24% of all the nano-enabled products listed in the

inventories (Table 1) [4-6]. Thus, as considerable amounts of Ag NPs could reach water bodies (Fig. 2) it is important to assess its effect on different levels of the aquatic food web. The toxicity of Ag NPs has been studied in many species (Papers I, II) but prior to the current study there were only two papers on nanosilver effects on ciliates [133, 226] and no reports on the mechanism of action of Ag NPs in ciliates. Furthermore, despite the extensive efforts to elucidate the mechanisms of toxicity of Ag NPs in aquatic organisms, there is still no consensus on that matter. It has been proposed that Ag NP toxicity results from the effects of both silver ions and particles and depends on the environment [53]. For these reasons, following parts of this thesis focus on evaluating silver effects on the protozoan *T. thermophila*.

3.2.1 Toxicity of silver compounds to Tetrahymena thermophila

3.2.1.1 Characterisation of Ag nanoparticles

Two commercially available silver NPs were tested to elucidate their toxic effect on *T. thermophila* (Table 3). Ag NPs purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Sigma-Ag NPs) were noncoated and have been tested in other nanotoxicological studies previously [208, 209, 227-233]. The second type of Ag NPs included in this study were medically relevant colloidal Ag NPs (Col-Ag NPs). Such colloidal Ag solutions have been used as antibacterial agents for more than hundred years and are available in the pharmacies also today [234]. The two tested Ag NPs differed in several parameters. Namely, compared to casein-coated Col-Ag NPs, Sigma-Ag NPs were larger, more heterogeneous and less soluble (Table 3). Literature data suggests that in moderately hard water the hydrodynamic diameter of Sigma-Ag NPs could be even larger than 147 nm which was reported in Paper **III** [228, 230]. Ag NP dissolution in deionised water was in similar range as reported previously for Sigma-Ag NPs [229] and Col-Ag NPs [235, 236].

Parameter	Sigma-Ag NPs (Paper III)	Col-Ag NPs (Paper IV)
Primary size	<100 nm	14.6 ± 4.7 nm
Coating	Noncoated	Casein (30% of total mass)
Shape according to TEM	#N/A	spherical
Hydrodynamic diameter [†]	147 nm	44 nm
Polydispersity index ⁺	0.48	0.2
Zeta potential [†]	-51 mV	-42.7 mV
Solubility [†]	0.2% at 205 mg/L in 0 h 0.3% at 205 mg/L in 2 h 0.42% at 205 mg/L in 24 h	3.8% at 20 mg/L in 2 h 2.3% at 100 mg/L in 2 h 6.6% at 20 mg/L in 24 h 3.0% at 100 mg/L in 24 h

Table 3. Physico-chemical properties of tested Ag NPs.

[†] measured in DI water

#N/A – not assessed

As Col-Ag NPs primary size was below 20 nm, they were more likely to act *via* nanoeffects compared to agglomeration-prone Sigma-Ag NPs. Indeed, Col-Ag NPs generated time- and dose-dependent ROS in deionised water (Fig. S5A in Paper IV). Abiotic ROS generation has also been reported in case of citrate-coated Ag NPs with diameters up to 20 nm [197]. The observed ROS are likely the intermediate products of the oxidative dissolution of Col-Ag NPs [53, 237].

3.2.1.2 Effects of silver compounds on Tetrahymena thermophila viability

Toxicity testing of Ag compounds was conducted in two separate studies (Paper III and Paper IV) using three T. thermophila wild strains (BIII, CU427, CU428). Overall, no significant differences in sensitivities to Ag compounds were expected between the strains because nearly equal susceptibility to a heterogeneous set of over 50 chemicals has been reported in two different species of Tetrahymena – T. thermophila and T. pyriformis [238]. Indeed, EC₅₀ values of AgNO₃ were in the same order of magnitude in case of all three T. thermophila strains, suggesting that the effects of Ag compounds on T. thermophila viability may be compared across the strains (Fig. 9). Thus, among the Ag compounds tested in this study, Sigma-Ag NPs were regarded as the least toxic with EC₅₀ values ranging from 205 to 286 mg/L, tested with strain BIII, a strain commonly used in ecotoxicity testing and included in the commercially available Protoxkit [238] (Fig. 9). These EC_{50} values were higher than the values reported for other aquatic organisms, such as the crustacean D. magna (24-h immobilisation-based EC50 1-4 mg/L) [230] and bacteria (2-h luminescence inhibition-based EC_{50} 45.9 mg/L) [208]. Compared to Sigma-Ag NPs, Col-Ag NPs were more toxic to T. thermophila, tested in strains CU427 and CU428, with EC_{50} values ranging from 72 to 100 mg Ag/L (Fig. 9). Interestingly, while the difference in Col-Ag NP toxicity between strains CU427 and CU428 that have almost identical genetic backgrounds was not large (strain CU428 was 20-30% more sensitive compared to strain CU427), it was statistically significant and could indicate that the mechanisms of action could slightly differ.

In order to analyse, whether the effect of NPs could be triggered by their dissolution, the effect of respective metal ions has to be known. In general, Ag ions have been shown to be very toxic to many aquatic species; the median EC₅₀ value was as low as 0.0009 mg/L in crustaceans (Paper I). In T. pyriformis, AgNO₃ caused about 60% growth inhibition at 1.5 mg Ag/L, however no half-effective concentration was reported [133]. Comparison of EC₅₀ values obtained with three different *T. thermophila* strains: BIII (Paper III), CU427, and CU428 (Paper IV) indicated, as mentioned above, that the susceptibility of these strains to AgNO₃ was similar as all EC₅₀ values were in the range of 1.5 to 2.8 mg Ag/L, and the toxicity did not change significantly in time (Fig. 9). Interestingly, slight recovery of the culture was observed after 24 h of exposure which was also supported by statistically significant increase in EC₅₀ values for strains CU427 and CU428 (Fig. S6 in Paper IV). Therefore, compared to other aquatic organisms like crustaceans, algae or fish (Paper I), T. thermophila had relatively high tolerance to AgNO₃ which was in agreement with the results reported by Shi et al. [133] for T. pyriformis. One explanation for such phenomenon is that to survive in heavily polluted environments like wastewater treatment plants, T. thermophila has acquired resistance to various drugs and toxins via ABC transporters [239].

The solubility-based calculated toxicity of the Col-Ag NPs resulted in EC_{50} values similar to respective EC_{50} values of AgNO₃ (Fig. S7 in Paper IV) which indicates the importance of released Ag ions in Ag NP toxicity. Indeed, as the toxicity of AgNO₃ for all

three *T. thermophila* strains was similar (Fig. 9), the difference in toxicity of Sigma-Ag NPs and Col-Ag NPs could be explained by different dissolution rates of the particles. Moreover, another type of Ag NPs which were coated with PVP and had higher share of free Ag ions were much more toxic to *T. thermophila* strain BIII (EC₅₀ values ranging from 3.2 to 3.9 mg Ag/L) [137]. In summary, the effect of Ag NPs on the viability of *T. thermophila* appears to depend on NP physico-chemical parameters (including hydrodynamic diameter, stability and solubility) and the EC₅₀ values can vary in the range of orders of magnitudes even in the same test environment.



Figure 9. The toxicity (EC_{50} , mg Ag/L) of tested Ag-compounds to different strains of Tetrahymena thermophila after 2- and 24 h exposure in DI water. The data are the average values of at least three independent assays and error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals. The asterisks (**) mark highly significant difference (p < 0.01) among tested strains.

3.2.2 Silver nitrate biomineralisation by Tetrahymena thermophila

In recent years, green synthesis of ENMs has gained popularity; metal ENM biosynthesis from the respective metal ions has been demonstrated using extracts or cultures of a range of different organisms, e.g., plants, bacteria, and fungi [18]. Such biological reduction of metal ions has been suggested to act as a mechanism of detoxification of toxic metal species [17]. Microorganisms are known to secrete secondary metabolites and extracellular polymeric substances that enable cell-cell communication, facilitate nutrient acquisition and protect from toxicants. T. thermophila was reported to secrete ~30 different proteins into the extracellular medium [240]. To study if Ag ions, e.g., those released from Ag NPs could be detoxified by T. thermophila via biomineralisation, experiments were conducted using T. thermophila extracellular substances (Paper III). Indeed, when AgNO₃ was added to DI water that contained *T. thermophila* soluble

extracellular fraction (SEF) and incubated under illumination, a colour change of the solution from colourless to maroon was observed (Fig. 1 in Paper III). Light has been shown to be essential for (photo)reduction of Ag ions into Ag NPs in other biological systems [241, 242]. The formation of Ag NPs in the SEF water solution was confirmed using UV-Vis spectroscopy and the particles were characterised as described below.

3.2.2.1 Characterisation of formed silver nanoparticles

Ag NPs are known to have plasmon resonance peak in UV-Vis absorbance spectra at 400-450 nm [243, 244]. Aside from visual change, the peak at 420-450 nm in absorbance spectra (Fig. 1 in Paper III) together with decrease in soluble Ag content (Fig. 2B in Paper III), and particle identification with SEM (Fig. S1 in Paper III) confirmed the formation of Ag NPs in SEF. The NP dispersion was relatively heterogeneous as indicated by the high polydispersity index value (0.45-0.59) and SEM images. The particle size increased over time which was reflected by increase in average hydrodynamic diameter: 70 nm after 2-h incubation, 105 nm after 24-h incubation, and over 10 μ m after 7 days of incubation (Fig. 2A in Paper III). The increase in particle size was also supported by visual examination as after 1 week of incubation the formed particles had settled to the bottom of the test tubes (Fig. 1 in Paper III). According to our knowledge this was the first demonstration of metal ion reduction and formation of nanosized metallic particles by the extracellular substances of ciliates. Later, *T. thermophila* SB210 has been shown to synthesise Se NPs [152].



Figure 10. Proposed mechanism for the formation of Ag nanoparticles from Ag ions in deionized water containing soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of Tetrahymena thermophila. Soft SEF corona – proteins are weakly bound to nanoparticles; hard SEF corona – proteins are strongly bound to nanoparticles. Modified from Paper III.

It is generally recognised that biomineralisation occurs *via* reduction of metal ions and precipitation of the formed insoluble nontoxic metal-containing ENMs; however, the detailed mechanism varies from species to species [245]. *T. thermophila* SEF contains various peptides and proteins (e.g., acid hydrolases [246] and other proteases [240]), which may contribute to the reduction of Ag ions [241]. In addition, NPs tend to adsorb proteins onto their surface to form protein corona [247] which helps to stabilise NPs in the aqueous media [248]. Indeed, protein analysis of the Ag-containing protozoan SEF indicated time-dependent decrease in the intensity of the most prevalent protein bands of 22-34 kDa size range (Fig. 3 in Paper III). Moreover, longer incubation resulted in decreased intensity of other protein bands, suggesting that Ag biomineralisation was limited by the SEF protein concentration. Following the reduction of Ag ions and formation of NPs, proteins probably started to form soft corona around the particles. As the reduction of Ag ions continued (confirmed by UV-Vis, Fig. 1 in Paper III), NP concentration and diameters increased, absorbing more proteins from the solution. The reduction in protein concentration resulted in the decrease of the corona thickness, dissociation of weakly bound proteins (soft corona) and formation of hard corona consisting of strongly adsorbed proteins (i.e. hard corona). Due to the depletion of free proteins in SEF, NPs formed at later stages remained uncoated and agglomerated, forming a precipitate (Fig. 10).

3.2.2.2 Toxicity of extracellularly formed silver nanoparticles to *Tetrahymena thermophila*

When *T. thermophila* was exposed to Ag-SEF mixture, dark aggregates were observed in the phagosomes of *T. thermophila* (Fig. 5 in Paper III), that further confirmed the formation of Ag NPs in SEF and their uptake by phagocytosis in the ciliates. The results of the viability assay showed that the incubation of AgNO₃ in SEF reduced Ag toxicity to *T. thermophila* time-dependently – the EC₅₀ values were approximately 2.3 times higher upon exposure to 7-day Ag-SEF mixture than to pure AgNO₃ (Table 1 and Fig. 4 in Paper III). Thus, the formation of Ag NPs could render Ag less bioavailable to *T. thermophila* meaning that SEF has a role in adaptation to environments containing toxic metal ions. The latter is supported by the work of Prasad et al. [245] who suggested that NPs are by-products of microbial resistance mechanisms developed during evolution to cope with high environmental metal concentrations. Additionally, NP formation and agglomeration in the phagosomes could further reduce Ag bioavailability. Indeed, ingestion of ENMs and releasing larger agglomerates has been proposed as a detoxification mechanism also for TiO₂ NPs in *T. thermophila* [115].

3.2.3 Sub-lethal effects of silver compounds on Tetrahymena thermophila

Although all Ag compounds were toxic to *T. thermophila* at mg per L range which is much higher than the estimated concentration of silver in the nature (ng to µg per L range) [21], harmful local concentrations may occur as a consequence of accidents. In addition, organisms may experience stress also at sub-lethal concentrations [249]. Moreover, as *T. thermophila* ingests NPs, it could concentrate the particles in its phagosomes and thus introduce higher local concentrations to its predators. Indeed, Ag NPs were in *T. thermophila* food vacuoles as evidenced by dark agglomerates in the cells visualised using bright field microscopy (Fig. 11).

Still, the literature reports about the mechanism of action of Ag NPs are controversial. Namely, gene expression studies often report up-regulation of oxidative stress related genes and propose that Ag NPs generate oxidative stress [213, 250, 251]. Contrarily, the results from bioassays are often inconsistent and both increase and decrease of intracellular ROS levels, superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) activities [252-254] have been reported. Thus, effects of Ag NPs at sub-lethal concentrations (20 mg Ag/L) on the gene transcription and physiology of *T. thermophila* were studied in parallel to elucidate the mode of toxicity of Ag NPs in the ciliate. As Sigma-Ag NPs were relatively large and tended to agglomerate in the aquatic media, manifestation of nano-specific effects was unlikely for these NPs. Consequently, the following experiments were conducted with Col-Ag NPs that were stabilised with casein coating and formed a stable dispersion in

DI water. AgNO₃ was included as an ionic Ag control and polystyrene NPs of similar size range as Col-Ag NPs as a control for nano-specific effects.



Figure 11. Bright field images of three different T. thermophila strains (BIII, CU427, CU428) after 2-h incubation in DI water, and after 2- and 24-h exposure to Ag NPs. Strain BIII was exposed to 100 mg/L of Sigma-Ag NPs (noncoated) and strains CU427 and CU428 to 20 mg/L of Col-Ag NPs (casein-coated).

3.2.3.1 Effects on gene expression

Changes at gene expression level are often related to physiological outcomes, e.g., elevated heat shock protein (HSP) genes could reflect that the organism is under stress [255]. As Ag NPs were toxic to T. thermophila (Fig. 9), sub-lethal concentrations of Ag NPs were expected to cause cellular stress responses in the protozoan. Additionally, Col-Ag NPs generated abiotic ROS (Fig. S5 in Paper IV) and released Ag species (Table 3) that could be bound by specific proteins present in cells. Thus, the genes selected for real-time PCR study had three main functions: coping with general stress, coping with oxidative stress and binding metal ions. Based on the comparison between EC₅₀ values of AgNO₃ and Col-Ag NPs, calculated based on dissolved Ag ions (Fig. S7 in Paper IV), the dissolution of Col-Ag NPs seemed to explain their toxicity, however, the gene expression profiles in protozoa exposed to 20 mg Ag/L of Col-Ag NPs or 1.5 mg Ag/L of AgNO₃ (i.e. at solubility-based equitoxic concentrations) were different (Fig. 12). As in general polystyrene NPs did not affect the expression of selected genes (Fig. 1 in Paper IV), these effects could not be attributed to NPs in general but were (Col)-Ag NP-specific. Thus, (Col)-Ag NP-induced changes in *T. thermophila* gene expression levels were either caused by the specific properties of Ag NPs, casein coating or the combination of both. Furthermore, although the toxicity of AgNO₃ did not differ statistically between strains CU427 and CU428, exposure to AgNO₃ at the sub-toxic concentration triggered different responses in these strains.



Figure 12. Expression of selected genes in two different Tetrahymena thermophila strains CU427 (A) and CU428 (B) upon exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Col-Ag NPs and AgNO₃ for 2 h and 24 h at 25 °C in the dark. The asterisk (*) marks significant difference (p < 0.05) and (**) marks highly significant difference (p < 0.01) from the expression levels in the respective strain of Tetrahymena incubated in DI water. HSP – heat shock protein, SOD – superoxide dismutase, CAT – catalase, GPX – glutathione peroxidase, GSR - thioredoxin and glutathione reductase, MTT – metallothionein. Figure is modified from Paper IV.

The expression levels of HSP-s can be indicators of environmental stress [255] and have been linked to Ag NP induced stress in *C. elegans* [233]. Interestingly, two out of three studied *HSP* genes (*HSP70-3* and *HSP70-4*) were up-regulated upon exposure to Col-Ag NPs (*HSP70-3* up to 6-fold and *HSP70-4* up to 77-fold) and AgNO₃ (*HSP70-3* up to 4-fold and *HSP70-4* up to 55-fold) only in strain CU427 (Fig. 12A), and no change in the expression of these genes was detected in strain CU428 (Fig. 12B). Due to the involvement of HSP-s in biological processes like protein folding [256], the upregulation of *HSP* genes should give an advantage to strain CU427 in rapid stress management. This may explain the results of the viability test where Ag compounds were less toxic to strain CU427 than CU428 (Fig. 9). On the other hand, the third *HSP* gene, *HSP70-5*, was down-regulated in both strains (Fig. 12) after 2-h exposure to Ag compounds. Fukuda et al. [256] have shown that, in case of heat-stress, HSP70-5 may be compensated by

other proteins and *HSP70-5* is not essential during starvation [257]. Here, the down-regulation of *HSP70-5* likely indicated that protozoa redirected their resources to Ag stress management.

Although hydroxyl radicals (*OH) are the most reactive ROS in the nature, biological systems do not possess enzymes to scavenge *OH [258]. Hence, the detection of *OH at gene expression level is not possible. Instead we focused on the expression of other oxidative stress related enzymes present in *T. thermophila*. Namely, the mitochondrial Mn-SOD (*SOD1*), a cytosolic Cu/Zn-SOD (*SOD2*) that had been previously shown to have an important role in combating oxidative stress [259], the CAT gene, and a GPX (*GPX2*) and a glutathione reductase (*GSR*) both having uniform expression in starving *T. thermophila* were selected for the study. Like with *HSP* genes, the expression of oxidative stress related genes varied in different strains and indicated that Ag compounds may induce mild oxidative stress in *T. thermophila* (Fig. 12).

Generally, in strain CU427 both Col-Ag NPs and AgNO₃ induced gene expression in a similar manner and the expression of several genes was up-regulated compared to the control after 24-h exposure (Fig. 12A). Specifically, the highest up-regulation (36- and 7fold upon exposure to Col-Ag NPs and AgNO₃, respectively) was observed with CAT after 2-h exposure to Ag compounds. Similarly, up-regulation of CAT was observed in the midge *Chironymus riparius* upon exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Ag NPs [209]. These observations could indicate that excess H_2O_2 was generated by SOD in the process of disproportionation of superoxide radicals (O_2^{-}) into oxygen and hydrogen peroxide, and to manage this stress, the cells produced CAT which is responsible for dismutation of H_2O_2 into water and oxygen [258]. Interestingly, after 24-h exposure to Ag compounds GPX2 showed the highest expression (about 4-fold increase) among oxidative stress related genes in strain CU427 which could indicate that CAT was replaced by GPX2 having a similar function (GPX2 reduces H_2O_2 to water and lipid hydroperoxides to alcohols). Slight but significant up-regulation (up to 3-fold) of mitochondrial SOD1 and cytosolic SOD2 was also observed after 24-h exposure of strain CU427 to both Col-Ag NPs and AgNO3 and only GSR expression was not affected at all by Ag compounds (Fig. 12A).

Contrarily, in strain CU428 the gene expression indicated mechanisms specific to only Ag NPs as AgNO₃ did not significantly up-regulate any of the selected oxidative stress related genes. Moreover, in contrast with strain CU427, the highest expression rates compared to the control were reached at the earlier time point (i.e. after 2-h exposure, Fig. 12B). The latter could reflect different metabolic rates of the two strains because it has been shown that, upon osmotic shock, strain CU428 maturated faster than CU427 [260]. Surprisingly, in strain CU428, the highest up-regulation (nearly 14-fold) was observed with cytosolic *SOD2* upon 2-h exposure to Col-Ag NPs. Although after 2-h exposure to Col-Ag NPs the mitochondrial *SOD1* expression was only twice higher than in control of strain CU428, the difference was significant and in accordance with the results obtained with *C. elegans* whose mitochondrial *SOD* was up-regulated by Ag NPs but not Ag ions [233]. Unlike in strain CU427, *CAT* expression in strain CU428 was not affected by Ag NPs and was even down-regulated after 2-h exposure to Col-Ag NPs. This may indicate that GPX2 compensated for the absence of CAT,

similarly to strain CU427 after 24-h exposure. *GSR* which reduces oxidised glutathione was up-regulated in strain CU428 up to 2-fold in the similar manner to *GPX2* (Fig. 12B).

Finally, metallothioneins (*MTTs*) *MTT1* and *MTT5*, both of which are mainly induced by Cd and respond to wide variety of stressors [261], were up-regulated (*MTT1* up to 650-fold and *MTT5* up to 5000 fold) in both strains by all Ag compounds and at all time points (Fig. 12). This was expected as MTTs are known to bind toxic metals [262] and could also remove ROS [263]. Moreover, *MTT* expression has been shown to increase upon exposure to Ag NPs in other models like zebrafish [264]. As the *MTT* expression in *T. thermophila* exposed to Col-Ag NPs increased in time (Fig. 12), it is likely that Ag NPs released Ag ions that were transported to cytosol turning NPs into "Trojan horses" [265].

3.2.3.2 Effects on physiological responses

As Ag NP specific effects were observed in the expression of oxidative stress related genes, levels of intracellular ROS, lipid peroxidation, and activity of ROS scavenging enzymes SOD and CAT were determined to evaluate whether these biomarkers correlated with gene expression levels. In spite of several Ag NP and strain-specific differences observed at gene expression level, the only indicator of oxidative stress at the physiological level was lipid peroxidation in Ag-exposed T. thermophila (Fig. 3 in paper IV). However, this was likely due to the presence of Ag ions as only $AgNO_3$ (1.5 mg Ag/L) and not Col-Ag NPs (20 mg/L) induced lipid peroxidation in strain CU428. Surprisingly, no excess ROS generation, nor increase in the activity of antioxidant enzymes SOD and CAT was found in T. thermophila exposed to Ag compounds (Fig. 3E-H in paper IV). Although the latter seemed to be a contradicting result, the upregulation of SOD and CAT might be necessary to maintain the balance of these enzymes in the cell to counteract the inhibition of enzymes by Ag. Namely, Ag has a high affinity towards sulfhydryl groups of the cysteine residues [266] that may inhibit enzyme activities. Indeed, Zhang et al. [267] demonstrated that Ag NPs interacted with Cu/Zn-SOD. Here, the activity of CAT was inhibited by Col-Ag NPs (Supplementary of paper IV). Moreover, the up-regulation of HSP genes in strain CU427 could also be a result of Ag compounds interacting with vital proteins as it has been proposed that in bacteria treated with Ag NPs hsp is up-regulated to restore the protein structures [268].

Consequently, Ag ions were likely the main cause of Col-Ag NP toxicity as the EC₅₀ values could be explained by the dissolution of the particles and exposure of *T. thermophila* with Ag NPs and Ag ions resulted in dose-response curves with similar slopes. Deeper insight into mechanism of action confirmed the initial results as the expression of metallothionein genes was elevated the most (up to 5000-fold) compared to other selected genes upon exposure to both Col-Ag NPs and AgNO₃, and both Ag compounds had similar effects on the selected *T. thermophila* biomarkers. Nevertheless, mechanistic studies provided valuable information that explained the difference in the susceptibility of strains CU427 and CU428 to Ag compounds.

CONCLUSIONS

- Standard aquatic test organisms crustaceans, algae and fish were shown to be more susceptible to Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs than bacteria who are often the main target organisms of these NPs used frequently for biocidal purposes. Overall, the toxicity ranges of the three metal NPs, often applied as biocidal agents, overlapped for target and non-target organisms, which indicates that environmental release of these NPs may pose a threat to aquatic biota (Paper I).
- The toxicity of industrially relevant ENMs according to most sensitive organism (mostly crustaceans or algae) decreased in the order of Ag (acutely very toxic, potentially chronically very toxic) > ZnO (acutely very toxic, potentially chronically very toxic) > CuO (potentially chronically toxic) > CeO₂ (potentially chronically toxic) > CNTs (potentially chronically toxic) > TiO₂ (potentially chronically harmful) > FeO_x (potentially chronically harmful, not enough data) (Papers I, II).
- An online-available database NanoE-Tox with detailed information on 8 industrially relevant ENMs and their toxicity (1,518 toxicity values) was compiled using 224 peer-reviewed papers published before 2015. NanoE-Tox enabled to identify several data gaps in the existing nanotoxicity data: (i) NPs are often characterised insufficiently, (ii) tests with standard models like algae and fish are often performed using modified protocols, and (iii) the data on toxicity of industrially relevant ENMs to organisms other than standard models are scarce (Paper II).
- T. thermophila has a relatively high tolerability of Ag compounds with EC₅₀ of noncoated Ag NPs (Sigma-Ag NPs) in the range of 205-286 mg Ag/L, EC₅₀ of caseincoated Ag NPs (Col-Ag NPs) in the range of 72-100 mg Ag/L, and EC₅₀ of AgNO₃ in the range of 1.5-2.8 mg Ag/L (Papers III, IV).
- The main mechanism of toxic action of Sigma-Ag NPs and Col-Ag NPs in *T. thermophila* was through the release of toxic Ag ions (Papers III, IV).
- It was demonstrated that Ag ions were reduced into Ag NPs in the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*. The biomineralisation process was a result of the interactions between Ag and SEF proteins that likely play a role in detoxification of Ag ions and the process is likely one of the reasons for low toxicity of Ag compounds to the protozoan (Paper III).
- The parallel study of two wild type strains of *T. thermophila* indicated that although the protozoan has a low sensitivity towards Ag NPs, strain to strain variability in cellular responses may occur. 20-30% higher susceptibility of *T. thermophila* strain CU428 to Col-Ag NPs was accompanied with Ag NP specific gene expression, differently from the responses in strain CU427 (Paper IV).
- Although overexpression of oxidative stress related genes was observed in Ag NPexposed *T. thermophila*, this was not manifested in the increased levels of intracellular ROS and the activity of antioxidant enzymes SOD and CAT. This was likely due to the effective antioxidant defence mechanisms in the ciliate (Paper IV).

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Estimated annual production of engineered nanomaterials globally and in the
European Union
Figure 2. The flows of global production, use, disposal and release of industrially
relevant nanoparticles
Figure 3.Schematic diagram of <i>Tetrahymena thermophila</i>
Figure 4. Number of papers concerning <i>Tetrahymena</i> and engineered nanomaterials in
WoS and Scopus on August 23, 2017. Share of papers according to tested Tetrahymena
species. Number of studies involving <i>Tetrahymena</i> and different nanomaterials 25
Figure 5. Headers of columns in NanoE-Tox database
Figure 6. Evolution of information on ecotoxicity of selected nanomaterials in NanoE-
Tox database
Figure 7. Coverage of available data on characterisation of ENMs in NanoE-Tox
Figure 8. Distribution of test organisms and tested ENMs by number of entries in
NanoE-Tox database
Figure 9. The toxicity of tested Ag-compounds to different strains of Tetrahymena
thermophila after 2- and 24 h exposure in DI water50
Figure 10. Proposed mechanism for the formation of Ag nanoparticles from Ag ions in
deionised water containing soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of Tetrahymena
thermophila51
Figure 11. Bright field images of three different T. thermophila strains (BIII, CU427,
CU428) after 2-h incubation in DI water, and after 2- and 24-h exposure to Ag NPs53
Figure 12. Expression of selected genes in two different Tetrahymena thermophila
strains CU427 and CU428 upon exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Col-Ag NPs
and AgNO $_3$ for 2 h and 24 h at 25 °C in the dark54

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Nano-enabled products in different inventories	14
Table 2. Median $L(E,I)C_{50}$ values (mg/L) and number of entries for all	compounds
included in Papers I and II	
Table 3. Physico-chemical properties of tested Ag NPs.	

REFERENCES

[1] A. Kahru, A. Ivask, Mapping the dawn of nanoecotoxicological research, Accounts of Chemical Research 46(3) (2013) 823-833.

[2] A.E. Nel, C.J. Brinker, W.J. Parak, J.I. Zink, W.C.W. Chan, K.E. Pinkerton, T. Xia, D.R. Baer, M.C. Hersam, P.S. Weiss, Where are we heading in nanotechnology environmental health and safety and materials characterization?, ACS Nano 9(6) (2015) 5627-5630.

[3] A. Ivask, K. Juganson, O. Bondarenko, M. Mortimer, V. Aruoja, K. Kasemets, I. Blinova, M. Heinlaan, V. Slaveykova, A. Kahru, Mechanisms of toxic action of Ag, ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to selected ecotoxicological test organisms and mammalian cells *in vitro*: A comparative review, Nanotoxicology 8 (2014) 57-71.

[4] Project on Emerging Nanotechnologies (2013). Consumer Products Inventory, 2016. http://www.nanotechproject.org/cpi/products/. (Accessed Aug 18 2016).

[5] The Nanodatabase, 2017. http://nanodb.dk/. (Accessed April 3rd 2017).

[6] Nanotechnology Products Database, 2017. http://product.statnano.com/. (Accessed Apr 3 2017).

[7] K. Vickerman, The diversity and ecological significance of protozoa, Biodiversity and Conservation 1(4) (1992) 334-341.

[8] M.D. Montano, G.V. Lowry, F. von der Kammer, J. Blue, J.F. Ranville, Current status and future direction for examining engineered nanoparticles in natural systems, Environmental Chemistry 11(4) (2014) 351-366.

[9] European Commission, 2011. Commission Recommendation of 18 October 2011 on the definition of nanomaterial (2011/696/EU).

[10] European Parliament and European Council, 2012. Regulation (EU) No 528/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 May 2012 concerning the making available on the market and use of biocidal products.

[11] European Parliament and European Council, 2009. Regulation (EC) No 1223/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November 2009 on cosmetic products.

[12] European Parliament and European Council, 2011. Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2011 on the provision of food information to consumers, amending Regulations (EC) No 1924/2006 and (EC) No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council, and repealing Commission Directive 87/250/EEC, Council Directive 90/496/EEC, Commission Directive 1999/10/EC, Directive 2000/13/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, Commission Directives 2002/67/EC and 2008/5/EC and Commission Regulation (EC) No 608/2004.

[13] European Parliament and European Council, 2015. Regulation (EU) 2015/2283 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 on novel foods, amending Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Regulation (EC) No 258/97 of the European Parliament and of the Council and Commission Regulation (EC) No 1852/2001.

[14] G. Oberdorster, E. Oberdorster, J. Oberdorster, Nanotoxicology: An emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles, Environmental Health Perspectives 113(7) (2005) 823-839.

[15] J.A. Liddle, G.M. Gallatin, Nanomanufacturing: A perspective, ACS Nano 10(3) (2016) 2995-3014.

[16] M. Poliakoff, J.M. Fitzpatrick, T.R. Farren, P.T. Anastas, Green chemistry: Science and politics of change, Science 297(5582) (2002) 807-810.

[17] W.J. Crookes-Goodson, J.M. Slocik, R.R. Naik, Bio-directed synthesis and assembly of nanomaterials, Chemical Society Reviews 37(11) (2008) 2403-2412.

[18] M. Shah, D. Fawcett, S. Sharma, S.K. Tripathy, G.E.J. Poinern, Green synthesis of metallic nanoparticles *via* biological entities, Materials 8(11) (2015) 7278-7308.

[19] H.H. Liu, M. Bilal, A. Lazareva, A. Keller, Y. Cohen, Simulation tool for assessing the release and environmental distribution of nanomaterials, Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology 6 (2015) 938-951.

[20] A.A. Keller, A. Lazareva, Predicted releases of engineered nanomaterials: From global to regional to local, Environmental Science & Technology Letters 1(1) (2014) 65-70.

[21] T.Y. Sun, F. Gottschalk, K. Hungerbuehler, B. Nowack, Comprehensive probabilistic modelling of environmental emissions of engineered nanomaterials, Environmental Pollution 185 (2014) 69-76.

[22] Déclaration des substances à l'état nanoparticulaire - exercice 2016 : Rapport d'étude, Ministère de l'Environnement, de l'Énergie et de la Mer, 2016.

[23] P. Colomban, The use of metal nanoparticles to produce yellow, red and iridescent colour, from bronze age to present times in lustre pottery and glass: Solid state chemistry, spectroscopy and nanostructure, Journal of Nano Research 8 (2009) 109-132.

[24] G.Y. Chen, I. Roy, C.H. Yang, P.N. Prasad, Nanochemistry and nanomedicine for nanoparticlebased diagnostics and therapy, Chemical Reviews 116(5) (2016) 2826-2885.

[25] A.W. Carpenter, C.F. de Lannoy, M.R. Wiesner, Cellulose nanomaterials in water treatment technologies, Environmental Science & Technology 49(9) (2015) 5277-5287.

[26] R.J.B. Peters, H. Bouwmeester, S. Gottardo, V. Amenta, M. Arena, P. Brandhoff, H.J.P. Marvin, A. Mech, F.B. Moniz, L.Q. Pesudo, H. Rauscher, R. Schoonjans, A.K. Undas, M.V. Vettori, S. Weigel, K. Aschberger, Nanomaterials for products and application in agriculture, feed and food, Trends in Food Science & Technology 54 (2016) 155-164.

[27] A.K. Yetisen, H. Qu, A. Manbachi, H. Butt, M.R. Dokmeci, J.P. Hinestroza, M. Skorobogatiy, A. Khademhosseini, S.H. Yun, Nanotechnology in textiles, ACS Nano 10(3) (2016) 3042-3068.

[28] S.F. Hansen, L.R. Heggelund, P.R. Besora, A. Mackevica, A. Boldrin, A. Baun, Nanoproducts - what is actually available to European consumers?, Environmental Science-Nano 3(1) (2016) 169-180.

[29] M. Kendall, I. Lynch, Long-term monitoring for nanomedicine implants and drugs, Nature Nanotechnology 11(3) (2016) 206-+.

[30] C. Walkey, S. Das, S. Seal, J. Erlichman, K. Heckman, L. Ghibelli, E. Traversa, J.F. McGinnis, W.T. Self, Catalytic properties and biomedical applications of cerium oxide nanoparticles, Environmental Science-Nano 2(1) (2015) 33-53.

[31] B. Collin, M. Auffan, A.C. Johnson, I. Kaur, A.A. Keller, A. Lazareva, J.R. Lead, X. Ma, R.C. Merrifield, C. Svendsen, J.C. White, J.M. Unrine, Environmental release, fate and ecotoxicological effects of manufactured ceria nanomaterials, Environmental Science-Nano 1(6) (2014) 533-548.

[32] H.H. Wu, J.J. Yin, W.G. Wamer, M.Y. Zeng, Y.M. Lo, Reactive oxygen species-related activities of nano-iron metal and nano-iron oxides, Journal of Food and Drug Analysis 22(1) (2014) 86-94.

[33] V. Georgakilas, J.A. Perman, J. Tucek, R. Zboril, Broad family of carbon nanoallotropes: Classification, chemistry, and applications of fullerenes, carbon dots, nanotubes, graphene, nanodiamonds, and combined superstructures, Chemical Reviews 115(11) (2015) 4744-4822.

[34] S. Mintova, M. Jaber, V. Valtchev, Nanosized microporous crystals: emerging applications, Chemical Society Reviews 44(20) (2015) 7207-7233.

[35] S. Mallakpour, E. Khadem, Recent development in the synthesis of polymer nanocomposites based on nano-alumina, Progress in Polymer Science 51 (2015) 74-93.

[36] Y.D. Xie, D. Kocaefe, Y. Kocaefe, J. Cheng, W. Liu, The Effect of novel synthetic methods and parameters control on morphology of nano-alumina particles, Nanoscale Research Letters 11 (2016).

[37] Q.B. Zhang, K.L. Zhang, D.G. Xu, G.C. Yang, H. Huang, F.D. Nie, C.M. Liu, S.H. Yang, CuO nanostructures: Synthesis, characterization, growth mechanisms, fundamental properties, and applications, Progress in Materials Science 60 (2014) 208-337.

[38] O. Rubilar, M. Rai, G. Tortella, M.C. Diez, A.B. Seabra, N. Duran, Biogenic nanoparticles: copper, copper oxides, copper sulphides, complex copper nanostructures and their applications, Biotechnology Letters 35(9) (2013) 1365-1375.

[39] L.E. Shi, Z.H. Li, W. Zheng, Y.F. Zhao, Y.F. Jin, Z.X. Tang, Synthesis, antibacterial activity, antibacterial mechanism and food applications of ZnO nanoparticles: a review, Food Additives and Contaminants Part a-Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment 31(2) (2014) 173-186.

[40] A. Adamcakova-Dodd, L.V. Stebounova, J.S. Kim, S.U. Vorrink, A.P. Ault, P.T. O'Shaughnessy, V.H. Grassian, P.S. Thorne, Toxicity assessment of zinc oxide nanoparticles using sub-acute and sub-chronic murine inhalation models, Particle and Fibre Toxicology 11 (2014).

[41] X.Y. Zhang, J.Q. Qin, Y.N. Xue, P.F. Yu, B. Zhang, L.M. Wang, R.P. Liu, Effect of aspect ratio and surface defects on the photocatalytic activity of ZnO nanorods, Scientific Reports 4 (2014).

[42] G. Mittal, V. Dhand, K.Y. Rhee, S.J. Park, W.R. Lee, A review on carbon nanotubes and graphene as fillers in reinforced polymer nanocomposites, Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry 21 (2015) 11-25.

[43] A. Eatemadi, H. Daraee, H. Karimkhanloo, M. Kouhi, N. Zarghami, A. Akbarzadeh, M. Abasi, Y. Hanifehpour, S.W. Joo, Carbon nanotubes: properties, synthesis, purification, and medical applications, Nanoscale Research Letters 9 (2014).

[44] C. Fruijtier-Poelloth, The toxicological mode of action and the safety of synthetic amorphous silica-A nanostructured material, Toxicology 294(2-3) (2012) 61-79.

[45] A. Picado, S.M. Paixao, L. Moita, L. Silva, M. Diniz, J. Lourenco, I. Peres, L. Castro, J.B. Correia, J. Pereira, I. Ferreira, A.P.A. Matos, P. Barquinha, E. Mendonca, A multi-integrated approach on toxicity effects of engineered TiO_2 nanoparticles, Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering 9(5) (2015) 793-803.

[46] H.B. Shi, R. Magaye, V. Castranova, J.S. Zhao, Titanium dioxide nanoparticles: a review of current toxicological data, Particle and Fibre Toxicology 10 (2013).

[47] V.K. Sharma, K.M. Siskova, R. Zboril, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, Organic-coated silver nanoparticles in biological and environmental conditions: Fate, stability and toxicity, Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 204 (2014) 15-34.

[48] L.Y. Wei, J.R. Lu, H.Z. Xu, A. Patel, Z.S. Chen, G.F. Chen, Silver nanoparticles: synthesis, properties, and therapeutic applications, Drug Discovery Today 20(5) (2015) 595-601.

[49] P.A. Holden, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, F. Klaessig, R.F. Turco, M. Mortimer, K. Hund-Rinke, E.A.C. Hubal, D. Avery, D. Barcelo, R. Behra, Y. Cohen, L. Deydier-Stephan, P.L. Ferguson, T.F. Fernandes, B.H. Harthorn, W.M. Henderson, R.A. Hoke, D. Hristozov, J.M. Johnston, A.B. Kane, L. Kapustka, A.A. Keller, H.S. Lenihan, W. Lovell, C.J. Murphy, R.M. Nisbet, E.J. Petersen, E.R. Salinas, M. Scheringer, M. Sharma, D.E. Speed, Y. Sultan, P. Westerhoff, J.C. White, M.R. Wiesner, E.M. Wong, B.S. Xing, M.S. Horan, H.A. Godwin, A.E. Nel, Considerations of environmentally relevant test conditions for improved evaluation of ecological hazards of engineered nanomaterials, Environmental Science & Technology 50(12) (2016) 6124-6145.

[50] S. Wagner, A. Gondikas, E. Neubauer, T. Hofmann, F. von der Kammer, Spot the difference: Engineered and natural nanoparticles in the environment-release, behavior, and fate, Angewandte Chemie-International Edition 53(46) (2014) 12398-12419.

[51] P.S. Tourinho, C.A.M. van Gestel, S. Lofts, C. Svendsen, A.M.V.M. Soares, S. Loureiro, Metalbased nanoparticles in soil: Fate, behavior, and effects on soil invertebrates, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(8) (2012) 1679-1692.

[52] H.T. Wang, A.S. Adeleye, Y.X. Huang, F.T. Li, A.A. Keller, Heteroaggregation of nanoparticles with biocolloids and geocolloids, Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 226 (2015) 24-36.

[53] W.C. Zhang, B.D. Xiao, T. Fang, Chemical transformation of silver nanoparticles in aquatic environments: Mechanism, morphology and toxicity, Chemosphere 191 (2018) 324-334.

[54] A.H. Nielsen, J. Vollertsen, H.S. Jensen, H.I. Madsen, T. Hvitved-Jacobsen, Aerobic and anaerobic transformations of sulfide in a sewer system - Field study and model simulations, Water Environment Research 80(1) (2008) 16-25.

[55] A. Lopez-Serrano, R.M. Olivas, J.S. Landaluze, C. Camara, Nanoparticles: a global vision. Characterization, separation, and quantification methods. Potential environmental and health impact, Analytical Methods 6(1) (2014) 38-56.

[56] F. Laborda, E. Bolea, G. Cepria, M.T. Gomez, M.S. Jimenez, J. Perez-Arantegui, J.R. Castillo, Detection, characterization and quantification of inorganic engineered nanomaterials: A review of techniques and methodological approaches for the analysis of complex samples, Analytica Chimica Acta 904 (2016) 10-32.

[57] Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), Official Journal of the European Union, 2006, pp. 1-849.

[58] A. Kahru, H.-C. Dubourguier, From ecotoxicology to nanoecotoxicology, Toxicology 269(2-3) (2010) 105-119.

[59] Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures, Official Journal of the European Union, 2008, pp. 1-1355.

[60] ECHA, ECHA strategy on substances in nanoforms. 48th Meeting of the Management Board, Helsinki, Finland, 14-15 December 2017.

[61] R. Hjorth, L.M. Skjolding, S.N. Sorensen, A. Baun, Regulatory adequacy of aquatic ecotoxicity testing of nanomaterials, Nanoimpact 8 (2017) 28-37.

[62] M. Romero-Franco, H.A. Godwin, M. Bilal, Y. Cohen, Needs and challenges for assessing the environmental impacts of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs), Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology 8 (2017) 989-1014.

[63] J.H.E. Arts, M. Hadi, M.A. Irfan, A.M. Keene, R. Kreiling, D. Lyon, M. Maier, K. Michel, T. Petry, U.G. Sauer, D. Warheit, K. Wiench, W. Wohlleben, R. Landsiedel, A decision-making framework for the grouping and testing of nanomaterials (DF4nanoGrouping), Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 71(2) (2015) S1-S27.

[64] J. Sass, L. Heine, N.N. Hwang, Use of a modified GreenScreen tool to conduct a screeninglevel comparative hazard assessment of conventional silver and two forms of nanosilver, Environmental Health 15 (2016).

[65] J.J. Scott-Fordsmand, W. Peijnenburg, E. Semenzin, B. Nowack, N. Hunt, D. Hristozov, A. Marcomini, M.A. Irfan, A.S. Jimenez, R. Landsiedel, L. Tran, A.G. Oomen, P.M.J. Bos, K. Hund-Rinke, Environmental risk assessment strategy for nanomaterials, International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 14(10) (2017).

[66] G.C. Chen, W. Peijnenburg, Y.L. Xiao, M.G. Vijver, Current knowledge on the use of computational toxicology in hazard assessment of metallic engineered nanomaterials, International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18(7) (2017).

[67] G.C. Chen, W. Peijnenburg, V. Kovalishyn, M.G. Vijver, Development of nanostructureactivity relationships assisting the nanomaterial hazard categorization for risk assessment and regulatory decision-making, RSC Advances 6(57) (2016) 52227-52235.

[68] V.V. Kleandrova, F. Luan, H. Gonzalez-Diaz, J.M. Ruso, A. Speck-Planche, M.N.D.S. Cordeiro, Computational Tool for risk assessment of nanomaterials: Novel QSTR-perturbation model for simultaneous prediction of ecotoxicity and cytotoxicity of uncoated and coated nanoparticles under multiple experimental conditions, Environmental Science & Technology 48(24) (2014) 14686-14694.

[69] X. Liu, K.Z. Tang, S. Harper, B. Harper, J.A. Steevens, R. Xu, Predictive modeling of nanomaterial exposure effects in biological systems, International Journal of Nanomedicine 8 (2013) 31-43.

[70] A. Gajewicz, M.T.D. Cronin, B. Rasulev, J. Leszczynski, T. Puzyn, Novel approach for efficient predictions properties of large pool of nanomaterials based on limited set of species: nano-readacross, Nanotechnology 26(1) (2015) 9.

[71] M. Crane, R.D. Handy, J. Garrod, R. Owen, Ecotoxicity test methods and environmental hazard assessment for engineered nanoparticles, Ecotoxicology 17(5) (2008) 421-437.

[72] E.J. Petersen, T.B. Henry, J. Zhao, R.I. MacCuspie, T.L. Kirschling, M.A. Dobrovolskaia, V. Hackley, B. Xing, J.C. White, Identification and avoidance of potential artifacts and misinterpretations in nanomaterial ecotoxicity measurements, Environmental Science & Technology 48(8) (2014) 4226-4246.

[73] R.D. Handy, G. Cornelis, T. Fernandes, O. Tsyusko, A. Decho, T. Sabo-Attwood, C. Metcalfe, J.A. Steevens, S.J. Klaine, A.A. Koelmans, N. Horne, Ecotoxicity test methods for engineered nanomaterials: Practical experiences and recommendations from the bench, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(1) (2012) 15-31.

[74] E.J. Petersen, S.A. Diamond, A.J. Kennedy, G.G. Goss, K. Ho, J. Lead, S.K. Hanna, N.B. Hartmann, K. Hund-Rinke, B. Mader, N. Manier, P. Pandard, E.R. Salinas, P. Sayre, Adapting OECD aquatic toxicity tests for use with manufactured nanomaterials: Key issues and consensus recommendations, Environmental Science & Technology 49(16) (2015) 9532-9547.

[75] K. Hund-Rinke, A. Baun, D. Cupi, T.F. Fernandes, R. Handy, J.H. Kinross, J.M. Navas, W. Peijnenburg, K. Schlich, B.J. Shaw, J.J. Scott-Fordsmand, Regulatory ecotoxicity testing of nanomaterials - proposed modifications of OECD test guidelines based on laboratory experience with silver and titanium dioxide nanoparticles, Nanotoxicology 10(10) (2016) 1442-1447.

[76] J.C. Gutiérrez, A. Martín-González, S. Díaz, F. Amaro, R. Ortega, A. Gallego, M.P. de Lucas, Ciliates as cellular tools to study the eukaryotic cell: Heavy metal interactions, Heavy Metal Pollution (2008), pp. 1-44.

[77] P. Madoni, Protozoa in wastewater treatment processes: A minireview, Italian Journal of Zoology 78(1) (2011) 3-11.

[78] S. Diaz, A. Martin-Gonzalez, J.C. Gutierrez, Evaluation of heavy metal acute toxicity and bioaccumulation in soil ciliated protozoa, Environment International 32(6) (2006) 711-717.

[79] T.W. Schultz, Tetratox: *Tetrahymena pyriformis* population growth impairment endpoint - A surrogate for fish lethality, Toxicology Methods 7(4) (1997) 289-309.

[80] M. Hewitt, M.T.D. Cronin, P.H. Rowe, T.W. Schultz, Repeatability analysis of the *Tetrahymena pyriformis* population growth impairment assay, SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research 22(5-6) (2011) 621-637.

[81] A.P. Toropova, T.W. Schultz, A.A. Toropov, Building up a QSAR model for toxicity toward *Tetrahymena pyriformis* by the Monte Carlo method: A case of benzene derivatives, Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 42 (2016) 135-145.

[82] A. Gerhardt, A. Ud-Daula, K.W. Schramm, *Tetrahymena* spp. (Protista, Ciliophora) as Test Species in Rapid Multi-level Ecotoxicity Tests, Acta Protozoologica 49(4) (2010) 271-280.

[83] OECD, Test No. 244: Protozoan Activated Sludge Inhibition Test, OECD Publishing 2017.

[84] E.M. Simon, D.L. Nanney, F.P. Doerder, The "*Tetrahymena pyriformis*" complex of cryptic species, Biodiversity and Conservation 17(2) (2008) 365-380.

[85] D.H. Lynn, F.P. Doerdert, The life and times of *Tetrahymena*, *Tetrahymena thermophila* 109 (2012) 11-27.

[86] F.P. Doerder, C. Brunk, Natural Populations and inbred strains of *Tetrahymena, Tetrahymena thermophila* 109 (2012) 277-300.

[87] R.A. Zufall, K.L. Dimond, F.P. Doerder, Restricted distribution and limited gene flow in the model ciliate *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Molecular Ecology 22(4) (2013) 1081-1091.

[88] G. Esteban, C. Tellez, L.M. Bautista, Dynamics of ciliated protozoa communities in activatedsludge process, Water Research 25(8) (1991) 967-972.

[89] K. Collins, Perspectives on the ciliated protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*, *Tetrahymena Thermophila* 109 (2012) 3-7.

[90] D. Wloga, J. Frankel, From molecules to morphology: Cellular organization of *Tetrahymena thermophila*, *Tetrahymena Thermophila* 109 (2012) 83-140.

[91] A.D. Nusblat, L.J. Bright, A.P. Turkewitz, Conservation and innovation in *Tetrahymena* membrane traffic: Proteins, lipids, and compartments, *Tetrahymena thermophila* 109 (2012) 141-175.

[92] R.S. Coyne, N.A. Stovert, W. Miao, Whole genome studies of *Tetrahymena, Tetrahymena Thermophila* 109 (2012) 53-81.

[93] L.A. Pray, Eukaryotic genome complexity, Nature Education 1(1) (2008) 96.

[94] E. Cole, T. Sugai, Developmental progression of *Tetrahymena* through the cell cycle and conjugation, *Tetrahymena thermophila* 109 (2012) 177-236.

[95] J. Frankel, Cell biology of *Tetrahymena thermophila*, *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Methods in Cell Biology, eds. D.J. Asai, J.D. Forney, Academic Press, New York, 2000, pp. 27-125.

[96] L. Leitgib, J. Kálmán, K. Gruiz, Comparison of bioassays by testing whole soil and their water extract from contaminated sites, Chemosphere 66(3) (2007) 428-434.

[97] L. Massolo, A. Müller, M. Tueros, M. Rehwagen, U. Franck, A. Ronco, O. Herbarth, Assessment of mutagenicity and toxicity of different-size fractions of air particulates from La Plata, Argentina, and Leipzig, Germany, Environmental Toxicology 17(3) (2002) 219-231.

[98] X.J. Chen, W.S. Feng, W. Miao, Y.H. Yu, Y.F. Shen, C.Y. Wan, J.H. Peng, A microcalorimetric assay of *Tetrahymena thermophila* for assessing tributyltin acute toxicity, Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry 94(3) (2008) 779-784.

[99] V.R. Dayeh, S. Grominsky, S.J. DeWitte-Orr, D. Sotornik, C.R. Yeung, L.E.J. Lee, D.H. Lynn, N.C. Bols, Comparing a ciliate and a fish cell line for their sensitivity to several classes of toxicants by the novel application of multiwell filter plates to *Tetrahymena*, Research in Microbiology 156(1) (2005) 93-103.

[100] C.H. St Denis, M.D.O. Pinheiro, M.E. Power, N.C. Bols, Effect of salt and urban water samples on bacterivory by the ciliate, *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Environmental Pollution 158(2) (2010) 502-507.

[101] M. Mortimer, K. Kasemets, A. Kahru, Toxicity of ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to ciliated protozoa *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Toxicology 269(2-3) (2010) 182-189.

[102] R.E. Mielke, J.H. Priester, R.A. Werlin, J. Gelb, A.M. Horst, E. Orias, P.A. Holden, Differential growth of and nanoscale TiO₂ accumulation in *Tetrahymena thermophila* by direct feeding versus trophic transfer from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79(18) (2013) 5616-5624.

[103] P. Bogaerts, J. Senaud, J. Bohatier, Bioassay technique using nonspecific esterase activities of *Tetrahymena pyriformis* for screening and assessing cytotoxicity of xenobiotics, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 17(8) (1998) 1600-1605.

[104] M.P. Sauvant, D. Pepin, E. Piccinni, *Tetrahymena pyriformis*: A tool for toxicological studies. A review, Chemosphere 38(7) (1999) 1631-1669.

[105] A. Kahru, H.-C. Dubourguier, I. Blinova, A. Ivask, K. Kasemets, Biotests and biosensors for ecotoxicology of metal oxide nanoparticles: A minireview, Sensors 8(8) (2008) 5153-5170.

[106] Y. Zhu, T.C. Ran, Y.G. Li, J.X. Guo, W.X. Li, Dependence of the cytotoxicity of multi-walled carbon nanotubes on the culture medium, Nanotechnology 17(18) (2006) 4668-4674.

[107] Y. Zhu, T. Ran, Y. Li, W. L i, Observation of growth stimulation of *Tetrahymena pyriformis* exposed to MWNTs, Nuclear Techniques 30(8) (2007) 689-693.

[108] J.X. Guo, X. Zhang, S.S. Zhang, Y. Zhu, W.X. Li, The different bio-effects of functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes on *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, Current Nanoscience 4(3) (2008) 240-245.

[109] O.M. Bondarenko, M. Heinlaan, M. Sihtmae, A. Ivask, I. Kurvet, E. Joonas, A. Jemec, M. Mannerstrom, T. Heinonen, R. Rekulapelly, S. Singh, J. Zou, I. Pyykko, D. Drobne, A. Kahru, Multilaboratory evaluation of 15 bioassays for (eco)toxicity screening and hazard ranking of engineered nanomaterials: FP7 project NANOVALID, Nanotoxicology 10(9) (2016) 1229-1242.

[110] P. Ghafari, C.H. St-Denis, M.E. Power, X. Jin, V. Tsou, H.S. Mandal, N.C. Bols, X. Tang, Impact of carbon nanotubes on the ingestion and digestion of bacteria by ciliated protozoa, Nature Nanotechnology 3(6) (2008) 347-351.

[111] T.S.Y. Chan, F. Nasser, C.H. St-Denis, H.S. Mandal, P. Ghafari, N. Hadjout-Rabi, N.C. Bols, X. Tang, Carbon nanotube compared with carbon black: effects on bacterial survival against grazing by ciliates and antimicrobial treatments, Nanotoxicology 7(3) (2013) 251-258.

[112] T.S.Y. Chan, F. Nasser, C.H. St-Denis, N.C. Bols, X. Tang, Interactions between single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNT) and ciliates: SWNT interfere with ciliate ecological functions and ciliates transport/transform SWNT, Materials Research Society Symposium Proceedings, 2010, pp. 229-235.

[113] K. Rajapakse, D. Drobne, D. Kastelec, R. Marinsek-Logar, Experimental evidence of falsepositive Comet test results due to TiO_2 particle - assay interactions, Nanotoxicology 7(5) (2013) 1043-1051.

[114] K. Rajapakse, D. Drobne, J. Valant, M. Vodovnik, A. Levart, R. Marinsek-Logar, Acclimation of *Tetrahymena thermophila* to bulk and nano-TiO₂ particles by changes in membrane fatty acids saturation, Journal of Hazardous Materials 221 (2012) 199-205.

[115] A. Ud-Daula, G. Pfister, K.W. Schramm, Method for toxicity test of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in ciliate protozoan *Tetrahymena*, Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part a-Toxic/Hazardous Substances & Environmental Engineering 48(11) (2013) 1343-1348.

[116] D. Klauson, J. Pilnik-Sudareva, O. Budarnaja, M. Krichevskaya, Y. Kulyasova, A. Kakinen, K. Juganson, S. Preis, Aqueous photocatalytic oxidation of prednisolone, Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society 245 (2013).

[117] X.Y. Zou, B. Xu, C.P. Yu, H.W. Zhang, Imbalance between oxidative and antioxidative systems: Toward an understanding of visible light-induced titanium dioxide nanoparticles toxicity, Chemosphere 93(10) (2013) 2451-2457.

[118] X.Y. Zou, C.P. Yu, H.W. Zhang, *In vitro* analyses of effect of light on toxicity of titanium dioxide nanoparticles to *Tetrahymena pyriformis* using fourier transform infrared spectra, Spectroscopy Letters 46(8) (2013) 597-608.

[119] K. Rajapakse, D. Drobne, D. Kastelec, K. Kogej, D. Makovec, C. Gallampois, H. Amelina, G. Danielsson, L. Fanedl, R. Marinsek-Logar, S. Cristobal, Proteomic analyses of early response of unicellular eukaryotic microorganism *Tetrahymena thermophila* exposed to TiO₂ particles, Nanotoxicology 10(5) (2016) 542-556.

[120] V. Aruoja, S. Pokhrel, M. Sihtmaae, M. Mortimer, L. Maedler, A. Kahru, Toxicity of 12 metalbased nanoparticles to algae, bacteria and protozoa, Environmental Science-Nano 2(6) (2015) 630-644.

[121] W.W. Yang, Y. Wang, B. Huang, N.X. Wang, Z.B. Wei, J. Luo, A.J. Miao, L.Y. Yang, TiO₂ nanoparticles act as a carrier of Cd bioaccumulation in the ciliate *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Environmental Science & Technology 48(13) (2014) 7568-7575.

[122] I. Fekete-Kertesz, G. Maros, K. Gruiz, M. Molnar, The effect of TiO₂ nanoparticles on the aquatic ecosystem: A comparative ecotoxicity study with test organisms of different trophic levels, Periodica Polytechnica-Chemical Engineering 60(4) (2016) 231-243.

[123] I. Fekete-Kertesz, D. Piszman, M. Molnar, Particle size and concentration dependent ecotoxicity of nano- and microscale TiO₂ -Comparative study by different aquatic test organisms of different trophic levels, Water Air and Soil Pollution 228(7) (2017).

[124] I. Blinova, A. Ivask, M. Heinlaan, M. Mortimer, A. Kahru, Ecotoxicity of nanoparticles of CuO and ZnO in natural water, Environmental Pollution 158(1) (2010) 41-47.

[125] J. Chen, Y. Lu, C. Sun, Cytotoxic responses and potential health effects of nanosized ZnO on *Tetrahymena thermophila*, in: R. Chen, W.P. Sung (Eds.), Mechatronics and Intelligent Materials Ii, Pts 1-62012, pp. 3192-3196.

[126] G. Nalecz-Jawecki, Influence of pH and surfactants on the toxicity of ZnO and CuO particles to protozoans *Spirostomum ambiguum* and *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Fresenius Environmental Bulletin 23(1) (2014) 64-69.

[127] G.S. Gupta, V.A. Senapati, A. Dhawan, R. Shanker, Heteroagglomeration of zinc oxide nanoparticles with clay mineral modulates the bioavailability and toxicity of nanoparticle in *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 495 (2017) 9-18.

[128] M. Mortimer, K. Kasemets, M. Vodovnik, R. Marinsek-Logar, A. Kahru, Exposure to CuO nanoparticles changes the fatty acid composition of protozoa *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Environmental Science & Technology 45(15) (2011) 6617-6624.

[129] R.D. Holbrook, K.E. Murphy, J.B. Morrow, K.D. Cole, Trophic transfer of nanoparticles in a simplified invertebrate food web, Nature Nanotechnology 3(6) (2008) 352-355.

[130] M. Mortimer, A. Kahru, V.I. Slaveykova, Uptake, localization and clearance of quantum dots in ciliated protozoa *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Environmental Pollution 190 (2014) 58-64.

[131] Q. Xiao, T. Qiu, S. Huang, Y. Liu, Z.K. He, Preparation and biological effect of nucleotidecapped CdSe/ZnS quantum dots on *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Biological Trace Element Research 147(1-3) (2012) 346-353.

[132] Q. Xiao, S. Huang, W. Su, P.Y. Li, Z.C. Liang, J.Z. Ou, J.Q. Ma, Y. Liu, Evaluate the potential environmental toxicity of quantum dots on ciliated protozoa by microcalorimetry, Thermochimica Acta 547 (2012) 62-69.

[133] J.P. Shi, C.Y. Ma, B. Xu, H.W. Zhang, C.P. Yu, Effect of light on toxicity of nanosilver to *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(7) (2012) 1630-1638.

[134] J.P. Shi, B. Xu, X. Sun, C.Y. Ma, C.P. Yu, H.W. Zhang, Light induced toxicity reduction of silver nanoparticles to *Tetrahymena pyriformis*: Effect of particle size, Aquatic Toxicology 132 (2013) 53-60.

[135] X. Zou, J. Shi, H. Zhang, Coexistence of silver and titanium dioxide nanoparticles: Enhancing or reducing environmental risks?, Aquatic Toxicology 154 (2014) 168-175.

[136] K. Juganson, M. Mortimer, A. Ivask, K. Kasemets, A. Kahru, Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Environmental Science-Processes & Impacts 15(1) (2013) 244-250.

[137] A. Jemec, A. Kahru, A. Potthoff, D. Drobne, M. Heinlaan, S. Boehme, M. Geppert, S. Novak, K. Schirmer, R. Rekulapally, S. Singh, V. Aruoja, M. Sihtmaee, K. Juganson, A. Käkinen, D. Kuehnel, An interlaboratory comparison of nanosilver characterisation and hazard identification: Harmonising techniques for high quality data, Environment International 87 (2016) 20-32.

[138] K. Juganson, M. Mortimer, A. Ivask, S. Pucciarelli, C. Miceli, K. Orupõld, A. Kahru, Mechanisms of toxic action of silver nanoparticles in the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*: From gene expression to phenotypic events, Environmental Pollution 225 (2017) 481-489.

[139] X.Y. Zou, B. Xu, C.P. Yu, H.W. Zhang, Combined toxicity of ferroferric oxide nanoparticles and arsenic to the ciliated protozoa *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, Aquatic Toxicology 134 (2013) 66-73.

[140] J.B. Carbajo, A.L. Petre, R. Rosal, A. Berna, P. Leton, E. Garcia-Calvo, J.A. Perdigon-Melon, Ozonation as pre-treatment of activated sludge process of a wastewater containing benzalkonium chloride and NiO nanoparticles, Chemical Engineering Journal 283 (2016) 740-749.

[141] M. Zaleska-Radziwill, N. Doskocz, Ecotoxicity of zirconium oxide nanoparticles in relation to aquatic invertebrates, Desalination and Water Treatment 57(3) (2016) 1443-1450.

[142] Y.C. Lin, E. Perevedentseva, L.W. Tsai, K.T. Wu, C.L. Cheng, Nanodiamond for intracellular imaging in the microorganisms in vivo, Journal of Biophotonics 5(11-12) (2012) 838-847.

[143] C. Peng, Y. Chen, Z.C. Pu, Q. Zhao, X. Tong, Y.S. Chen, L. Jiang, CeO_2 nanoparticles alter the outcome of species interactions, Nanotoxicology 11(5) (2017) 625-636.

[144] I. Kurvet, K. Juganson, H. Vija, M. Sihtmae, I. Blinova, G. Syvertsen-Wiig, A. Kahru, Toxicity of Nine (Doped) Rare earth metal oxides and respective individual metals to aquatic microorganisms *Vibrio fischeri* and *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Materials 10(7) (2017).

[145] R. Werlin, J.H. Priester, R.E. Mielke, S. Kramer, S. Jackson, P.K. Stoimenov, G.D. Stucky, G.N. Cherr, E. Orias, P.A. Holden, Biomagnification of cadmium selenide quantum dots in a simple experimental microbial food chain, Nature Nanotechnology 6(1) (2011) 65-71.

[146] M. Mortimer, E.J. Petersen, B.A. Buchholz, E. Orias, P.A. Holden, Bioaccumulation of multiwall carbon nanotubes in *Tetrahymena thermophila* by direct feeding or trophic transfer, Environmental Science & Technology 50(16) (2016) 8876-8885.

[147] M. Mortimer, A. Gogos, N. Bartolome, A. Kahru, T.D. Bucheli, V.I. Slaveykova, Potential of hyperspectral imaging microscopy for semi-quantitative analysis of nanoparticle uptake by protozoa, Environmental Science & Technology 48(15) (2014) 8760-8767.

[148] T.B. Angerer, J.S. Fletcher, 3D Imaging of TiO₂ nanoparticle accumulation in *Tetrahymena pyriformis*, Surface and Interface Analysis 46 (2014) 198-203.

[149] M. Mortimer, E.J. Petersen, B.A. Buchholz, P.A. Holden, Separation of bacteria, protozoa and carbon nanotubes by density gradient centrifugation, Nanomaterials 6(10) (2016).

[150] D.H. Kim, U.K. Cheang, L. Kohidai, D. Byun, M.J. Kim, Artificial magnetotactic motion control of *Tetrahymena pyriformis* using ferromagnetic nanoparticles: A tool for fabrication of microbiorobots, Applied Physics Letters 97(17) (2010).

[151] P.S.S. Kim, A. Becker, Y. Ou, A.A. Julius, M.J. Kim, Imparting magnetic dipole heterogeneity to internalized iron oxide nanoparticles for microorganism swarm control, Journal of Nanoparticle Research 17(3) (2015).

[152] Y.H. Cui, L.L. Li, N.Q. Zhou, J.H. Liu, Q. Huang, H.J. Wang, J. Tian, H.Q. Yu, *In vivo* synthesis of nano-selenium by *Tetrahymena thermophila* SB210, Enzyme and Microbial Technology 95 (2016) 185-191.

[153] A.B. Djurisic, Y.H. Leung, A.M.C. Ng, X.Y. Xu, P.K.H. Lee, N. Degger, R.S.S. Wu, Toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles: Mechanisms, characterization, and avoiding experimental artefacts, Small 11(1) (2015) 26-44.

[154] S.J. Lin, M. Mortimer, R. Chen, A. Kakinen, J.E. Riviere, T.P. Davis, D. Feng, P.C. Ke, NanoEHS beyond toxicity - focusing on biocorona, Environmental Science-Nano 4(7) (2017) 1433-1454.

[155] M. Bundschuh, F. Seitz, R.R. Rosenfeldt, R. Schulz, Effects of nanoparticles in fresh waters: risks, mechanisms and interactions, Freshwater Biology 61(12) (2016) 2185-2196.

[156] Q.L. Li, S. Mahendra, D.Y. Lyon, L. Brunet, M.V. Liga, D. Li, P.J.J. Alvarez, Antimicrobial nanomaterials for water disinfection and microbial control: Potential applications and implications, Water Research 42(18) (2008) 4591-4602.

[157] C.Y. Tay, M.I. Setyawati, J.P. Xie, W.J. Parak, D.T. Leong, Back to basics: Exploiting the innate physico-chemical characteristics of nanomaterials for biomedical applications, Advanced Functional Materials 24(38) (2014) 5936-5955.

[158] I. Lynch, K.A. Dawson, Protein-nanoparticle interactions, Nano Today 3(1-2) (2008) 40-47.

[159] D. Walczyk, F.B. Bombelli, M.P. Monopoli, I. Lynch, K.A. Dawson, What the cell "sees" in bionanoscience, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132(16) (2010) 5761-5768.

[160] C. Peng, W. Zhang, H.P. Gao, Y. Li, X. Tong, K.G. Li, X.S. Zhu, Y.X. Wang, Y. Chen, Behavior and potential impacts of metal-based engineered nanoparticles in aquatic environments, Nanomaterials 7(1) (2017).

[161] C.R. Thomas, S. George, A.M. Horst, Z. Ji, R.J. Miller, J.R. Peralta-Videa, T. Xia, S. Pokhrel, L. Maedler, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, P.A. Holden, A.A. Keller, H.S. Lenihan, A.E. Nel, J.I. Zink, Nanomaterials in the environment: From materials to high-throughput screening to organisms, ACS Nano 5(1) (2011) 13-20.

[162] M. Heinlaan, A. Ivask, I. Blinova, H.-C. Dubourguier, A. Kahru, Toxicity of nanosized and bulk ZnO, CuO and TiO₂ to bacteria *Vibrio fischeri* and crustaceans *Daphnia magna* and *Thamnocephalus platyurus*, Chemosphere 71(7) (2008) 1308-1316.

[163] N.M. Franklin, N.J. Rogers, S.C. Apte, G.E. Batley, G.E. Gadd, P.S. Casey, Comparative toxicity of nanoparticulate ZnO, bulk ZnO, and ZnCl₂ to a freshwater microalga (*Pseudokirchneriella*

subcapitata): The importance of particle solubility, Environmental Science & Technology 41(24) (2007) 8484-8490.

[164] S.W.Y. Wong, P.T.Y. Leung, A.B. Djurisic, K.M.Y. Leung, Toxicities of nano zinc oxide to five marine organisms: Influences of aggregate size and ion solubility, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 396(2) (2010) 609-618.

[165] S.N.A. Shah, Z. Shah, M. Hussain, M. Khan, Hazardous Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles in ecosystem, Bioinorganic Chemistry and Applications (2017).

[166] N. von Moos, V.I. Slaveykova, Oxidative stress induced by inorganic nanoparticles in bacteria and aquatic microalgae - State of the art and knowledge gaps, Nanotoxicology 8(6) (2014) 605-630.

[167] A. Maynard, R. Aitken, 'Safe handling of nanotechnology' ten years on, Nature Nanotechnology 11(12) (2016) 998-1000.

[168] D.R. Hristozov, S. Gottardo, A. Critto, A. Marcomini, Risk assessment of engineered nanomaterials: A review of available data and approaches from a regulatory perspective, Nanotoxicology 6(8) (2012) 880-898.

[169] N. Jeliazkova, C. Chomenidis, P. Doganis, B. Fadeel, R. Grafstrom, B. Hardy, J. Hastings, M. Hegi, V. Jeliazkov, N. Kochev, P. Kohonen, C.R. Munteanu, H. Sarimveis, B. Smeets, P. Sopasakis, G. Tsiliki, D. Vorgrimmler, E. Willighagen, The eNanoMapper database for nanomaterial safety information, Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology 6 (2015) 1609-1634.

[170] D. Kuhnel, C. Marquardt, K. Nau, H.F. Krug, F. Paul, C. Steinbach, Environmental benefits and concerns on safety: communicating latest results on nanotechnology safety research-the project DaNa(2.0), Environmental Science and Pollution Research 24(12) (2017) 11120-11125.

[171] ECHA, Workshop Report: Stakeholder Dialogue meeting European Union Observatory for Nanomaterials, Helsinki, 2017.

[172] U. Koppelhus, P. Hellunglarsen, V. Leick, Physiological-parameters affecting the chemosensory response of *Tetrahymena*, Biological Bulletin 187(1) (1994) 1-7.

[173] S. Fields, M. Johnston, Whither model organism research?, Science 307(5717) (2005) 1885-1886.

[174] A. Käkinen, O. Bondarenko, A. Ivask, A. Kahru, The effect of composition of different ecotoxicological test media on free and bioavailable copper from CuSO₄ and CuO nanoparticles: Comparative evidence from a Cu-selective electrode and a Cu-biosensor, Sensors 11(11) (2011) 10502-10521.

[175] P.A. Holden, F. Klaessig, R.F. Turco, J.H. Priester, C.M. Rico, H. Avila-Arias, M. Mortimer, K. Pacpaco, J.L. Gardea-Torresdey, Evaluation of exposure concentrations used in assessing manufactured nanomaterial environmental hazards: Are they relevant?, Environmental Science & Technology 48(18) (2014) 10541-10551.

[176] H. Ma, P.L. Williams, S.A. Diamond, Ecotoxicity of manufactured ZnO nanoparticles - A review, Environmental Pollution 172 (2013) 76-85.

[177] A. Menard, D. Drobne, A. Jemec, Ecotoxicity of nanosized TiO₂. Review of *in vivo* data, Environmental Pollution 159(3) (2011) 677-684.

[178] P. Jackson, N.R. Jacobsen, A. Baun, R. Birkedal, D. Kuhnel, K.A. Jensen, U. Vogel, H. Wallin, Bioaccumulation and ecotoxicity of carbon nanotubes, Chemistry Central Journal 7 (2013).

[179] A. Sanchez, S. Recillas, X. Font, E. Casals, E. Gonzalez, V. Puntes, Ecotoxicity of, and remediation with, engineered inorganic nanoparticles in the environment, TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry 30(3) (2011) 507-516.

[180] Y. Zhang, B.Y.W. Hsu, C.L. Ren, X. Li, J. Wang, Silica-based nanocapsules: synthesis, structure control and biomedical applications, Chemical Society Reviews 44(1) (2015) 315-335.

[181] M. Jafarbeglou, M. Abdouss, A.M. Shoushtari, Clay nanocomposites as engineered drug delivery systems, RSC Advances 6(55) (2016) 50002-50016.

[182] X.S. Zhu, L. Zhu, Z.H. Duan, R.Q. Qi, Y. Li, Y.P. Lang, Comparative toxicity of several metal oxide nanoparticle aqueous suspensions to zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) early developmental stage,

Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part a-Toxic/Hazardous Substances & Environmental Engineering 43(3) (2008) 278-284.

[183] J. Hu, D. Wang, B.E. Forthaus, J. Wang, Quantifying the effect of nanoparticles on As(V) ecotoxicity exemplified by nano- Fe_2O_3 (magnetic) and nano- Al_2O_3 , Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(12) (2012) 2870-2876.

[184] H. Wang, R.L. Wick, B. Xing, Toxicity of nanoparticulate and bulk ZnO, Al_2O_3 and TiO_2 to the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, Environmental Pollution 157(4) (2009) 1171-1177.

[185] S. Yu, Q. Rui, T. Cai, Q. Wu, Y. Li, D. Wang, Close association of intestinal autofluorescence with the formation of severe oxidative damage in intestine of nematodes chronically exposed to Al₂O₃-nanoparticle, Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 32(2) (2011) 233-241.

[186] S. Pakrashi, S. Dalai, D. Sabat, S. Singh, N. Chandrasekaran, A. Mukherjee, Cytotoxicity of Al_2O_3 nanoparticles at low exposure levels to a freshwater bacterial isolate, Chemical Research in Toxicology 24(11) (2011) 1899-1904.

[187] S. Pakrashi, D. Kumar, V. Iswarya, M. Bhuvaneshwari, N. Chandrasekaran, A. Mukherjee, A comparative ecotoxicity analysis of alpha- and gamma-phase aluminium oxide nanoparticles towards a freshwater bacterial isolate *Bacillus licheniformis*, Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering 37(12) (2014) 2415-2423.

[188] D.A. Winkler, E. Mombelli, A. Pietroiusti, L. Tran, A. Worth, B. Fadeel, M.J. McCall, Applying quantitative structure-activity relationship approaches to nanotoxicology: Current status and future potential, Toxicology 313(1) (2013) 15-23.

[189] A.E. Nel, L. Maedler, D. Velegol, T. Xia, E.M.V. Hoek, P. Somasundaran, F. Klaessig, V. Castranova, M. Thompson, Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface, Nature Materials 8(7) (2009) 543-557.

[190] A. Albanese, P.S. Tang, W.C.W. Chan, The effect of nanoparticle size, shape, and surface chemistry on biological systems, Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering 14 (2012) 1-16.

[191] A.K. Suresh, D.A. Pelletier, M.J. Doktycz, Relating nanomaterial properties and microbial toxicity, Nanoscale 5(2) (2013) 463-474.

[192] R.D. Handy, F. von der Kammer, J.R. Lead, M. Hassellov, R. Owen, M. Crane, The ecotoxicology and chemistry of manufactured nanoparticles, Ecotoxicology 17(4) (2008) 287-314.

[193] ECHA, Guidance on Information Requirements and Chemical Safety Assessment Chapter R.7b: Endpoint specific guidance Version 4.0, in: ECHA (Ed.) Helsinki, Finland, 2017.

[194] S. Sharifi, S. Behzadi, S. Laurent, M.L. Forrest, P. Stroeve, M. Mahmoudi, Toxicity of nanomaterials, Chemical Society Reviews 41(6) (2012) 2323-2343.

[195] K. Luyts, D. Napierska, B. Nemery, P.H.M. Hoet, How physico-chemical characteristics of nanoparticles cause their toxicity: complex and unresolved interrelations, Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts 15(1) (2013) 23-38.

[196] E. Burello, A.P. Worth, QSAR modeling of nanomaterials, Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology 3(3) (2011) 298-306.

[197] A. Ivask, I. Kurvet, K. Kasemets, I. Blinova, V. Aruoja, S. Suppi, H. Vija, A. Käkinen, T. Titma, M. Heinlaan, M. Visnapuu, D. Koller, V. Kisand, A. Kahru, Size-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles to bacteria, yeast, algae, crustaceans and mammalian cells *in vitro*, Plos One 9(7) (2014).

[198] E. Froehlich, The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles, International Journal of Nanomedicine 7 (2012) 5577-5591.

[199] C. Ge, Y. Li, J.-J. Yin, Y. Liu, L. Wang, Y. Zhao, C. Chen, The contributions of metal impurities and tube structure to the toxicity of carbon nanotube materials, NPG Asia Materials 4 (2012).

[200] S. Pal, Y.K. Tak, J.M. Song, Does the antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles depend on the shape of the nanoparticle? A study of the gram-negative bacterium Escherichia coli, Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(6) (2007) 1712-1720.

[201] B. Sadeghi, F.S. Garmaroudi, M. Hashemi, H.R. Nezhad, A. Nasrollahi, S. Ardalan, S. Ardalan, Comparison of the anti-bacterial activity on the nanosilver shapes: Nanoparticles, nanorods and nanoplates, Advanced Powder Technology 23(1) (2012) 22-26.

[202] S. George, S. Lin, Z. Jo, C.R. Thomas, L. Li, M. Mecklenburg, H. Meng, X. Wang, H. Zhang, T. Xia, J.N. Hohman, S. Lin, J.I. Zink, P.S. Weiss, A.E. Nel, Surface defects on plate-shaped silver nanoparticles contribute to its hazard potential in a fish gill cell line and zebrafish embryos, ACS Nano 6(5) (2012) 3745-3759.

[203] S.M. Hartig, R.R. Greene, M.M. Dikov, A. Prokop, J.M. Davidson, Multifunctional nanoparticulate polyelectrolyte complexes, Pharmaceutical Research 24(12) (2007) 2353-2369.

[204] A. Bour, F. Mouchet, J. Silvestre, L. Gauthier, E. Pinelli, Environmentally relevant approaches to assess nanoparticles ecotoxicity: A review, Journal of Hazardous Materials 283 (2015) 764-777.

[205] I. Blinova, J. Niskanen, P. Kajankari, L. Kanarbik, A. Käkinen, H. Tenhu, O.-P. Penttinen, A. Kahru, Toxicity of two types of silver nanoparticles to aquatic crustaceans *Daphnia magna* and *Thamnocephalus platyurus*, Environmental Science and Pollution Research 20(5) (2013) 3456-3463.

[206] D. McShan, P.C. Ray, H.T. Yu, Molecular toxicity mechanism of nanosilver, Journal of Food and Drug Analysis 22(1) (2014) 116-127.

[207] T.P. Dasari, H.-M. Hwang, The effect of humic acids on the cytotoxicity of silver nanoparticles to a natural aquatic bacterial assemblage, Science of the Total Environment 408(23) (2010) 5817-5823.

[208] A. Ivask, O. Bondarenko, N. Jepihhina, A. Kahru, Profiling of the reactive oxygen speciesrelated ecotoxicity of CuO, ZnO, TiO₂, silver and fullerene nanoparticles using a set of recombinant luminescent *Escherichia coli* strains: differentiating the impact of particles and solubilised metals, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 398(2) (2010) 701-716.

[209] P.M.G. Nair, S.Y. Park, J. Choi, Evaluation of the effect of silver nanoparticles and silver ions using stress responsive gene expression in *Chironomus riparius*, Chemosphere 92(5) (2013) 592-599.

[210] F. Gagne, J. Auclair, M. Fortier, A. Bruneau, M. Fournier, P. Turcotte, M. Pilote, C. Gagnon, Bioavailability and immunotoxicity of silver nanoparticles to the freshwater mussel *Elliptio complanata*, Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A: Current Issues 76(13) (2013) 767-777.

[211] A. Oukarroum, L. Barhoumi, L. Pirastru, D. Dewez, Silver nanoparticle toxicity effect on growth and cellular viability of the aquatic plant *Lemna gibba*, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 32(4) (2013) 902-907.

[212] N. Gou, A.Z. Gu, A new transcriptional effect level index (TELI) for toxicogenomics-based toxicity assessment, Environmental Science & Technology 45(12) (2011) 5410-5417.

[213] J.H. Niazi, B.-I. Sang, Y.S. Kim, M.B. Gu, Global gene response in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* exposed to silver nanoparticles, Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 164(8) (2011) 1278-1291.

[214] J. Fabrega, J.C. Renshaw, J.R. Lead, Interactions of silver nanoparticles with *Pseudomonas putida* biofilms, Environmental Science & Technology 43(23) (2009) 9004-9009.

[215] C. Hu, M. Li, W. Wang, Y. Cui, J. Chen, L. Yang, Ecotoxicity of silver nanoparticles on earthworm *Eisenia fetida*: responses of the antioxidant system, acid phosphatase and ATPase, Toxicological & Environmental Chemistry 94(4) (2012) 732-741.

[216] S.-y. Park, J. Choi, Geno- and ecotoxicity evaluation of silver nanoparticles in freshwater crustacean *Daphnia magna*, Environmental Engineering Research 15(1) (2010) 23-27.

[217] P.M.G. Nair, S.Y. Park, S.-W. Lee, J. Choi, Differential expression of ribosomal protein gene, gonadotrophin releasing hormone gene and Balbiani ring protein gene in silver nanoparticles exposed *Chironomus riparius*, Aquatic Toxicology101(1) (2011) 31-37.

[218] M. Ghosh, J. Manivannan, S. Sinha, A. Chakraborty, S.K. Mallick, M. Bandyopadhyay, A. Mukherjee, *In vitro* and *in vivo* genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles, Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis 749(1-2) (2012) 60-69.

[219] J. Farkas, P. Christian, J.A.G. Urrea, N. Roos, M. Hassellov, K.E. Tollefsen, K.V. Thomas, Effects of silver and gold nanoparticles on rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) hepatocytes, Aquatic Toxicology 96(1) (2010) 44-52.

[220] W.-M. Lee, Y.-J. An, Effects of zinc oxide and titanium dioxide nanoparticles on green algae under visible, UVA, and UVB irradiations: No evidence of enhanced algal toxicity under UV preirradiation, Chemosphere 91(4) (2013) 536-544.

[221] L.-p. Yu, T. Fang, D.-w. Xiong, W.-t. Zhu, X.-f. Sima, Comparative toxicity of nano-ZnO and bulk ZnO suspensions to zebrafish and the effects of sedimentation, (OH)-O-center dot production and particle dissolution in distilled water, Journal of Environmental Monitoring13(7) (2011) 1975-1982.

[222] A. Kumar, A.K. Pandey, S.S. Singh, R. Shanker, A. Dhawan, Engineered ZnO and TiO₂ nanoparticles induce oxidative stress and DNA damage leading to reduced viability of *Escherichia coli*, Free Radical Biology & Medicine 51(10) (2011) 1872-1881.

[223] C.W. Hu, M. Li, Y.B. Cui, D.S. Li, J. Chen, L.Y. Yang, Toxicological effects of TiO₂ and ZnO nanoparticles in soil on earthworm *Eisenia fetida*, Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42(4) (2010) 586-591.

[224] L. Hao, L. Chen, Oxidative stress responses in different organs of carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) with exposure to ZnO nanoparticles, Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 80 (2012) 103-110.

[225] S.R. Fahmy, F. Abdel-Ghaffar, F.A. Bakry, D.A. Sayed, Ecotoxicological effect of sublethal exposure to zinc oxide nanoparticles on freshwater snail *Biomphalaria alexandrina*, Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 67(2) (2014) 192-202.

[226] L. Kvitek, M. Vanickova, A. Panacek, J. Soukupova, M. Dittrich, E. Valentova, R. Prucek, M. Bancirova, D. Milde, R. Zboril, Initial study on the toxicity of silver nanoparticles (NPs) against *Paramecium caudatum*, Journal of Physical Chemistry C 113(11) (2009) 4296-4300.

[227] D. Stampoulis, S.K. Sinha, J.C. White, Assay-dependent phytotoxicity of nanoparticles to plants, Environmental Science & Technology 43(24) (2009) 9473-9479.

[228] H.J. Allen, C.A. Impellitteri, D.A. Macke, J.L. Heckman, H.C. Poynton, J.M. Lazorchak, S. Govindaswamy, D.L. Roose, M.N. Nadagouda, Effects from filtration, capping agents, and presence/absence of food on the toxicity of silver nanoparticles to *daphnia magna*, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 29(12) (2010) 2742-2750.

[229] A. Ravindran, T.C. Prathna, V.K. Verma, N. Chandrasekaran, A. Mukherjee, Bovine serum albumin mediated decrease in silver nanoparticle phytotoxicity: root elongation and seed germination assay, Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry 94(1) (2012) 91-98.

[230] H.J. Jo, J.W. Choi, S.H. Lee, S.W. Hong, Acute toxicity of Ag and CuO nanoparticle suspensions against *Daphnia magna*: The importance of their dissolved fraction varying with preparation methods, Journal of Hazardous Materials 227 (2012) 301-308.

[231] C. Musante, J.C. White, Toxicity of silver and copper to *Cucurbita pepo*: Differential effects of nano and bulk-size particles, Environmental Toxicology 27(9) (2012) 510-517.

[232] H. Tian, H.-J. Eom, S. Moon, J. Lee, J. Choi, Y.D. Chung, Development of biomarker for detecting silver nanoparticles exposure using a GAL4 enhancer trap screening in *Drosophila*, Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology 36(2) (2013) 548-556.

[233] J.-y. Roh, S.J. Sim, J. Yi, K. Park, K.H. Chung, D.-y. Ryu, J. Choi, Ecotoxicity of silver nanoparticles on the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* using functional ecotoxicogenomics, Environmental Science & Technology 43(10) (2009) 3933-3940.

[234] M.C. Fung, D.L. Bowen, Silver products for medical indications: Risk-benefit assessment, Journal of Toxicology-Clinical Toxicology 34(1) (1996) 119-126.

[235] O. Bondarenko, A. Ivask, A. Käkinen, I. Kurvet, A. Kahru, Particle-cell contact enhances antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles, Plos One 8(5) (2013).
[236] S. Kaosaar, A. Kahru, P. Mantecca, K. Kasemets, Profiling of the toxicity mechanisms of coated and uncoated silver nanoparticles to yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* BY4741 using a set of its 9 single-gene deletion mutants defective in oxidative stress response, cell wall or membrane integrity and endocytosis, Toxicology in Vitro 35 (2016) 149-162.

[237] C.M. Ho, C.K. Wong, S.K.W. Yau, C.N. Lok, C.M. Che, Oxidative dissolution of silver nanoparticles by dioxygen: A kinetic and mechanistic study, Chemistry-an Asian Journal 6(9) (2011) 2506-2511.

[238] W. Pauli, S. Berger, A new Toxkit microbiotest with the protozoan ciliate *Tetrahymena*, in: G. Persoone, C. Janssen, W. De Coen (Eds.), New Microbiotests for Routine Toxicity Screening and Biomonitoring, Springer US, Boston, MA, 2000, pp. 169-176.

[239] J. Xiong, L.F. Feng, D.X. Yuan, C.J. Fu, W. Miao, Genome-wide identification and evolution of ATP-binding cassette transporters in the ciliate *Tetrahymena thermophila*: A case of functional divergence in a multigene family, BMC Evolutionary Biology 10 (2010).

[240] C.L. Madinger, K. Collins, L.G. Fields, C.H. Taron, J.S. Benner, Constitutive secretion in *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Eukaryotic Cell 9(5) (2010) 674-681.

[241] K.T. Nam, Y.J. Lee, E.M. Krauland, S.T. Kottmann, A.M. Belcher, Peptide-mediated reduction of silver ions on engineered biological scaffolds, ACS Nano 2(7) (2008) 1480-1486.

[242] N. Mokhtari, S. Daneshpajouh, S. Seyedbagheri, R. Atashdehghan, K. Abdi, S. Sarkar, S. Minaian, H.R. Shahverdi, A.R. Shahverdi, Biological synthesis of very small silver nanoparticles by culture supernatant of *Klebsiella pneumonia*: The effects of visible-light irradiation and the liquid mixing process, Materials Research Bulletin 44(6) (2009) 1415-1421.

[243] J.L. Huang, G.W. Zhan, B.Y. Zheng, D.H. Sun, F.F. Lu, Y. Lin, H.M. Chen, Z.D. Zheng, Y.M. Zheng, Q.B. Li, Biogenic silver nanoparticles by *Cacumen platycladi* extract: Synthesis, formation mechanism, and antibacterial activity, Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research 50(15) (2011) 9095-9106.

[244] J.P. Xie, J.Y. Lee, D.I.C. Wang, Y.P. Ting, Silver nanoplates: From biological to biomimetic synthesis, ACS Nano 1(5) (2007) 429-439.

[245] R. Prasad, R. Pandey, I. Barman, Engineering tailored nanoparticles with microbes: *quo vadis*?, Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews-Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology 8(2) (2016) 316-330.

[246] M. Hartmann, A. Guberman, M. Florin-Christensen, A. Tiedtke, Screening for and characterization of phospholipase A(1) hypersecretory mutants of *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 54(3) (2000) 390-396.

[247] T. Cedervall, I. Lynch, S. Lindman, T. Berggard, E. Thulin, H. Nilsson, K.A. Dawson, S. Linse, Understanding the nanoparticle-protein corona using methods to quantify exchange rates and affinities of proteins for nanoparticles, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104(7) (2007) 2050-2055.

[248] E. Casals, T. Pfaller, A. Duschl, G.J. Oostingh, V.F. Puntes, Hardening of the nanoparticleprotein corona in metal (Au, Ag) and oxide (Fe₃O₄, CoO, and CeO₂) nanoparticles, Small 7(24) (2011) 3479-3486.

[249] K. Boukadida, J. Cachot, C. Clerandeaux, P.Y. Gourves, M. Banni, Early and efficient induction of antioxidant defense system in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* embryos exposed to metals and heat stress, Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 138 (2017) 105-112.

[250] Y.J. Chae, C.H. Pham, J. Lee, E. Bae, J. Yi, M.B. Gu, Evaluation of the toxic impact of silver nanoparticles on Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*), Aquatic Toxicology 94(4) (2009) 320-327.

[251] M.-K. Yeo, M. Kang, Effects of nanometer sized silver materials on biological toxicity during zebrafish embryogenesis, Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society 29(6) (2008) 1179-1184.

[252] T. Gomes, C.G. Pereira, C. Cardoso, V.S. Sousa, M.R. Teixeira, J.P. Pinheiro, M.J. Bebianno, Effects of silver nanoparticles exposure in the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, Marine Environmental Research 101 (2014) 208-214.

[253] L. Ulm, A. Krivohlavek, D. Jurasin, M. Ljubojevic, G. Sinko, T. Crnkovic, I. Zuntar, S. Sikic, I.V. Vrcek, Response of biochemical biomarkers in the aquatic crustacean *Daphnia magna* exposed to silver nanoparticles, Environmental Science and Pollution Research 22(24) (2015) 19990-19999.

[254] Y. Wu, Q.F. Zhou, Dose- and time-related changes in aerobic metabolism, chorionic disruption, and oxidative stress in embryonic medaka (*Oryzias latipes*): Underlying mechanisms for silver nanoparticle developmental toxicity, Aquatic Toxicology 124 (2012) 238-246.

[255] S. Barchetta, A. La Terza, P. Ballarini, S. Pucciarelli, C. Miceli, Combination of two regulatory elements in the *Tetrahymena thermophila* HSP70-1 gene controls heat shock activation, Eukaryotic Cell 7(2) (2008) 379-386.

[256] Y. Fukuda, T. Akematsu, R. Attiq, C. Tada, Y. Nakai, R.E. Pearlman, Role of the cytosolic heat shock protein 70 Ssa5 in the ciliate protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*, Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology 62(4) (2015) 481-493.

[257] TetraFGD HOME, 2016. http://tfgd.ihb.ac.cn/. (Accessed October 21, 2013)

[258] S.S. Gill, N. Tuteja, Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants, Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 48(12) (2010) 909-930.

[259] D. Ferro, R. Bakiu, C. De Pitta, F. Boldrin, F. Cattalini, S. Pucciarelli, C. Miceli, G. Santovito, Cu,Zn superoxide dismutases from *Tetrahymena thermophila*: Molecular evolution and gene expression of the first line of antioxidant defenses, Protist 166(1) (2015) 131-145.

[260] E.S. Cole, P.J. Bruns, Uniparental cytogamy - A novel method for bringing micronuclear mutations of *Tetrahymena* into homozygous macronuclear expression with precocious sexual maturity, Genetics 132(4) (1992) 1017-1031.

[261] S. Diaz, F. Amaro, D. Rico, V. Campos, L. Benitez, A. Martin-Gonzalez, E.P. Hamilton, E. Orias, J.C. Gutierrez, *Tetrahymena* metallothioneins fall into two discrete subfamilies, Plos One 2(3) (2007).

[262] J. Liu, C.D. Klaassen, Absorption and distribution of cadmium in metallothionein-I transgenic mice, Fundamental and Applied Toxicology 29(2) (1996) 294-300.

[263] A. Viarengo, B. Burlando, N. Ceratto, I. Panfoli, Antioxidant role of metallothioneins: A comparative overview, Cellular and Molecular Biology 46(2) (2000) 407-417.

[264] J.E. Choi, S. Kim, J.H. Ahn, P. Youn, J.S. Kang, K. Park, J. Yi, D.Y. Ryu, Induction of oxidative stress and apoptosis by silver nanoparticles in the liver of adult zebrafish, Aquatic Toxicology 100(2) (2010) 151-159.

[265] E.J. Park, J. Yi, Y. Kim, K. Choi, K. Park, Silver nanoparticles induce cytotoxicity by a Trojanhorse type mechanism, Toxicology in Vitro 24(3) (2010) 872-878.

[266] A. Käkinen, F. Ding, P. Chen, M. Mortimer, A. Kahru, P.C. Ke, Interaction of firefly luciferase and silver nanoparticles and its impact on enzyme activity, Nanotechnology 24(34) (2013).

[267] B. Zhang, L. Yu, R. Zhang, Y. Liu, R. Liu, Investigation on the interaction of nanoAg with Cu-Zn SOD, Luminescence 30(8) (2015) 1195-1200.

[268] Y.N. Slavin, J. Asnis, U.O. Hafeli, H. Bach, Metal nanoparticles: understanding the mechanisms behind antibacterial activity, Journal of Nanobiotechnology 15 (2017).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out in the Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology (head of the lab Prof. Anne Kahru) of the National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Tallinn, Estonia. The transcriptomics study was performed in the Laboratory of Cell Biotechnology (head of the lab Prof. Cristina Miceli) at the University of Camerino (Camerino, Italy). The study was supported by the Estonian Ministry of Education and research target-financed themes SF0690063s08, IUT23-5, ETF8561, ETF9001, PUT748, EU 7th Framework Programme under Grant Agreement No. 309314 (MODERN), EU Regional Development Fund, project TK134 (EQUITANT) and Environmental protection and technology R&D programme project "TERIKVANT" (3.2.0802.11-0043). This work has been partially supported by European Cooperation in Science and Technology (COST) action BM1102 "Ciliates as model systems to study genome evolution, mechanisms of non-Mendelian inheritance, and their roles in environmental adaptation", graduate school "Functional materials and Technologies" (2009-2014) receiving funding from the European Social Fund under project 1.2.0401.09-0079 in Estonia, ASTRA "TUT Institutional Development Programme for 2016-2022" Graduate School of Functional Materials and Technologies (2014-2020.4.01.16-0032) DoRa program of European Social Fund, DoRa Pluss program of European Regional Development Fund, and national scholarship program Kristjan Jaak, which is funded and managed by Archimedes Foundation in collaboration with the Ministry of Education and Research.

First and foremost, I am grateful to my supervisors – Dr. Monika Mortimer and Dr. Angela Ivask. Thank you for your guidance, encouragement, valuable suggestions and prompt answers throughout my MSc and PhD studies. You both have set an inspiring example of how nothing is impossible and were the best supervisors one could ask for.

I am indebted to Prof. Anne Kahru who gave me the opportunity to be a member of her research group, shared her wisdom and was always open for discussions.

I would like to thank all my colleagues from the Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology for their fruitful ideas and for creating friendly working environment. My special thanks go to Mariliis for helping me to stay positive at all times, Irina for her constructive remarks, Imbi for her exceptional helpfulness, Margit for interesting discussions, and all the fellow PhD students for our rare by enjoyable meetings that kept me motivated.

I am thankful to all my previous supervisors – Dr. Kalju Vanatalu and Dr. Robert Tsanev for sparking my interest in lab work in the second year of my BSc studies; Prof. Malle Krunks for guiding me through the first steps in science and supervising my BSc thesis; and Prof. Nigulas Samel for leading me to Dr. Anne Kahru's lab and cosupervising my MSc thesis.

I wish to thank everyone who made my stay in Italy so pleasant and fruitful, especially Prof. Cristina Miceli and Prof. Sandra Pucciarelli.

My final thanks go to my family for the unconditional support and understanding throughout my studies. Thank you for showing your interest in my work and being a test audience whenever I needed.

ABSTRACT

In recent decades, nanotechnology has developed rapidly – the estimated global production volumes of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) are in hundreds of thousands of tonnes, and thousands of nano-enabled products are already available on the market. Thus, it is likely that environmental concentrations of ENMs with novel properties will increase, but the specific mechanisms of ENM toxicity to environmental organisms are not well understood. The diversity of ENMs renders their risk assessment with standard methods challenging and resource intensive. Therefore, great efforts have been made to develop alternative methods, e.g., risk assessment frameworks, quantitative (nano)structure-activity relationships, and read-across methods. These methods rely on good-quality experimental toxicity data. However, while numerous papers have been published in the field of nanoecotoxicology, the results are often contradictory and no comprehensive overview of the toxicity data was available.

The current thesis aimed to synthesise published ecotoxicity data of industrially relevant ENMs and assess toxicity mechanisms of Ag NPs in the protozoan Tetrahymena thermophila. First, the effects of CuO, ZnO and Ag nanoparticles (NPs), often used as biocides, to "target" organisms (bacteria, fungi and algae), were compared to their effects to "non-target" organisms (symbiotic bacteria, eukaryotic microbes, aquatic and terrestrial invertebrates, fish and mammalian cells in vitro) based on literature data. Meta-analysis showed that the median minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) values of these NPs for bacteria were one to two orders of magnitude higher than the median L(E,I)C₅₀ values for the most susceptible "non-target" organisms - crustaceans, algae and fish. Thus, environmental release of these NPs may pose a threat to aquatic biota. Secondly, the existing knowledge on ecotoxicity of industrially relevant ENMs (Ag, CeO₂, CNTs, CuO, FeO_x, fullerenes, TiO₂, and ZnO) was compiled into a database. Published data about test conditions, ENM physico-chemical parameters and reported toxicity mechanisms were included in the created database NanoE-Tox. The database consolidated 1,518 toxicity values from 224 peer-reviewed papers published before 2015. The analysis of the data indicated that (i) NPs were often characterised insufficiently, (ii) standard protocols were often modified, obstructing the use of obtained results in risk assessment, and (iii) the information on ecotoxicity of these ENMs to many naturally abundant species was limited. Still, synthesis of the data in the two literature-based studies enabled to rank the industrially relevant ENMs in order of decreasing toxicity to the most susceptible organisms as follows: Ag > ZnO > CuO > $CeO_2 > CNT_s > TiO_2 > FeO_x$.

In the experimental part of the thesis, the effects of Ag NPs with different primary sizes and surface properties (Sigma-Ag NPs and Col-Ag NPs) on the viability of ciliate T. thermophila were studied. It was found that T. thermophila was relatively resistant to Ag compounds (EC₅₀ of Ag NPs > 70 mg Ag/L and of AgNO₃ 1.5-2.8 mg Ag/L). The toxicity of Ag NPs was likely triggered by NP dissolution, which was supported by both solubility measurements and significant overexpression of metal-binding metallothionein genes upon exposure of *T. thermophila* to Ag compounds. Additionally, it was found that cell-free exudates of T. thermophila reduced Ag ions into less toxic Ag NPs which could be one of the reasons for the low toxicity of Ag compounds to the protozoan. Interestingly, in the transcriptomics study, where two wild type *T. thermophila* strains were compared, strain to strain variabilities were observed in the susceptibility of the ciliate to Col-Ag NPs both in viability and in the expression profiles of oxidative stress related genes. While overexpression of some oxidative stress related genes occurred in both studied *T. thermophila* strains exposed to sub-lethal concentrations of Ag NPs, the intracellular ROS and the activity of antioxidant enzymes SOD and CAT did not increase. The latter was likely due to the efficient antioxidant defence mechanisms in *T. thermophila*.

In summary, this thesis provides valuable information on ecotoxicity of industrially relevant ENMs and systematically collected, analysed and arranged data which could be used for modelling the hazard of novel ENMs. Mechanistic study of the effects of Ag NPs to ciliate *T. thermophila* advanced nanoecotoxicological knowledge on environmentally relevant and abundant organisms.

KOKKUVÕTE

Sünteetilisi nanomaterjale, mille vähemalt üks mõõde jääb suurusvahemikku 1-100 nm, rakendatakse nanotehnoloogias kergemate, tugevamate, vastupidavamate ja tõhusamate materialide tootmiseks. Nanomaterialide unikaalsed optilised, elektrilised ja magnetilised omadused on tingitud nende suurest eripinnast (osakese pinnal olevate aatomite osakaal on seda suurem, mida väiksemate mõõtmetega on osake). Sünteetiliste nanomaterjalide hinnangulised tootmismahud 2016. aastal ulatusid sadadesse tuhandetesse tonnidesse ning enim toodeti SiO2, TiO2, Fe, Al2O3, ZnO, nanosavide, CeO₂, süsiniknanotorude (CNT), Ag, ja Cu-põhiseid materjale. Taolisi nanostruktuure kasutatakse tuhandete toodete valmistamisel, kusjuures tarbekaupades on enim esindatud Ag, TiO₂ ja SiO₂-põhised nanomaterjalid. Kiiresti nanomeditsiinis nanomateriale kontrastainete arenevas kasutatakse ia ravimikandjatena ning suund on võetud nanostruktuursete implantaatide ia antimikroobsete katete valmistamisele.

Nanomaterjalid ja neid sisaldavad tooted satuvad jäätmetena või heitvetega suure tõenäosusega keskkonda, kus need võivad kujutada ohtu sealsetele organismidele. Ainete mõju hindamiseks on välja töötatud mitmesuguseid juhiseid, kuid kõikide turul olevate nanomaterjalide ohutuse hindamine oleks väga aja- ja ressursimahukas. Seda peamiselt seetõttu, et lisaks keemilisele koostisele võivad nanomaterjalid erineda kristallstruktuuri, osakese suuruse, kuju, pinnaomaduste ning mitmete teiste parameetrite poolest, mis võivad mõjutada nanomaterjalide toksilisust. Oluline on ka keskkond, kuhu nanomaterjalid jõuavad, sest interaktsioonid keskkonnas leiduvate ainetega võivad muuta nende omadusi, peamiselt osakeste suurust ja pinnaomadusi. Ühe lahendusena nanomaterjalide riski hindamisel nähakse alternatiivsete meetodite väljatöötamist: arendatakse riski hindamise raamistikke, struktuuri-aktiivsuse kvantitatiivse seose mudeleid ning analoogmeetodeid toksilisuse ennustamist keemiliselt ja struktuurselt sarnaste nanomaterjalide toime põhjal.

Ainete, sealhulgas nanomaterjalide, mõju hindamiseks vesikeskkonnale kasutatakse enim Majandusliku Koostöö ja Arengu Organisatsiooni (OECD) ning Rahvusvahelise Standardiorganisatsiooni (ISO) väljatöötatud teste vesikirpude, vetikate ja kaladega. Samas on vesikeskkonnas teisigi laialtlevinud organisme, näiteks ripsloomi, kes toituvad bakteritest ning on omakorda saakloomadeks suurematele organismidele. Lisaks on ripsloomadel tähtis roll reovee puhastamisel. Erinevate ainete mõju hindamiseks reovee puhastusprotsessile juurutas OECD 2017. aasta oktoobris esimese juhise, kus kasutatakse testorganismina algloomi. Teadustöödes on ainete mõju hindamiseks enim kasutatud magevees elavaid *Tetrahymena* perekonda kuuluvaid ripsloomi.

T. thermophila rakk on võrdlemisi suur ($30 \times 50 \mu$ m) ning seda katvad ripsed võimaldavad rakul liikuda. *T. thermophila* toitub lisaks pinotsütoosile ka fagotsütoosi teel, osmootset rõhku rakus reguleerib *T. thermophila* pulseeriva vakuooliga, mis võimaldab tal mõnda aega elus püsida ka destilleeritud vees. *T. thermophila*l on kaks tuuma: diploidne mikrotuum ja polüploidne somaatiline makrotuum. 2000. aastate alguses tehti kindlaks *T. thermophila* makrotuuma genoomi järjestus, millest selgus, et ripslooma genoomis on hinnanguliselt 24 725 valku kodeerivat geeni. *Tetrahymena* on sobiv nanotoksikoloogia mudelorganism, kuna fagotsütoosi teel toituva alglooma toiduvakuoolidesse satuvad ka keskkonnas olevad sünteetilised nanoosakesed, mis

võimaldab uurida rakku sisenenud nanomaterjalide toksilisuse mehhanisme. 2017. aasta augustis leidus teaduskirjanduse andmebaasides ligi 50 artiklit, kus uuriti nanomaterjalide mõju kas *T. thermophila*le või *T. thermophila*ga sarnasele ripsloomale *T. pyriformis*. Nende artiklite põhjal on enim uuritud TiO₂ ja CNT nanostruktuuride mõju *Tetrahymena*le.

Lisaks toksilisuse määrale (näiteks kui suur kogus nanomaterjali mõjub surmavalt teatud hulgale testorganismidele) on oluline mõista ka mehhanisme, mis ühe või teise aine või nanomaterjali organismidele toksiliseks muudavad. On välja selgitatud, et sünteetilised nanomaterjalid võivad sõltuvalt oma keemilistest ja füüsikalistest omadustest avaldada kahjulikku mõju näiteks mehaanilise kokkupuute teel organismidega, kõrge afiinsuse tõttu biomolekulide suhtes, mürgiste metalliioonide vabanemise tõttu metallipõhiste nanomaterjalide lahustumise käigus ja reaktiivsete hapnikuühendite (ROS) tekitamise tõttu. Sageli põhjustab üks nanomaterjal toksilisust mitme mehhanismi koosmõjul, paljude nanomaterjalide toksilisuse mehhanismid on aga lõpuni välja selgitamata.

Käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärgiks oli nanomaterjalide keskkonnaohu hindamise kitsaskohtade vähendamine, mis aitab kaasa nanotehnoloogia jätkusuutlikule arengule. Selleks koguti süstemaatiliselt teaduskirjandusest maailmas olulistes mahtudes toodetavate nanomaterjalide keskkonnatoksilisuse andmeid, analüüsiti ja koostati saadud andmete põhjal andmebaas. Tulemused aitavad anda senisest parema ülevaate nanomaterjalide toksilisuse mehhanismidest ja selgitada välja kitsaskohad, mida edasiste katsete kavandamisel arvesse võtta. Töö eksperimentaalses osas uuriti nanohõbeda mõju ja toksilisuse mehhanisme algloomas *T. thermophila*.

Kirjandusandmeid koguti teaduskirjanduse andmebaasist Web of Science, kus otsingute teostamisel kasutati kahe uuringu puhul erinevaid strateegiaid. Esimeses uuringus otsiti andmeid sageli antimikroobse toime tõttu kasutatavate Ag, CuO ja ZnO kohta erinevatele organismidele. nanoosakeste mõju Seetõttu kasutati otsingusõnadena lisaks nanoosakese nimele organismi üldist või ladinakeelset nimetust või rakukultuuri nime. Andmeid koguti ainult ainete poolefektiivsete/-inhibitoorsete/letaalsete (E(L,I)C₅₀) väärtuste või minimaalsete inhibitoorsete kontsentratsioonide (MIC), osakeste suuruse, pinnakatte ning testikeskkonna kohta. Leiti, et erinevate nanomaterjalide kohta avaldatud infohulk varieerub suuresti: enim leidus andmeid nanohõbeda kohta, mis oli kogutud andmete alusel ka mürgiseim nanomaterjal. Täheldati, et kõige tundlikumad organismid nimetatud kolme nanomaterjali suhtes olid vesikirbud, vetikad ja kalad, kusjuures bakterite, kelle vastu uuritud nanomaterjalid sageli suunatud on, MIC oli üldjuhul eelmainitud organismide E(L,I)C₅₀ väärtustest 1-2 suurusjärku kõrgem. Tulemusest võib järeldada, et biotsiidsete nanomaterjalide kasutamisel tuleb tähelepanu pöörata nende võimalikele keskkonnamõjudele.

Teise kirjandusuuringu eesmärgiks oli nanomaterjalide keskkonnatoksilisuse teabe hetkeseisu kohta ülevaate koostamine, mistõttu koguti infot maailmas olulistes mahtudes toodetavate nanomaterjalide (Ag, CeO₂, CNT, CuO, FeO_x, fullereenid, TiO₂, and ZnO) kohta ning otsingutes ei kasutatud organismide nimetusi, vaid kasutati üldterminit keskkonnatoksiline. Antud uuringu põhjal koostati nanomaterjalide keskkonnaohtlikkuse andmebaas NanoE-Tox, kuhu koondati detailsed andmed nanomaterjalide füüsikalis-keemiliste omaduste kohta nii enne kui ka pärast testikeskkonda (näiteks söötmesse või puhvrisse) lisamist ning üksikasjalik toksilisuse

katse kirjeldus koos saadud tulemuste ning väljapakutud toksilisuse mehhanismidega. Ühtekokku koguti NanoE-Tox andmebaasi nanomaterjalide mõju kohta 1518 väärtust 224 artiklist. Kui enim artikleid oli avaldatud nano-TiO₂ kohta, siis enim toksilisuse väärtusi leiti nanohõbeda kohta. Andmebaas võimaldas tuvastada järgmised olemasolevas teabes esinevad kitsaskohad: (i) nanomaterjalide füüsikalis-keemiliste kajastamine erines analüüsitud artiklites suurel parameetrite määral, (ii) standardiseeritud juhendeid oli sageli muudetud, mistõttu on raskendatud nende kasutamine keskkonnariski hindamisel ning (iii) ligi pool (47%) leitud toksilisuse väärtustest põhinesid testidel, milles kasutati kuute levinud mudelorganismi: vesikirp Daphnia magna, vetikas Raphidocelis subcapitata, kala Danio rerio, nematood Caenorhabditis elegans ning bakterid Escherichia coli ja Vibrio fischeri. Nanomaterjalide füüsikalis-keemiliste omaduste kohta kogutud andmeid analüüsides leiti, et kui osakeste suurus oli märgitud peaaegu kõikides artiklites (93%) ning hüdrodünaamiline diameeter (nanoosakese suurus vesikeskkonnas) oli mõõdetud rohkem kui pooltes töödes (59%), siis ülejäänud omadusi kirjeldati tunduvalt vähem – valdavas osas artiklitest (85%) oli esitatud 2-6 nanomaterjali iseloomustavat parameetrit ning kõigest 9% töödest sisaldas põhjalikumat füüsikalis-keemiliste omaduste kirjeldust, s.t. 7-8 parameetrit. Tulemusest võib järeldada, et seniavaldatud andmed võimaldavad modelleerida peamiselt nanomaterjalide suurusest tingitud mõjusid. Kuigi antud uuringus ei teostatud organismi- ja liigispetsiifilist otsingut, leiti andmeid nanomaterjalide mõju kohta kokku 116 erinevale liigile. Ligi pooled leitud toksilisuse väärtustest olid saadud testidega, milles kasutati kuute levinud mudelorganismi, mistõttu võib järeldada, et nanomaterjalide mõju on uuritud peamiselt kitsa organismide ringiga. Kuna ligi 40% kogutud toksilisuse väärtustest olid E(L,I)C₅₀ väärtused, oli võimalik uuritud nanomaterjalid järjestada nende toksilisuse alusel. Nanomaterjalide toksilisus kahanevas järjekorras oli järgmine: Ag > ZnO > CuO > CeO_2 > CNT > TiO₂ > FeO_x. Kõige tundlikemaks organismideks osutusid sarnaselt esimesele uuringule vesikirbud, vetikad ja kalad. Toksilisuse mehhanismide osas leiti mõnedes artiklites, et vees vähelahustuvate metalliliste nanomaterjalide toksilisus ei ole seletatav vabanenud ioonidega, vaid esinevad ka nano-spetsiifilised mehhanismid. Osaliselt veeslahustuvate nanomaterialide (Ag, CuO, ZnO) toksilisust põhjendati seeeest peamiselt mürgiste metalliioonide toimega. Vähemal määral mainiti erinevate osakeste toksilisuse mehhanismidena ka oksüdatiivse stressi põhjustamist, rakumembraanide destabiliseerimist, DNA kahjustuste tekitamist ja muud.

Vaatamata sellele, et nanohõbe on tarbekaupades laialt levinud ja kirjanduse andmete põhjal väga mürgine, oli selle mõju ripsloomadele vähe uuritud. Seetõttu valiti eksperimentaalseks uurimuseks kaks erinevat nanohõbedat: <100 nm pinnakatteta Sigma-Ag osakesed ja 14.6 ± 4.7 nm kaseiiniga kaetud Col-Ag osakesed, mida kasutatakse meditsiinis. Nanoosakeste iseloomustamiseks kasutati UV-nähtava valguse spektroskoopiat, dünaamilise valguse hajutamise meetodit, elektroforeetilise valguse hajutamise meetodit, skaneerivat elektronmikroskoopiat, Ag/S selektiivset elektroodi ja aatomabsorptsioon-spektroskoopiat. Osakesi ümbritsevat valgupärga uuriti SDS-polüakrüülamiid geelelektroforeesiga ning tuvastamaks osakeste võimet tekitada ROS-e abiootilistes tingimustes kasutati fluorestsentsipõhiseid meetodeid. Nanohõbeda mõju kolme erineva T. thermophila tüve – BIII, CU427 ja CU428 – elulevusele määrati rakkude ATP sisalduse kaudu ja rakke visualiseeriti valgusmikroskoobiga. Nanohõbedast

lahustunud hõbeda-ioonide mõju kontrolliks kasutati AgNO₃. Leiti, et *T. thermophila* on võimeline mõlemat tüüpi nanohõbedat fagotsüteerima ning Sigma-Ag osakesed olid algloomale vähem mürgised (EC50, BIII vahemikus 205-286 mg Ag/l) kui Col-Ag osakesed (EC50, CU427 ja CU428 vahemikus 72-100 mg Ag/l). Kuigi Sigma-Ag ja Col-Ag osakeste mõju uuriti erinevate T. thermophila tüvedega, tulenes erinevus osakeste mürgisuses suure tõenäosusega vastavate osakeste erinevast lahustuvusest, kuna AgNO₃ mõju erinevatele tüvedele oli sarnane (EC₅₀ kõikidel tüvedel vahemikus 1,5-2,8 mg Ag/l). Teisalt oli tüvi CU428 Col-Ag osakestele 20-30% tundlikum kui tüvi CU427. Võrreldes T. thermophila tundlikkust hõbedale vesikeskkonnas levinud mudelorganismide vesikirbu, vetika ja kala – tundlikkusega nähtub, et T. thermophila talub küllaltki kõrgeid hõbedakontsentratsioone, mis võib olla kohastumus kõrgema saastumusega elukeskkonnale. Kirjanduse andmetel biomineraliseerivad mitmed organismid mürgiseid metalli-ioone vastavateks nanoosakesteks, vähendades seeläbi ioonide mürgist mõju. Käesolevas töös näidati, et hõbeda-ioone on võimalik redutseerida hõbeda nanoosakesteks ka T. thermophila rakuvabas fraktsioonis ehk T. thermophila rakuväliste valkude kaasabil. Lisaks märgati, et rakuvabas fraktsioonis inkubeeritud hõbeda mürgisus T. thermophilale vähenes inkubeerimisaja pikenemisel. Täiendavalt uuriti Ag nanoosakeste toksilisuse mehhanisme sub-letaalsete kontsentratsioonide juures: mõõdeti üldise ja oksüdatiivse stressiga seotud geenide ekspressiooni taset (kvantitatiivse polümeraasi ahelreaktsiooniga) ja oksüdatiivse stressi markereid algloomas (fluorestsentsipõhiste ja ensümaatiliste meetoditega). Huvitaval kombel täheldati üldise ning oksüdatiivse stressiga seotud geenide avaldumises tüvespetsiifilisi mustreid. Kui tüves CU427 mõjutasid Col-Ag osakesed ja AgNO₃ geenide avaldumist sarnaselt, siis tüves CU428 nähti muutusi ainult Col-Ag osakestega kokkupuutunud ripsloomade oksüdatiivse stressiga seotud geenides. Metalle siduvad metallotioneiini geenid avaldusid mõlemas tüves hõbedaühenditega kokkupuute järel kümneid kuni tuhandeid kordi kõrgemal tasemel kui hõbedaga mitte kokku puutunud algloomades. See viitab, et nanohõbeda toksilisus algloomas T. thermophila on tingitud peamiselt hõbeda-ioonidest. Füsioloogilisel tasemel nanohõbeda-spetsiifilisi efekte ei tuvastatud ja geenide tasemel ülesreguleeritud superoksiidi dismutaasi ning katalaasi aktiivsused hõbedale eksponeeritud rakkudes ei erinenud kontrollrakkude vastavatest tasemetest, viidates T. thermophila tõhusatele antioksüdatiivsetele kaitsemehhanismidele.

Kokkuvõttes annab käesolev doktoritöö põhjaliku ülevaate maailmas olulistes mahtudes toodetavate nanomaterjalide keskkonnatoksilisusest. Doktoritöö raames kogutud andmeid saab rakendada uudsete nanomaterjalide võimalike ohtude modelleerimiseks, mis kiirendab nende materjalide riskihindamist. Nanohõbeda tokslisuse mehhanismide uuringutega panustati nanomaterjalide keskkonnatoksikoloogia alastesse teadmistesse, mis aitavad paremini mõista antimikroobsete toodete võimalikke mõjusid zooplanktonile.

PUBLICATION I

Bondarenko, O., **Juganson, K.**, Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A. (2013). Toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected environmentally relevant test organisms and mammalian cells *in vitro*: a critical review. *Archives of Toxicology 87*, 1181-1200.

Copyright \bigcirc The Author(s) 2013. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence which permits any use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and the source are credited.

REVIEW ARTICLE

Toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected environmentally relevant test organisms and mammalian cells in vitro: a critical review

Olesja Bondarenko · Katre Juganson · Angela Ivask · Kaja Kasemets · Monika Mortimer · Anne Kahru

Received: 9 April 2013/Accepted: 8 May 2013/Published online: 1 June 2013 © The Author(s) 2013. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract Nanoparticles (NPs) of copper oxide (CuO), zinc oxide (ZnO) and especially nanosilver are intentionally used to fight the undesirable growth of bacteria, fungi and algae. Release of these NPs from consumer and household products into waste streams and further into the environment may, however, pose threat to the 'non-target' organisms, such as natural microbes and aquatic organisms. This review summarizes the recent research on (eco)toxicity of silver (Ag), CuO and ZnO NPs. Organism-wise it focuses on key test species used for the analysis of ecotoxicological hazard. For comparison, the toxic effects of studied NPs toward mammalian cells in vitro were addressed. Altogether 317 L(E)C50 or minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) values were obtained for algae, crustaceans, fish, bacteria, yeast, nematodes, protozoa and mammalian cell lines. As a rule, crustaceans, algae and fish

Olesja Bondarenko and Katre Juganson have contributed equally to this work.

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s00204-013-1079-4) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

O. Bondarenko · K. Juganson · A. Ivask · K. Kasemets · M. Mortimer · A. Kahru (⊠) Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia e-mail: anne.kahru@kbfi.ee

K. Juganson

Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Ehitajate tee 5, 19086 Tallinn, Estonia

M. Mortimer

Aquatic Biogeochemistry and Ecotoxicology, Institute F.-A. Forel, Faculty of Sciences, University of Geneva, 10 route de Suisse, 1290 Versoix, Switzerland proved most sensitive to the studied NPs. The median L(E)C50 values of Ag NPs, CuO NPs and ZnO NPs (mg/L) were 0.01, 2.1 and 2.3 for crustaceans; 0.36, 2.8 and 0.08 for algae; and 1.36, 100 and 3.0 for fish, respectively. Surprisingly, the NPs were less toxic to bacteria than to aquatic organisms: the median MIC values for bacteria were 7.1, 200 and 500 mg/L for Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs, respectively. In comparison, the respective median L(E)C50 values for mammalian cells were 11.3, 25 and 43 mg/L. Thus, the toxic range of all the three metal-containing NPs to target- and non-target organisms overlaps, indicating that the leaching of biocidal NPs from consumer products should be addressed.

Keywords Risk assessment · In vitro toxicology · Antimicrobials · Mechanism of action · REACH · QSARs

Introduction

Nanoindustry is one of the fastest growing industries in the history of mankind and has been referred to as the next industrial revolution (Lux Research 2008). The first national nanotechnology program—the National Nanotechnology Initiative—was launched in USA in 2000. Since then, more than 60 nations have established similar programs. In 2010, worldwide annual public and private sector funding for nanotechnologies was 17.8 billion dollars in total (Sargent 2012). As a result, the global socio-economic value of nanotechnologies is steadily increasing, and currently, nanoscale particles have significant impacts on almost all industries and all areas of society.

According to the recent review issued by the European Commission (2013), nanomaterial is defined as 'a natural, incidental or manufactured material containing particles, in an unbound state or as an aggregate or as an agglomerate and where, for 50 % or more of the particles in the number size distribution, one or more external dimensions is in the size range 1-100 nm. In specific cases and where warranted by concerns for the environment, health, safety or competitiveness the number size distribution threshold of 50 % may be replaced by a threshold between 1 and 50 %.' In scientific literature engineered (or manufactured or synthetic or man-made) nanoparticles (NPs) are usually defined as particles with at least one dimension between 1 and 100 nm.

At nanoscale materials have different or enhanced properties compared with their conventional 'bulk' (microsize) counterparts, due to an increased relative surface area that translates into higher reactivity (Nel et al. 2006). While in bulk materials the surface atoms constitute only a few percent of the total number of atoms, in NPs most of the atoms lay close to or at the surface (Casals et al. 2012). There is increasing evidence that the unique desired physico-chemical properties of NPs, which make nanomaterials more efficient in industrial applications, render these materials also more harmful to living organisms. Due to increasing production volumes of NPs and growing likelihood of occupational and environmental exposure to nanomaterials, the legislative bodies in both EU and USA have currently focused their activities on assessing health and environmental risks of nanotechnology.

As shown in Fig. 1, this review aims to provide a critical summary of recent scientific literature on potential hazardous effects of three types of engineered metal-containing NPs-zinc oxide (ZnO), copper oxide (CuO) and silver (Ag). All these compounds (either in the bulk or nanoform) have been historically used as biocides, that is, for avoiding or stopping the growth of microorganisms and algae (Kahru and Dubourguier 2010). Therefore, similarly to pesticides, these nanomaterials should be monitored for their toxic action also toward non-target species, including humans. In the context of the current review, 'target organism' is defined as an organism for which the biocidal NPs were designed for (e.g., bacteria and fungi as target organisms of all three NPs and algae as target organisms of CuO and Ag NPs) and 'non-target organism' is an organism which will be exposed to NPs after their incidental release into the environment. To gain a better understanding whether the accidental release of metal-containing NPs may pose a threat to non-target species, we collected toxicity data on these NPs for algae, crustaceans, fish, bacteria, yeast, nematodes, protozoa and mammalian cell lines and compared the toxicity values of NPs to target- and non-target organisms. In addition, we analyzed the collected data with respect to the correlation between the dissolution, size and coating of NPs and their toxicity to different organism groups. Finally, we classified the studied NPs into different hazard categories. However, the proposed hazard categories are rather general and could only be applied for the initial hazard identification. For complete risk assessment, further data on realistic environmental exposure scenarios for these NPs are required. Also, in case of mammalian cell lines, we do not discuss the transferability of collected in vitro data to in vivo situation.

Production and application of Ag, CuO and ZnO (nano)particles

Estimated global production of NPs is shown in Fig. 2a (adapted from Piccinno et al. 2012). Although SiO₂ NPs are produced at the highest production volume (Fig. 2), Ag NPs are the ones most used in consumer products. According to the Woodrow Wilson Database (Wilson 2012), there were more than 1,300 nanotechnological consumer products on the market in March 2011, and 313 of them contained nanosilver. In consumer products, NPs are either added to the bulk material to reinforce the physical properties of the material or applied on the surface of the product to provide enhanced surface features such as scratch resistance, water repellency, reflectivity and photo activity. As the number of published articles can be considered as an early indicator of the future use of NPs, ISI Web of Science (ISI WoS) was used to gather data on the current and potential applications of Ag, ZnO and CuO NPs (Table S1 and in Fig. 2). The analysis of the collected data showed that the majority of articles concerned the applications of Ag NPs (7,699 papers, 59 %), followed by ZnO (4,640 papers, 36 %) and finally CuO NPs (690 papers, 5 %). Interestingly, the most prominent application area of all these three NPs was sensors, sensing devices and catalysis (Fig. 2b-d). Moreover, as silver is the best conductor among the metals (Ren et al. 2005) and Ag NPs have favorable chemical and physical properties such as biocompatibility, unique electronic and catalytic properties, Ag NP-based electrochemical (bio)sensing systems have been developed (Lian et al. 2013) that enable enhancing electron transfer between biomolecules (e.g., proteins) and electrode surfaces. As expected, a considerable share (19 %) of all the fields of application of Ag NPs concerned antimicrobial usage. In case of CuO NPs and ZnO NPs, this share was much lower, 4 and 2.6 %, respectively.

Ag nanoparticles

Silver has been used to fight infections as far back as the days of ancient Greece and Egypt. In World War I, before the advent of antibiotics, silver compounds were used to prevent and treat infections. Currently, Ag NPs are the most widely commercialized NPs that are used as antimicrobials in various consumer products ranging from cosmetics, representation of the scope of

Fig. 1 Schematic

the current review



clothing, shoes, detergents, dietary supplements to surface coatings in respirators, water filters, phones, laptops, toys and commercial home water purification systems such as Aquapure, Kinetico and QSI-Nano (Bystrzejewska-Piotrowska et al. 2009; Marambio-Jones and Hoek 2010; Cerkez et al. 2012). In addition to antibacterial, antiviral and antifungal properties (for the review and references therein, see Ivask et al. 2012), nanosilver has also been shown to facilitate wound healing (Nair and Laurencin 2007). Estimated global annual production of Ag NPs is ~ 55 tons (a median value; Piccinno et al. 2012; Fig. 2a).

ZnO nanoparticles

According to different sources, the worldwide annual production of ZnO NPs is estimated to be between 550 (Piccinno et al. 2012; Fig. 2d) and 33,400 tons (Research and Markets 2012). Thus, among metal-containing NPs, ZnO NPs have the third highest global production volume after SiO_2 and TiO_2 NPs (5,500 and 3,000 tons annually, respectively) (Piccinno et al. 2012; Fig. 2a). ZnO NPs are mostly used as a UV light scattering additive in cosmetics such as sunscreens, toothpastes and beauty products (Serpone et al. 2007). ZnO NPs are widely used in rubber manufacture, production of solar cells and LCDs, pigments (as a whitener), chemical fibers, electronics and textiles (Dastjerdi and Montazer 2010; Song et al. 2010). In addition, ZnO is an essential ingredient in almost all types of antifouling paints (IPPIC 2012), and recently bulk ZnO has been increasingly replaced by ZnO NPs because of their enhanced antibacterial properties (Padmavathy and Vijayaraghavan 2008).

CuO nanoparticles

In contrast to Ag and ZnO NPs, we were not able to retrieve data on the current production volumes of CuO Fig. 2 a Annual production volumes of nanomaterials (data are adapted from Piccinno et al. 2012). b-d Fields of application of Ag (b), CuO (c) and ZnO (d) nanoparticles based on the publications indexed by Thomson Reuters ISI Web of Science. Search was done in March 2013. The following search terms were used: 'silver' OR 'CuO' OR 'ZnO' AND 'nano*' AND 'application category' (indicated in the figure). Numbers next to each application category indicate the number of articles retrieved and their respective percent share. The numerical data are presented in Supplementary Table S1



NPs. As these NPs are used in lower quantities and compared to other NPs the potential hazardous effects of CuO NPs are poorly studied (Kahru and Savolainen 2010), it is reasonable to conclude that they are also manufactured in lower amounts compared to other NPs. As reflected by Fig. 2c, the most important and unique application area of CuO NPs is electronics and technology (semiconductors, electronic chips, heat transfer nanofluids), as CuO has excellent thermophysical properties (Ebrahimnia-Bajestan et al. 2011). Also other applications such as gas sensors (Li et al. 2007), catalytic processes (Carnes and Klabunde 2003), solar cells and lithium batteries (Guo et al. 2009; Sau et al. 2010) have been suggested for CuO NPs. CuO NPs have been shown to inhibit the growth of microorganisms and exert antiviral properties (Borkow and Gabbay 2004; Gabbay et al. 2006). For these reasons, CuO NPs have been used in face masks, wound dressings and socks to give them biocidal properties (Borkow et al. 2009, 2010a, b).

The need for toxicity data on ZnO, CuO and Ag (nano)particles

Toxicity data and data quality gaps for nanoparticles

The scientific information on potential harmful effects of NPs severely lags behind the development of nanotechnologies (Shvedova et al. 2010; Kahru and Ivask 2013). In addition, the available nanotoxicity data are inconsistent because experimental approaches vary from article to article making it impossible to compare results (Schrurs and Lison 2012). To overcome these problems, nanotoxicology community has recently started a discussion about the implementation of general guidelines for nanotoxicology research and establishment of common parameters that should be addressed in all nanotoxicological articles (Nature Nanotech Editorial 2012).

Legislation gaps for nanoparticles

Currently, the production and use of nanoparticle-containing products is not internationally regulated by any distinct safety regulation (EC 2008). Compared to bulk materials, NPs have unique physico-chemical properties such as higher stability in the aquatic environment (Fig. 3b), decreased size (Fig. 3c) and increased specific surface area (SSA), and thus enhanced reactivity. These properties make NPs more efficient and interesting for different industrial applications but at the same time make them more harmful to living organisms. Thus, theoretically a special guidance should be considered for NPs. Yet, as NPs are chemically identical to their bulk counterparts and thus have the same CAS number (Fig. 3a), they are not recognized by industry as a new class of chemicals. As a result, the production and use of metal-containing NPs are subject to analogous regulation as the conventional bulk chemical compounds regulated in Europe by EU chemical safety policy REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals). The REACH regulation states that when chemicals/NPs are produced in a volume of more than one ton per year and sold at the European market, they must be characterized for their potential impact on aquatic ecosystems (European Parliament 2006). The data provided by the producer/importer should include short-term (48 h) toxicity testing on crustaceans (preferred species Daphnia magna, OECD 2004) and 72h growth inhibition of aquatic plants (preferably algae, OECD 2011). In addition, short-term (96 h) toxicity testing on fish (OECD 1992) is required at the next annual tonnage level (>10 tons per year). As shown in Crane et al.

Fig. 3 a Labels of bulk CuO and nanosized CuO. Note the same CAS number. b 200 mg/L stock suspensions of CuO. c TEM image of nano CuO and bulk CuO. Note 43-fold difference in the SSAs of bulk CuO and nanosized CuO (2008), Kahru et al. (2008) and Kahru and Dubourguier (2010), the types of test species and biological endpoints used within standard environmental hazard assessment frameworks are generally appropriate also for nanoecotoxicological purposes. The additional specific requirements for NP studies are the dispersion conditions and characterization of the particles in the test environment as well as careful consideration of test conditions for potential artifacts that can arise due to the color of NPs or their sorptive properties (Handy et al. 2012; Schrurs and Lison 2012; Bayat et al. 2013). Analogously to the rest of the chemical compounds, NPs are classified with respect to their environmental toxicity according to the response of the most sensitive of the three test organisms: algae, crustaceans and fish (European Union 2011).

Specific physico-chemical properties of metalcontaining nanoparticles

In order to understand the mechanisms behind the toxicity of NPs, the physico-chemical properties of the particles should be thoroughly analyzed in relevant test environments. Recent review by Bandyopadhyay et al. (2012) gives an in-depth overview of the methods that can be applied to characterize NPs size, shape, crystal structure, aggregation, chemical composition, surface properties (surface charge, area, chemistry), solubility and porosity. Since detailed reviews about characterization of the NPs can be found elsewhere, the following paragraphs of this review focus on joint nominators and differences in the physico-chemical characteristics of Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs.



Joint nominators for Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles

Considering the joint nominators for Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs, the first to notice is the metallic elemental composition of all the three selected particles. Secondly, all the three NPs are applied to fight the undesirable growth of microorganisms. Although among the three nanomaterials, silver NPs are used most widely as antimicrobials, also CuO and ZnO NPs have been successfully used as biocides (Fig. 2c-d). The third joint nominator for the three NPs is their negative surface charge, which results from oxygen atoms in CuO and ZnO (Xu et al. 2012). Though Ag NPs do not initially contain oxygen, the surface of metallic Ag NPs is oxidized under most environmental conditions (aerobic) and negatively charged hydroxo and oxo groups cause the negative surface charge of the particle (Levard et al. 2012). The fourth and toxicologically perhaps the most important joint property is that all the three NPs are soluble to some extent in aqueous media. We have previously shown that the solubility of CuO and ZnO NPs is the key issue in the toxicity of metal-containing (nano)particles and stressed that the solubility data reported as N/A (not available or not applicable) in Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS) of ZnO and CuO NPs should be addressed (Aruoja et al. 2009; Ivask et al. 2010; Bondarenko et al. 2012). It has been also emphasized that aqueous solubility of NPs has to be incorporated into the environmental risk assessment models of NPs in addition to other key physico-chemical characteristics relevant to NPs (European Commission 2007). Solubility of NPs and the behavior of released metal ions, that is, the proportion of intact particles, metal ions and metal complexes, depend greatly on the properties of the test environment (for a review and references therein, see Casals et al. 2012). The most important parameters of the test environment are pH, dissolved organic carbon content and water hardness (Wiench et al. 2009; Fabrega et al. 2011). For instance, the solubility of all the three selected particles is enhanced at more acidic pH (Dimkpa, et al. 2011; Fabrega et al. 2011; Levard et al. 2012; Ma et al. 2013). Also, the solubility of the aforementioned NPs depends on their interactions with organic material in the test environment (proteins, amino acids, natural organic matter, humic substances) that may coat and disperse NPs or complex metal ions. For example, reduced solubility and toxicity toward crustaceans has been observed in natural waters for Ag NPs (Gao et al. 2009) and CuO NPs (Blinova et al. 2010).

Figure 4 illustrates the behavior of NPs in various test environments: in all test media *coated* Ag NPs are remarkably more stable than the *uncoated* NPs. That is coherent with the results by Fabrega et al. (2011) showing that in high ionic strength suspensions uncoated Ag NPs tend to precipitate and sediment within a few hours after the start of the toxicity assay. Also, CuO and ZnO NPs were remarkably unstable and tended to sediment. Figure 4 also shows that the agglomeration/sedimentation of CuO and ZnO was especially high in mineral media—media that are used for key regulatory ecotoxicological assays (crustaceans, algae) described above. In contrast, the components of the complex test media (defined here as the test environment with organic components) dispersed NPs and prevented their sedimentation. In addition, the complex media may promote dissolution of NPs (Käkinen et al. 2011; Kasemets et al. 2013).

In summary, as also underlined in the recent paper by Casals et al. (2012), it is extremely important to assess the physico-chemical properties of NPs in the media where the biological toxicity tests are performed. As dissolution is one of the main contributors to the toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs, in this review their toxicity is discussed in parallel with the toxic effects of the respective ions.

Differences between Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles

In addition to the above-described *joint nominators*, there are also *differences* between the three NPs selected for this study. To begin with, their chemical composition is different; thus, in similar particle size their toxicity is likely different (Sharifi et al. 2012). In addition, copper is a redox element having common valences of +2 or +1. Thus, differently from zinc and silver, redox-active Cu ions may also be involved in electron-transfer processes. Third, the surface of Ag NPs but not CuO and ZnO NPs is frequently functionalized with different coatings, polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) and citrate being the most widely used. Last but not least, copper and zinc (but not silver) are necessary trace elements for almost all types of living cells, while silver has no known function in the living organisms (Sandstead 1995).

Toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to target and non-target organisms

The review by Crane et al. (2008) summarizes various OECD assays that can be applied for the toxicity testing of NPs. Assessment of the environmental hazard of NPs under REACH regulation requires that at least two OECD tests with algae (OECD201) and crustacean *D. magna* (OECD202) should be used. In this review, we collected, analyzed and summarized the toxicity data (including but not limited to the key OECD test species) from the published literature on ZnO, CuO and Ag NPs.



Fig. 4 Uncoated Ag (50 mg/L), PVP-coated Ag (50 mg/L), uncoated CuO (50 mg/L) and ZnO NPs (200 mg/L) after 0, 2 and 24 h incubation in different (eco)toxicological test environments: *I* deionized water; 2 artificial freshwater for the tests with *Daphnia* sp. (OECD 202); 3 AFW for *Thamnocephalus* sp. (Thamnotoxkit FTM 1995); 4 algal growth medium (OECD 201); 5 protozoan mineral test

medium (Osterhout's); 6 yeast extract peptone dextrose medium; 7 bacterial M9 medium supplemented with 0.1 % glucose and 0.5 % amino acids; 8 bacterial LB medium containing tryptone and yeast extract. Detailed composition of test media is given in Käkinen et al. (2011)



Fig. 5 Number and share of individual L(E)C50 or MIC values used to derive the median L(E)C50 or MIC for nanoparticles (a) and metal salts (b). Total number of individual values: 317

Characterization of retrieved toxicity data set

When collecting the toxicity data for Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs, we relied on recent nano(eco)toxicological peerreviewed literature that preferably contained data not only on toxicity of NPs but also physico-chemical characteristics of the studied NPs prior to and during toxicity testing. Our goal was to find at least 10 quantitative toxicity values (EC50, LC50, MIC) per organism and NP type. In parallel, we collected toxicity data for metal ions to assess the impact of dissolution on toxicity of NPs. Organism-wise we focused on bacteria, crustaceans, algae, fish, nematodes, yeasts, protozoa as well as on mammalian cell lines.

Figure 5 shows the availability of the toxicity data in ISI WoS. As can be seen, relatively large amount of data was available on toxicity of Ag NPs, whereas less information was published on toxicity of ZnO NPs and the data on CuO were especially scarce. At the same time, there was a lot of data on the toxicity of both Cu and Ag ions, while less information was available on the toxicity of Zn ions.

Table S2 presents data on the test organisms that were used most often for determining the L(E)C50 and MIC values in the analyzed literature. As shown in Table S2, the

Fig. 6 Toxicity of CuO, ZnO and Ag nanoparticles to different organisms. Median L(E)C50 values for all other organisms except bacteria and MIC for bacteria \pm minimum and maximum values are presented. Different organisms/ cells are shown by respective pictograms and the number on the pictogram indicates the number of L(E)C50 values used to derive the median value. Note the logarithmic scale of x-axis and that L(E)C50 and MIC values of NPs reflect nominal concentrations. The classification to hazard categories is explained in Table 1



Concentration of Zn salt, mg Zn/L

Table 1 Median L(E)C50 values for all organisms except bacteria and median MIC for bacteria for Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles (NPs) and the respective metal salts

Group of organisms	Median L(E)C50 or MIC, on compound basis, mg/L (number of data)*			Median L(E)C50 or MIC, on metal basis, mg metal/L (number of data)*		
	Ag NPs	CuO NPs	ZnO NPs	Ag salt	Cu salt	Zn salt
Crustaceans	0.01 (17)	2.1 (8)	2.3 (10)	0.00085 (8)	0.024 (8)	1.3 (6)
Algae	0.36 (17)	2.8 (5)	0.08 (5)	0.0076 (10)	0.07 (20)	0.09 (8)
Fish	1.36 (17)	100 (1)	3.0 (4)	0.058 (4)	0.28 (19)	7.5 (3)
Nematodes	3.34 (21)	Not found (0)	39 (6)	4.8 (4)	19.4 (6)	49 (6)
Bacteria	7.10 (46)	200 (13)	500 (15)	3.3 (27)	32 (13)	30 (9)
Yeast	7.90 (14)	17 (4)	121 (7)	2.16 (5)	11.1 (4)	78 (2)
Mammalian cells in vitro	11.3 (25)	25 (21)	43 (25)	2 (18)	53 (10)	9.8 (11)
V. fischeri ^a	32 (2)	73.6 (4)	4.3 (4)	5.7 (2)	0.78 (7)	3.2 (7)
Protozoa	38 (7)	124 (6)	11.7 (9)	1.5 (3)	0.43 (14)	7 (9)
Lowest L(E)C50, MIC	0.01	2.1	0.08	0.00085	0.024	0.09
Most sensitive organisms	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Algae	Crustaceans	Crustaceans	Algae
Classification	Very toxic	Toxic	Very toxic	Very toxic	Very toxic	Very toxic
(EU-Directive 93/67/EEC (CEC 1996) ^b						
Classification (Sanderson et al. 2003; Blaise et al. 2008) ^c	Extremely toxic	Toxic	Extremely toxic	Extremely toxic	Extremely toxic	Extremely toxic

* In the brackets next to the median value, the number of data used to derive the median value is presented

Data are summarized from Supplementary Tables S3-S8 and are arranged throughout according to the decreasing sensitivity (increasing median L(E)C50 values) of test organisms to silver nanoparticles. The L(E)C50 and MIC numbers are from the following articles: Borovanský and Riley (1989), Ershov et al. (1997), McCloskey et al. (1996), Lin et al. (1996), Zhao et al. (1998), Mobley et al. (1999), Mastin and Rodgers (2000), Grass and Rensing (2001), Franklin et al. (2002), Graff et al. (2003), Harmon et al. (2003), Teitzel and Parsek (2003), Yilmaz (2003), De Boeck et al. (2004), Hsieh et al. (2004), Jonker et al. (2004), de Oliveira-Filho et al. (2004), Shakibaie and Harati (2004), Apte et al. (2005), Cho et al. (2005), Heijerick et al. (2005), Lee et al. (2005), Chen et al. (2006), Hiriart-Baer et al. (2006), Jeng and Swanson (2006), Kungolos et al. (2006), Madoni and Romeo (2006), Panáček et al. (2006), Dechsakulthorn et al. (2007), Franklin et al. (2007), Gallego et al. (2007), Zhang et al. (2007), Calafato et al. (2008), Griffitt et al. (2008), Heinlaan et al. (2008), Hernández-Sierra et al. (2008), Jin et al. (2008), Karlsson et al. (2008), Kim et al. (2008), Martínez-Castanón et al. (2008), Mortimer et al. (2008), Navarro et al. (2008), Padmavathy and Vijayaraghavan (2008), Ruparelia et al. (2008), Zhu et al. (2008), Aruoja et al. (2009), Chae et al. (2009), Foldbjerg et al. (2009), Jain et al. (2009), Kasemets et al. (2009), Kim et al. 2009a, b, Kvitek et al. (2009), Lewis and Keller (2009), Lin et al. (2009), Liu et al. (2009), Ma et al. (2009), Oliva et al. (2009), Park and Heo (2009), Pavlica et al. (2009), Sovova et al. (2009), Teodorovic et al. (2009), Wang et al. (2009), Zhu et al. (2009), Ahamed et al. (2010), Baker et al. (2010), Blinova et al. (2010), Chen et al. (2010), Contreras et al. (2010), Ebrahimpour et al. (2010), Kennedy et al. (2010), Kim et al. (2010), Laban et al. (2010), Liu et al. (2010), Meyer et al. (2010), Miao et al. (2010), Mortimer et al. (2010), Nowrouzi et al. (2010), Panjehpour et al. (2010), Song et al. (2010), Suresh et al. (2010), Wang and Guan (2010), Wong et al. (2010), Alsop and Wood (2011), Bao et al. (2011), Dua et al. (2011), Emami-Karvani and Chehrazi (2011), Foldbjerg et al. (2011), He et al. (2011), Kim et al. (2011), Kurvet et al. (2011), Lipovsky et al. (2011), Ma et al. (2011), Majzlik et al. (2011), McLaughlin and Bonzongo (2011), Mortimer et al. (2011), Murphy et al. (2011), Naddafi et al. (2011), Niazi et al. (2011), Poynton et al. (2011), Xie et al. (2011), Xiong et al. (2011), Yu et al. (2011), Zhao et al. (2011), Albers et al. (2012), Ansari et al. (2012), Binaeian et al. (2012), Blinova et al. (2012), Brandt et al. (2012), Böhmert et al. (2012), Cao et al. (2012), Ellegaard-Jensen et al. (2012), Govindasamy and Rahuman (2012), Greulich et al. (2012), Haase et al. (2012), Harrington et al. (2012), Hassan et al. (2012), He et al. (2012), Hoheisel et al. (2012), Jo et al. (2012), Kashiwada et al. (2012), Kennedy et al. (2012), Kim et al. (2012), Kwok et al. (2012), Li et al. (2012a, b) Lim et al. (2012), Little et al. (2012), Manusadžianas et al. (2012), Monteiro et al. (2012), Oukarroum et al. (2012), Patra et al. (2012), Perreault et al. (2012), Piret et al. 2012a, b, Poynton et al. (2012), Rallo et al. (2012), Seiffert et al. (2012), Shaw et al. (2012), Shi et al. (2012), Unger and Lück (2012), Vargas-Reus et al. (2012), Wang et al. (2012a,b), Wu et al. (2012), Yang et al. (2012), Zhang et al. (2012a, b), Zhao et al. (2012), Zhao and Wang (2012), Debabrata and Giasuddin (2013), Juganson et al. (2013), Kasemets et al. (2013), Wu and Zhou (2013) ^a V. fischeri data were retrieved separately from other bacteria, because V. fischeri (also an ISO (2010) test organism) was considered as nontarget aquatic species

^b Classification of NPs and their soluble salts to hazard categories adheres to EU-Directive 93/67/EEC (CEC 1996) and is based on the lowest median L(E)C50 value of the three key environmental organisms: algae, crustaceans and fish. <1 mg/L = very toxic to aquatic organisms; 1–10 mg/L = toxic to aquatic organisms; 10–100 mg/L = harmful to aquatic organisms; >100 mg/L = not classified

^c Analogous to classification of CEC (1996) except that one category is added: <0.1 mg/L = extremely toxic to aquatic organisms

main representative species among crustaceans was *D.* magna, among algae *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*, among nematodes *Caenorhabditis elegans*, among bacteria *Escherichia coli* and among yeasts *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. In all other groups, the dominant organism/cell type varied depending on NP type. Altogether 317 L(E)C50 or minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) values for studied NPs were retrieved. Most of the data on crustaceans, algae and fish were obtained using standardized test methods. However, the protocols of bacterial, yeast, nematode and mammalian cell assays varied considerably. Most of the retrieved data represented EC/LC₅₀ values except for bacteria where MIC values were collected as more relevant for indicating the antimicrobial properties of NPs.

Analysis of retrieved toxicity data set

Figure 6 depicts the median L(E)C50 or MIC values and the respective variation scale for the selected NPs and the respective soluble metal salts toward different groups of organisms/cells. Table 1 provides numerical median L(E)C50 values and the number of individual values used to derive the median value. The individual L(E)C50 values are shown in Supplementary Tables S3–S8.

Classification of NPs and soluble metal salts to different hazard categories was performed according to EU-Directive 93/67/EEC. This classification scheme is based on the lowest median L(E)C50 value of the three key environmental organisms: algae, crustaceans and fish (CEC 1996). The lowest median L(E)C50 value <1 mg/L classifies chemical as very toxic to aquatic organisms; 1-10 mg/L = toxic to aquatic organisms; 10-100 mg/L = harmful to aquatic organisms; >100 mg/L = not classified (CEC 1996). An additional category 'extremely toxic' applied by Sanderson et al. (2003) and Blaise et al. (2008) was also employed in the current review. Note that according to EU-Directive 93/67/EEC, the lowest EC50 value obtained either in tests with crustaceans, algae or fish will determine the final hazard class of the chemical compound (Table 1).

Ag NPs exhibited the highest toxicity to the crustaceans with median L(E)C50 value of 0.01 mg/L, that is,

according to the most sensitive organism of the test battery crustaceans-algae-fish, Ag NPs should be classified as 'very toxic' to aquatic organisms (CEC 1996). The toxicity of Ag NPs to algae was slightly lower (median L(E)C50 = 0.36 mg/L), followed by fish, nematodes, bacteria, yeast, various mammalian cells, Vibrio fischeri and protozoa (Fig. 6a; Table 1). Thus, Ag NPs that are mostly used in antimicrobials and in algaecides (Nowack et al. 2011) were the most toxic toward non-target aqueous organisms-the crustaceans that are crucial components of the aquatic food web. Toxicity data of Ag NPs on bacteria, aquatic organisms and eukaryotic cells in vitro was also recently summarized by Chernousova and Epple (2013). Similarly to our findings (Table 1), these authors showed that the MIC values of Ag NPs to bacteria were in the range of 0.1-20 mg/L and to eukaryotic cells in vitro in the range of 10-100 mg/L.

It is noteworthy that the sensitivity pattern of different organisms to studied metal-containing NPs largely followed the pattern of their sensitivity to the respective metal ions. For instance, similarly to the tendency noted with Ag NPs, crustaceans, algae and fish proved the most sensitive organisms also to Ag ions (Fig. 6b; Table 1). As a rule, the difference between the L(E)C50 values of Ag NPs and Ag ions was 10-15 times (Fig. 7a), with the exception of nematode C. elegans for which the toxicity of Ag NPs and Ag ions, was nearly the same. However, most of the toxicity data on Ag NPs to C. elegans originate from the study of Yang et al. (2012), who utilized a set of toxic Ag NPs that were prepared in-house. Thus, it is difficult to conclude whether increased toxicity of Ag NPs compared to Ag ions was determined by the specific properties of Ag NPs prepared by Yang et al. (2012) or whether Ag NPs in general have more prominent particle-specific effects in C. elegans.

Similarly to Ag NPs, also CuO NPs were the most toxic to crustaceans and algae, but at a slightly higher level: median L(E)C50 values were around 2–3 mg CuO/L



Fig. 7 Plots of the median L(E)C50 values of Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs versus the median L(E)C50 values of the respective soluble metal salts to different organism groups. Data are plotted from Table 1

🖉 Springer

(Fig. 6c; Table 1). Thus, according to the most sensitive organism of the test battery crustaceans-algae-fish, CuO NPs should be classified as 'toxic' to aquatic organisms (CEC 1996). As a rule, in all other ecotoxicological organisms, CuO NPs exerted toxicity at relatively high nominal concentrations (L(E)C50 > 100 mg/L). As CuO NPs are also used as antibacterials (Fig. 2c), it is interesting to note that bacteria proved not sensitive toward CuO NPs (MIC > 250 mg/L). On one hand, the insensitivity of bacteria toward CuO NPs may be explained by the differences in the test media and toxicity endpoints used. Indeed, in the toxicity assays with crustaceans and algae a mineral medium with low potential for complexing of Cu ions was utilized, whereas the bacterial inhibition assays (for MIC calculation) were mostly performed in organic media with high potential for complexing of Cu ions. On the other hand, the bacterial MIC values were very similar to EC50 values collected for bioluminescent aquatic bacterium V. fischeri where the assav was performed in 2 % NaCl (ISO 2010). Thus, apparently CuO NPs are indeed substantially more toxic to crustaceans and algae than to bacteria, and their use as antimicrobials should be perhaps re-considered due to the ecotoxicological concerns during the 'life cycle' of CuO NP-containing products.

Cu ions were more toxic than CuO NPs to all organisms except for yeast and mammalian cells in vitro (Figs. 6d, 7b). This is an important finding showing that in mammalian cells in vitro, CuO NPs may have an additional particle-specific intrinsic toxicity that is hard to predict using non-mammalian cell models. One may hypothesize that the particles are endocytosed (a Trojan horse model) and when already inside the cell their solubilization cannot be controlled by the mechanisms used to regulate the concentration of Cu ions in the cell. On the other hand, the toxicity assays with mammalian cells in vitro use serum that may disperse and coat NPs (Zook et al. 2012) increasing their bioavailability to the cells. For yeast *S. cerevisiae*, it was shown that while the toxicity tests were done in protein-rich medium, CuO NPs enhanced the Cu-ion-associated stress assumingly due to the stronger sorption of protein-coated NPs onto the cell surface that was suggested to facilitate the dissolution of CuO in the close vicinity of the yeast cell wall. Interestingly, this effect was prominent in complex organic medium, but not in distilled water (Kasemets et al. 2013).

As in case of Ag and CuO NPs, the toxicity of ZnO NPs to algae (median L(E)C50 = 0.08 mg/L) crustaceans (L(E)C50 = 2.3 mg/L) and fish (median L(E)C50 = 3.0 mg/L) was remarkably higher than to bacteria (MIC 622 mg/L). Thus, according to the most sensitive organism of the test battery crustaceans–algae–fish, ZnO NPs should be classified as 'very toxic' to aquatic organisms (CEC 1996).

The toxicity of ZnO NPs and Zn ions to different organisms was stunningly similar (Figs. 6e–f, 7c; Table 1), indicating that the toxicity of ZnO NPs is largely caused by dissolved Zn. To further illustrate the role of dissolution in the toxicity of studied NPs, the toxicity of NPs to various organisms was plotted against the toxicity of the respective metal ions. As shown in Fig. 7, the L(E)C50 values of Ag and ZnO NPs correlated well with the respective values of the soluble salts ($R^2 = 0.84$ and 0.85, respectively). However, the plot of the L(E)C50 values of CuO NPs and Cu ions formed two clusters, distinguishing mammalian cells, yeast and bacterial cells from all other organisms. As discussed above, this was most probably caused by the test



Fig. 8 Variation in individual L(E)C50 or MIC values used to derive the median L(E)C50 or MIC value for mammalian cells in vitro (a) and bacteria (b)

environment rich in organic compounds, where organic matter enhanced dispersion of CuO NPs and increased their bioavailability to the cells.

Variability of the retrieved toxicity data

Finally, we analyzed the obtained toxicity data with respect to the size and coating of NPs. As most of the literature data were available for bacterial cells (74 MIC values were retrieved, Fig. 6) and mammalian cells in vitro (71 EC50 values were retrieved, Fig. 6), the comparative analysis of particle size, coating and toxicity to these two cell types was performed. In addition, the toxicity mechanisms of NPs to these cell types are supposedly different, because mammalian cells internalize NPs and bacteria are more 'resistant' to the intracellularization of NPs, although some researchers have reported the penetration of NPs also into bacterial cells (Morones et al. 2005; McQuillan et al. 2012). The toxicity data of NPs to both mammalian and bacterial cells were supposed to vary because of the heterogeneity of bacterial strains and cell lines used (Table S2).

Surprisingly, we observed that the toxicity data of CuO and ZnO NPs to both groups, mammalian and bacterial cells, varied in quite narrow range: 16-fold and 20-fold for ZnO NPs and 8-fold and 14-fold for CuO NPs, respectively (Fig. 8).

Table 2 Characterization of sizes of NPs of Ag, CuO and ZnO used to derive the median MIC values in bacterial studies or L(E)C50 values in mammalian cell in vitro studies

	Mammalian cells in vitro			Bacteria			
	Ag	CuO	ZnO	Ag	CuO	ZnO	
Nr of data	28	22	25	46	13	15	
Maximum size, nm	69	55	1000	89	30	125	
Median size, nm	20	50	55	20	9.2	20	
Minimum size, nm	5	12	20	3.3	6	3	
Average size, nm	29.3	44	145.2	20	15.4	31.7	

In contrast, the toxicity values of Ag NPs varied greatly: 275-fold for mammalian cells in vitro and 500-fold for bacteria. Assumingly, the differential toxicity of nanosilver was due to different coatings that were often applied on the surface of Ag nanoparticles to stabilize them. Indeed, all used ZnO and CuO NPs were uncoated (Tables S5 and S7) but 60 % of Ag NPs used in studies with bacterial cells and 89 % of Ag NPs used in studies with mammalian cells were coated (Table S3). In case of mammalian cells, 55 % of studied Ag NPs had PVP coating, 24 % had peptide coating, and 11 % was uncoated. In case of bacterial cells PVP, mono- and disaccharides and biogenic coatings were reported. Interestingly, the uncoated Ag NPs were remarkably less inhibitory to bacteria than coated NPs. Specifically, to various bacterial strains 14 least inhibitory Ag NPs (MIC values >17 mg/L) were all uncoated. Within 32 Ag NPs that were inhibitory to bacteria at lower than 14 mg/L concentrations 28 were coated and only 4 uncoated, whereas the type of the coating seemed to play no role (Table S3). In case of mammalian cells in vitro we did not observe analogous effect of coating (Table S3).

Finally, we analyzed the obtained toxicity data with respect to the size of NPs. Information on size of NPs for which mammalian cell and bacterial toxicity data (Tables S3, S5 and S7) were collected is shown in Table 2. The median sizes of Ag, CuO and ZnO were 20, 50 and 55 nm, respectively, for mammalian cells in vitro and 20, 9.2 and 20 nm, respectively, for bacterial cells.

Example on correlation between toxicity of Ag NPs to mammalian cells in vitro and the NPs primary size is given in Fig. 9a. To avoid the interference of coating in Ag NPs' toxicity, only PVP-coated NPs were used. When all the retrieved L(E)C50 values of PVP-coated Ag NPs to mammalian cells were plotted against the primary size on these NPs, no correlation was observed ($R^2 = 0.1$) (Fig. 9a). At the same time, higher correlation ($R^2 = 0.4$) was observed when the toxicity data from one single article was used (Liu et al. 2010). Finally, when the toxicity data



Fig. 9 L(E)C50 values of PVP-coated Ag NPs to mammalian cells versus size of nanoparticles. **a** All collected data were used; **b** data from one article (Liu et al. 2010) were used; **c** data from one article for one cell type were used (Liu et al. 2010)

for one cell line from one article was used, clear correlation was observed between the size and the toxicity of NPs $(R^2 = 0.81, \text{ Fig. 9c})$. Similar observations were done for other articles that presented the toxic effects of a library of differently sized well-characterized NPs for various organism groups (Martínez-Castanón et al. 2008; Hoheisel et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2012a). These findings show clearly that the interlaboratory variations in preparation of NP suspensions and toxicity testing conditions make it difficult to draw general conclusions regarding the toxicity of NPs. At a single laboratory level, this problem may be resolved by using wellcharacterized monodisperse libraries of NPs. At the level of the whole nanotoxicology community, it is very important to proceed with the implementation of the general guidelines for nanotoxicology research to end up with the parameters that should be addressed in every nanotoxicological work, for example sufficient characterization of NPs and utilization of technically suitable toxicity tests and reference materials (Nature Nanotech Editorial 2012).

Conclusions

Our analysis of the literature data showed that:

- The most toxic out of the three studied NPs was nanosilver. The L(E)C50 values of Ag NPs for the studied organisms/cells spanned nearly 4 orders of magnitude, from 0.01 mg/L for crustaceans to 38 mg/ L for protozoa. For most of the species studied, the L(E)C50 values were below 10 mg/L, showing the hazardous properties of nanosilver compounds.
- 2. The $L(E)C_{50}$ values of CuO NPs ranged from 2 to 3 mg/L for crustaceans and algae, to >100 mg/L for protozoa and bacteria, and were in the range of 10–100 mg/L for most of the organisms studied.
- ZnO NPs were the most toxic to algae (<0.1 mg/L), followed by crustaceans, fish, bacteria V. fischeri and protozoa. The L(E)C50 values of ZnO NPs were between 10 and 100 mg/L for nematodes, yeast and mammalian cells. Interestingly, ZnO NPs were not toxic to bacteria (median MIC 622 mg/L).
- 4. The toxic effect of Ag NPs and ZnO NPs (but not CuO NPs) was seemingly explained by solubilized ions. The intraspecies differences in toxicity seem to be at least partially explained by the composition of the test medium that affects the solubilization of metal-containing NPs and speciation of released metal ions.
- 5. Although bacterial cells are one of the target groups for all the studied nanoparticles, bacteria were among the least sensitive organisms. Instead, all the studied nanoparticles were remarkably more toxic to crustaceans, algae and fish.

6. Notably, one group of aquatic organisms most affected by the studied NPs was algae. This observation is noteworthy because planktonic microalgae as primary producers are the key component of food chain in aquatic ecosystems. Also, many algal species serve directly as a food source for zooplankton, which is subsequently consumed by other invertebrates or fish. Changes in the structure and productivity of the algal community may induce direct structural changes in the rest of the ecosystem and/or indirectly affect the ecosystem by affecting water quality (Nyholm and Petersen 1997).

Outlook

Crustaceans, algae and fish-the aquatic test organisms proposed for the classification and labeling of chemicals by EU REACH regulation-proved the most sensitive groups of organisms with respect to the toxic action of all three analyzed metal-containing NPs. Unexpectedly, the analysis of the published data on toxic effects of Ag, ZnO and CuO NPs showed that these three biocidal NPs were inhibitory to bacteria at considerably higher level than to non-target environmental organisms. Our observation is coherent with the recent statement of Chernousova and Epple (2013) on nanosilver: 'After analyzing a multitude of single studies, it can be concluded that the effect of silver towards bacteria is typically overestimated, and towards (eukaryotic) cells it is typically underestimated. Therefore, the application of silver in consumer products, cosmetics, and medical products should be critically assessed.3

To address the environmental impact of biocidal nanomaterials, we would like additionally to emphasize the following aspect of the species sensitivity pattern toward nanomaterials: As the toxicity range for all the three metalcontaining NPs to non-target aquatic organisms and target organisms (bacteria, fungi, algae) warningly overlapped, the discharge or leaching of biocidal nanomaterials to surface waters may pose threat to aquatic species. This aspect of life cycle of nanomaterials could be controlled either at the level of 'safe by design' or, if applicable, by regulated discharge/disposal.

Acknowledgments This research was supported by the SF0690063s08, ETF8561, ETF9001 projects, EU 7th Framework Programme under Grant Agreements No. 263147 (NanoValid) and No. 309314 (MODERN), and EU Regional Development Foundation, Environmental Conservation and Environmental Technology R&D Programme project TERIKVANT (3.2.0802.11-0043). Sciex-NMSch fellowship to M. Mortimer is acknowledged. Mr. Aleksandr Käkinen is acknowledged for the image in Fig. 4.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License which permits any use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and the source are credited.

References

- Ahamed M, Siddiqui MA, Akhtar MJ, Ahmad I, Pant AB, Alhadlaq HA (2010) Genotoxic potential of copper oxide nanoparticles in human lung epithelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 396(2):578–583
- Albers CE, Hofstetter W, Siebenrock K, Landmann R, Klenke F (2012) Cytotoxic effects of ionic silver and silver nano-particles on osteoblasts and osteoclasts in vitro. J Bone Joint Surg Br 94-B((SUPP 37):163
- Alsop D, Wood CM (2011) Metal uptake and acute toxicity in zebrafish: common mechanisms across multiple metals. Aquat Toxicol 105(3–4):385–393
- Ansari M, Khan H, Khan A, Sultan A, Azam A (2012) Characterization of clinical strains of MSSA, MRSA and MRSE isolated from skin and soft tissue infections and the antibacterial activity of ZnO nanoparticles. World J Microb Biot 28(4):1605–1613
- Apte SC, Batley GE, Bowles KC, Brown PL, Creighton NM, Hales LT, Hyne RV, Julli M, Markich SJ, Pablo F, Rogers NJ, Stauber JL, Wilde K (2005) A comparison of copper speciation measurements with the toxic responses of three sensitive freshwater organisms. Environ Chem 2(4):320–330
- Aruoja V, Dubourguier HC, Kasemets K, Kahru A (2009) Toxicity of nanoparticles of CuO, ZnO and TiO₂ to microalgae *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*. Sci Total Environ 407(4):1461–1468
- Baker J, Sitthisak S, Sengupta M, Johnson M, Jayaswal RK, Morrissey JA (2010) Copper stress induces a global stress response in *Staphylococcus aureus* and represses *sae* and *agr* expression and biofilm formation. Appl Environ Microb 76(1):150–160
- Bandyopadhyay S, Peralta-Videa JR, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Montes MO, Keller AA, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2012) Microscopic and spectroscopic methods applied to the measurements of nanoparticles in the environment. Appl Spectrosc Rev 47(3):180–206
- Bao VW, Leung KM, Qiu JW, Lam MH (2011) Acute toxicities of five commonly used antifouling booster biocides to selected subtropical and cosmopolitan marine species. Mar Pollut Bull 62(5):1147–1151
- Bayat N, Rajapakse K, Marinsek-Logar R, Drobne D, Cristobal S (2013) The effects of engineered nanoparticles on the cellular structure and growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Nanotoxicology. doi:10.3109/17435390.2013.788748
- Binaeian E, Rashidi AM, Attar H (2012) Toxicity study of two different synthesized silver nanoparticles on bacteria Vibrio fischeri. WASET 67:1219–1225
- Blaise C, Gagné F, Férard JF, Eullaffroy P (2008) Ecotoxicity of selected nano-materials to aquatic organisms. Environ Toxicol 23(5):591–598
- Blinova I, Ivask A, Heinlaan M, Mortimer M, Kahru A (2010) Ecotoxicity of nanoparticles of CuO and ZnO in natural water. Environ Pollut 158(1):41–47
- Blinova I, Niskanen J, Kajankari P, Kanarbik L, Käkinen A, Tenhu H, Penttinen OP, Kahru A (2012) Toxicity of two types of silver nanoparticles to aquatic crustaceans *Daphnia magna* and *Tham-nocephalus platyurus*. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. doi:10.1007/ s11356-012-1290-5

- Böhmert L, Niemann B, Thünemann AF, Lampen A (2012) Cytotoxicity of peptide-coated silver nanoparticles on the human intestinal cell line Caco-2. Arch Toxicol 86(7):1107–1115
- Bondarenko O, Ivask A, Käkinen A, Kahru A (2012) Sub-toxic effects of CuO nanoparticles on bacteria: kinetics, role of Cu ions and possible mechanisms of action. Environ Pollut 169:81–89
- Borkow G, Gabbay J (2004) Putting copper into action: copperimpregnated products with potent biocidal activities. FASEB J 18(14):1728–1730
- Borkow G, Zatcoff RC, Gabbay J (2009) Reducing the risk of skin pathologies in diabetics by using copper impregnated socks. Med Hypotheses 73(6):883–886
- Borkow G, Gabbay J, Dardik R, Eidelman AI, Lavie Y, Grunfeld Y, Ikher S, Huszar M, Zatcoff RC, Marikovsky M (2010a) Molecular mechanisms of enhanced wound healing by copper oxide-impregnated dressings. Wound Repair Regen 18(2):266– 275
- Borkow G, Zhou SS, Page T, Gabbay J (2010b) A novel antiinfluenza copper oxide containing respiratory face mask. PLoS ONE 5(6):e11295
- Borovanský J, Riley PA (1989) Cytotoxicity of zinc in vitro. Chem Biol Interact 69(2-3):279-291
- Brandt O, Mildner M, Egger AE, Groessl M, Rix U, Posch M, Keppler BK, Strupp C, Mueller B, Stingl G (2012) Nanoscalic silver possesses broad-spectrum antimicrobial activities and exhibits fewer toxicological side effects than silver sulfadiazine. Nanomedicine 8(4):478–488
- Bystrzejewska-Piotrowska G, Golimowski J, Urban PL (2009) Nanoparticles: their potential toxicity, waste and environmental management. Waste Manag 29(9):2587–2595
- Calafato S, Swain S, Hughes S, Kille P, Stürzenbaum SR (2008) Knock down of *Caenorhabditis elegans cutc*-1 exacerbates the sensitivity toward high levels of copper. Toxicol Sci 106(2):384–391
- Cao B, Zheng Y, Xi T, Zhang C, Song W, Burugapalli K, Yang H, Ma Y (2012) Concentration-dependent cytotoxicity of copper ions on mouse fibroblasts in vitro: effects of copper ion release from TCu380A vs TCu220C intra-uterine devices. Biomed Microdevices 14(4):709–720
- Carnes LC, Klabunde KJ (2003) The catalytic methanol synthesis over nanoparticle metal oxide catalysts. J Mol Catal A Chem 194(1-2):227-236
- Casals E, Gonzalez E, Puntes VF (2012) Reactivity of inorganic nanoparticles in biological environments: insights into nanotoxicity mechanisms. J Phys D Appl Phys 45(44):443001
- CEC (1996) CEC (Commission of the European Communities) technical guidance document in support of commission directive 93/67/EEC on risk assessment for new notified substances. Part II, Environmental Risk Assessment. Office for official publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg
- Cerkez I, Kocer HB, Worley SD, Broughton RM, Huang TS (2012) Multifunctional cotton fabric: antimicrobial and durable press. J Appl Polym Sc 124(5):4230–4238
- Chae YJ, Pham CH, Lee J, Bae E, Yi J, Gu MB (2009) Evaluation of the toxic impact of silver nanoparticles on Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). Aquat Toxicol 94(4):320–327
- Chen X, Shi J, Chen Y, Xu X, Xu S, Wang Y (2006) Tolerance and biosorption of copper and zinc by *Pseudomonas putida* CZ1 isolated from metal-polluted soil. Can J Microbiol 52(4):308–316
- Chen QL, Luo Z, Liu X, Song YF, Liu CX, Zheng JL, Zhao YH (2010) Effects of waterborne chronic copper exposure on hepatic lipid metabolism and metal-element composition in *Synechogobius hasta*. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 73:1286–1291

- Chernousova S, Epple M (2013) Silver as antibacterial agent: ion, nanoparticle, metal. Angew Chem. doi:10.1002/anie.201205923
- Cho K-H, Park J-E, Osaka T, Park S-G (2005) The study of antimicrobial activity and preservative effects of nanosilver ingredient. Electrochim Acta 51(5):956–960
- Contreras RG, Sakagami H, Nakajima H, Shimada J (2010) Type of cell death induced by various metal cations in cultured human gingival fibroblasts. In Vivo 24(4):513–517
- Crane M, Handy RD, Garrod J, Owen R (2008) Ecotoxicity test methods and environmental hazard assessment for engineered nanoparticles. Ecotoxicology 17(5):421–437
- Dastjerdi R, Montazer M (2010) A review on the application of inorganic nano-structured materials in the modification of textiles: focus on anti-microbial properties. Colloid Surf B 79(1):5–18
- De Boeck G, Meeus W, De Coen W, Blust R (2004) Tissue-specific Cu bioaccumulation patterns and differences in sensitivity to waterborne Cu in three freshwater fish: rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), common carp (Cyprinus carpio), and gibel carp (Carassius auratus gibelio). Aquat Toxicol 70(3):179–188
- de Oliveira-Filho EC, Lopes RM, Paumgartten FJ (2004) Comparative study on the susceptibility of freshwater species to copperbased pesticides. Chemosphere 56(4):369–374
- Debabrata D, Giasuddin A (2013) Cellular responses of Saccharomyces cerevisiae to silver nanoparticles. Res J Biotech 8(1):11
- Dechsakulthorn F, Hayes A, Bakand S, Joeng L, Winder C (2007) In vitro cytotoxicity assessment of selected nanoparticles using human skin fibroblasts. AATEX 14(Special Issue):397–400
- Dimkpa CO, Calder A, Britt DW, McLean JE, Anderson AJ (2011) Responses of a soil bacterium, *Pseudomonas chlororaphis* O6 to commercial metal oxide nanoparticles compared with responses to metal ions. Environ Pollut 159(7):1749–1756
- Dua P, Chaudhari KN, Lee CH, Chaudhari NK, Hong SW, Yu JS, Kim S, Lee D (2011) Evaluation of toxicity and gene expression changes triggered by oxide nanoparticles. Bull Korean Chem Soc 2(6):2051
- Ebrahimnia-Bajestan E, Niazmand H, Duangthongsuk W, Wongwises S (2011) Numerical investigation of effective parameters in convective heat transfer of nanofluids flowing under a laminar flow regime. Int J Heat Mass Transf 54(19–20):4376–4388
- Ebrahimpour M, Alipour H, Rakhshah S (2010) Influence of water hardness on acute toxicity of copper and zinc on fish. Toxicol Ind Health 26(6):361–365
- EC (2008) Follow-up to the 6th Meeting of the REACH Competent Authorities for the implementation of Regulation (EC) 1907/2006; (REACH). European Commission, Brussels, Belgium. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/chemicals/reach/pdf/nanomaterials. pdf
- Ellegaard-Jensen L, Jensen KA, Johansen A (2012) Nano-silver induces dose-response effects on the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 80:216–223
- Emami-Karvani Z, Chehrazi P (2011) Antibacterial activity of ZnO nanoparticle on grampositive and gram-negative bacteria. Afr J Microbiol Res 5(12):1368–1373
- Ershov YuA, Pleteneva TV, Slonskaya TK (1997) Evaluation of biological activity of toxic agents in a unicellular model. Bull Exp Biol Med 123(5):519–524
- European Commission (2007) SCENIHR (EU Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly identified health risks). Report "Opinion on the appropriateness of the risk assessment methodology in accordance with the technical guidance documents for new and existing substances for assessing the risks of nanomaterials". http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/committees/04_scenihr/docs/ scenihr_o_004c.pdf
- European Commission (2013) Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European

Economic and Social Committee. Second regulatory review on nanomaterials. Brussels, 3.10.2012, COM(2012) 572 final

- European Parliament and European Council (2006) Directive 2006/121/EC. Off J Eur Union 561(L396):850
- European Union (2011) Commission Regulation No 286/2011 of 10 March 2011 amending, for the purposes of its adaptation to technical and scientific progress, Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures. http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2011:083:0001: 0053:en:PDF
- Fabrega J, Luoma SN, Tyler CR, Galloway TS, Lead JR (2011) Silver nanoparticles: behaviour and effects in the aquatic environment. Environ Int 37(2):517–531
- Foldbjerg R, Olesen P, Hougaard M, Dang DA, Hoffmann HJ, Autrup H (2009) PVP-coated silver nanoparticles and silver ions induce reactive oxygen species, apoptosis and necrosis in THP-1 monocytes. Toxicol Lett 190(2):156–162
- Foldbjerg R, Dang DA, Autrup H (2011) Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in the human lung cancer cell line, A549. Arch Toxicol 85(7):743–750
- Franklin NM, Stauber JL, Lim RP, Petocz P (2002) Toxicity of metal mixtures to a tropical freshwater alga (*Chlorella* sp.): the effect of interactions between copper, cadmium, and zinc on metal cell binding and uptake. Environ Toxicol Chem 21(11):2412–2422
- Franklin NM, Rogers NJ, Apte SC, Batley GE, Gadd GE, Casey PS (2007) Comparative toxicity of nanoparticulate ZnO, bulk ZnO, and ZnCl₂ to a freshwater microalga (*Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*): the importance of particle solubility. Environ Sci Technol 41(24):8484–8490
- Gabbay J, Mishal J, Magen E, Zatcoff RC, Shemer-Avni Y, Borkow G (2006) Copper oxide impregnated textiles with potent biocidal activities. J Ind Textil 35:323–335
- Gallego A, Martín-González A, Ortega R, Gutiérrez JC (2007) Flow cytometry assessment of cytotoxicity and reactive oxygen species generation by single and binary mixtures of cadmium, zinc and copper on populations of the ciliated protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Chemosphere 68(4):647–661
- Gao J, Youn S, Hovsepyan A, Llaneza VL, Wang Y, Bitton G, Bonzongo JC (2009) Dispersion and toxicity of selected manufactured nanomaterials in natural river water samples: effects of water chemical composition. Environ Sci Technol 43(9):3322–3328
- Govindasamy R, Rahuman AA (2012) Histopathological studies and oxidative stress of synthesized silver nanoparticles in Mozambique tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). J Environ Sci 24(6):1091–1098
- Graff L, Isnard P, Cellier P, Bastide J, Cambon JP, Narbonne JF, Budzinski H, Vasseur P (2003) Toxicity of chemicals to microalgae in river and in standard waters. Environ Toxicol Chem 22(6):1368–1379
- Grass G, Rensing C (2001) Genes involved in copper homeostasis in Escherichia coli. J Bacteriol 183(6):2145–2147
- Greulich C, Braun D, Peetsch A, Diendorf J, Siebers B, Epple M, Koller M (2012) The toxic effect of silver ions and silver nanoparticles towards bacteria and human cells occurs in the same concentration range. RSC Adv 2(17):6981–6987
- Griffitt RJ, Luo J, Gao J, Bonzongo JC, Barber DS (2008) Effects of particle composition and species on toxicity of metallic nanomaterials in aquatic organisms. Environ Toxicol Chem 27(9):1972–1978
- Guo Z, Ng HW, Yee GL, Hahn HT (2009) Differential scanning calorimetry investigation on vinyl ester resin curing process for polymer nanocomposite fabrication. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 9(5):3278–3285
- Haase A, Mantion A, Graf P, Plendl J, Thuenemann AF, Meier W, Taubert A, Luch A (2012) A novel type of silver nanoparticles

and their advantages in toxicity testing in cell culture systems. Arch Toxicol 86(7):1089-1098

- Handy RD, Cornelis G, Fernandes T, Tsyusko O, Decho A, Sabo-Attwood T, Metcalfe C, Steevens JA, Klaine SJ, Koelmans AA, Horne N (2012) Ecotoxicity test methods for engineered nanomaterials: practical experiences and recommendations from the bench. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(1):15–31
- Harmon SM, Specht WL, Chandler GT (2003) A comparison of the daphnids *Ceriodaphnia dubia* and *Daphnia ambigua* for their utilization in routine toxicity testing in the Southeastern United States. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 45(1):79–85
- Harrington JM, Boyd WA, Smith MV, Rice JR, Freedman JH, Crumbliss AL (2012) Amelioration of metal-induced toxicity in *Caenorhabditis elegans*: utility of chelating agents in the bioremediation of metals. Toxicol Sci 129(1):49–56
- Hassan MS, Amna T, Yang OB, El-Newehy MH, Al-Deyab SS, Khil M-S (2012) Smart copper oxide nanocrystals: synthesis, characterization, electrochemical and potent antibacterial activity. Colloid Surf B 97:201–206
- He L, Liu Y, Mustapha A, Lin M (2011) Antifungal activity of zinc oxide nanoparticles against *Botrytis cinerea* and *Penicillium expansum*. Microbiol Res 166(3):207–215
- He D, Dorantes-Aranda JJ, Waite TD (2012) Silver nanoparticlealgae interactions: oxidative dissolution, reactive oxygen species generation and synergistic toxic effects. Environ Sci Technol 46(16):8731–8738
- Heijerick DG, Bossuyt BT, De Schamphelaere KA, Indeherberg M, Mingazzini M, Janssen CR (2005) Effect of varying physicochemistry of European surface waters on the copper toxicity to the green alga *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*. Ecotoxicology 14(6):661–670
- Heinlaan M, Ivask A, Blinova I, Dubourguier HC, Kahru A (2008) Toxicity of nanosized and bulk ZnO, CuO and TiO₂ to bacteria Vibrio fischeri and crustaceans Daphnia magna and Thamnocephalus platyurus. Chemosphere 71(7):1308–1316
- Hernández-Sierra JF, Ruiz F, Cruz Pena DC, Martínez-Gutiérrez F, Martínez AE, Jesús Pozos Guillén A, Tapia-Pérez H, Martínez Castañón G (2008) The antimicrobial sensitivity of *Streptococcus* mutans to nanoparticles of silver, zinc oxide, and gold. Nanomed-Nanotechnol 4(3):237–240
- Hiriart-Baer VP, Fortin C, Lee DY, Campbell PG (2006) Toxicity of silver to two freshwater algae, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*, grown under continuous culture conditions: influence of thiosulphate. Aquat Toxicol 78(2):136–148
- Hoheisel SM, Diamond S, Mount D (2012) Comparison of nanosilver and ionic silver toxicity in *Daphnia magna* and *Pimephales* promelas. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(11):2557–2563
- Hsieh CY, Tsai MH, Ryan DK, Pancorbo OC (2004) Toxicity of the 13 priority pollutant metals to *Vibrio fisheri* in the Microtox chronic toxicity test. Sci Total Environ 320(1):37–50
- IPPIC (International Paint and Printing Ink Council) (2012) http:// www.ippic.org/site/assets/docs/Public%20AFWG/IPPIC%20% 20Zinc%20oxide%20-%20regulatory%20status%20-final% 20Draft%20March%201%202012.pdf
- ISO 21338:2010, Water quality—Kinetic determination of the inhibitory effects of 412 sediment, other solids and coloured samples on the light emission of *Vibrio fischeri* 413 (kinetic luminescent bacteria test)
- Ivask A, Bondarenko O, Jepihhina N, Kahru A (2010) Profiling of the reactive oxygen species-related ecotoxicity of CuO, ZnO, TiO₂, silver and fullerene nanoparticles using a set of recombinant luminescent *Escherichia coli* strains: differentiating the impact of particles and solubilised metals. Anal Bioanal Chem 398:701–716
- Ivask A, George S, Bondarenko O, Kahru A (2012) Metal-containing nano-antimicrobials: differentiating the impact of solubilized

metals and particles. In: Cioffi N, Rai M (eds) Nano-antimicrobials: Progress and Prospects. Springer, Berlin, pp 253-290

- Jain J, Arora S, Rajwade JM, Omray P, Khandelwal S, Paknikar KM (2009) Silver nanoparticles in therapeutics: development of an antimicrobial gel formulation for topical use. Mol Pharm 6(5):1388–1401
- Jeng HA, Swanson J (2006) Toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles in mammalian cells. J Environ Sci Heal A 41(12):2699–2711
- Jin YH, Dunlap PE, McBride SJ, Al-Refai H, Bushel PR, Freedman JH (2008) Global transcriptome and deletome profiles of yeast exposed to transition metals. PLoS Genet 4(4):e1000053
- Jo HJ, Choi JW, Lee SH, Hong SW (2012) Acute toxicity of Ag and CuO nanoparticle suspensions against *Daphnia magna*: the importance of their dissolved fraction varying with preparation methods. J Hazard Mater 227–228:301–308
- Jonker MJ, Piskiewicz AM, Ivorra i Castellà N, Kammenga JE (2004) Toxicity of binary mixtures of cadmium-copper and carbendazim-copper to the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Environ Toxicol Chem 23(6):1529–1537
- Juganson K, Mortimer M, Ivask A, Kasemets K, Kahru A (2013) Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Environ Sci Process Impacts 15(1):244–250
- Kahru A, Dubourguier HC (2010) From ecotoxicology to nanoecotoxicology. Toxicology 269(2–3):105–119
- Kahru A, Ivask A (2013) Mapping the dawn of nanoecotoxicological research. Acc Chem Res 46(3):823–833
- Kahru A, Savolainen K (2010) Potential hazard of nanoparticles: from properties to biological and environmental effects. Toxicology 269(2–3):89–91
- Kahru A, Dubourguier HC, Blinova I, Ivask A, Kasemets K (2008) Biotests and biosensors for ecotoxicology of metal oxide nanoparticles: a minireview. Sensors 8(8):5153–5170
- Käkinen A, Bondarenko O, Ivask A, Kahru A (2011) The effect of composition of different ecotoxicological test media on free and bioavailable copper from CuSO₄ and CuO nanoparticles: comparative evidence from a Cu-selective electrode and a Cubiosensor. Sensors 11(11):10502–10521
- Karlsson HL, Cronholm P, Gustafsson J, Möller L (2008) Copper oxide nanoparticles are highly toxic: a comparison between metal oxide nanoparticles and carbon nanotubes. Chem Res Toxicol 21(9):1726–1732
- Kasemets K, Ivask A, Dubourguier HC, Kahru A (2009) Toxicity of nanoparticles of ZnO, CuO and TiO₂ to yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Toxicol In Vitro 23:1116–1122
- Kasemets K, Suppi S, Künnis K, Kahru A (2013) Toxicity of CuO nanoparticles to yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae BY4741 wildtype and its nine isogenic single-gene deletion mutants. Chem Res Toxicol 26(3):356–367
- Kashiwada S, Ariza ME, Kawaguchi T, Nakagame Y, Jayasinghe BS, Gärtner K, Nakamura H, Kagami Y, Sabo-Attwood T, Ferguson PL, Chandler GT (2012) Silver nanocolloids disrupt medaka embryogenesis through vital gene expressions. Environ Sci Technol 46(11):6278–6287
- Kennedy AJ, Hull MS, Bednar AJ, Goss JD, Gunter JC, Bouldin JL, Vikesland PJ, Steevens JA (2010) Fractionating nanosilver: importance for determining toxicity to aquatic test organisms. Environ Sci Technol 44(24):9571–9577
- Kennedy AJ, Chappell MA, Bednar AJ, Ryan AC, Laird JG, Stanley JK, Steevens JA (2012) Impact of organic carbon on the stability and toxicity of fresh and stored silver nanoparticles. Environ Sci Technol 46(19):10772–10780
- Kim KJ, Sung WS, Moon SK, Choi JS, Kim JG, Lee DG (2008) Antifungal effect of silver nanoparticles on dermatophytes. J Microbiol Biotechnol 18(8):1482–1484

- Kim KJ, Sung WS, Suh BK, Moon SK, Choi JS, Kim JG, Lee DG (2009a) Antifungal activity and mode of action of silver nanoparticles on *Candida albicans*. Biometals 22(2):235–242
- Kim S, Choi JE, Choi J, Chung KH, Park K, Yi J, Ryu DY (2009b) Oxidative stress-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles in human hepatoma cells. Toxicol In Vitro 23(6):1076–1084
- Kim YH, Fazlollahi F, Kennedy IM, Yacobi NR, Hamm-Alvarez SF, Borok Z, Kim KJ, Crandall ED (2010) Alveolar epithelial cell injury due to zinc oxide nanoparticle exposure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182(11):1398–1409
- Kim J, Kim S, Lee S (2011) Differentiation of the toxicities of silver nanoparticles and silver ions to the Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) and the cladoceran Daphnia magna. Nanotoxicology 5(2):208–214
- Kim SW, Nam SH, An YJ (2012) Interaction of silver nanoparticles with biological surfaces of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 77:64–70
- Kungolos A, Samaras P, Tsiridis V, Petala M, Sakellaropoulos G (2006) Bioavailability and toxicity of heavy metals in the presence of natural organic matter. J Environ Sci Heal A 41(8):1509–1517
- Kurvet I, Ivask A, Bondarenko O, Sihtmäe M, Kahru A (2011) LuxCDABE-transformed constitutively bioluminescent *Esche*richia coli for toxicity screening: comparison with naturally luminous Vibrio fischeri. Sensors 11(8):7865–7878
- Kvitek L, Vanickova M, Panacek A, Soukupova J, Dittrich M, Valentova E, Prucek R, Bancirova M, Milde D, Zboril R (2009) Initial study on the toxicity of silver nanoparticles (NPs) against *Paramecium caudatum*. J Phys Chem C 113(11):4296–4300
- Kwok KW, Auffan M, Badireddy AR, Nelson CM, Wiesner MR, Chilkoti A, Liu J, Marinakos SM, Hinton DE (2012) Uptake of silver nanoparticles and toxicity to early life stages of Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*): effect of coating materials. Aquat Toxicol 120–121:59–66
- Laban G, Nies LF, Turco RF, Bickham JW, Sepúlveda MS (2010) The effects of silver nanoparticles on fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) embryos. Ecotoxicology 19(1):185–195
- Lee DY, Fortin C, Campbell PG (2005) Contrasting effects of chloride on the toxicity of silver to two green algae, *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* and *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Aquat Toxicol 75(2):127–135
- Levard C, Hotze EM, Lowry GV, Brown GE Jr (2012) Environmental transformations of silver nanoparticles: impact on stability and toxicity. Environ Sci Technol 46(13):6900–6914
- Lewis SS, Keller SJ (2009) Identification of copper-responsive genes in an early life stage of the fathead minnow *Pimephales* promelas. Ecotoxicology 18(3):281–292
- Li Y, Liang J, Tao Z, Chen J (2007) CuO particles and plates: synthesis and gas-sensor application. Mater Res Bull 43:2380–2385
- Li K, Chen Y, Zhang W, Pu Z, Jiang L, Chen Y (2012a) Surface interactions affect the toxicity of engineered metal oxide nanoparticles toward *Paramecium*. Chem Res Toxicol 25(8):1675–1681
- Li J, Liu X, Zhang Y, Tian F, Zhao G, Yu O, Jiang FI, Liu Y (2012b) Toxicity of nano zinc oxide to mitochondria. Toxicol Res 1:137–144
- Lian W, Liu S, Yu J, Li J, Cui M, Xu W, Huang J (2013) Electrochemical sensor using neomycin-imprinted film as recognition element based on chitosan-silver nanoparticles/graphene-multiwalled carbon nanotubes composites modified electrode. Biosens Bioelectron 15(44):70–76
- Lim D, Roh JY, Eom HJ, Choi JY, Hyun J, Choi J (2012) Oxidative stress-related PMK-1 P38 MAPK activation as a mechanism for toxicity of silver nanoparticles to reproduction in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(3):585–592

- Lin Y-SE, Vidic RD, Stout JE, Yu VL (1996) Individual and combined effects of copper and silver ions on inactivation of *Legionella pneumophila*. Water Res 30(8):1905–1913
- Lin W, Xu Y, Huang C-C, Ma Y, Shannon KB, Chen D-R, Huang Y-W (2009) Toxicity of nano and micro-sized ZnO particles in human lung epithelial cells. J Nanopart Res 11:25–39
- Lipovsky A, Nitzan Y, Gedanken A, Lubart R (2011) Antifungal activity of ZnO nanoparticles-the role of ROS mediated cell injury. Nanotechnology 22(10):105101
- Little EE, Calfee RD, Linder G (2012) Toxicity of copper to early-life stage Kootenai River white sturgeon, Columbia River white sturgeon, and rainbow trout. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 63(3):400–408
- Liu Y, He L, Mustapha A, Li H, Hu ZQ, Lin M (2009) Antibacterial activities of zinc oxide nanoparticles against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J Appl Microbiol 107(4):1193–1201
- Liu W, Wu Y, Wang C, Li HC, Wang T, Liao CY, Cui L, Zhou QF, Yan B, Jiang GB (2010) Impact of silver nanoparticles on human cells: effect of particle size. Nanotoxicology 4(3):319–330
- Lux Research (2008) Nanomaterials State of the Market Q3 2008: Stealth Success, Broad Impact. Report. https://portal.luxresearchinc. com/research/document_excerpt/3735
- Ma H, Bertsch PM, Glenn TC, Kabengi NJ, Williams PL (2009) Toxicity of manufactured zinc oxide nanoparticles in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Environ Toxicol Chem 28(6):1324–1330
- Ma H, Kabengi NJ, Bertsch PM, Unrine JM, Glenn TC, Williams PL (2011) Comparative phototoxicity of nanoparticulate and bulk ZnO to a free-living nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*: the importance of illumination mode and primary particle size. Environ Pollut 159(6):1473–1480
- Ma H, Williams PL, Diamond SA (2013) Ecotoxicity of manufactured ZnO nanoparticles—a review. Environ Pollut 172:76–85
- Madoni P, Romeo MG (2006) Acute toxicity of heavy metals towards freshwater ciliated protists. Environ Pollut 141(1):1–7
- Majzlik P, Strasky A, Adam V, Nemec M, Trnkova L, Zehnalek J, Hubalek J, Provaznik I, Kizek R (2011) Influence of zinc(II) and copper(II) ions on *Streptomyces* bacteria revealed by electrochemistry. Int J Electrochem Sci 6:2171–2191
- Manusadžianas L, Caillet C, Fachetti L, Gylytė B, Grigutytė R, Jurkonienė S, Karitonas R, Sadauskas K, Thomas F, Vitkus R, Férard JF (2012) Toxicity of copper oxide nanoparticle suspensions to aquatic biota. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(1):108–114
- Marambio-Jones C, Hoek EMV (2010) A review of the antibacterial effects of silver nanomaterials and potential implications for human health and the environment. J Nanopart Res 12:1531–1551
- Martínez-Castanón G, Nino-Martínez N, Martínez-Gutierrez F, Martínez-Mendoza J, Ruiz F (2008) Synthesis and antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles with different sizes. J Nanopart Res 10(8):1343–1348
- Mastin BJ, Rodgers JH Jr (2000) Toxicity and bioavailability of copper herbicides (Clearigate, Cutrine-Plus, and copper sulfate) to freshwater animals. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 39(4):445–451
- McCloskey JT, Newman MC, Clark SB (1996) Predicting relative toxicity of metal ions using ion characteristics: microtoxs bioluminescence assay. Environ Toxicol Chem 15:1730–1737
- McLaughlin J, Bonzongo JC (2011) Effects of natural water chemistry on nanosilver behavior and toxicity to *Ceriodaphnia dubia* and *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata*. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(1):168–175
- McQuillan JS, Infante GH, Stokes E, Shaw AM (2012) Silver nanoparticle enhanced silver ion stress response in *Escherichia coli* K12. Nanotoxicology 6:857–866

- Meyer JN, Lord CA, Yang XY, Turner EA, Badireddy AR, Marinakos SM, Chilkoti A, Wiesner MR, Auffan M (2010) Intracellular uptake and associated toxicity of silver nanoparticles in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Aquat Toxicol 100(2):140–150
- Miao AJ, Luo Z, Chen CS, Chin WC, Santschi PH, Quigg A (2010) Intracellular uptake: a possible mechanism for silver engineered nanoparticle toxicity to a freshwater alga *Ochromonas danica*. PLoS ONE 5(12):e15196
- Mobley HL, Garner RM, Chippendale GR, Gilbert JV, Kane AV, Plaut AG (1999) Role of Hpn and NixA of *Helicobacter pylori* in susceptibility and resistance to bismuth and other metal ions. Helicobacter 4(3):162–169
- Monteiro DR, Silva S, Negri M, Gorup LF, de Camargo ER, Oliveira R, Barbosa DB, Henriques M (2012) Silver nanoparticles: influence of stabilizing agent and diameter on antifungal activity against *Candida albicans* and *Candida glabrata* biofilms. Lett Appl Microbiol 54(5):383–391
- Morones JR, Elechiguerra JL, Camacho A, Holt K, Kouri JB, Ramírez JT, Yacaman MJ (2005) The bactericidal effect of silver nanoparticles. Nanotechnology 16:2346–2353
- Mortimer M, Kasemets K, Heinlaan M, Kurvet I, Kahru A (2008) High throughput kinetic Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition assay for study of toxic effects of nanoparticles. Toxicol In Vitro 22:1412–1417
- Mortimer M, Kasemets K, Kahru A (2010) Toxicity of ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to ciliated protozoa *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Toxicology 269(2–3):182–189
- Mortimer M, Kasemets K, Vodovnik M, Marinsek-Logar R, Kahru A (2011) Exposure to CuO nanoparticles changes the fatty acid composition of protozoa *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Environ Sci Technol 45(15):6617–6624
- Murphy JT, Bruinsma JJ, Schneider DL, Collier S, Guthrie J, Chinwalla A, Robertson JD, Mardis ER, Kornfeld K (2011) Histidine protects against zinc and nickel toxicity in *Caeno-rhabditis elegans*. PLoS Genet 7(3):e1002013
- Naddafi K, Zare MR, Nazmara S (2011) Investigating potential toxicity of phenanthrene adsorbed to nano-ZnO using *Daphnia* magna. Toxicol Environ Chem 93(4):729–737
- Nair LS, Laurencin CT (2007) Silver nanoparticles: synthesis and therapeutic applications. J Biomed Nanotechnol 3:301–316
- Nature Nanotech Editorial (2012) 7(9):545
- Navarro E, Piccapietra F, Wagner B, Marconi F, Kaegi R, Odzak N, Sigg L, Behra R (2008) Toxicity of silver nanoparticles to *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Environ Sci Technol 42(23):8959–8964
- Nel A, Xia T, Mädler L, Li N (2006) Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel. Science 311:622–662
- Niazi JH, Sang BI, Kim YS, Gu MB (2011) Global gene response in Saccharomyces cerevisiae exposed to silver nanoparticles. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 164(8):1278–1291
- Nowack B, Krug HF, Height M (2011) 120 Years of nanosilver history: implications for policy makers. Environ Sci Technol 45(4):1177–1183
- Nowrouzi A, Meghrazi K, Golmohammadi T, Golestani A, Ahmadian S, Shafiezadeh M, Shajary Z, Khaghani S, Amiri AN (2010) Cytotoxicity of subtoxic AgNP in human hepatoma cell line (HepG2) after long-term exposure. Iran Biomed J 14(1–2):23–32
- Nyholm N, Petersen HG (1997) Laboratory bioassays with microalgae. In: Wang W, Gorsuch JW, Hughes JS (eds) Plants for environmental studies. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton Chapter 9
- OECD (1992) Guidelines for the testing of chemicals. Section 2: Effects on Biotic Systems. Test No. 203: Fish, acute toxicity test. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, France
- OECD (2004) Guidelines for the testing of chemicals. Section 2: Effects on Biotic Systems. Test No. 202: Daphnia sp. acute

🖄 Springer

immobilisation test. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, France

- OECD (2011) Guidelines for the testing of chemicals. Section 2: Effects on Biotic Systems. Test No. 201: Freshwater Alga and Cyanobacteria, growth inhibition test. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, France
- Oliva M, Garrido MC, Sales Márquez D, González de Canales ML (2009) Sublethal and lethal toxicity in juvenile Senegal sole (*Solea senegalensis*) exposed to copper: a preliminary toxicity range-finding test. Exp Toxicol Pathol 61(2):113–121
- Oukarroum A, Bras S, Perreault F, Popovic R (2012) Inhibitory effects of silver nanoparticles in two green algae, *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Dunaliella tertiolecta*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 78:80–85
- Padmavathy N, Vijayaraghavan R (2008) Enhanced bioactivity of ZnO nanoparticles—an antimicrobial study. Sci Technol Adv Mater 9(3):035004
- Panáček A, Kvítek L, Prucek R, Kolář M, Večeřová R, Pizúrová N, Sharma VK, Nevěčná T, Zbořil R (2006) Silver colloid nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, and their antibacterial activity. J Phys Chem B 110(33):16248–16253
- Panjehpour M, Taher MA, Bayesteh M (2010) The growth inhibitory effects of cadmium and copper on the MDA-MB468 human breast cancer cells. J Res Med Sci 15(5):279–286
- Park K, Heo GJ (2009) Acute and subacute toxicity of copper sulfate pentahydrate (CuSO(4)5·H(2)O) in the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*). J Vet Med Sci 71(3):333–336
- Patra P, Mitra S, Debnath N, Goswami A (2012) Biochemical-, biophysical-, and microarray-based antifungal evaluation of the buffer-mediated synthesized nano zinc oxide: an in vivo and in vitro toxicity study. Langmuir 28(49):16966–16978
- Pavlica S, Gaunitz F, Gebhardt R (2009) Comparative in vitro toxicity of seven zinc-salts towards neuronal PC12 cells. Toxicol In Vitro 23(4):653–659
- Perreault F, Oukarroum A, Melegari SP, Matias WG, Popovic R (2012) Polymer coating of copper oxide nanoparticles increases nanoparticles uptake and toxicity in the green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Chemosphere 87(11):1388–1394
- Piccinno F, Gottschalk F, Seeger S, Nowack B (2012) Industrial production quantities and uses of ten engineered nanomaterials for Europe and the world. J Nanopart Res 14:1109–1120
- Piret JP, Jacques D, Audinot JN, Mejia J, Boilan E, Noël F, Fransolet M, Demazy C, Lucas S, Saout C, Toussaint O (2012a) Copper(II) oxide nanoparticles penetrate into HepG2 cells, exert cytotoxicity via oxidative stress and induce pro-inflammatory response. Nanoscale 4(22):7168–7184
- Piret JP, Vankoningsloo S, Mejia J, Noël F, Boilan E, Lambinon F, Zouboulis, Masereel B, Lucas S, Saout C, Toussaint O (2012b) Differential toxicity of copper (II) oxide nanoparticles of similar hydrodynamic diameter on human differentiated intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers is correlated in part to copper release and shape. Nanotoxicology 6(7):789–803
- Poynton HC, Lazorchak JM, Impellitteri CA, Smith ME, Rogers K, Patra M, Hammer KA, Allen HJ, Vulpe CD (2011) Differential gene expression in *Daphnia magna* suggests distinct modes of action and bioavailability for ZnO nanoparticles and Zn ions. Environ Sci Technol 45(2):762–768
- Poynton HC, Lazorchak JM, Impellitteri CA, Blalock BJ, Rogers K, Allen HJ, Loguinov A, Heckman JL, Govindasmawy S (2012) Toxicogenomic responses of nanotoxicity in *Daphnia magna* exposed to silver nitrate and coated silver nanoparticles. Environ Sci Technol 46(11):6288–6296
- Rallo R, Damoiseaux R, Telesca D, M\u00e4dler L, Cohen Y, Zink JI, Nel AE (2012) Use of metal oxide nanoparticle band gap to develop a predictive paradigm for oxidative stress and acute pulmonary inflammation. ACS Nano 6(5):4349–4368

- Ren X, Meng X, Chen D, Tang F, Jiao J (2005) Using silver nanoparticle to enhance current response of biosensor. Biosens Bioelectron 21(3):433–437
- Research and Markets (2012) http://www.researchandmarkets.com/ reports/2116313/the_global_market_for_zinc_oxide_nanopow ders_2012.pdf
- Ruparelia JP, Chatterjee AK, Duttagupta SP, Mukherji S (2008) Strain specificity in antimicrobial activity of silver and copper nanoparticles. Acta Biomater 4(3):707–716
- Sanderson H, Johnson DJ, Wilson CJ, Brain RA, Solomon KR (2003) Probabilistic hazard assessment of environmentally occurring pharmaceuticals toxicity to fish, daphnids and algae by ECOSAR screening. Toxicol Lett 144(3):383–395
- Sandstead HH (1995) Requirements and toxicity of essential trace elements, illustrated by zinc and copper. Am J Clin Nutr 61(3 Suppl):621S–624S
- Sargent JF (2012) Nanotechnology: A Policy Primer. http://www.fas. org/sgp/crs/misc/RL34511.pdf
- Sau TK, Rogach AL, Jäckel F, Klar TA, Feldmann J (2010) Properties and applications of colloidal nonspherical noble metal nanoparticles. Adv Mater 22(16):1805–1825
- Schrurs F, Lison D (2012) Focusing the research efforts. Nat Nanotechnol 7:546–548
- Seiffert JM, Baradez MO, Nischwitz V, Lekishvili T, Goenaga-Infante H, Marshall D (2012) Dynamic monitoring of metal oxide nanoparticle toxicity by label free impedance sensing. Chem Res Toxicol 25(1):140–152
- Serpone N, Dondi D, Albini A (2007) Inorganic and organic UV filters: their role and efficacy in sunscreens and suncare products. Inorg Chim Acta 360:794–802
- Shakibaie MR, Harati A (2004) Metal accumulation in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa occur in the form of nanoparticles on the cell surface. Iran J Biotech 2(1):55–60
- Sharifi S, Behzadi S, Laurent S, Forrest ML, Stroeve P, Mahmoudi M (2012) Toxicity of nanomaterials. Chem Soc Rev 41(6):2323–2343
- Shaw BJ, Al-Bairuty G, Handy RD (2012) Effects of waterborne copper nanoparticles and copper sulphate on rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): physiology and accumulation. Aquat Toxicol 116–117:90–101
- Shi JP, Ma CY, Xu B, Zhang HW, Yu CP (2012) Effect of light on toxicity of nanosilver to *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(7):1630–1638
- Shvedova AA, Kagan VE, Fadeel B (2010) Close encounters of the small kind: adverse effects of man-made materials interfacing with the nano-cosmos of biological systems. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 50:63–88
- Song W, Zhang J, Guo J, Zhang J, Ding F, Li L, Sun Z (2010) Role of the dissolved zinc ion and reactive oxygen species in cytotoxicity of ZnO nanoparticles. Toxicol Lett 199(3):389–397
- Sovova T, Koci V, Kochankova L (2009) Ecotoxicity of nano and bulk forms of metal oxides. In: Proceedings, NANOCON Conference, Roznov pod Radhostem. Czech Republic, pp 62–71, 20–22 October 2009
- Suresh AK, Pelletier DA, Wang W, Moon J-W, Gu B, Mortensen NP, Allison DP, Joy DC, Phelps TJ, Doktycz MJ (2010) Silver nanocrystallites: biofabrication using *Shewanella oneidensis*, and an evaluation of their comparative toxicity on gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria. Environ Sci Technol 44(13):5210–5215
- Teitzel GM, Parsek MR (2003) Heavy metal resistance of biofilm and planktonic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Appl Environ Microb 69(4):2313–2320
- Teodorovic I, Planojevic I, Knezevic P, Radak S, Nemet I (2009) Sensitivity of bacterial vs. acute Daphnia magna toxicity tests to metals. Cent Eur J Biol 4(4):482–492
- Unger C, Lück C (2012) Inhibitory effects of silver ions on Legionella pneumophila grown on agar, intracellular in Acanthamoeba

castellanii and in artificial biofilms. J Appl Microbiol 112(6):1212-1219

- Vargas-Reus MA, Memarzadeh K, Huang J, Ren GG, Allaker RP (2012) Antimicrobial activity of nanoparticulate metal oxides against peri-implantitis pathogens. Int J Antimicrob Ag 40(2):135–139
- Wang WX, Guan R (2010) Subcellular distribution of zinc in Daphnia magna and implication for toxicity. Environ Toxicol Chem 29(8):1841–1848
- Wang H, Wick RL, Xing B (2009) Toxicity of nanoparticulate and bulk ZnO, Al₂O₃ and TiO₂ to the nematode *Caenorhabditis* elegans. Environ Pollut 157(4):1171–1177
- Wang Z, Chen J, Li X, Shao J, Peijnenburg WJ (2012a) Aquatic toxicity of nanosilver colloids to different trophic organisms: contributions of particles and free silver ion. Environ Toxicol Chem 31(10):2408–2413
- Wang Z, Li N, Zhao J, White JC, Qu P, Xing B (2012b) CuO nanoparticle interaction with human epithelial cells: cellular uptake, location, export, and genotoxicity. Chem Res Toxicol 25(7):1512–1521
- Wiench K, Wohlleben W, Hisgen V, Radke K, Salinas E, Zok S, Landsiedel R (2009) Acute and chronic effects of nano- and nonnano-scale TiO₂ and ZnO particles on mobility and reproduction of the freshwater invertebrate *Daphnia magna*. Chemosphere 76(10):1356–1365
- Wilson W (2012) Consumer products inventory Project on Emerging Nanotechnologies, a project of the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars. http://www.nanotechproject.org
- Wong SW, Leung PT, Djurisić AB, Leung KM (2010) Toxicities of nano zinc oxide to five marine organisms: influences of aggregate size and ion solubility. Anal Bioanal Chem 396(2):609–618
- Wu Y, Zhou Q (2013) Silver nanoparticles cause oxidative damage and histological changes in medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) after 14 days of exposure. Environ Toxicol Chem 32(1):165–173
- Wu J, Wang L, He J, Zhu C (2012) In vitro cytotoxicity of Cu²⁺, Zn²⁺, Ag⁺ and their mixtures on primary human endometrial epithelial cells. Contraception 85(5):509–518
- Xie Y, He Y, Irwin PL, Jin T, Shi X (2011) Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of zinc oxide nanoparticles against *Campylobacter jejuni*. Appl Environ Microb 77(7):2325–2331
- Xiong D, Fang T, Yu L, Sima X, Zhu W (2011) Effects of nano-scale TiO₂, ZnO and their bulk counterparts on zebrafish: acute toxicity, oxidative stress and oxidative damage. Sci Total Environ 409(8):1444–1452
- Xu M, Li J, Iwai H, Mei Q, Fujita D, Su H, Chen H, Hanagata N (2012) Formation of nano-bio-complex as nanomaterials dispersed in a biological solution for understanding nanobiological interactions. Sci Rep 2:406
- Yang X, Gondikas AP, Marinakos SM, Auffan M, Liu J, Hsu-Kim H, Meyer JN (2012) Mechanism of silver nanoparticle toxicity is dependent on dissolved silver and surface coating in *Caeno-rhabditis elegans*. Environ Sci Technol 46(2):1119–1127
- Yilmaz EI (2003) Metal tolerance and biosorption capacity of Bacillus circulans strain EB1. Res Microbiol 154(6):409–415
- Yu LP, Fang T, Xiong DW, Zhu WT, Sima XF (2011) Comparative toxicity of nano-ZnO and bulk ZnO suspensions to zebrafish and the effects of sedimentation, OH production and particle dissolution in distilled water. J Environ Monit 13(7):1975–1982
- Zhang L, Mu X, Fu J, Zhou Z (2007) In vitro cytotoxicity assay with selected chemicals using human cells to predict target-organ toxicity of liver and kidney. Toxicol In Vitro 21(4):734–740
- Zhang H, Ji Z, Xia T, Meng H, Low-Kam C, Liu R, Pokhrel S, Lin S, Wang X, Liao YP, Wang M, Li L, Rallo R, Damoiseaux R, Telesca D, M\u00e4dler L, Cohen Y, Zink JI, Nel AE (2012a) Use of metal oxide nanoparticle band gap to develop a predictive

paradigm for oxidative stress and acute pulmonary inflammation. ACS Nano 6(5):4349-4368

- Zhang J, Song W, Guo J, Zhang J, Sun Z, Ding F, Gao M (2012b) Toxic effect of different ZnO particles on mouse alveolar macrophages. J Hazard Mater 219–220:148–155
- Zhao CM, Wang WX (2012) Importance of surface coatings and soluble silver in silver nanoparticles toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. Nanotoxicology 4:361–370
- Zhao Z, Sakagami Y, Osaka T (1998) Relationship between residual metal ions in a solution and the inhibitory capability of the metal ions for pathogenic bacterial growth. Bull Chem Soc Jpn 71:939–945
- Zhao J, Wang Z, Liu X, Xie X, Zhang K, Xing B (2011) Distribution of CuO nanoparticles in juvenile carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) and their potential toxicity. J Hazard Mater 197:304–310

- Zhao HZ, Lu GH, Xia J, Jin S (2012) Toxicity of Nanoscale CuO and ZnO to *Daphnia magna*. Chem Res Chin U 28(2):209–213
- Zhu X, Zhu L, Duan Z, Qi R, Li Y, Lang Y (2008) Comparative toxicity of several metal oxide nanoparticle aqueous suspensions to Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) early developmental stage. J Environ Sci Heal A 43(3):278–284
- Zhu X, Zhu L, Yongsheng C, Tian S (2009) Acute toxicities of six manufactured nanomaterial suspensions to Daphnia magna. J Nanopart Res 11:67–75
- Zook JM, Halter MD, Cleveland D, Long SE (2012) Disentangling the effects of polymer coatings on silver nanoparticle agglomeration, dissolution, and toxicity to determine mechanisms of nanotoxicity. J Nanopart Res 14:1165

PUBLICATION II

Juganson, K., Ivask, A., Blinova, I., Mortimer, M., Kahru A. (2015). NanoE-Tox: New and in-depth database concerning ecotoxicity of nanomaterials. *Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology 6*, 1788-1804.

Copyright © The Author(s) 2015. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence which permits any use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and the source are credited.



NanoE-Tox: New and in-depth database concerning ecotoxicity of nanomaterials

Katre Juganson^{*1,2}, Angela Ivask^{1,3}, Irina Blinova¹, Monika Mortimer^{1,4} and Anne Kahru¹

Full Research Paper

Address:

¹Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia, ²Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia, ³Mawson Institute, University of South Australia, Mawson Lakes, 5095 South Australia, Australia and ⁴Bren School of Environmental Science & Management, University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, California 93106-5131, United States

Email: Katre Juganson^{*} - katre.juganson@kbfi.ee

* Corresponding author

Keywords:

nanoparticles; physico-chemical properties; REACH; Thomson Reuters Web of Science; toxicity mechanisms

Abstract

The increasing production and use of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) inevitably results in their higher concentrations in the environment. This may lead to undesirable environmental effects and thus warrants risk assessment. The ecotoxicity testing of a wide variety of ENMs rapidly evolving in the market is costly but also ethically questionable when bioassays with vertebrates are conducted. Therefore, alternative methods, e.g., models for predicting toxicity mechanisms of ENMs based on their physico-chemical properties (e.g., quantitative (nano)structure-activity relationships, QSARs/QNARs), should be developed. While the development of such models relies on good-quality experimental toxicity data, most of the available data in the literature even for the same test species are highly variable. In order to map and analyse the state of the art of the existing nanoecotoxicological information suitable for QNARs, we created a database NanoE-Tox that is available as Supporting Information File 2. The database is based on existing literature on ecotoxicology of eight ENMs with different chemical composition: carbon nanotubes (CNTs), fullerenes, silver (Ag), titanium dioxide (TiO₂), zinc oxide (ZnO), cerium dioxide (CeO₂), copper oxide (CuO), and iron oxide (FeO_x; Fe₂O₃, Fe₃O₄). Altogether, NanoE-Tox database consolidates data from 224 articles and lists altogether 1,518 toxicity values (EC₅₀/LC₅₀/ NOEC) with corresponding test conditions and physico-chemical parameters of the ENMs as well as reported toxicity mechanisms and uptake of ENMs in the organisms. 35% of the data in NanoE-Tox concerns ecotoxicity of Ag NPs, followed by TiO₂ (22%), CeO₂ (13%), and ZnO (10%). Most of the data originates from studies with crustaceans (26%), bacteria (17%), fish (13%), and algae (11%). Based on the median toxicity values of the most sensitive organism (data derived from three or more articles) the toxicity order was as follows: $Ag > ZnO > CuO > CeO_2 > CNTs > TiO_2 > FeO_x$. We believe NanoE-Tox database contains valuable information for ENM environmental hazard estimation and development of models for predicting toxic potential of ENMs.

Open Acces

Beilstein J. Nanotechnol. 2015, 6, 1788–1804. doi:10.3762/bjnano.6.183

Received: 31 March 2015 Accepted: 30 July 2015 Published: 25 August 2015

This article is part of the Thematic Series "Nanoinformatics for environmental health and biomedicine".

Guest Editor: R. Liu

© 2015 Juganson et al; licensee Beilstein-Institut. License and terms: see end of document.

Introduction

The production and use of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) in consumer products is increasing rapidly [1]. As of March 20, 2015 there were more than 1,800 products listed in Consumer Products Inventory [2]. According to this inventory, the most abundant ENMs used in consumer products are silver (438 products), titanium (107), carbon (90), silica (81), zinc (38) and gold (24) with the main applications in antimicrobial protection (381 products), coatings (188) and health products (142). The number of published articles could serve as a good indicator of the potential future use of ENMs. A search performed on March 19, 2015 in Thomson Reuters Web of Science (WoS) with the keywords chosen based on Aitken et al. [3] and Bondarenko et al. [4] and listed in Table S1 (Supporting Information File 1) revealed that the majority of the papers concerned the applications of carbon nanotubes (36,609 papers, 40%), followed by Ag nanoparticles (NPs; 16,970, 19%), TiO₂ NPs (11,802, 13%), and iron oxide NPs (10,479, 11%) while the most common fields of application were sensors (28,027 papers, 31%), catalysis (10,435, 11%) and drug delivery (8,838, 10%) (Figure 1, Table S1, Supporting Information File 1). However, the exact production volumes of ENMs are not publicly available [4]. Piccinno et al. estimated based on a survey sent to companies producing and using ENMs that the most produced ENMs were TiO2 (550-5,500 t/year), SiO2 (55-55,000 t/year), AlO_x (55-5,500 t/year), ZnO

(55–550 t/year), carbon nanotubes (CNT; 55–550 t/year), FeO_x (5.5–5,500 t/year), CeO_x and Ag (both 5.5–550 t/year), fullerenes and quantum dots (both 0.6-5.5 t/year) [5]. Warningly, the increasing production and use of ENMs leads inevitably to their higher concentrations in the environment. Thus, the risks caused by ENMs both to humans and the environment need to be assessed [6].

Risk assessment of all the ENMs in the market would require the sacrifice of enormous amounts of test organisms of diverse range [7]. Therefore, there is a need to refine, reduce or replace (3R's) animal testing and develop alternative risk evaluation methods [7,8]. Recently, the categorisation of ENMs based on their physico-chemical properties, exposure and use scenarios and biological effects was suggested as a strategy to facilitate regulatory decision making while minimising time-consuming and costly in vivo studies [9]. In addition to high-throughput screening tests, modelling can provide information for rapid assessment of the toxicity mechanisms of ENMs [10]. For instance, models based on dynamic energy budget (DEB) theory have been developed for predicting toxicity mechanisms of ENMs [11]. Also, quantitative (nano)structure-activity relationship (QSARs/QNARs) models have great potential for predicting the harmful effects of ENMs from their physical, chemical, and morphological properties that can be measured



Figure 1: Proposed fields of application of engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) according to the publications in Thomson Reuters WoS. Keywords were selected from the review by Bondarenko et al. [4]. Numbers below each application category indicate the number and share of papers retrieved. The numerical data are presented in Table S1 (Supporting Information File 1). The bibliometric data search was performed in Thomson Reuters WoS on March 19, 2015.
experimentally or computed based on the ENMs structure [12]. Development of in silico methods relies on good-quality experimental data on ENM toxicity as the set of parameters which determine the toxic potential of each type of ENMs in specific test species/taxa is largely unknown [13].

In order to relate the toxic effects of ENMs to their physicochemical properties and reveal the data gaps, the existing data have to be carefully collected and analysed. One increasingly popular approach in systematically collecting and organising available data on nanomaterials is creating databases. In 2012, Hristozov et al. emphasised that the available data on nanomaterials in environmental, health and safety databases and online chemical databases were very scarce [14]. Recently, a databases working group was established in the framework of European Union NanoSafety Cluster [15] which highlights the importance of development of in-depth databases on ENMs. In addition, nanotoxicity-related databases are developed and supported at national level in EU. For instance, in Germany an application-based nanomaterial database, which includes information on potential toxicological effects of ENMs, has been created in the DaNa project [16,17]. In Denmark, a database that focuses on potential risks of ENM containing products, "The Nanodatabase", has been developed [18]. The latter lists currently 1,425 products and introduces NanoRiskCat that evaluates ENMs risk according to potential exposure and hazard potential of these ENMs to humans and environment [19]. However, the risk estimations are derived from the available literature on the effects of nanomaterials but not on the actual risk assessment of the specific ENM-containing products. Therefore, the risk levels reported in the database do not account for concentrations or the physico-chemical properties of the specific ENMs used in the products. Independent online databases containing nanotoxicological information have also been created in other countries outside Europe. For instance, NanoToxdb: A database on Nanomaterial Toxicity [20] that is by description a comprehensive database containing information on nanomaterials toxicity to Daphnia magna. However, it contains altogether only 32 EC50 values for 10 different ENMs and contains no references for the toxicity data. Moreover, no information on physico-chemical properties of ENMs except primary particle size has been included in the database and regarding testing conditions, only the test duration is reported in a few cases. As a different approach, some databases, e.g., NHECD (Knowledge on the Health, Safety and Environmental Impact of Nanoparticles) [21] and Hazardous Substances Data Bank [22] comprise nanotoxicological papers.

In this communication we present a nanoecotoxicological database based on existing literature data on ecotoxicity of selected ENMs. In addition to quantitative toxicity data (e.g., EC_{50}

values) information on physico-chemical properties of ENMs and testing conditions as well as on reported mechanisms and uptake of ENMs in the organisms was compiled. All the collected data were analysed to give an overview of ENM toxicity across different studied species. The following ENMs based on production volumes, application in consumer products and technological potential were included in the database: carbon nanotubes (CNTs), fullerenes, silver (Ag), titanium dioxide (TiO₂), zinc oxide (ZnO), cerium dioxide (CeO₂), copper oxide (CuO), and iron oxide (FeO₁; Fe₂O₃, Fe₃O₄). Furthermore, all these ENMs, except CuO, are listed by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Working Party on Manufactured Nanomaterials as 'commercially relevant' representative manufactured nanomaterials to be investigated under the OECD sponsorship programme [23]. We believe the database presented in this paper contains valuable information for ENM environmental hazard estimation and development of models, including valid OSAR models, for predicting toxic potential of ENMs.

Methodology

The process of creating the nanoecotoxicological database can be roughly divided into three steps: selecting keywords for literature search, performing the literature search in Thomson Reuters WoS, collecting and classification of information from retrieved papers into a database. As the selection of keywords is critical in this type of data collection, all the keywords used in this study are listed in Table 1. To find different possible types

 Table 1: Keywords used for bibliometric data search in Thomson Reuters WoS database.

ENM	Keywords
Ag	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND silver) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND Ag)
CeO ₂	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND cerium *oxide) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND ceria) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND CeO2)
CNT	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND carbon nanotu*) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND CNT) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND *CNT)
CuO	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND copper oxide) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND CuO)
FeO _x	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND iron *oxide) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND Fe3O4) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND Fe2O3)
fullerene	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND fulleren*)
TiO ₂	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND titanium *oxide) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND titania) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND TiO2)
ZnO	(nano* AND ecotoxic* AND zinc oxide) OR (nano* AND ecotoxic* AND ZnO)

of 'nano' materials, i.e., nanoparticles, nanomaterials, nanotubes, a truncated search term "nano*" was selected. In order to give equal weight to all ecotoxicological test species, the restricting keyword "ecotoxic*" was used instead of organismspecific keywords. Thus, inevitably some of the ecotoxicological data on ENMs has been unintentionally excluded from the database because not all articles reporting studies on nanotoxicity to environmentally relevant organisms necessarily use terms "ecotoxic", "ecotoxicity" or "ecotoxicology". When performing the search, truncated names, molecular formulas and/or common abbreviations of the 8 NPs were used (Table 1).

Thomson Reuters WoS database - one of the largest international and multidisciplinary databases available, covering the most comprehensive list of journals published in English - was used for the bibliometric data search. Using WoS (all databases, all years) for the keyword searches enabled us to compare the data collected into NanoE-Tox with analyses performed in our previous reviews [4,8,24,25]. The search was performed on a regular basis from October 2012 to January 6, 2015. From each paper that was retrieved using the keywords specified in Table 1, maximum available information on physico-chemical properties of ENMs and the toxicity data were extracted and tabulated. It is important to note that in the earlier papers dating back 10 years from now, the NPs characterisation was often limited to their primary size. In more recent nanotoxicological articles, set of parameters required for characterisation of ENMs generally include chemical composition, purity, primary particle size, shape, surface area, coating, agglomeration and/or aggregation, hydrodynamic size in the aqueous test medium, surface charge, stability and solubility of ENMs. For the current NanoE-Tox database (Supporting Information File 2) we collected the following properties of the pristine NPs: chemical composition, origin (producer/in-house synthesised), shape, coating, primary size (diameter and length if applicable), impurities, surface area, and other reported observations. For the characterisation of ENMs in the test environment the following information was registered: test medium, hydrodynamic size of NPs in the test environment (including the method used for analysis), dissolution (if applicable), and surface charge (ζ -potential). Concerning the toxicity testing, we tabulated the following information: test organism, test medium, test duration, temperature, illumination and other reported conditions, toxicity endpoint/measure (e.g., EC50, LC50, NOEC), obtained toxicity value, and other reported observations. In addition, each paper was analysed to find information concerning (i) specific mechanism of toxicity of the studied ENM (Table S2, Supporting Information File 1) (ii) uptake in the organisms, and (iii) accumulation in cells, tissues and organs (Table S3, Supporting Information File 1). All the collected data were compiled into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet which was used

for creating a database on ecotoxicology of engineered nanomaterials, NanoE-Tox (Supporting Information File 2).

Results and Discussion

During the recent years, the number of peer-reviewed papers related to nanoecotoxicology has increased exponentially. According to Thomson Reuters WoS, 770 nanoecotoxicological peer-reviewed papers that corresponded to keywords "nano* AND ecotoxic*" were published between 2006 and March 2015. The rapidly increasing number of scientific publications on ecotoxicity of ENMs over the past decade, has inspired several review articles summarising the existing data in the field [4,8,13,24-31]. However, each review has focused on specific aspects and parameters of ENMs testing; therefore, it is difficult to get an overview of all the factors (and their values) that might influence the toxicity of ENMs. We have previously collected and analysed ecotoxicological data for seven different NPs (TiO₂, ZnO, CuO, Ag, SWCNTs, MWCNTs and C₆₀ fullerenes) and seven organism groups representing different trophic levels (bacteria, algae, crustaceans, ciliates, fish, yeasts and nematodes). Altogether 77 toxicity values were analysed [24]. In our recent review [4], we summarised the recent research on toxicological and ecotoxicological findings for Ag, CuO and ZnO NPs including more than 300 toxicity values. In addition to ecotoxicological test species the toxic effects of studied NPs toward mammalian cells in vitro were reviewed [4]. The bibliographic search performed in the current study by using keywords listed in Table 1 resulted in nearly 500 individual papers. All the papers were thoroughly studied for ecotoxicity data. Unfortunately, many of the retrieved papers either did not concern the NP of interest or were review articles. In addition, the importance of including synonyms in keywords to increase the number of relevant articles in search results was apparent (Table 1). For example, the search using keywords "nano* AND ecotoxic* AND cerium *oxide" resulted in 30 papers, whereas "nano* AND ecotoxic* AND CeO2" resulted in 34 papers; remarkably, only 20 papers overlapped. The latter example was also true for other ENMs.

Analysis of the database: general overview of the sources and contents of the papers

The search in Thomson Reuters WoS using the time span of "all years" indicated that all the papers about ecotoxicity of ENMs have been published within the last ten years. Almost half of the papers retrieved from the initial bibliographic search, 224 of 500 articles from 66 journals, contained relevant nanotoxicological information and were included in NanoE-Tox database (Supporting Information File 2). From these studies 1,518 toxicity values were recorded with test conditions on toxicity testing and physico-chemical parameters of NPs linked to the toxicity data (further designated as 'database entry'). Out of 224





scientific papers that were selected for the database the largest number of papers concerned TiO₂ and Ag (80 and 71, respectively) followed by ZnO and CNTs (35 and 34 papers). For CeO₂, fullerenes and CuO, 15–18 papers were found and the lowest number of papers was retrieved for FeO_x (Figure 2a). From the 1,518 toxicity values (entries) in the database, the highest percentage (35%) concerned Ag followed by TiO₂ (22%), CeO₂ (13%), ZnO (10%), CNTs (9%), CuO (6%), fullerenes (4%) and FeO_x (1%) (Figure 2b).

Chronologically, the first nanoecotoxicological studies included in the database were published in 2006 and concerned TiO2 NPs and CNTs (Figure 3). The first papers on ecotoxicity of fullerenes and ZnO NPs were published in 2007 followed by CeO2, CuO and Ag NPs at 2008. While ecotoxicological effects of TiO2 are still extensively studied, the interest in ecotoxicology of CNTs has slightly decreased. Notably, the most rapid increase rate appears to be in the number of published papers about nanosilver (Figure 3). The information on ecotoxicity of FeO_x particles started to emerge in 2009, i.e., later than for the other selected NPs (Figure 3). These findings are coherent with the literature survey by Kahru and Ivask [8] who showed that according to the citation pattern, the focus of the environmentrelated research shifted towards nanotoxicology by 2005 and the 'pioneering' NPs in environmental safety studies were CNTs, fullerenes, TiO₂, SiO₂ and ZnO. The analysis of the journals that contributed to the database revealed that more than half of the relevant papers originated from seven journals: Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (29 papers), Environmental Science & Technology (25), Chemosphere (18), Environmental Pollution (12), Aquatic Toxicology (12), Science of the Total Environment (11), and Journal of Hazardous Materials (10 papers) (Table S4, Supporting Information File 1).



Figure 3: Evolution of nanoecotoxicological information about eight different nanomaterials according to the number of papers in NanoE-Tox database. The database entries were selected based on bibliometric data search in Thomson Reuters WoS using the keywords as indicated in Table 1 as of January 6, 2015.

Analysis of the database: physico-chemical characterisation of nanomaterials

The physico-chemical characteristics of ENMs included in the NanoE-tox database can be divided to intrinsic properties and properties that are specific to the test environment. The intrinsic characteristics are: name, CAS number, origin, shape, initial coating or functionalization, primary size, possible impurities, surface area and other observations, and the test environmentspecific characteristics are: media, size, dissolution and zeta potential (Supporting Information File 2). Figure 4 illustrates the distribution of the data on ENM characteristics in NanoE-



Tox database. Analysis of the papers revealed that in 99% of the entries the origin of the ENMs was known and 80% of the nanomaterials were obtained from commercial sources (Figure 4a). The most common source for all ENMs was Sigma Aldrich, 40% of all commercial particles were obtained from there. TiO₂ particles were mostly purchased from Evonik Industries (former Evonik-Degussa).

Many authors have emphasised that understanding the real risks of ENMs is a challenging task as there are several parameters that might have an influence on the biological effects of ENM [8,24,32-35]. Besides the chemical composition, the most important parameter determining the toxicity of NPs is their small size and size-dependent toxicity has been hypothesised in various papers [36,37]. Indeed, particle size has been considered as one of the most important physico-chemical parameter also in the papers collected in this study as this parameter was reported for 93% of the entries in the database. For all rod-

shaped particles, also their length was reported. However, the results showed that most of the particles that were used in the 224 selected papers, were rather heterogeneous as in many cases the primary size was reported as a size range. According to Burello and Worth [38] ENMs with a diameter larger than 20-30 nm act often as bulk materials; thus, the "true nanoeffects" are attributable to ENMs with smaller size. Indeed, in a recent paper on toxicity of different sizes of Ag NPs to bacteria, yeast, algae, crustaceans and mammalian cells in vitro Ivask et al. [39] showed that the toxicity of 20, 40, 60 and 80 nm monodisperse citrate-coated Ag NPs could fully be explained by released Ag ions whereas 10 nm Ag NPs proved more toxic than predicted. Analysis of the data in NanoE-Tox database revealed that the particles were smaller than 10 nm in 17% of the entries and in the size range of 10-30 nm in 45% of the entries (Figure 4a). Therefore, more than half of the studies have been performed using ENMs that should have size-dependent nanoeffects but as in most cases the NPs were polydisperse (i.e., had a broad size range) these effects were not often observed. Specific surface area that is closely related to the size of ENMs was reported in 37% of the entries (Figure 4a).

Another parameter that has been hypothesised to affect NP toxicity is morphology. For instance, some studies have shown that rod-shaped ENMs or triangular nanoplates could be more toxic than spherical ones [40-42]. However, the shape of ENMs was mentioned only in 33% of the entries and most of the experiments in the collected articles were performed with spherical particles (Figure 4a).

In addition to particle size and morphology, surface coating and/or functionalisation has been considered as an important parameter determining the biological effects of ENMs. For example, it has been discussed that coating on nanosilver plays an important role in Ag NPs toxicity [4,43,44]. However, information on initial coating or functionalisation of NPs was provided only in less than half of the entries. This is alarming because the surface chemistry of ENMs dictates their interactions with biological molecules and cells [45]. Altogether, 44% of the entries in the database contained information on NP coating: 29% of these were coated and 15% uncoated. ENMs were most often modified with citrate (31% of all coatings) and polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP; 24% of all coatings) (Figure 4a). The high percentage of coated NPs in the database can be explained by the fact that nanosilver which constituted 35% of the database entries is frequently functionalised with different coatings, polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) and citrate being the most widely used.

A parameter closely related to NP surface properties is surface charge. It has been shown that positively charged ENMs tend to attach to the cellular surface that is negatively charged and these interactions may cause cell membrane damage [13,46]. In most studies ζ -potential is used as an indication of the surface charge of ENMs and NPs are considered to be stable in aqueous suspension if the ζ -potential is greater than ±30 mV [47]. In NanoE-Tox database, ζ -potential was reported in 40% of the entries. Most of the studies were performed with negatively charged ENMs (8% less than -30 mV, 25% -30...0 mV), 5% of the experiments were done with ENMs that had ζ -potential in the range of 0...+30 mV, and only 1% of the studies used stable positively charged ENMs (greater than +30 mV) (Figure 4b).

Another important parameter affecting toxicity of ENMs is the presence of impurities, for example presence of 'seeding metals' (catalysts) in CNTs that may count for observed toxic effects [48]. Purity of ENMs was reported in 34% of the entries; 65% of these cases mentioned purity as a percentage and 35% of the entries identified residual elements. Other reported obser-

vations, the most common parameters being crystal structure, density, and absorbance, were specified in 33% of the entries (Figure 4a).

Both in toxicological tests as well as in natural environments, the bioavailability and toxicity of ENMs depends on their fate in respective conditions [24,49]. In aquatic environment, ENMs tend to form agglomerates that might lead to their precipitation from the water phase; on the other hand, metal-based ENMs can release potentially toxic metal ions due to dissolution [50]. Cu²⁺, Zn²⁺ and Ag⁺, which can easily be released from respective ENMs are very toxic to a variety of aquatic organisms already at concentrations of milligrams and even micrograms per litre [4]. Analysis of the database entries (Figure 4b) showed that the most often reported ENM characteristic in the toxicity tests was hydrodynamic size (59% of all the entries) that usually (in 82% of the entries) was measured using dynamic light scattering (DLS) method. The data on hydrodynamic sizes indicated that ENMs tend to agglomerate in test conditions as 69% of the reported sizes were larger than 100 nm (in comparison, nearly all respective primary sizes were less than 100 nm). Dissolution of ENMs in toxicity tests was reported in 33% of all the entries. From all the studies using potentially soluble NPs (Ag, ZnO, CuO, CeO2 and FeOx) only half (51%) had measured the solubility of the particles.

As emphasised above, one of the goals of generating experimental nanotoxicological data is to apply them in model development that would allow for the comparison of physico-chemical properties of ENMs with their biological effects (QNAR models). It has been proposed that the QNAR models may even partially replace the expensive animal tests for evaluation of ENM related hazards [13]. Currently, there are a few QNAR modelling studies available for NPs [51]. However, these studies are based on relatively limited set of experimental data and therefore, applicable only for a small range of ENMs and organisms. Thus, in order to create a model with reasonable predictive power, several physico-chemical properties as well as data on a variety of NPs have to be included into the modelling to correlate the properties with toxic effects [25]. To evaluate whether the data in NanoE-Tox database might be suitable for (QNAR-)modelling, we analysed how many physico-chemical parameters of ENMs that could later be compared with the toxicological data were reported in each study. Nine physico-chemical parameters-shape, coating, primary size, impurities, surface area, other reported observations, size in the test, dissolution, surface charge (ζ -potential)—were analysed for the rate of being measured, i.e., how many of these were reported in one entry. In most of the studies, 2-6 of these parameters were reported (Figure 4c). Analysis of the data by year of publication revealed that despite of increasing number of nanotoxicological articles being published each year, some of these still report only up to three parameters of ENM. On the other hand, there were no studies where all nine selected physico-chemical properties were explored, and in only 9% of the studies 7–8 parameters were reported. Hence, although the ecotoxicological data on NPs are rapidly increasing, there is still a shortage of accompanying information concerning physicochemical properties of ENMs that may limit the use of nano(eco)toxicological data for QNARs.

Analysis of the database: ecotoxicological data

According to the European Union (EU) regulation on Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), the potential ecotoxicological effect of all chemical substances (including ENMs) that are produced in a volume of more than one tonne per year and sold in the EU must be evaluated. The amount of tests required depends on the production volume. If it exceeds 1 t/year, short-term tests with aquatic invertebrates (preferred species is Daphnia) and plants (algae is preferred) must be conducted. In case of the production volume over 10 t/year additional short-term tests with fish and studies of activated sludge respiration must be performed. Aforementioned aquatic studies must be performed also as long-term experiments for substances produced over 100 t/year; in addition, early life stage toxicity tests on fish, short-term toxicity tests on fish embryo and sac-fry stages and juvenile growth tests on fish must be carried out. With production over 100 t/year also terrestrial tests, short-term toxicity to invertebrates and plants and effects on soil microorganisms, must be performed. Finally, if the production volume for a certain substance exceeds 1,000 t/year, long-term terrestrial toxicity tests must be performed with invertebrates, plants, sediment organisms and birds in addition to all the previously mentioned aquatic and terrestrial studies [52].

To evaluate the compatibility of the toxicological data collected to NanoE-Tox database with the regulatory requirements, we collected the following data: type of test organism, test media, test duration and temperature, illumination conditions, test endpoint, toxicity measure and value. Also specific mechanisms of toxicity and accumulation of NPs in the cells, tissues or organs, and other observations were noted.

Organisms used for evaluation of biological effects of ENMs

Though the exact production volumes of ENMs are unknown, the estimated production of several ENMs exceeds the set 1 t/year limit [5]. Thus, according to legislation, several tests have to be conducted to bring these ENMs to the market. Organism-wise analysis of NanoE-Tox database revealed that

information about effects of selected ENMs is available for 116 different test species (Table S5). Most of the experiments have been performed with water flea Daphnia magna (337 entries), followed by bacterium Escherichia coli (120 entries), unicellular alga Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata (107 entries), fish Danio rerio (66 entries), naturally luminescent bacterium Vibrio fischeri (44 entries), and nematode Caenorhabditis elegans (41 entries). In summary, by far the most often used test organisms were crustaceans constituting approximately one third (500/1,518) of all the tested species (Figure 5, Table S5, Supporting Information File 1). The abundance of toxicity data in crustaceans is likely derived from the mandatory reporting of these data according to REACH legislation as stated above. On the other hand, the amount of information about the effects of ENMs on algae - another mandatory test for REACH - is much more limited. With the keywords used in this study (Table 1), no information was found on algal toxicity of fullerenes and iron oxide and only one study evaluated the effect of CuO NPs on algae (Figure 5). The latter indicates that even if there are more publications on algal toxicity of ENMs, which were not retrieved in this study, the effects of ENMs on algae have been poorly studied. The same applies also to articles on effects of ENMs on fish. In NanoE-Tox database, there are no studies on the effect of CuO NPs on fish and only one study reported the effect of CeO2 NPs and two studies showed the effect of fullerenes and FeO_x NPs to fish. Interestingly, toxicity tests with plants have been conducted with all 8 NPs. While relatively many studies have been performed with bacteria, the majority of them consider the effects towards potentially pathogenic bacterial strains, e.g., Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus (Table S5, Supporting Information File 1), which is likely driven by the important application area of some types of ENMs (TiO₂, ZnO, CuO, Ag) as antimicrobials [4,53]. About 16% of the entries in the database regard test organisms other than crustaceans, algae, fish, plants and bacteria. Those organisms included yeasts, protists, amphibians, bivalves, cnidarians, echinoderms, insects, nematodes, rotifers, snails and worms (Table S5, Supporting Information File 1). Hence, quite a wide range of test organisms has already been included in the evaluation of biological effects of ENMs. This certainly increases environmental relevance of these studies and the NanoE-Tox database.

Environmentally relevant test conditions

Recently, it has been highlighted that though most of the ENMs end up in the environment, relatively small amount of studies have been conducted in conditions relevant to the nature [54-56]. This was also reflected by the data collected into NanoE-Tox: 79% of the studies were performed in various artificial test media and only 15% in natural waters and 5% in soils, sludge or



sediments. Generally, the test conditions were relatively well reported in the majority of the analysed papers: the time of exposure (test duration) was reported in nearly all cases, while the test temperature was documented in more than 90% of the entries and information about illumination (illumination conditions/dark) was mentioned in 75% of the entries.

Toxicity endpoints used

The toxicity values for ENMs, irrespective of the endpoint, were based on nominal concentrations of ENMs. As expected, in most of the studies (77% of the entries) the toxicological endpoint was viability (e.g., mortality, immobilisation, growth inhibition, luminescence/fluorescence inhibition) while the effects on viability were classically expressed as half-effective (EC₅₀), half-inhibitory (IC₅₀), or half-lethal (LC₅₀) concentrations. 28% of the entries reported EC50 values, 10% LC50 values, 20% of the studies reported the concentration that did not exhibit any effect to the test organisms, i.e., NOEC (no observed effect concentration) values. However, some studies did not report any classical toxicity values because only one or two concentrations of NPs were tested by the authors; that did not allow for the establishment of a dose-response curve and, thus, calculations of E(L)C values. In addition, some papers considered the effect of ENMs on reproduction or studied possible malformations caused by ENMs that would be difficult to use for modelling purposes. As a result, the data that could be used as comparative inputs for models to evaluate the ecotoxicologial effects of ENMs is fairly limited in the database.

Analysis of the data consolidated into NanoE-Tox

Nano(eco)toxicological studies have usually two main aims: (i) the assessment of the toxic potential of ENMs, and (ii) the elucidation of the mechanism of toxic action [4,25]. In the following sections we will describe how NanoE-Tox database addresses these aims.

Toxicity of engineered nanomaterials

According to EU's regulation on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures (CLP) [57], chemical substances can be categorised as acutely or chronically toxic based on the results of standardised toxicity tests (reviewed by Crane et al. [58]) with fish (96 h), crustaceans (48 h) or algae (72 or 96 h). While by legislation acute toxicity has only one category (E(L)C₅₀ of the most sensitive organism ≤ 1 mg/L), chronic toxicity can be divided into four sub-categories $(E(L)C_{50} \le 1 \text{ mg/L}; E(L)C_{50} > 1 \text{ to } \le 10 \text{ mg/L}; E(L)C_{50} > 10 \text{ to}$ $\leq 100 \text{ mg/L}$; E(L)C₅₀ > water solubility) that incorporate the degradation rate and bioconcentration factor of the chemical substance. Unfortunately, the latter two are not commonly determined in ecotoxicological studies; thus, in NanoE-Tox database bioconcentration factor has been reported only for FeO_r in fish larvae [59] and TiO₂ in coral tissue [60] and in crustaceans [61]. In order to give an overview of the ecotoxicity data collected for NanoE-Tox database (Figure 6), the hazard classification of ENMs was adjusted accordingly: acutely very toxic and potentially chronically very toxic $(E(L)C_{50} \le 1 \text{ mg/L})$, potentially chronically toxic $(E(L)C_{50} > 1 \text{ mg/L})$ to ≤ 10 mg/L), potentially chronically harmful (E(L)C₅₀ > 10 to \leq 100 mg/L) and not classified (E(L)C₅₀ > 100). Figure 6 depicts median values of all EC₅₀, LC₅₀ and IC₅₀ values with minimum and maximum values from NanoE-Tox database. Median EC₅₀ values were calculated because these are the most precise estimates derived from the concentration–effect curve [62] and also, median EC₅₀ values are often used in the QSAR analysis [63]. Analysis of the sources of the median values showed that most of the data in one data point originated from one (red frame, 19 points) or two (orange frame, 10 points) papers, only 18 median values were derived from 3 or more papers (green frame).

Based on the median toxicity values of the most sensitive organisms (i.e., theoretically representing the weakest link in the ecosystem), the toxicity of selected ENMs decreased in the order $Ag > ZnO > FeO_r > CuO > fullerenes > CNTs > TiO_2 >$ CeO2. However, when toxicity values that were derived from three or more papers were considered, the order slightly changed: $Ag > ZnO > CuO > CeO_2 > CNTs > TiO_2 > FeO_r$. The median values reported here are in general agreement with those published previously [4,24,26] (Table 2). However, such evaluation where the median values are derived across all different test conditions and test species is not in accordance with the current legislation. In order to be coherent with legislation, we next analysed the toxicity data obtained in standard tests with fish (96 h), daphnids (48 h) and algae (72 or 96 h) (Figure 7), i.e., the mandatory tests required under CLP [57] for classification of substances, and applied the same hazard

ENM	E(L,I)C ₅₀ range in NanoE-Tox	E(L,I)C ₅₀ range in other reviews
Ag	0.01–245 mg/L	0.01–38 mg/L [4] 0.04–39 mg/L [24]
CeO ₂	8.5–46.6 mg/L	0.1–100 mg/L [26]
CNTs	4.5–338 mg/L	1.0–500 mg/L [24]
CuO	0.32-569 mg/L	2.1–100 mg/L [4] 0.71–127 mg/L [24]
FeO _x	0.23–240 mg/L	#N/A ^a
fullerenes	1.5–11 mg/L	0.25–100 mg/L [24]
TiO ₂	6.8–589 mg/L	39–11987 mg/L [24]
ZnO	0.05–3376 mg/L	0.08–121 mg/L [4] 0.055–97.4 mg/L [24]

Table 2: Comparison of the median $E(L,I)C_{50}$ values for different species in NanoE-Tox database and previous reviews [4,24,26].

ranking criteria as was used in Figure 6. This analysis showed that the most toxic ENM was Ag that could be classified as "acutely very toxic" and "potentially chronically very toxic". ZnO and FeO_x were also ranked as "acutely very toxic" and "potentially chronically very toxic" and "potentially chronically very toxic" although less toxic than Ag. It is worth mentioning that the classification of FeO_x NPs was based on only one study (entry in the database), warranting further research of FeO_x NPs for more accurate ecotoxicity evaluation. According to median $E(L)C_{50}$ values from the standard toxicity tests, CuO and CeO₂ NPs, CNTs and fullerenes



Figure 6: NanoE-Tox database: toxicity of selected nanoparticles to different organisms (data filtered by keyword ecotoxic*). Median $E(L_1)C_{50}$ values \pm minimum and maximum values. Colours of the frames surrounding the letters indicate the number of papers from which the respective data originates: red = 1 paper, orange = 2 papers, green > 3 papers. The whiskers indicate the variability of the data. Note the logarithmic scale of y-axis. The $E(L_1)C_{50}$ values used to derive the median values are from 113 papers and usually based on nominal concentration of the compound [44,55,56,61,64-172]. The toxicity ranking is indicated with the coloured background: $E(L)C_{50} > 1 \text{ mg/L} - \text{acutely very toxic, potentially chronically toxic (orange); <math>E(L)C_{50} > 10 \text{ to } 100 \text{ mg/L} - \text{potentially chronically toxic (orange); } E(L)C_{50} > 10 \text{ to } 100 \text{ mg/L} - \text{potentially chronically harmful (yellow);} E(L)C_{50} > 10 \text{ to } 100 \text{ mot classified (green)}. The database entries were selected based on bibliometric data search in Thomson Reuters WoSTM using the keywords as indicated in Table 1 as of January 6, 2015.$

fell into the category of "potentially chronically toxic" and TiO_2 NPs were ranked as "potentially chronically harmful".



Figure 1: Classification of selected nanoparticles according to European Union CLP legislation based on their toxicity to fish (96 h), daphnids (48 h) and algae (72 or 96 h). Toxicity values were extracted from Figure 6. Classification of NPs is based on the most sensitive organism as described in CLP [57]. The number next to the symbol indicates the number of E(L,I)C₅₀ values used to derive the median value and the number in the parenthesis indicates the number of papers from which the respective data originates. Underlined numbers indicates the datapoints (lowest E(L,I)C₅₀ value for this ENM) used for classification. Note the logarithmic scale of the y-axis.

Mechanism of toxic action

While after a decade-long research the exact mechanisms of toxic action of ENMs are still debated, the main proposed mechanisms can be outlined as follows: (i) physical interactions of ENMs with cells or cellular components, (ii) production of reactive oxygen species and resulting induction of oxidative stress, and (iii) toxic effect of released ions from metal/metal oxide ENMs [13,25,28]. Analyses of the information in NanoE-Tox database (Table S2, Supporting Information File 1) revealed that the most often reported potential mechanism of toxic action for ZnO [128-132,173], Ag [44,64-73,174-177], and CuO [55,64,73,126-129,173] NPs was the release of metal ions. On the other hand, some studies have also proposed that the toxicity of these ENMs might be at least partially caused by the NPs themselves [73-84,178-181]. However, most of the studies reporting NP-specific effects of Ag, CuO and ZnO used insoluble particles and tested them in higher concentrations compared to the ones commonly reported as toxic. Thus, it can be concluded, in accordance with some previous studies [4,25], that in most cases the observed toxicity of these three ENMs was triggered by toxic metal ions. Other modes of toxic action reported for Ag NPs included destabilisation of cell membranes/mechanical membrane damage [89,175,182,183], oxidative stress [71,73,89,175,176,184,185], DNA damage/genotoxicity [102,186,187], and binding to sulfhydryl groups [100]. Similar effects were also demonstrated in case of ZnO NPs [84-86,188-190]. The mechanism of toxic action of insoluble ENMs like CeO₂ [109,110], CNTs [116,133,191] and TiO₂ [153-156,192] was usually reported as particle-driven mechanical membrane damage. NanoE-Tox database contains only one study suggesting the mechanism of toxicity of fullerenes (oxidative stress) [193] and there are no data about possible mechanism of action of FeO_x NPs.

Additionally, the information collected to the NanoE-Tox database indicated that ENMs were readily ingested by different organisms [55,72,77,119-123,192,194-202] and tended to accumulate in them [55,59,60,69-71,84,122-126,159,176-179,187,189,192,201-214] or on their surface [79,117-119,126,136-140,196,215-218] (Table S3, Supporting Information File 1). Similar findings have been reported in previous studies [24-26,29].

Conclusion

NanoE-Tox database that is available as Supporting Information File 2 of this paper is the first online-available database that contains in-depth nanoecotoxicological information on eight ENMs accompanied by considerable amount of information on ENM physico-chemical properties, testing conditions and, to some extent, also on mechanisms of toxic action. Hence, NanoE-Tox enables the comparison of toxicity of ENMs across different test species and, in addition, could provide valuable input for computational toxicity modeling (e.g., QSARs) and risk assessment.

The analysis of the database entries resulted in coherent data with previously published studies: the most toxic of the selected ENMs were Ag NPs followed by ZnO and CuO NPs and the toxicity of these ENMs was largely triggered by their solubility. Additionally, systematic collection of the data revealed several gaps in the current knowledge about ENM ecotoxicity: (i) in most cases the physico-chemical properties of the investigated NPs were described insufficiently, (ii) relatively few experiments have been performed with algae and fish, and (iii) ecotoxicity tests with standard test organisms were often performed with modified protocols (i.e., duration of the test was either shorter or longer than required by the OECD or ISO standards). Although the NanoE-Tox database is limited to a selected range of articles entered in the Thomson Reuters WoS database by January 6, 2015 and retrieved by using specific keywords, it provides a good overview of the existing ecotoxicological information about Ag, CeO2, CuO, FeOx, TiO2 and ZnO NPs, carbon nanotubes and fullerenes.

Supporting Information

Supporting Information File 1 Supplementary tables. [http://www.beilstein-journals.org/bjnano/content/ supplementary/2190-4286-6-183-S1.pdf]

Supporting Information File 2

NanoE-Tox database.

[http://www.beilstein-journals.org/bjnano/content/ supplementary/2190-4286-6-183-S2.xls]

Acknowledgements

We thank Liina Kanarbik for collecting ecotoxicity data about FeO_x ENMs and Meelika Koitjärv for assistance in collecting ecotoxicity data about TiO_2 ENMs. This work was supported by Estonian Research Council's "Environmental Conservation and Environmental Technology R&D Program" project "TERIK-VANT" and by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (target-financed theme IUT23-5 and PUT748).

References

- Kessler, R. Environ. Health Perspect. 2011, 119, a120–a125. doi:10.1289/ehp.119-a120
- The Project on Emerging Nanotechnologies. <u>http://www.nanotechproject.org/cpi/products/</u> (accessed Feb 26, 2015).
- Aitken, R. J.; Chaudhry, M. Q.; Boxall, A. B. A.; Hull, M. Occup. Med. 2006, 56, 300–306. doi:10.1093/occmed/kql051
- Bondarenko, O.; Juganson, K.; Ivask, A.; Kasemets, K.; Mortimer, M.; Kahru, A. Arch. Toxicol. **2013**, 87, 1181–1200. doi:10.1007/s00204-013-1079-4
- Piccinno, F.; Gottschalk, F.; Seeger, S.; Nowack, B. J. Nanopart. Res. 2012, 14, 1109. doi:10.1007/s11051-012-1109-9
- Sun, T. Y.; Gottschalk, F.; Hungerbuehler, K.; Nowack, B. Environ. Pollut. 2014, 185, 69–76. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.10.004
- Hartung, T.; Sabbioni, E. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 2011, 3, 545–573. doi:10.1002/wnan.153
- Kahru, A.; Ivask, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2013, 46, 823–833. doi:10.1021/ar3000212
- Godwin, H.; Nameth, C.; Avery, D.; Bergeson, L. L.; Bernard, D.; Beryt, E.; Boyes, W.; Brown, S.; Clippinger, A. J.; Cohen, Y.; Doa, M.; Hendren, C. O.; Holden, P.; Houck, K.; Kane, A. B.; Klaessig, F.; Kodas, T.; Landsiedel, R.; Lynch, I.; Malloy, T.; Miller, M. B.; Muller, J.; Oberdorster, G.; Petersen, E. J.; Pleus, R. C.; Sayre, P.; Stone, V.; Sullivan, K. M.; Tentschert, J.; Wallis, P.; Nel, A. E. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 3409–3417. doi:10.1021/acsnano.5b00941
- Holden, P. A.; Nisbet, R. M.; Lenihan, H. S.; Miller, R. J.; Cherr, G. N.; Schimel, J. P.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L.; Univ, C. Acc. Chem. Res. 2013, 46, 813–822. doi:10.1021/ar300069t
- Klanjscek, T.; Nisbet, R. M.; Priester, J. H.; Holden, P. A. Ecotoxicology 2013, 22, 319–330. doi:10.1007/s10646-012-1028-7

- Fourches, D.; Pu, D.; Tassa, C.; Weissleder, R.; Shaw, S. Y.; Mumper, R. J.; Tropsha, A. ACS Nano 2010, 4, 5703–5712. doi:10.1021/nn1013484
- Djurisic, A. B.; Leung, Y. H.; Ng, A. M. C.; Xu, X. Y.; Lee, P. K. H.; Degger, N.; Wu, R. S. S. Small **2015**, *11*, 26–44. doi:10.1002/smll.201303947
- Hristozov, D. R.; Gottardo, S.; Critto, A.; Marcomini, A. Nanotoxicology 2012, 6, 880–898. doi:10.3109/17435390.2011.626534
- 15. EU NanoSafety Cluster Database WG. <u>http://www.nanosafetycluster.eu/working-groups/4-database-wg.html</u> (accessed March 9, 2015).
- Kühnel, D.; Marquardt, C.; Nau, K.; Krug, H. F.; Mathes, B.; Steinbach, C. *Environ. Sci. Eur.* **2014**, *26*, 21. doi:10.1186/s12302-014-0021-6
- DaNa 2.0 Information about nanomaterials and their safety assessment. <u>http://nanopartikel.info/en/nanoinfo/knowledge-base</u> (accessed March 23, 2015).
- The Nanodatabase. <u>http://nanodb.dk/en/search-database</u> (accessed March 3, 2015).
- Hansen, S. F.; Jensen, K. A.; Baun, A. J. Nanopart. Res. 2013, 16, 2195. doi:10.1007/s11051-013-2195-z
- 20. NanoToxdb:A Database on Nanomaterial Toxicity. http://iitrindia.org/envis/Default.aspx (accessed March 2, 2015).
- NHECD. Knowledge on the Health, Safety and Environmental Impact of Nanoparticles. <u>http://nhecd-fp7.eu</u> (accessed Feb 10, 2015).
- 22. HSDB a TOXNET database. <u>http://www.toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/newtoxnet/hsdb.htm</u> (accessed March 4, 2015).
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. List of Manufactured Nanomaterials and List of Endpoints for Phase One of the Sponsorship Programme for the Testing of Manufactured Nanomaterials: Revision. ENV/JM/MONO; Paris, 2010.
- Kahru, A.; Dubourguier, H.-C. *Toxicology* 2010, 269, 105–119. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2009.08.016
- Ivask, A.; Juganson, K.; Bondarenko, O.; Mortimer, M.; Aruoja, V.; Kasemets, K.; Blinova, I.; Heinlaan, M.; Slaveykova, V.; Kahru, A. *Nanotoxicology* **2014**, *8* (Suppl. 1), 57–71. doi:10.3109/17435390.2013.855831
- Collin, B.; Auffan, M.; Johnson, A. C.; Kaur, I.; Keller, A. A.; Lazareva, A.; Lead, J. R.; Ma, X.; Merrifield, R. C.; Svendsen, C.; White, J. C.; Unrine, J. M. *Environ. Sci.: Nano* **2014**, *1*, 533–548. doi:10.1039/C4EN00149D
- Holden, P. A.; Klaessig, F.; Turco, R. F.; Priester, J. H.; Rico, C. M.; Avila-Arias, H.; Mortimer, M.; Pacpaco, K.; Gardea-Torresdey, J. L. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2014**, *48*, 10541–10551. doi:10.1021/es502440s
- Ma, H.; Williams, P. L.; Diamond, S. A. Environ. Pollut. 2013, 172, 76–85. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2012.08.011
- Menard, A.; Drobne, D.; Jemec, A. Environ. Pollut. 2011, 159, 677–684. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2010.11.027
- Jackson, P.; Jacobsen, N. R.; Baun, A.; Birkedal, R.; Kühnel, D.; Jensen, K. A.; Vogel, U.; Wallin, H. *Chem. Cent. J.* **2013**, 7, 154. doi:10.1186/1752-153X-7-154
- Sánchez, A.; Recillas, S.; Font, X.; Casals, E.; González, E.; Puntes, V. *TrAC, Trends Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *30*, 507–516. doi:10.1016/j.trac.2010.11.011
- Nel, A. E.; Mädler, L.; Velegol, D.; Xia, T.; Hoek, E. M. V.; Somasundaran, P.; Klaessig, F.; Castranova, V.; Thompson, M. *Nat. Mater.* 2009, *8*, 543–557. doi:10.1038/nmat2442

- Albanese, A.; Tang, P. S.; Chan, W. C. W. Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 2012, 14, 1–16. doi:10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071811-150124
- Suresh, A. K.; Pelletier, D. A.; Doktycz, M. J. Nanoscale 2013, 5, 463–474. doi:10.1039/C2NR32447D
- Handy, R. D.; von der Kammer, F.; Lead, J. R.; Hassellöv, M.; Owen, R.; Crane, M. *Ecotoxicology* 2008, *17*, 287–314. doi:10.1007/s10646-008-0199-8
- Sharifi, S.; Behzadi, S.; Laurent, S.; Forrest, M. L.; Stroeve, P.; Mahmoudi, M. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2012, *41*, 2323–2343. doi:10.1039/C1CS15188F
- Luyts, K.; Napierska, D.; Nemery, B.; Hoet, P. H. M. Environ. Sci.: Processes Impacts 2013, 15, 23–38. doi:10.1039/C2EM30237C
- Burello, E.; Worth, A. P. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev.: Nanomed. Nanobiotechnol. 2011, 3, 298–306. doi:10.1002/wnan.137
- Ivask, A.; Kurvet, I.; Kasemets, K.; Blinova, I.; Aruoja, V.; Suppi, S.; Vija, H.; Käkinen, A.; Titma, T.; Heinlaan, M.; Visnapuu, M.; Koller, D.; Kisand, V.; Kahru, A. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9*, e102108. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102108
- Pal, S.; Tak, Y. K.; Song, J. M. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2007, 73, 1712–1720. doi:10.1128/AEM.02218-06
- Sadeghi, B.; Garmaroudi, F. S.; Hashemi, M.; Nezhad, H. R.; Nasrollahi, A.; Ardalan, S.; Ardalan, S. Adv. Powder Technol. 2012, 23, 22–26. doi:10.1016/j.apt.2010.11.011
- George, S.; Lin, S.; Jo, Z.; Thomas, C. R.; Li, L.; Mecklenburg, M.; Meng, H.; Wang, X.; Zhang, H.; Xia, T.; Hohman, J. N.; Lin, S.; Zink, J. I.; Weiss, P. S.; Nel, A. E. ACS Nano 2012, 6, 3745–3759. doi:10.1021/nn204671v
- El Badawy, A. M.; Silva, R. G.; Morris, B.; Scheckel, K. G.; Suidan, M. T.; Tolaymat, T. M. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 283–287. doi:10.1021/es1034188
- Ivask, A.; ElBadawy, A.; Kaweeteerawat, C.; Boren, D.; Fischer, H.; Ji, Z.; Chang, C. H.; Liu, R.; Tolaymat, T.; Telesca, D.; Zink, J. I.; Cohen, Y.; Holden, P. A.; Godwin, H. A. ACS Nano **2014**, *8*, 374–386. doi:10.1021/nn4044047
- Walczyk, D.; Bombelli, F. B.; Monopoli, M. P.; Lynch, I.; Dawson, K. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 5761–5768. doi:10.1021/ja910675v
- Fröhlich, E. Int. J. Nanomed. 2012, 7, 5577–5591. doi:10.2147/IJN.S36111
- Hartig, S. M.; Greene, R. R.; Dikov, M. M.; Prokop, A.; Davidson, J. M. Pharm. Res. 2007, 24, 2353–2369. doi:10.1007/s11095-007-9459-1
- Ge, C.; Li, Y.; Yin, J.-J.; Liu, Y.; Wang, L.; Zhao, Y.; Chen, C. NPG Asia Mater. 2012, 4, e32. doi:10.1038/am.2012.60
- Nowack, B.; Bucheli, T. D. *Environ. Pollut.* 2007, *150*, 5–22. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2007.06.006
- Batley, G. E.; Kirby, J. K.; McLaughlin, M. J. Acc. Chem. Res. 2013, 46, 854–862. doi:10.1021/ar2003368
- Winkler, D. A.; Mombelli, E.; Pietroiusti, A.; Tran, L.; Worth, A.; Fadeel, B.; McCall, M. J. *Toxicology* **2013**, *313*, 15–23. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2012.11.005
- Regulation (EC) No 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). Official Journal of the European Union, L396; 2006; pp 1–849.
- Suppi, S.; Kasemets, K.; Ivask, A.; Künnis-Beres, K.; Sihtmäe, M.; Kurvet, I.; Aruoja, V.; Kahru, A. J. Hazard. Mater. 2014, 286, 75–84. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.12.027

- Bour, A.; Mouchet, F.; Silvestre, J.; Gauthier, L.; Pinelli, E. J. Hazard. Mater. 2015, 283, 764–777. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.10.021
- Blinova, I.; Ivask, A.; Heinlaan, M.; Mortimer, M.; Kahru, A. Environ. Pollut. 2010, 158, 41–47. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2009.08.017
- Blinova, I.; Niskanen, J.; Kajankari, P.; Kanarbik, L.; Käkinen, A.; Tenhu, H.; Penttinen, O.-P.; Kahru, A. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2013, 20, 3456–3463. doi:10.1007/s11356-012-1290-5
- Regulation (EC) No 1272/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council on classification, labelling and packaging of substances and mixtures. *Official Journal of the European Union, L353*; 2008; pp 1–1355.
- Crane, M.; Handy, R. D.; Garrod, J.; Owen, R. *Ecotoxicology* 2008, 17, 421–437. doi:10.1007/s10646-008-0215-z
- Chen, P.-J.; Tan, S.-W.; Wu, W.-L. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 46, 8431–8439. doi:10.1021/es3006783
- Jovanović, B.; Guzmán, H. M. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2014, 33, 1346–1353. doi:10.1002/etc.2560
- Dalai, S.; Pakrashi, S.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mukherjee, A. *PLoS One* 2013, 8, e62970. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062970
- Isnard, P.; Flammarion, P.; Roman, G.; Babut, M.; Bastien, P.; Bintein, S.; Esserméant, L.; Ferard, J. F.; Gallotti-Schmitt, S.; Saouter, E.; Saroli, M.; Thiébaud, H.; Tomassone, R.; Vindimian, E. Chemosphere 2001, 45, 659–669. doi:10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00600-7
- Cronin, M. T. D.; Jaworska, J. S.; Walker, J. D.; Comber, M. H. I.; Watts, C. D.; Worth, A. P. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2003, 111, 1391–1401.
- Jo, H. J.; Choi, J. W.; Lee, S. H.; Hong, S. W. J. Hazard. Mater. 2012, 227–228, 301–308. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.05.066
- Radniecki, T. S.; Stankus, D. P.; Neigh, A.; Nason, J. A.; Semprini, L. *Chemosphere* **2011**, *85*, 43–49. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.06.039
- Engelke, M.; Köser, J.; Hackmann, S.; Zhang, H.; M\u00e4dler, L.; Filser, J. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2014, 33, 1142–1147. doi:10.1002/etc.2542
- Lee, Y.-J.; Kim, J.; Oh, J.; Bae, S.; Lee, S.; Hong, I. S.; Kim, S.-H. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2012, 31, 155–159. doi:10.1002/etc.717
- Allen, H. J.; Impellitteri, C. A.; Macke, D. A.; Heckman, J. L.; Poynton, H. C.; Lazorchak, J. M.; Govindaswamy, S.; Roose, D. L.; Nadagouda, M. N. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2010**, *29*, 2742–2750. doi:10.1002/etc.329
- Schlich, K.; Klawonn, T.; Terytze, K.; Hund-Rinke, K. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2013, 32, 181–188. doi:10.1002/etc.2030
- Kaveh, R.; Li, Y.-S.; Ranjbar, S.; Tehrani, R.; Brueck, C. L.; Van Aken, B. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 10637–10644. doi:10.1021/es402209w
- Oukarroum, A.; Barhoumi, L.; Pirastru, L.; Dewez, D. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2013, 32, 902–907. doi:10.1002/etc.2131
- Juganson, K.; Mortimer, M.; Ivask, A.; Kasemets, K.; Kahru, A. Environ. Sci.: Processes Impacts 2013, 15, 244–250. doi:10.1039/C2EM30731F
- Ivask, A.; Bondarenko, O.; Jepihhina, N.; Kahru, A. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2010, 398, 701–716. doi:10.1007/s00216-010-3962-7
- Ribeiro, F.; Gallego-Urrea, J. A.; Jurkschat, K.; Crossley, A.; Hassellov, M.; Taylor, C.; Soares, A. M. V. M.; Loureiro, S. Sci. Total Environ. 2014, 466, 232–241. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.06.101
- Macken, A.; Byrne, H. J.; Thomas, K. V. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2012, *86*, 101–110. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.08.025

- Kumar, D.; Kumari, J.; Pakrashi, S.; Dalai, S.; Raichur, A. M.; Sastry, T. P.; Mandal, A. B.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mukherjee, A. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2014**, *108*, 152–160. doi:10.1016/i.ecoenv.2014.05.033
- Scanlan, L. D.; Reed, R. B.; Loguinov, A. V.; Antczak, P.; Tagmount, A.; Aloni, S.; Nowinski, D. T.; Luong, P.; Tran, C.; Karunaratne, N.; Don, P.; Lin, X. X.; Falciani, F.; Higgins, C. P.; Ranville, J. F.; Vulpe, C. D.; Gilbert, B. ACS Nano **2013**, 7, 10681–10694. doi:10.1021/nn4034103
- Harmon, A. R.; Kennedy, A. J.; Poda, A. R.; Bednar, A. J.; Chappell, M. A.; Steevens, J. A. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2014**, 33, 1783–1791. doi:10.1002/etc.2616
- Laban, G.; Nies, L. F.; Turco, R. F.; Bickham, J. W.; Sepúlveda, M. S. Ecotoxicology 2010, 19, 185–195. doi:10.1007/s10646-009-0404-4
- Osborne, O. J.; Johnston, B. D.; Moger, J.; Balousha, M.; Lead, J. R.; Kudoh, T.; Tyler, C. R. *Nanotoxicology* **2013**, *7*, 1315–1324. doi:10.3109/17435390.2012.737484
- Manusadžianas, L.; Caillet, C.; Fachetti, L.; Gylyte, B.; Grigutyté, R.; Jurkoniene, S.; Karitonas, R.; Sadauskas, K.; Thomas, F.; Vitkus, R.; Férard, J.-F. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 2012, *31*, 108–114. doi:10.1002/etc.715
- Mortimer, M.; Kasemets, K.; Vodovnik, M.; Marinšek-Logar, R.; Kahru, A. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 6617–6624. doi:10.1021/es201524q
- Santo, N.; Fascio, U.; Torres, F.; Guazzoni, N.; Tremolada, P.; Bettinetti, R.; Mantecca, P.; Bacchetta, R. Water Res. 2014, 53, 339–350. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.036
- Yu, L.-p.; Fang, T.; Xiong, D.-w.; Zhu, W.-t.; Sima, X.-f. J. Environ. Monit. 2011, 13, 1975–1982. doi:10.1039/c1em10197h
- Lee, W.-M.; An, Y.-J. Chemosphere 2013, 91, 536–544. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.12.033
- Fahmy, S. R.; Abdel-Ghaffar, F.; Bakry, F. A.; Sayed, D. A. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2014, 67, 192–202. doi:10.1007/s00244-014-0020-z
- Zhu, X.; Zhu, L.; Duan, Z.; Qi, R.; Li, Y.; Lang, Y. J. Environ. Sci. Health, Part A: Toxic/Hazard. Subst. Environ. Eng. 2008, 43, 278–284. doi:10.1080/10934520701792779
- Waalewijn-Kool, P. L.; Ortiz, M. D.; van Gestel, C. A. M. *Ecotoxicology* 2012, *21*, 1797–1804. doi:10.1007/s10646-012-0914-3
- Gou, N.; Gu, A. Z. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45, 5410–5417. doi:10.1021/es200455p
- Barrena, R.; Casals, E.; Colón, J.; Font, X.; Sánchez, A.; Puntes, V. Chemosphere 2009, 75, 850–857.
- doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.078
 91. Silva, T.; Pokhrel, L. R.; Dubey, B.; Tolaymat, T. M.; Maier, K. J.; Liu, X. Sci. Total Environ. 2014, 468, 968–976.
- doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.09.006
 Mallevre, F.; Fernandes, T. F.; Aspray, T. J. Environ. Pollut. 2014,
- Manevre, F.; Fernandes, T. F.; Aspray, T. J. Environ. Pollut. 2014 195, 218–225. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2014.09.002
- Gaiser, B. K.; Biswas, A.; Rosenkranz, P.; Jepson, M. A.; Lead, J. R.; Stone, V.; Tyler, C. R.; Fernandes, T. F. J. Environ. Monit. 2011, 13, 1227–1235. doi:10.1039/c1em10060b
- Kim, J.; Kim, S.; Lee, S. Nanotoxicology 2011, 5, 208–214. doi:10.3109/17435390.2010.508137
- Rani, P. U.; Rajasekharreddy, P. Colloids Surf., A 2011, 389, 188–194. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2011.08.028
- Völker, C.; Boedicker, C.; Daubenthaler, J.; Oetken, M.; Oehlmann, J. *PLoS One* 2013, 8, e75026. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0075026

- Römer, I.; Gavin, A. J.; White, T. A.; Merrifield, R. C.; Chipman, J. K.; Viant, M. R.; Lead, J. R. *Toxicol. Lett.* **2013**, *223*, 103–108. doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2013.08.026
- Li, T.; Albee, B.; Alemayehu, M.; Diaz, R.; Ingham, L.; Kamal, S.; Rodriguez, M.; Bishnoi, S. W. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2010, 398, 689–700. doi:10.1007/s00216-010-3915-1
- Lapied, E.; Moudilou, E.; Exbrayat, J.-M.; Oughton, D. H.; Joner, E. J. Nanomedicine 2010, 5, 975–984. doi:10.2217/nnm.10.58
- 100.Farkas, J.; Christian, P.; Urrea, J. A. G.; Roos, N.; Hassellöv, M.; Tollefsen, K. E.; Thomas, K. V. Aquat. Toxicol. 2010, 96, 44–52. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.09.016
- 101.Kim, J.; Park, Y.; Lee, S.; Seo, J.; Kwon, D.; Park, J.; Yoon, T.-H.; Choi, K. J. Korean J. Environ. Health Sci. 2013, 39, 369–375. doi:10.5668/JEHS.2013.39.4.369
- 102.Nair, P. M. G.; Park, S. Y.; Lee, S.-W.; Choi, J. Aquat. Toxicol. 2011, 101, 31–37. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.08.013
- 103.Panacek, A.; Prucek, R.; Safarova, D.; Dittrich, M.; Richtrova, J.; Benickova, K.; Zboril, R.; Kvitek, L. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 4974–4979. doi:10.1021/es104216b
- 104.Gnanadesigan, M.; Anand, M.; Ravikumar, S.; Maruthupandy, M.; Vijayakumar, V.; Selvam, S.; Dhineshkumar, M.; Kumaraguru, A. K. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Med. **2011**, *4*, 799–803. doi:10.1016/S1995-7645(11)60197-1
- 105.El-Temsah, Y. S.; Joner, E. J. Environ. Toxicol. 2012, 27, 42–49. doi:10.1002/tox.20610
- 106.Ravindran, A.; Prathna, T. C.; Verma, V. K.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mukherjee, A. *Toxicol. Environ. Chem.* **2012**, *94*, 91–98. doi:10.1080/02772248.2011.617034
- 107.Völker, C.; Gräf, T.; Schneider, I.; Oetken, M.; Oehlmann, J. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. **2014**, *21*, 10661–10670. doi:10.1007/s11356-014-3067-5
- 108.Bernot, R. J.; Brandenburg, M. Hydrobiologia 2013, 714, 25–34. doi:10.1007/s10750-013-1509-6
- 109.Rodea-Palomares, I.; Boltes, K.; Fernández-Piñas, F.; Leganés, F.; García-Calvo, E.; Santiago, J.; Rosal, R. *Toxicol. Sci.* 2011, 119, 135–145. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfq311
- 110.Manier, N.; Bado-Nilles, A.; Delalain, P.; Aguerre-Chariol, O.; Pandard, P. *Environ. Pollut.* **2013**, *180*, 63–70. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2013.04.040
- 111.Velzeboer, I.; Hendriks, A. J.; Ragas, A. M. J.; Van de Meent, D. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2008, 27, 1942–1947. doi:10.1897/07-509.1
- 112.Booth, A.; Størsetha, T.; Altin, D.; Fornara, A.; Ahniyaz, A.; Jungnickel, H.; Laux, P.; Luch, A.; Sørensen, L. *Sci. Total Environ.* 2015, *505*, 596–605. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.10.010
- 113.Van Hoecke, K.; Quik, J. T. K.; Mankiewicz-Boczek, J.; de Schamphelaere, K. A. C.; Elsaesser, A.; van der Meeren, P.; Barnes, C.; McKerr, G.; Howard, C. V.; van de Meent, D.; Rydzyński, K.; Dawson, K. A.; Salvati, A.; Lesniak, A.; Lynch, I.; Silversmit, G.; de Samber, B.; Vincze, L.; Janssen, C. R. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 4537–4546. doi:10.1021/es9002444
- 114.Tomilina, I. I.; Gremyachikh, V. A.; Myl'nikov, A. P.; Komov, V. T. Inland Water Biol. **2011**, *4*, 475–483. doi:10.1134/S1995082911040201
- 115.García, A.; Espinosa, R.; Delgado, L.; Casals, E.; González, E.; Puntes, V.; Barata, C.; Font, X.; Sánchez, A. *Desalination* **2011**, *269*, 136–141. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2010.10.052
- 116.Long, Z.; Ji, J.; Yang, K.; Lin, D.; Wu, F. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, 46, 8458–8466. doi:10.1021/es301802g

- 117.Asghari, S.; Johari, S. A.; Lee, J. H.; Kim, Y. S.; Jeon, Y. B.; Choi, H. J.; Moon, M. C.; Yu, I. J. J. Nanobiotechnol. **2012**, *10*, 14. doi:10.1186/1477-3155-10-14
- 118.Artells, E.; Issartel, J.; Auffan, M.; Borschneck, D.; Thill, A.; Tella, M.; Brousset, L.; Rose, J.; Bottero, J.-Y.; Thiéry, A. *PLoS One* 2013, *8*, e71260. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071260
- 119.Martinez, D. S. T.; Faria, A. F.; Berni, E.; Souza Filho, A. G.; Almeida, G.; Caloto-Oliveira, A.; Grossman, M. J.; Durrant, L. R.; Umbuzeiro, G. A.; Alves, O. L. *Process Biochem.* **2014**, *49*, 1162–1168. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2014.04.006
- 120.Kowk, K. W. H.; Leung, K. M. Y.; Flahaut, E.; Cheng, J.; Cheng, S. H. Nanomedicine 2010, 5, 951–961. doi:10.2217/nnm.10.59
- 121.Kennedy, A. J.; Gunter, J. C.; Chappell, M. A.; Goss, J. D.; Hull, M. S.; Kirgan, R. A.; Steevens, J. A. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2009**, *28*, 1930–1938. doi:10.1897/09-024.1
- 122.Zhu, X.; Zhu, L.; Chen, Y.; Tian, S. J. Nanopart. Res. 2009, 11, 67–75. doi:10.1007/s11051-008-9426-8
- 123.Petersen, E. J.; Akkanen, J.; Kukkonen, J. V. K.; Weber, W. J., Jr. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2009, 43, 2969–2975. doi:10.1021/es8029363
- 124.Resano, M.; Lapeña, A. C.; Belarra, M. A. *Anal. Methods* **2013**, *5*, 1130–1139. doi:10.1039/c2ay26456k
- 125.Petersen, E. J.; Pinto, R. A.; Mai, D. J.; Landrum, P. F.; Weber, W. J., Jr. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 1133–1138. doi:10.1021/es1030239
- 126.Pradhan, A.; Seena, S.; Pascoal, C.; Cássio, F. *Chemosphere* **2012**, 89, 1142–1150. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.06.001
- 127.Heinlaan, M.; Ivask, A.; Blinova, I.; Dubourguier, H.-C.; Kahru, A. Chemosphere 2008, 71, 1308–1316. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.11.047
- 128.Luna-delRisco, M.; Orupõld, K.; Dubourguier, H.-C. J. Hazard. Mater. 2011, 189, 603–608. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.02.085
- 129.Ko, K.-S.; Kong, I. C. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2014, 98, 3295–3303. doi:10.1007/s00253-013-5404-x
- 130.Wiench, K.; Wohlleben, W.; Hisgen, V.; Radke, K.; Salinas, E.; Zok, S.; Landsiedel, R. *Chemosphere* **2009**, *76*, 1356–1365. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.06.025
- 131.Li, M.; Zhu, L.; Lin, D. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45, 1977–1983. doi:10.1021/es102624t
- 132.Fairbairn, E. A.; Keller, A. A.; Mädler, L.; Zhou, D.; Pokhrel, S.; Cherr, G. N. J. Hazard. Mater. 2011, 192, 1565–1571. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.06.080
- 133.Liu, S.; Wei, L.; Hao, L.; Fang, N.; Chang, M. W.; Xu, R.; Yang, Y.; Chen, Y. ACS Nano 2009, 3, 3891–3902. doi:10.1021/nn901252r
- 134.Wei, L.; Thakkar, M.; Chen, Y.; Ntim, S. A.; Mitra, S.; Zhang, X. Aquat. Toxicol. 2010, 100, 194–201. doi:10.1016/i.aguatox.2010.07.001
- 135.Pereira, M. M.; Mouton, L.; Yépremian, C.; Couté, A.; Lo, J.; Marconcini, J. M.; Ladeira, L. O.; Raposo, N. R. B.; Brandão, H. M.; Brayner, R. J. Nanobiotechnol. **2014**, *12*, 15. doi:10.1186/1477-3155-12-15
- 136.Roberts, A. P.; Mount, A. S.; Seda, B.; Souther, J.; Qiao, R.; Lin, S.; Ke, P. C.; Rao, A. M.; Klaine, S. J. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, 41, 3025–3029. doi:10.1021/es062572a
- 137.Schwab, F.; Bucheli, T. D.; Lukhele, L. P.; Magrez, A.; Nowack, B.; Sigg, L.; Knauer, K. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 6136–6144. doi:10.1021/es200506b
- 138.Planchon, M.; Ferrari, R.; Guyot, F.; Gélabert, A.; Menguy, N.; Chanéac, C.; Thill, A.; Benedetti, M. F.; Spalla, O. *Colloids Surf., B* 2013, *102*, 158–164. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2012.08.034

- 139.Lin, D.; Xing, B. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42*, 5580–5585. doi:10.1021/es800422x
- 140.Dabrunz, A.; Duester, L.; Prasse, C.; Seitz, F.; Rosenfeldt, R.; Schilde, C.; Schaumann, G. E.; Schulz, R. *PLoS One* **2011**, 6, e20112. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0020112
- 141.Edgington, A. J.; Roberts, A. P.; Taylor, L. M.; Alloy, M. M.; Reppert, J.; Rao, A. M.; Mao, J.; Klaine, S. J. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2010**, *29*, 2511–2518. doi:10.1002/etc.309
- 142.Blaise, C.; Gagné, F.; Férard, J. F.; Eullaffroy, P. Environ. Toxicol. 2008, 23, 591–598. doi:10.1002/tox.20402
- 143.Scott-Fordsmand, J. J.; Krogh, P. H.; Schaefer, M.; Johansen, A. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2008**, *71*, 616–619. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2008.04.011
- 144.Sovova, T.; Koci, V.; Kochankova, L. Ecotoxicity of nano and bulk forms of metal oxides. In *Nanocon 2009, Conference Proceedings*, 2009; pp 341–347.
- 145.Goix, S.; Lévêque, T.; Xiong, T.-T.; Schreck, E.; Baeza-Squiban, A.; Geret, F.; Uzu, G.; Austruy, A.; Dumat, C. *Environ. Res.* 2014, *133*, 185–194. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2014.05.015
- 146.Zhu, X.; Tian, S.; Cai, Z. PLoS One 2012, 7, e46286. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046286
- 147.Zhu, X.; Zhu, L.; Li, Y.; Duan, Z.; Chen, W.; Alvarez, P. J. J. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2007, 26, 976–979. doi:10.1897/06-583.1
- 148.Hund-Rinke, K.; Simon, M. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 2006, 13, 225–232. doi:10.1065/espr2006.06.311
- 149. Hartmann, N. B.; von der Kammer, F.; Hofmann, T.; Baalousha, M.; Ottofuelling, S.; Baun, A. *Toxicology* **2010**, *269*, 190–197. doi:10.1016/i.tox.2009.08.008
- 150.Sadiq, I. M.; Dalai, S.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mukherjee, A. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2011**, *74*, 1180–1187. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2011.03.006
- 151.Dalai, S.; Pakrashi, S.; Nirmala, M. J.; Chaudhri, A.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mandal, A. B.; Mukherjee, A. Aquat. Toxicol. 2013, 138, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.04.005
- 152.Hartmann, N. B.; Engelbrekt, C.; Zhang, J.; Ulstrup, J.; Kusk, K. O.; Baun, A. *Nanotoxicology* **2012**, *7*, 1082–1094. doi:10.3109/17435390.2012.710657
- 153.Clément, L.; Hurel, C.; Marmier, N. Chemosphere **2013**, *90*, 1083–1090. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.09.013
- 154.Simon-Deckers, A.; Loo, S.; Mayne-L'Hermite, M.; Herlin-Boime, N.; Menguy, N.; Reynaud, C.; Gouget, B.; Carrière, M. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 43, 8423–8429. doi:10.1021/es9016975
- 155.Seitz, F.; Rosenfeldt, R. R.; Schneider, S.; Schulz, R.; Bundschuh, M. Sci. Total Environ. 2014, 493, 891–897. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.06.092
- 156.Xiong, D.; Fang, T.; Yu, L.; Sima, X.; Zhu, W. Sci. Total Environ. 2011, 409, 1444–1452. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.01.015
- 157.Pereira, R.; Rocha-Santos, T. A. P.; Antunes, F. E.; Rasteiro, M. G.; Ribeiro, R.; Gonçalves, F.; Soares, A. M. V. M.; Lopes, I. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2011**, *194*, 345–354. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.07.112
- 158.Cherchi, C.; Chernenko, T.; Diem, M.; Gu, A. Z. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2011, 30, 861–869. doi:10.1002/etc.445
- 159.Zhu, X.; Chang, Y.; Chen, Y. Chemosphere 2010, 78, 209–215. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.11.013
- 160.Amiano, I.; Olabarrieta, J.; Vitorica, J.; Zorita, S. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2012, 31, 2564–2566. doi:10.1002/etc.1981
- 161.Marcone, G. P. S.; Oliveira, A. C.; Almeida, G.; Umbuzeiro, G. A.; Jardim, W. F. J. Hazard. Mater. 2012, 211, 436–442. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.12.075

162.Clemente, Z.; Castro, V. L.; Jonsson, C. M.; Fraceto, L. F.

J. Nanopart. Res. 2014, 16, 2559. doi:10.1007/s11051-014-2559-z 163.Lovern, S. B.; Klaper, R. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 2006, 25, 1132–1137. doi:10.1897/05-278R 1

164.Ma, H.; Brennan, A.; Diamond, S. A. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2012, 31, 1621–1629. doi:10.1002/etc.1858

165.Li, S.; Pan, X.; Wallis, L. K.; Fan, Z.; Chen, Z.; Diamond, S. A. Chemosphere **2014**, *112*, 62–69. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.03.058

- 166.Griffitt, R. J.; Luo, J.; Gao, J.; Bonzongo, J.-C.; Barber, D. S. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2008, 27, 1972–1978. doi:10.1897/08-002.1
- 167.Palaniappan, P. R.; Pramod, K. S. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2010, 48, 2337–2343. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2010.05.068
- 168.Velayutham, K.; Rahuman, A. A.; Rajakumar, G.; Santhoshkumar, T.; Marimuthu, S.; Jayaseelan, C.; Bagavan, A.; Kirthi, A. V.; Kamaraj, C.; Zahir, A. A.; Elango, G. *Parasitol. Res.* **2012**, *111*, 2329–2337. doi:10.1007/s00436-011-2676-x
- 169.Libralato, G.; Minetto, D.; Totaro, S.; Mičetić, I.; Pigozzo, A.; Sabbioni, E.; Marcomini, A.; Ghirardini, A. V. Mar. Environ. Res. 2013, 92, 71–78. doi:10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.08.015
- 170.Wang, H.; Wick, R. L.; Xing, B. *Environ. Pollut.* **2009**, *157*, 1171–1177. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2008.11.004
- 171.Zhu, X.; Zhou, J.; Cai, Z. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45, 3753–3758. doi:10.1021/es103779h
- 172.Franklin, N. M.; Rogers, N. J.; Apte, S. C.; Batley, G. E.; Gadd, G. E.; Casey, P. S. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 8484–8490. doi:10.1021/es071445r
- 173.Rousk, J.; Ackermann, K.; Curling, S. F.; Jones, D. L. *PLoS One* 2012, 7, e34197. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034197
- 174.Calder, A. J.; Dimkpa, C. O.; McLean, J. E.; Britt, D. W.; Johnson, W.; Anderson, A. J. Sci. Total Environ. 2012, 429, 215–222. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.04.049
- 175.Niazi, J. H.; Sang, B.-I.; Kim, Y. S.; Gu, M. B. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 2011, 164, 1278–1291. doi:10.1007/s12010-011-9212-4
- 176.Gagné, F.; Auclair, J.; Fortier, M.; Bruneau, A.; Fournier, M.; Turcotte, P.; Pilote, M.; Gagnon, C. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, Part A 2013, 76, 767–777. doi:10.1080/15287394.2013.818602
- 177.Stampoulis, D.; Sinha, S. K.; White, J. C. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, 43, 9473–9479. doi:10.1021/es901695c
- 178.Zhang, D.; Hua, T.; Xiao, F.; Chen, C.; Gersberg, R. M.; Liu, Y.; Ng, W. J.; Tan, S. K. *Ecol. Eng.* **2014**, *70*, 114–123. doi:10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.04.018
- 179.Pang, C.; Selck, H.; Banta, G. T.; Misra, S. K.; Berhanu, D.; Dybowska, A.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Forbes, V. E. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2013**. 32, 1561–1573. doi:10.1002/etc.2216
- 180.Manzo, S.; Rocco, A.; Carotenuto, R.; De Luca Picione, F.;
 Miglietta, M. L.; Rametta, G.; Di Francia, G. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.*
- **2011**, *18*, 756–763. doi:10.1007/s11356-010-0421-0
- 181.Roh, J.-y.; Sim, S. J.; Yi, J.; Park, K.; Chung, K. H.; Ryu, D.-y.; Choi, J. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2009**, *43*, 3933–3940. doi:10.1021/es803477u
- 182.Fabrega, J.; Renshaw, J. C.; Lead, J. R. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2009, 43, 9004–9009. doi:10.1021/es901706j
- 183.Hu, C.; Li, M.; Wang, W.; Cui, Y.; Chen, J.; Yang, L. *Toxicol. Environ. Chem.* **2012**, *94*, 732–741. doi:10.1080/02772248.2012.668020
- 184.Dasari, T. P.; Hwang, H.-M. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2010**, *408*, 5817–5823. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.08.030

- 185.Nair, P. M. G.; Park, S. Y.; Choi, J. Chemosphere 2013, 92, 592–599. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.03.060
- 186.Park, S.-Y.; Choi, J.-H. Environ. Eng. Res. 2010, 15, 23–27. doi:10.4491/eer.2010.15.1.428
- 187.Ghosh, M.; J, M.; Sinha, S.; Chakraborty, A.; Mallick, S. K.; Bandyopadhyay, M.; Mukherjee, A. *Mutat. Res., Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen.* **2012**, 749, 60–69. doi:10.1016/j.mrgentox.2012.08.007
- 188.Kumar, A.; Pandey, A. K.; Singh, S. S.; Shanker, R.; Dhawan, A. Free Radical Biol. Med. 2011, 51, 1872–1881. doi:10.1016/j freeradbiomed.2011.08.025
- 189.Hu, C. W.; Li, M.; Cui, Y. B.; Li, D. S.; Chen, J.; Yang, L. Y. Soil Biol. Biochem. 2010, 42, 586–591. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.12.007
- 190.Hao, L.; Chen, L. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 2012, 80, 103–110. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.02.017
- 191.Templeton, R. C.; Ferguson, P. L.; Washburn, K. M.; Scrivens, W. A.; Chandler, G. T. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2006**, *40*, 7387–7393. doi:10.1021/es060407p
- 192.Angelstorf, J. S.; Ahlf, W.; von der Kammer, F.; Heise, S. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2014, 33, 2288–2296. doi:10.1002/etc.2674
- 193.Klaper, R.; Crago, J.; Barr, J.; Arndt, D.; Setyowati, K.; Chen, J. Environ. Pollut. 2009, 157, 1152–1156. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2008.11.010
- 194.Zhang, H.; He, X.; Zhang, Z.; Zhang, P.; Li, Y.; Ma, Y.; Kuang, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Chai, Z. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 3725–3730. doi:10.1021/es103309n
- 195.Mouchet, F.; Landois, P.; Puech, P.; Pinelli, E.; Flahaut, E.; Gauthier, L. Nanomedicine **2010**, *5*, 963–974. doi:10.2217/nnm.10.60
- 196.Mwangi, J. N.; Wang, N.; Ingersoll, C. G.; Hardesty, D. K.; Brunson, E. L.; Li, H.; Deng, B. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2012**, *31*, 1823–1830. doi:10.1002/etc.1888
- 197.Chan, T. S. Y.; Nasser, F.; St-Denis, C. H.; Mandal, H. S.; Ghafari, P.; Hadjout-Rabi, N.; Bols, N. C.; Tang, X. *Nanotoxicology* **2012**, *7*, 251–258. doi:10.3109/17435390.2011.652205
- 198.Strigul, N.; Vaccari, L.; Galdun, C.; Wazne, M.; Liu, X.; Christodoulatos, C.; Jasinkiewicz, K. *Desalination* **2009**, *248*, 771–782. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2009.01.013
- 199.Kim, K. T.; Klaine, S. J.; Cho, J.; Kim, S.-H.; Kim, S. D. Sci. Total Environ. 2010, 408, 2268–2272. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.01.041
- 200.Galloway, T.; Lewis, C.; Dolciotti, I.; Johnston, B. D.; Moger, J.; Regoli, F. *Environ. Pollut.* **2010**, *158*, 1748–1755. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2009.11.013
- 201.Hanna, S. K.; Miller, R. J.; Lenihan, H. S. J. Hazard. Mater. 2014, 279, 32–37. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.06.052
- 202.Hu, J.; Wang, D.; Wang, J.; Wang, J. *Environ. Pollut.* **2012**, *162*, 216–222. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.11.016
- 203.Fabrega, J.; Zhang, R.; Renshaw, J. C.; Liu, W.-T.; Lead, J. R. Chemosphere **2011**, *85*, 961–966. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.06.066
- 204.Musante, C.; White, J. C. *Environ. Toxicol.* **2012**, *27*, 510–517. doi:10.1002/tox.20667
- 205.Bourdiol, F.; Mouchet, F.; Perrault, A.; Fourquaux, I.; Datas, L.; Gancet, C.; Boutonnet, J.-C.; Pinelli, E.; Gauthier, L.; Flahaut, E. Carbon 2013, 54, 175–191. doi:10.1016/j.carbon.2012.11.024
- 206.Dai, L.; Syberg, K.; Banta, G. T.; Selck, H.; Forbes, V. E. ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 2013, 1, 760–767. doi:10.1021/sc4000434

- 207.Pakarinen, K.; Petersen, E. J.; Leppänen, M. T.; Akkanen, J.; Kukkonen, J. V. K. *Environ. Pollut.* **2011**, *159*, 3750–3756. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2011.07.014
- 208.Pakarinen, K.; Petersen, E. J.; Alvila, L.; Waissi-Leinonen, G. C.; Akkanen, J.; Leppänen, M. T.; Kukkonen, J. V. K. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **2013**, *32*, 1224–1232. doi:10.1002/etc.2175
- 209.Sun, H.; Zhang, X.; Niu, Q.; Chen, Y.; Crittenden, J. C. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. **2007**, *178*, 245–254. doi:10.1007/s11270-006-9194-γ
- 210.Zhang, X.; Sun, H.; Zhang, Z.; Niu, Q.; Chen, Y.; Crittenden, J. C. Chemosphere **2007**, 67, 160–166. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.09.003
- 211.Sun, H.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, Z.; Chen, Y.; Crittenden, J. C. Environ. Pollut. 2009, 157, 1165–1170. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2008.08.022
- 212.Zhu, X.; Wang, J.; Zhang, X.; Chang, Y.; Chen, Y. *Chemosphere* 2010, 79, 928–933. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.03.022
- 213.Larue, C.; Castillo-Michel, H.; Sobanska, S.; Trcera, N.; Sorieul, S.; Cécillon, L.; Ouerdane, L.; Legros, S.; Sarret, G. J. Hazard. Mater. 2014, 273, 17–26. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.03.014
- 214.Larue, C.; Laurette, J.; Herlin-Boime, N.; Khodja, H.; Fayard, B.; Flank, A.-M.; Brisset, F.; Carriere, M. Sci. Total Environ. 2012, 431, 197–208. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.04.073
- 215.Schwabe, F.; Schulin, R.; Limbach, L. K.; Stark, W.; Buerge, D.; Nowack, B. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *91*, 512–520. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.12.025
- 216.Lin, S.; Reppert, J.; Hu, Q.; Hudson, J. S.; Reid, M. L.; Ratnikova, T. A.; Rao, A. M.; Luo, H.; Ke, P. C. *Small* **2009**, *5*, 1128–1132. doi:10.1002/smll.200801556
- 217.Li, L.; Sillanpaa, M.; Tuominen, M.; Lounatmää, K.; Schultz, E. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2013**, *88*, 89–94. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.10.024
- 218.Jarvis, T. A.; Miller, R. J.; Lenihan, H. S.; Bielmyer, G. K. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 2013, 32, 1264–1269. doi:10.1002/etc.2180

License and Terms

This is an Open Access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

The license is subject to the *Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology* terms and conditions: (http://www.beilstein-journals.org/bjnano)

The definitive version of this article is the electronic one which can be found at: doi:10.3762/bjnano.6.183

Supporting Information

for

NanoE-Tox: New and in-depth database concerning

ecotoxicity of nanomaterials

Katre Juganson^{1,2*}, Angela Ivask^{1,3}, Irina Blinova¹, Monika Mortimer^{1,4}, and Anne Kahru¹

Address: ¹Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia; ²Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia; ³Mawson Institute, University of South Australia, Mawson Lakes, 5095 South Australia, Australia and ⁴Bren School of Environmental Science & Management, University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, California 93106-5131, United States

Email: Katre Juganson* - katre.juganson@kbfi.ee

* Corresponding autor:

Supplementary tables

Search was performed combin	ing the keywo	ords listed in	the table wit	h light grey t	ackground. ⁻	The search w	vas done on	March 19 th , 2	015.
nano* AND	Ag NPs	CeO ₂ NPs	CNTs	CuO NPs	FeO _x NPs	Fullerenes	TiO ₂ NPs	ZnO NPs	Total
Fields of application	silver OR Ag	cerium *oxide OR ceria OR CeO2	carbon nanotu* OR CNT OR *CNT	copper oxide OR CuO	iron *oxide OR Fe3O4 OR Fe2O3	fulleren*	titanium *oxide OR titania OR TiO2	zinc oxide OR ZnO	
Hydrogen storage	189	124	3642	64	195	357	314	110	1040
Environmental remediation	110	16	155	36	219	23	303	74	655
Catalysis	2043	624	2553	458	1225	169	2652	711	5215
Drug delivery	666	55	2966	60	3687	272	515	284	4818
Medical imaging	26	7	151	4	292	19	32	21	368
Photovoltaics	662	3	368	41	14	355	632	401	1443
Textiles	568	11	482	44	77	14	650	305	1090
Therapeutics	109	16	324	8	322	35	32	17	414
Reinforced composites	172	37	4161	53	83	91	260	102	589
Electronics	1080	16	3331	113	116	286	278	542	1335
Optics	287	20	638	35	120	89	249	256	749
Coatings and pigments	19	12	10	8	36	1	143	53	241
Cosmetics	133	24	95	8	36	28	265	148	485
Ceramics applications	186	140	413	53	132	17	578	202	982
Anti-oxidants	10	13	14	4	4	7	3	5	23
Lubrication	78	10	181	26	37	115	55	35	268
Sensors	5327	288	13004	977	1421	255	2596	4159	9408
Absorbents	37	6	158	10	77	4	45	35	171
Energetics	136	18	801	11	38	267	218	54	588
Magnetics	84	3	154	29	1156	13	51	53	1302
Water purification	304	33	306	56	468	60	782	142	1508
Air emissions reduction	18	6	23	7	6	3	19	23	61
Natural and green products	36	1	11	2	10	0	6	6	24
Quantum computing	31	5	282	1	52	49	26	20	148
Masonry and building materials	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
Photonics	297	2	322	17	31	31	87	152	318
Surfactants	689	97	1166	135	468	80	506	335	1524
Antimicrobials	2931	13	299	120	154	52	504	341	1171
Total	16970	1606	36609	2380	10479	2692	11802	8586	35939

Table S1: Total number of publications in Thomson Reuters Web of ScienceTM for different applications of eight selected nanomaterials.

	Ag	CeO ₂	CNTs	CuO	Fullerenes	TIO ₂	ZnO
Released ions	bacteria [1-5] bivalves [6] crustaceans [7-9] earthworms [10] plants [11-13] protists [15] yeasts [15]			bacteria [5,16-19] crustaceans [8,20] insects [21]			bacteria [16-18,22] crustaceans [23] echinoderms [24]
Effect of NPs/ their primary size	bacteria [25] crustaceans [26,27]			algae [28] plants [29]		algae [30] crustaceans [30,31] nematodes [32] rotifers [30]	plants [33]
lons + NPs	algae [34] crustaceans [35] fish [36,37] nematodes [38]			protists [39] snails [40]			bacteria [5] crustaceans [41] fish [42]
Destabilization of cell membranes/ mechanical membrane damage	bacteria [43,44] earthworms [45] yeasts [15]	algae [46,47]	algae [48] bacteria [49] crustaceans [50]	protists [39]		bacteria [51] fish [52]	algae [53] fish [42]
Oxidative stress	bacteria [5,43,54] insects [55] bivalves [6] plants [12] yeasts [15]	nematodes [56]	algae [48,57] crustaceans [50]		crustaceans [58]	bacteria [43,51] fish [52,59] nematodes [32]	bacteria [60] earthworms [61] fish [62] snails [63]
DNA damage/ genotoxic	crustaceans [64] insects [65] plants [66]						bacteria [60] earthworms [61]
Disturbing ATP production			algae [57]				
Shading effect		algae [46]	algae [48,67]				
Effect of accumulation on the organisms	fish [36]	algae [46] crustaceans [68,69]	algae [67]			crustaceans [70]	fish [42]
Binding to -SH groups	fish [71]						

Table S2: Mechanisms of toxic action of selected ENMs in different organisms based on information in NanoE-Tox database.

*There was no information about mechanisms of toxic action of FeO_x in the NanoE-Tox database

Table S3: Accumulation and uptake of selected ENMs in different organisms based on information in NanoE-Tox database.

	Ag	CeO ₂	CNTs	CuO	FeO _x	Fullerenes	TiO ₂	ZnO
ccumulated organisms	bacterial biofilm [72] bivalves [6] crustaceans [73] earthworms [10] plants [11- 13,66,74]		amphibians [75] bivalves [76] crustaceans [77,78]	bivalves [79] crustaceans [20] insects [21] snails [40] plant roots [29]	crustaceans [80] fish [81]	blackworms [82] [83,84]	corals [85] crustaceans [86] fish [87-90] nematodes [32] plants [91,92]	earthworms [61] fish [42]
ccumulated n surface of rganisms	crustaceans [93] fish eggs [37]	crustaceans [69] plant roots [94]	algae [67] bivalves [95] crustaceans [95-97] plant roots [98]	insects [21]			bacteria [99] crustaceans [70] plants [100]	algae [101] plant roots [102]
ngested by rganisms	crustaceans [26] protists [14]	nematodes [56]	amphibians [103] bivalves [76,95] crustaceans [77,84,95,96,104,105] protists [106]	crustaceans [20]	crustaceans [80]	crustaceans [crustaceans [84,107,108] ugworms [109] nematodes [32]	crustaceans [84]
ranslocation eed → plant yes/no)			no [98]					
Franslocation oot → shoot yes/no)		no/very low [94]		limited [29]		yes [98]	yes if size is less than 36 nm [92]	very low [102]
Other					BCF in fish larvae 0.04…0.14 [81]		Significant uptake in <i>E.</i> <i>coli; [60]</i> Dose-dependent Increase in internalization In bacteria; [110] BCF in coral tissue 262, in posterior mixture 238594; [85] BCF in crustaceans under illumination 502, in dark 318 [111]	Significant uptake in <i>E. coli;</i> <i>[60]</i> Dose-dependent increase in internalization in bacteria [110]

 Table S4:
 List of journals in NanoE-Tox.

	Journal title	No. of	No. of	5-year
1		20	156	3 282
		25	170	6.277
2		10	170	2 907
		10	129	3.097
4		12	21	4.300
6		12	05	3.940
7		10	70	5 123
8		7	3/	4 015
0		6	73	2 715
10		5	23	7 766
		5	20	7.700
11	RESEARCH	5	62	2.951
12	ECOTOXICOLOGY	4	16	3 191
13	JOURNAL OF NANOPARTICLE RESEARCH	4	31	2 927
14		4	50	2 371
15		4	10	2,133
	ENVIRONMENTAL TOXICOLOGY AND			
16	PHARMACOLOGY	4	28	2.093
17	ACS Nano	3	26	13.774
18	NANOMEDICINE	3	26	5.966
19	TOXICOLOGICAL SCIENCES	3	38	4.855
20	JOURNAL OF NANOBIOTECHNOLOGY	3	19	#N/A
21	ANALYTICAL AND BIOANALYTICAL CHEMISTRY	2	65	3.744
22	DESALINATION	2	29	3.481
23	MARINE ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH	2	10	2.525
24	JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES-CHINA	2	3	2.465
25	ARCHIVES OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINATION	2	6	2.135
26	CHEMISTRY	2	24	#N/A
27		1	5	38 586
28	SMALL	1	4	8,416
29	CARBON	1	7	6.638
30	WATER RESEARCH	1	6	6.092
31	FREE RADICAL BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE	1	2	5.983
32		1	1	4 785
33		1	6	4 489
34	COLLOIDS AND SURFACES B-BIOINTERFACES	1	14	4,226
35	APPLIED MICROBIOLOGY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY	1	12	4.138
36	ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH	1	4	4.033
37	TOXICOLOGY	1	9	3.884
38	TOXICOLOGY LETTERS	1	4	3,706
39		1	3	3,556
40		1	2	3.479
41		1	2	3,306
42	FOOD AND CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY	1	1	3.21
43	PROCESS BIOCHEMISTRY	1	2	2.922
	MUTATION RESEARCH-GENETIC TOXICOLOGY AND		-	0.740
44	ENVIRONMENTAL MUTAGENESIS	1	4	2./16
15	COLLOIDS AND SURFACES A-PHYSICOCHEMICAL	4	10	2 404
40	AND ENGINEERING ASPECTS		10	2.494
46	HYDROBIOLOGIA	1	3	2.35

	lournal title	No. of	No. of	5-year
	Journal lille	papers	entries	impact factor
47	PARASITOLOGY RESEARCH	1	2	2.286
48	APPLIED BIOCHEMISTRY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY	1	1	1.994
49	WATER AIR AND SOIL POLLUTION	1	1	1.943
50	ANALYTICAL METHODS	1	1	1.913
51	JOURNAL OF TOXICOLOGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH-PART A-CURRENT ISSUES	1	2	1.868
52	BIOLOGICAL TRACE ELEMENT RESEARCH	1	1	1.656
53	JOURNAL OF MICROBIOLOGY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY	1	2	1.484
54	SCIENTIFIC WORLD JOURNAL	1	12	1.3
55	JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE AND HEALTH PART A-TOXIC/HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES & ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING	1	4	1.233
56	BULLETIN OF THE KOREAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY	1	2	0.797
57	ASIAN PACIFIC JOURNAL OF TROPICAL MEDICINE	1	4	0.665
58	ARCHIVES OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES	1	4	0.606
59	INLAND WATER BIOLOGY	1	17	0.321
60	ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING RESEARCH	1	3	#N/A
61	JOURNAL OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SCIENCES	1	16	#N/A
62	ACS SUSTAINABLE CHEMISTRY & ENGINEERING	1	3	#N/A
63	ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND TOXICOLOGY	1	3	#N/A
64	ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE-PROCESSES & IMPACTS	1	2	#N/A
65	NANOCON 2009, CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS	1	6	#N/A
66	NANOSAFE 2012: INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCES ON SAFE PRODUCTION AND USE OF NANOMATERIALS	1	1	#N/A
	TOTAL	224	1518	

		CNT	Fullerenes	ZnO	CAO2	An	102	Cito	FeOx
Algae	Green algae	Chiorella sp. (3) Chiorella utganic (18) Chiorella utganic (18) Duraliella terriforecta (2) Pseudok inchmenella subcapitata (7)	several states and states an	Pseudok irchneriella sub capitata (5)	Chlamydomomas reninarddii (4) Pseudok trchnerielle sub capit ata (68) i P	Ag Dhlorella vulgaris (2) Duralella techolocia (2) Seudokirchnenella subcapitata (4) Beudokirchnenella subcapitata (4)	Chlamydomonas moewusi (†) († Chlamydomonas reinhardti (†) 11 Chlorella vydomonas reinhardti (†) 11 Chlorella vyganis (2) Chlorella vyganis (2) Pheaodoctymn riccomutum (3) Peeudokirinteneilla sub-spirata (23) Scendessmus schilurus (1) Scendessmus schilurus (1)	-Morella spp. (2) Vitellopsis obtuse (2)	L G C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C
1-	Red algae	Thalassiosira pseudonana (4)		Thalassiosira weissflogii (3)	Nitzschia palea (2)	Ceramium tenuicorne (12)	Scenedesmus quadricauda (1)		
Amphibians		Ambystoma mexicanum (1) Xenopus laevis (13)			Pleurodeles walti (2) Xenopus laevis (3)				
Bacteria		Baculus subult and the activity of the activity and the activity of the activi	(1) Escharchia could (12) Vibrio fischeri (2)	Andeaena for sequence (3) Escrimentum a col (24) Peraudomonas pulda (7) Vibrio fischeri (6)	Andoisana (24) Escharlan col (1) Viano fischarl (3)	Antrobastic do forms (2) Bacilita surprisonals (12) Emergencias functionals (12) Emergencias formals (1) Eschendria cal (27) Versionarias elucropael (2) Feudomonas chocraphis (1) Feudomonas chocraphis (1) Feudomonas chocraphis (1) Staphytococcus sureus (2) (2) Kaphytococcus sureus (2) (2) Kaphytococcus sureus (2) (2) Kaphytococcus sureus (2) (2) Kaphytococcus sureus (2)	Anabasena entitatisti (1) Cuprovindukas metallukaras (6) 1 (1) Peaudomonae pukka (2) Vibrio fischen (19)	serbandraha cali (13) Vibrio fischari (7)	Sectionaria of (2) Vibro fischer (3)
	Clams					Macoma balthica (2)		Macoma balthica (1)	
Bivalves	Mussels	Mytitus galloprovincialis (2) Viltosa iris (2)	Mytilus galloprovincialis (2)			Elliptio complanata (2)	Dreissena polymorpha (1) Mytilus galloprovincialis (4)		
Cnidarians	Corals Hvdra	Hvdra attenuata (1)	Hvdra attenuata (1)			4cropora japonica (8)	Montastraea faveolata (2) Hvdra attenuata (1)		
	Amphipods	Hyalella azteca (4) Leptocheirus plumulosus (1)	(1)				Gammarus fossarum (7)		
		Ceriodaphnia dubia (11)	Daphnia magna (7)	Ceriodaphnia affinis (4)	Ceriodaphnia affinis (4)	Artemia nauplii (12)	Artemia salina (8)	Daphnia magna (33)	Ceriodaphnia dubia (2)
Crustaceans	Branchiopods	Dapmia magra (r.) Daphnia simia; (?) Tharmocephalus platyurus (1)	uapma puex (*) Tharmocephalus platyurus (1)	uapmia magna (2s) Thamnocephalus platyurus (10)	cendoagnaa dubia (1) Chydorus sphaerdus (1) Daghnia magna (34) Daghnia pulax (4) Daghnia pulax (4)	cryvorus sprieencus (s) Daphnie geleata (3) Daphnie megna (141) Daphnie pulex (3) Tharmocephalus platyurus (8)	centoaghma arms (+) Centoaghma arms (+) Chydous spheericus (1) Daghma smills (+1) Daghma smills (+1)	namnocepnaus paryurus (12)	uapmna magna (1)
. ~	Copepods	Amphiascus tenuiremis (2) Triariopus iaponicus (6)		Acartia tonsa (6)		Tisbe battagliai (8)	- -		
	Ostracods			Heterocypris incongruens (1)					
Fish		Danio rerio (2) Oncorhynchus mykiss (3) Oreochromis niloticus (1) Oryzias melastigma (2)	Danio rerio (5)	Cyprinus carpio (1) Danio renio (6)	Danio rerio (9)	Danio renio (30) Oncorhynchus mykiss (4) Oryzias latipes (2) Pirnephales promelas (4)	Cyprinus carpio (4) Danio rerio (10) Oncorhynchus mykiss (3) Oryzias latipes (6)		Danio rerio (4) Oryzias latipes (1)
Insects		Chironomus dilutus (3) Drosophila melanogaster (2)	Drosophila melanogaster (1)	Folsomia candida (6)	Chironomus riparius (6)	dedes aegypti (2) Chironomus riparius (7) Culex quinquefasciatus (2) Drosophita melanogaster (4)	Boórcala oúis (1) Chironomus riparíus (2) Hippobosca maculata (1)	Allogamus ligoniter (2)	
Nematodes				Caenorhabditis elegans (1)	Caenomabditis elegans (7)	Caenomaditis elegans (18)	Caenorhab ditis elegans (15)		
		Cucurbita pepo (1)	Lemna dibba (3)	Cucurbita pepo (2)	Cucumis sativus (3)	Allium cepa (2)	Cucumis sativus (1)	actuca sativa (1)	Cucumis sativus (2)
Plants		Oyza satha (3)	Oyza satira (1)	Fagopymn esculentum (2) Lacture sative (1) Ladian sativen (1) Ladian penetre (1) Raphanus sativus (1) Vicie faba (1)	Laccachin maxima (3) Laccachin maxima (3) Laccacha astan (3) Salaran Vargenssum (3) Trificum aestivum (3)	Are developes is multime () Countria surviva () Countria surviva () Countria surviva () Lactura surviva () Lactura surviva () Lutarn puetra Lutarn puetra Vocciame tubactura ()	in the sector as subset (3) in the sector as subset (3) is the sector as subset (3) is the sector as subset (1) is the sector as subset (1) is the sector as subset (1) if the sector as subset (3) if the sector as subset (3) is	aghanas satvat (1) Schonopischs takementen (2)	uactore ashive (3) exphanas ashive (1) Safarran (4) Safarra diaarces (1)
Protists		Tetrahymena thermophila (5)		Bodo saltans (1) Euglena gracilis (3) Tetrahymena thermophila (4)	Bodo saltans (2)	Tetrahymena thermophila (2)	Bodo saltans (2)	Fetrahymena thermophila (2)	
Rotifers							Brachionus plicatilis (3)	Brachionus calyciflorus (2)	
Echinodems				Lytechinus pictus (1) Biomphalaria alexandrina (3)		Physa acuta (3)	Lytechinus pictus (1) Haliotis diversicolor supertexta (4)	^o otamopyrgus antipodarum (2)	
Snails		1.00	The set of the Add	(a)		Potamopyrgus antipodarum (3)			
Woms		Arenicola manna (1) Eisenia veneta (6) Lumbriculus variegatus (3)	Essema reuda (4) Eisenia veneta (4) Lumbricus rubellus (5) Lumbriculus variegatus (2)	Ersenia retida (b)		⊑senia andrei (4) Elsenia fetida (4) Lumbricus terrestris (13)	Arenicola marina (1) Eisenia andrei (7) Eisenia fetida (10)		
Yeasts						Saccharomyces cerevisiae (1)	Saccharomyces cerevisiae (1)		Saccharomyces cerevisiae (2)

Table S5: Organism-wise distribution of data in NanoE-Tox. Number in parenthesis indicates number of entries in the database.

	Ivask A : ElBadawy A : Kaweeteerawat C : Boren D : Fischer H : Ji Z : Chang C H : Lin R : Tolaymat T : Telesca D : Zink J L
	Cohen, Y.; Holden, P. A.; Godwin, H. A. <i>ACS Nano</i> . 2014 , <i>8</i> , 374-386.
2.	Radniecki, T. S.; Stankus, D. P.; Neigh, A.; Nason, J. A.; Semprini, L. Chemosphere. 2011, 85, 43-49.
∠	Calder, A. J.; Dimkpa, C. O.; McLean, J. E.; Britt, D. W.; Johnson, W.; Anderson, A. J. <i>Sci Total Environ.</i> 2012, 429, 215-222. Encoded M. F. 2000, T. Hodenson, S. J. Thoradian, T. Eilon, T. Environ, Touris, Cham. 2014, 22, 1142, 1147.
4 v	Engelke, M., Noeset, J., Hackmann, S.; Zhang, H.; Maculet, L.; Filset, J. <i>Environ 1 oxicot Chem.</i> 2014, 55, 1142-1147. Ivask. A.: Bondarenko. O.: Jenihhina. N.: Kahru. A. <i>Anal Bioanal Chem.</i> 2010, 398. 701-716.
6.	Gagne, F.; Auclair, J.; Fortier, M.; Bruneau, A.; Fournier, M.; Turcotte, P.; Pilote, M.; Gagnon, C. J Toxicol Environ Health, A: Curr Iss.
	2013, 76, 767-777.
7.	Lee, YJ.; Kim, J.; Oh, J.; Bae, S.; Lee, S.; Hong, I. S.; Kim, SH. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2012, 31, 155-159.
8.	Jo, H. J.; Choi, J. W.; Lee, S. H.; Hong, S. W. J Hazard Mater. 2012, 227, 301-308.
9.	Allen, H. J.; Impellitteri, C. A.; Macke, D. A.; Heckman, J. L.; Poynton, H. C.; Lazorchak, J. M.; Govindaswamy, S.; Roose, D. L.;
	Nadagouda, M. N. <i>Environ Toxicol Chem.</i> 2010 , <i>29</i> , 2742-2750.
10.	Schlich, K.; Klawonn, T.; Terytze, K.; Hund-Rinke, K. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2013, 32, 181-188.
11.	Kaveh, R.; Li, YS.; Ranjbar, S.; Tehrani, R.; Brueck, C. L.; Van Aken, B. Environ Sci Technol. 2013, 47, 10637-10644.
12.	Oukarroum, A.; Barhoumi, L.; Pirastru, L.; Dewez, D. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2013, 32, 902-907.
13.	Stampoulis, D.; Sinha, S. K.; White, J. C. <i>Environ Sci Technol.</i> 2009 , <i>43</i> , 9473-9479.
14.	Juganson, K.; Mortimer, M.; Ivask, A.; Kasemets, K.; Kahru, A. Env Sci Process Impact. 2013, 15, 244-250.
15.	Niazi, J. H.; Sang, BI.; Kim, Y. S.; Gu, M. B. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2011, 164, 1278-1291.
16.	Luna-delRisco, M.; Orupold, K.; Dubourguier, HC. J Hazard Mater. 2011, 189, 603-608.
17.	Ko, KS.; Kong, I. C. <i>Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.</i> 2014, 98, 3295-3303.
18.	Rousk, J.; Ackermann, K.; Curling, S. F.; Jones, D. L. PLoS One. 2012, 7.
19.	Heinlaan, M.; Ivask, A.; Blinova, I.; Dubourguier, HC.; Kahru, A. Chemosphere. 2008, 71, 1308-1316.
20.	Blinova, I.; Ivask, A.; Heinlaan, M.; Mortimer, M.; Kahru, A. Environ Pollut. 2010, 158, 41-47.
21.	Pradhan, A.; Seena, S.; Pascoal, C.; Cassio, F. Chemosphere. 2012, 89, 1142-1150.
22.	Li, M.; Zhu, L.; Lin, D. Environ Sci Technol. 2011, 45, 1977-1983.
23.	Wiench, K.; Wohlleben, W.; Hisgen, V.; Radke, K.; Salinas, E.; Zok, S.; Landsiedel, R. Chemosphere. 2009, 76, 1356-1365.
24.	Fairbaim, E. A.; Keller, A. A.; Maedler, L.; Zhou, D.; Pokhrel, S.; Cherr, G. N. J Hazard Mater. 2011, 192, 1565-1571.
25.	Kumar, D.; Kumari, J.; Pakrashi, S.; Dalai, S.; Raichur, A. M.; Sastry, T. P.; Mandal, A. B.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mukherjee, A. Ecotoxicol
	Environ Saf. 2014, 108, 152-160.
26.	Scanlan, L. D.; Reed, R. B.; Loguinov, A. V.; Antczak, P.; Tagmount, A.; Aloni, S.; Nowinski, D. T.; Luong, P.; Tran, C.; Karunaratne, N.;
	Don, P.; Lin, X. X.; Falciani, F.; Higgins, C. P.; Ranville, J. F.; Vulpe, C. D.; Gilbert, B. ACS Nano. 2013, 7, 10681-10694.
27.	Harmon, A. R.; Kennedy, A. J.; Poda, A. R.; Bednar, A. J.; Chappell, M. A.; Steevens, J. A. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2014, 33, 1783-1791.
28.	Manusadzianas, L.; Caillet, C.; Fachetti, L.; Gylyte, B.; Grigutyte, R.; Jurkoniene, S.; Karitonas, R.; Sadauskas, K.; Thomas, F.; Vitkus, R.;
	Ferard, JF. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2012, 31, 108-114.
29.	Zhang, D.; Hua, T.; Xiao, F.; Chen, C.; Gersberg, R. M.; Liu, Y.; Ng, W. J.; Tan, S. K. <i>Ecol Eng.</i> 2014 , <i>70</i> , 114-123.
30.	Clement, L.; Hurel, C.; Marmier, N. <i>Chemosphere</i> . 2013 , <i>90</i> , 1083-1090.

References

31.	 Seitz, F.; Rosenfeldt, R. R.; Schneider, S.; Schulz, R.; Bundschuh, M. Sci Total Environ. 2014, 493, 891-897. A noelstorf T S · Ahlf W · von der Kammer F · Heise S. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2014, 33 2588-296. 	
33.1	33. Manzo, S.; Rocco, A.; Carotenuto, R.; Picione, F. D. L.; Miglietta, M. L.; Rametta, G.; Di Francia, G. <i>Environ Sci Pollut Res.</i> 201756-763.	11, 18,
34.	34. Ribeiro, F.; Gallego-Urrea, J. A.; Jurkschat, K.; Crossley, A.; Hassellov, M.; Taylor, C.; Soares, A. M. V. M.; Loureiro, S. Sci To Environ. 2014, 466, 232-241.	ital
35.	35. Macken, A.; Byrne, H. J.; Thomas, K. V. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2012, 86, 101-110.	
36.	36. Osborne, O. J.; Johnston, B. D.; Moger, J.; Balousha, M.; Lead, J. R.; Kudoh, T.; Tyler, C. R. Nanotoxicology. 2013, 7, 1315-132	24.
37.	37. Laban, G.; Nies, L. F.; Turco, R. F.; Bickham, J. W.; Sepulveda, M. S. Ecotoxicology. 2010, 19, 185-195.	
38.	38. Roh, Jy.; Sim, S. J.; Yi, J.; Park, K.; Chung, K. H.; Ryu, Dy.; Choi, J. Environ Sci Technol. 2009, 43, 3933-3940.	
39.	39. Mortimer, M.; Kasemets, K.; Vodovnik, M.; Marinsek-Logar, R.; Kahru, A. Environ Sci Technol. 2011, 45, 6617-6624.	
40	40. Pang, C.; Selck, H.; Banta, G. T.; Mısra, S. K.; Berhanu, D.; Dybowska, A.; Valsami-Jones, E.; Forbes, V. E. <i>Environ Toxicol Ch</i> 32, 1561-1573.	hem. 2013,
41.	41. Santo, N.; Fascio, U.; Torres, F.; Guazzoni, N.; Tremolada, P.; Bettinetti, R.; Mantecca, P.; Bacchetta, R. Water Res. 2014, 53, 33	39-350.
42.	42. Yu, Lp.; Fang, T.; Xiong, Dw.; Zhu, Wt.; Sima, Xf. J Environ Monit. 2011, 13, 1975-1982.	
43.	43. Gou, N.; Gu, A. Z. Environ Sci Technol. 2011, 45, 5410-5417.	
44.	44. Fabrega, J.; Renshaw, J. C.; Lead, J. R. Environ Sci Technol. 2009 , 43, 9004-9009.	
45.	45. Hu, C.; Li, M.; Wang, W.; Cui, Y.; Chen, J.; Yang, L. Toxicol Environ Chem. 2012, 94, 732-741.	
46.	46. Manier, N.; Bado-Nilles, A.; Delalain, P.; Aguerre-Chariol, O.; Pandard, P. Environ Pollut. 2013, 180, 63-70.	
47.	47. Rodea-Palomares, I.; Boltes, K.; Fernandez-Pinas, F.; Leganes, F.; Garcia-Calvo, E.; Santiago, J.; Rosal, R. Toxicol Sci. 2011, 11	'9, 135-
	145.	
48.	48. Long, Z.; Ji, J.; Yang, K.; Lin, D.; Wu, F. Environ Sci Technol. 2012, 46, 8458-8466.	
49.	49. Liu, S.; Wei, L.; Hao, L.; Fang, N.; Chang, M. W.; Xu, R.; Yang, Y.; Chen, Y. ACS Nano. 2009, 3, 3891-3902.	
50.	50. Templeton, R. C.; Ferguson, P. L.; Washburn, K. M.; Scrivens, W. A.; Chandler, G. T. Environ Sci Technol. 2006, 40, 7387-7393	3.
51.	51. Simon-Deckers, A.; Loo, S.; Mayne-L'Hermite, M.; Herlin-Boime, N.; Menguy, N.; Reynaud, C.; Gouget, B.; Carriere, M. Envir.	on Sci
	<i>lechnol.</i> 2009, 43, 8423-8429.	
52.	52. Xiong, D.; Fang, T.; Yu, L.; Sima, X.; Zhu, W. Sci Total Environ. 2011, 409, 1444-1452.	
53.	53. Lee, WM.; An, YJ. Chemosphere. 2013, 91, 536-544.	
54.	54. Dasari, T. P.; Hwang, HM. <i>Sci Total Environ.</i> 2010 , 408, 5817-5823.	
55.	55. Nair, P. M. G.; Park, S. Y.; Choi, J. <i>Chemosphere</i> . 2013 , <i>92</i> , 592-599.	
56.	56. Zhang, H.; He, X.; Zhang, Z.; Zhang, P.; Li, Y.; Ma, Y.; Kuang, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Chai, Z. Environ Sci Technol. 2011, 45, 3725-3730	0.
57.	57. Pereira, M. M.; Mouton, L.; Yepremian, C.; Coute, A.; Lo, J.; Marconcini, J. M.; Ladeira, L. O.; Raposo, N. R. B.; Brandao, H. N	И .;
	Brayner, R. J Nanobiotechnology. 2014, 12.	
58.	58. Klaper, R.; Crago, J.; Barr, J.; Arndt, D.; Setyowati, K.; Chen, J. Environ Pollut. 2009, 157, 1152-1156.	
59.	59. Hao, L.; Wang, Z.; Xing, B. J Environ Sci-China. 2009, 21, 1459-1466.	
60.	60. Kumar, A.; Pandey, A. K.; Singh, S. S.; Shanker, R.; Dhawan, A. Free Radical Biol Med. 2011 , 51, 1872-1881.	
61.	61. Hu, C. W.; Li, M.; Cui, Y. B.; Li, D. S.; Chen, J.; Yang, L. Y. Soil Biol Biochem. 2010, 42, 586-591.	
62.	62. Hao, L.; Chen, L. <i>Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.</i> 2012 , <i>80</i> , 103-110.	

63.	3. Fahmy, S. R.; Abdel-Ghaffar, F.; Bakry, F. A.; Sayed, D. A. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 2014, 67, 192-202.
64.	4. Park, Sy.; Choi, J. Environ Eng Res. 2010, 15, 23-27.
65.	5. Nair, P. M. G.; Park, S. Y.; Lee, SW.; Choi, J. <i>Aquat Toxicol.</i> 2011, 101, 31-37.
66.	6. Ghosh, M.; Manivannan, J.; Sinha, S.; Chakraborty, A.; Mallick, S. K.; Bandyopadhyay, M.; Mukherjee, A. Mutat Res-Genet Toxicol
	Environ Mutag. 2012, 749, 60-69.
67.	7. Schwab, F.; Bucheli, T. D.; Lukhele, L. P.; Magrez, A.; Nowack, B.; Sigg, L.; Knauer, K. Environ Sci Technol. 2011, 45, 6136-6144.
68.	8. Gaiser, B. K.; Biswas, A.; Rosenkranz, P.; Jepson, M. A.; Lead, J. R.; Stone, V.; Tyler, C. R.; Fernandes, T. F. J Environ Monit. 2011, 13,
	1227-1235.
69.	9. Artells, E.; Issartel, J.; Auffan, M.; Borschneck, D.; Thill, A.; Tella, M.; Brousset, L.; Rose, J.; Bottero, JY.; Thiery, A. PLoS One. 2013,
i	o.
70.	0. Dabrunz, A.; Duester, L.; Prasse, C.; Seitz, F.; Rosenfeldt, R.; Schilde, C.; Schaumann, G. E.; Schulz, R. <i>PLoS One</i> . 2011, 6.
71.	1. Farkas, J.; Christian, P.; Urrea, J. A. G.; Roos, N.; Hassellov, M.; Tollefsen, K. E.; Thomas, K. V. Aquat Toxicol. 2010, 96, 44-52.
72.	 Fabrega, J.; Zhang, R.; Renshaw, J. C.; Liu, WT.; Lead, J. R. Chemosphere. 2011, 85, 961-966.
73.	3. Resano, M.; Lapena, A. C.; Belarra, M. A. <i>Anal Methods</i> . 2013 , <i>5</i> , 1130-1139.
74.	4. Musante, C.; White, J. C. <i>Environ Toxicol.</i> 2012 , <i>27</i> , 510-517.
75.	5. Bourdiol, F.; Mouchet, F.; Perrault, A.; Fourquaux, I.; Datas, L.; Gancet, C.; Boutonnet, JC.; Pinelli, E.; Gauthier, L.; Flahaut, E. Carbon
	2013, 54, 175-191.
76.	6. Hanna, S. K.; Miller, R. J.; Lenihan, H. S. <i>J Hazard Mater</i> . 2014, <i>279</i> , 32-37.
77.	7. Petersen, E. J.; Akkanen, J.; Kukkonen, J. V. K.; Weber, W. J., Jr. Environ Sci Technol. 2009, 43, 2969-2975.
78.	8. Petersen, E. J.; Pinto, R. A.; Mai, D. J.; Landrum, P. F.; Weber, W. J., Jr. Environ Sci Technol. 2011, 45, 1133-1138.
79.	9. Dai, L.; Syberg, K.; Banta, G. T.; Selck, H.; Forbes, V. E. ACS Sustain Chem Eng. 2013, 1, 760-767.
80.	0. Hu, J.; Wang, D.; Wang, J.; Wang, J. <i>Environ Pollut.</i> 2012 , <i>162</i> , 216-222.
81.	1. Chen, PJ.; Tan, SW.; Wu, WL. Environ Sci Technol. 2012, 46, 8431-8439.
82.	2. Pakarinen, K.; Petersen, E. J.; Leppanen, M. T.; Akkanen, J.; Kukkonen, J. V. K. Environ Pollut. 2011, 159, 3750-3756.
83.	3. Pakarinen, K.; Petersen, E. J.; Alvila, L.; Waissi-Leinonen, G. C.; Akkanen, J.; Leppanen, M. T.; Kukkonen, J. V. K. Environ Toxicol
	Chem. 2013, 32, 1224-1232.
84.	4. Zhu, X.; Zhu, L.; Chen, Y.; Tian, S. <i>J Nanopart Res.</i> 2009, <i>11</i> , 67-75.
85.	5. Jovanovic, B.; Guzman, H. M. <i>Environ Toxicol Chem.</i> 2014 , <i>33</i> , 1346-1353.
86.	6. Zhu, X.; Chang, Y.; Chen, Y. <i>Chemosphere</i> . 2010 , <i>78</i> , 209-215.
87.	7. Sun, H.; Zhang, X.; Niu, Q.; Chen, Y.; Crittenden, J. C. Water Air Soil Poll. 2007, 178, 245-254.
88.	8. Zhang, X.; Sun, H.; Zhang, Z.; Niu, Q.; Chen, Y.; Crittenden, J. C. <i>Chemosphere</i> . 2007 , <i>67</i> , 160-166.
89.	9. Sun, H.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, Z.; Chen, Y.; Crittenden, J. C. <i>Environ Pollut.</i> 2009 , <i>157</i> , 1165-1170.
90.	0. Zhu, X.; Wang, J.; Zhang, X.; Chang, Y.; Chen, Y. <i>Chemosphere</i> . 2010 , <i>79</i> , 928-933.
91.	1. Larue, C.; Castillo-Michel, H.; Sobanska, S.; Trcera, N.; Sorieul, S.; Cecillon, L.; Ouerdane, L.; Legros, S.; Sarret, G. J Hazard Mater.
	2014, 273, 17-26.
92.	2. Larue, C.; Laurette, J.; Herlin-Boime, N.; Khodja, H.; Fayard, B.; Flank, AM.; Brisset, F.; Carriere, M. Sci Total Environ. 2012, 431, 197
	208.
93.	3. Asghari, S.; Johari, S. A.; Lee, J. H.; Kim, Y. S.; Jeon, Y. B.; Choi, H. J.; Moon, M. C.; Yu, I. J. JNanobiotechnology. 2012, 10.

94. 05	Schwabe, F.; Schulin, R.; Limbach, L. K.; Stark, W.; Buerge, D.; Nowack, B. <i>Chemosphere.</i> 2013 , <i>91</i> , 512-520.
.c. 96	Mwangi, J. N.; wang, N.; mgersoll, C. G.; Hardesty, D. K.; Brunson, E. L.; Li, H.; Deng, B. <i>Environ 1 oxicol Chem.</i> 2012 , <i>31</i> , 1823-1830. Martinez, D. S. T.; Faria, A. F.; Berni, E.; Souza Filho, A. G.; Almeida, G.; Caloto-Oliveira, A.; Grossman, M. J.; Durrant, L. R.;
	Umbuzeiro, G. A.; Alves, O. L. Process Biochem. 2014, 49, 1162-1168.
97.	Roberts, A. P.; Mount, A. S.; Seda, B.; Souther, J.; Qiao, R.; Lin, S.; Ke, P. C.; Rao, A. M.; Klaine, S. J. Environ Sci Technol. 2007, 41,
	3025-3029.
98.	Lin, S.; Reppert, J.; Hu, Q.; Hudson, J. S.; Reid, M. L.; Ratnikova, T. A.; Rao, A. M.; Luo, H.; Ke, P. C. Small. 2009, 5, 1128-1132.
99.	Planchon, M.; Ferrari, R.; Guyot, F.; Gelabert, A.; Menguy, N.; Chaneac, C.; Thill, A.; Benedetti, M. F.; Spalla, O. Colloids Surf B
	Biointerfaces. 2013, 102, 158-164.
100.	Li, L.; Sillanpaa, M.; Tuominen, M.; Lounatmaa, K.; Schultz, E. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2013, 88, 89-94.
101.	Jarvis, T. A.; Miller, R. J.; Lenihan, H. S.; Bielmyer, G. K. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2013, 32, 1264-1269.
102.	Lin, D.; Xing, B. Environ Sci Technol. 2008, 42, 5580-5585.
103.	Mouchet, F.; Landois, P.; Puech, P.; Pinelli, E.; Flahaut, E.; Gauthier, L. Nanomedicine. 2010, 5, 963-974.
104.	Kennedy, A. J.; Gunter, J. C.; Chappell, M. A.; Goss, J. D.; Hull, M. S.; Kirgan, R. A.; Steevens, J. A. Environ Toxicol Chem. 2009, 28,
	1930-1938.
105.	Kowk, K. W. H.; Leung, K. M. Y.; Flahaut, E.; Cheng, J.; Cheng, S. H. Nanomedicine. 2010, 5, 951-961.
106.	Chan, T. S. Y.; Nasser, F.; St-Denis, C. H.; Mandal, H. S.; Ghafari, P.; Hadjout-Rabi, N.; Bols, N. C.; Tang, X. Nanotoxicology. 2013, 7,
	251-258.
107.	Strigul, N.; Vaccari, L.; Galdun, C.; Wazne, M.; Liu, X.; Christodoulatos, C.; Jasinkiewicz, K. Desalination. 2009, 248, 771-782.
108.	Kim, K. T.; Klaine, S. J.; Cho, J.; Kim, SH.; Kim, S. D. Sci Total Environ. 2010, 408, 2268-2272.
109.	Galloway, T.; Lewis, C.; Dolciotti, I.; Johnston, B. D.; Moger, J.; Regoli, F. Environ Pollut. 2010, 158, 1748-1755.
110.	Kumar, A.; Pandey, A. K.; Singh, S. S.; Shanker, R.; Dhawan, A. Cytometry Part A. 2011, 79A, 707-712.
111.	Dalai, S.; Pakrashi, S.; Chandrasekaran, N.; Mukherjee, A. PLoS One. 2013, 8.

PUBLICATION III

Juganson, K., Mortimer, M., Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., Kahru, A. (2013). Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*. *Environmental Science-Processes & Impacts* 15, 244-250.

Copyright \bigcirc The Royal Society of Chemistry 2013. Authors are permitted to reproduce the whole article in a thesis or dissertation.

Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts

PAPER

RSCPublishing

View Article Online View Journal | View Issue

Cite this: Environ. Sci.: Processes Impacts, 2013, **15**, 244

Received 1st September 2012 Accepted 29th November 2012

DOI: 10.1039/c2em30731f

rsc.li/process-impacts

Environmental impact

Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*†

Katre Juganson, ^{ab} Monika Mortimer,^{*a} Angela Ivask,^a Kaja Kasemets^a and Anne Kahru^a

In the current study, cell-free exudates of the ciliated protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila* were shown to progressively convert silver nitrate to silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) under illumination at ambient temperature. The formation of Ag NPs in the reaction mixture was evidenced by gradual colour changes, appearance of a specific absorbance peak (420–450 nm) and visualization using scanning electron microscopy coupled to an energy-dispersive X-ray spectrometer. After 2 h of incubation the mean hydrodynamic size of the Ag NPs was 70 nm. Seven days of incubation resulted in larger agglomerates and a significant decrease in silver toxicity to *T. thermophila*, accompanied by about 100-fold reduction in the silver ion concentration. Protein analysis indicated an extensive extracellular protein binding by the Ag NPs formed in the protozoan exudates. As protozoa are important components in wastewater treatment, their ability to sequester silver ions into a less bioavailable and less toxic form of silver (e.g. NPs) may be one of the adaption mechanisms of ciliate survival in contaminated environments.

The use of silver nanoparticles (Ag NPs) in various consumer products has remarkably increased during the last few decades. Thus, it is more likely that such materials are released into the environment and the silver ion (Ag^{-1}) concentrations will increase due to dissolution of Ag NPs. It is therefore imperative to assess their potential adverse effects on different trophic levels. The current work describes the possible adaptation mechanisms of the fresh-water ciliated protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila* to elevated silver concentrations in the environment. It was shown that the protozoan exudates reduced the concentration of Ag^{+} by forming Ag NPs, which were less toxic to *T. thermophila* compared to Ag^{+} .

Introduction

The rapid development of nanotechnology over the past few decades has resulted in an increasing presence of engineered nanoparticles (NPs) in consumer commodities. According to the Woodrow Wilson Database in March 2011 there were more than 1300 consumer products on the market incorporating NPs, and 313 of them containing silver (Ag).¹ Mainly due to their antimicrobial properties, Ag NPs are used in various biomedical applications, food preservation, water and air purification, household products, cosmetics, clothing, and goods for children.²⁻⁴ These antimicrobial properties are shown to rely upon the slow dissolution of NPs,^{5,6} as Ag ions are considered one of

the most toxic forms of heavy metals to microorganisms as well as other forms of life.⁷

Despite the high toxicity of Ag compounds, a number of organisms have been identified to be capable of forming Ag NPs *in vivo.*⁸ Specifically, bacteria, fungi, algae and other organisms that are capable of synthesizing Ag NPs either intra- or extracellularly have already been successfully applied for the green synthesis of nanosilver.⁹

The main driving force for NP biosynthesis by the microorganisms is presumably derived from the need for detoxification of Ag ions into insoluble, less or nontoxic nanoclusters.^{10,11} Although the current focus on biosynthesis of Ag NPs has shifted from empirical observations towards mechanistic studies, the exact mechanisms explaining the formation of these NPs remain to be elucidated.¹² For example, it has been shown that peptides containing arginine, cysteine, lysine and methionine were capable of reducing silver ions and could further promote the growth of Ag nanocrystals.¹³ Parikh *et al.*¹⁴ reported the formation of Ag NPs by cell-free supernatant of bacteria *Morganella sp.* and suggested that the NPs were formed as a result of silver-specific proteins secreted by the bacteria.

^eLaboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, Tallinn 12618, Estonia. E-mail: monika.mortimer@kbfi. ee; Fax: +372 639 8382; Tel: +372 639 8382

^bDepartment of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn, 12618, Estonia

[†] Electronic supplementary information (ESI) available: SEM micrograph and the energy-dispersive X-ray spectrometry (EDS) spectrum of SEF-incubated AgNO₃ are provided in the supplementary file. See DOI: 10.1039/c2em30731f

Nitrate reductase has been proposed as one of the key enzymes in reducing Ag ions to metallic silver and the activity of this enzyme was shown to increase in certain bacteria, fungi and plants in the presence of AgNO₃.¹² Kumar *et al.*¹⁵ provided further evidence on the role of this enzyme in Ag ion reduction, demonstrating that Ag NPs could be synthesized *in vitro* using purified nitrate reductase from fungi *Fusarium oxysporum* in the presence of phytochelatin, 4-hydroxyquinoline and NADPH.

Until now the formation of Ag NPs as a possible route to Ag ion detoxification has been studied mainly in fungi and bacteria.11 However, the increasing use of Ag NPs in consumer products is expected to result in elevated Ag levels in the environment¹⁶ and thus the capability of other biological species to cope with the toxic amounts of Ag NPs should also be studied. After bacteria, ciliates constitute the second most relevant and abundant community actively participating in the wastewater treatment process.17,18 The unicellular protozoa of genus Tetrahymena are freshwater ciliates that have been used as model organisms for environmental research for decades.19 However, no information on the interactions between protozoa and Ag ions and their possible conversion to NPs by ciliate protozoa in the environment is available. Moreover, according to a recent review by Kahru and Dubourguier,20 toxicity data for Ag NPs towards ciliates are practically non-existent in the literature. Kvitek et al.21 showed that a 1 h LC50 value for Ag NPs towards ciliate Paramecium caudatum was 39 mg L^{-1} and that the surfactant/polymer modification could increase the toxicity of the Ag NPs against these organisms. According to Shi et al.22 Ag NPs were toxic to *T. pyriformis* (IC50 = 1.5 mg L^{-1}); however, they demonstrated that light irradiation decreased the toxicity.

In this study, we show that the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of *Tetrahymena thermophila* can affect the toxicity of AgNO₃ by reducing Ag ions and promoting the formation of Ag NPs. The formed Ag NPs were characterized by UV-Vis spectroscopy, dynamic light scattering (DLS) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Specifically, we show that the protein fraction of SEF facilitates the formation of the Ag NPs.

Experimental

Materials

AgNO₃ was purchased from J.T. Baker and silver NPs (nominal particle size < 100 nm; further designated as "Sigma-Ag NPs") from Sigma-Aldrich. All chemicals used in the study were of analytical grade. The stock suspensions/solutions of Sigma-Ag NPs (54 g L⁻¹) and AgNO₃ (54 g Ag L⁻¹) and their further dilutions were prepared in deionized water (MilliQ, Millipore). The stock suspension containing Sigma-Ag NPs was ultrasonicated in Branson Ultrasonic Bath 1510 for 30 min. Both stock suspensions/solutions were stored at room temperature in the dark.

Characterisation of commercial silver nanoparticles

The hydrodynamic diameter and zeta potential of Sigma-Ag NPs (100 mg L^{-1}) in MilliQ water were measured using a Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern Instruments). Dissolution of Sigma-Ag NPs in

MilliQ water was measured at 205 mg L⁻¹ using an Ag ion selective electrode (Van London-pHoenix Company). The fraction of dissolved Ag was calculated based on a calibration curve constructed using aqueous solutions of AgNO₃ with different concentrations (10.8 μ g–1.08 g Ag⁺ L⁻¹). SEM images of Sigma-Ag NPs have been published in our previous article by Ivask *et al.*²³

Preparation of soluble extracellular fraction of *Tetrahymena* thermophila

Protozoan culture (*T. thermophila* strain BIII) was cultivated essentially as described by Mortimer *et al.*²⁴ The cells were harvested during the exponential growth phase (5×10^5 cells mL⁻¹) by centrifugation at 300g for 5 min at 4 °C and washed twice with MilliQ water. The number of cells was quantified by counting in a haemocytometer (Neubauer Improved, bright line; Germany) after immobilisation in 5% formalin.

Harvested and washed *T. thermophila* was incubated in MilliQ water on an orbital shaker at 100 rpm, $30 \degree C$ for 24 h. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 300g for 5 min at $4 \degree C$ and the supernatant was further purified from the cellular debris and membranous fraction by ultracentrifugation at 390 000g for 1 h at 20 $\degree C$. The obtained supernatant was designated as "soluble extracellular fraction" (SEF).

Characterisation of silver nanoparticles formed from silver nitrate in the soluble extracellular fraction of *Tetrahymena thermophila*

AgNO₃ (108 mg Ag L⁻¹) was added to SEF and incubated in 50 mL polypropylene centrifugation tubes (Falcon) on a shaker (150 rpm; Certomat MO II, B. Braun) at 25 °C with illumination from below using Philips TL-D 38 W aquarelle fluorescent tubes. The samples were collected after 0, 2, 24 h and 7 days of incubation. The resulting mixtures were further designated as "SEF-Ag".

Colour changes in SEF-Ag were monitored both visually and using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer. The absorbance spectra induced by the surface plasmon resonance of Ag NPs in SEF were recorded between 300 and 700 nm (Multiskan Spectrum, Thermo Scientific).

The hydrodynamic diameter of formed Ag NPs was measured using a Zetasizer Nano ZS. The particles formed after 2 and 24 h of incubation were visualized using SEM (Zeiss EVO MA 15). Silver ion concentrations in the samples were quantified using an Ag ion selective electrode (see above).

To analyse the protein composition of SEF before and after incubation with AgNO₃, SEF and SEF-Ag samples were concentrated 20-fold *via* freeze-drying. For sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), the samples were denatured with SDS-sample buffer for 5 min at 100 °C. The proteins were separated on 14% acrylamide gel using constant amperage (35 mA). The proteins were visualized with silver staining and a quantitative analysis of proteins was performed using TotalLabQuant software (Totallab, UK).

For the toxicity analysis the SEF-Ag samples collected after 0, 2, 24 h and 7 days were stored at -18 °C. Prior to the assay, the

samples were thawed and diluted 2-, 4-, 8-, 16- and 32-fold with MilliQ water.

Exposure of Tetrahymena thermophila to toxicants

For toxicity analysis 100 µL of harvested and washed T. thermophila suspension in MilliQ water was added to 100 µL of the solution/suspension of Ag compounds (AgNO3, SEF-Ag or Sigma-Ag NPs) that were previously diluted in MilliQ water in 96-well polystyrene plates (Falcon). The following nominal concentrations (chosen according to pre-screening results) were used in the toxicity testing: 1.6, 1.9, 3.2, 3.8, 5.1 and 6.4 mg Ag L⁻¹ of AgNO₃; 1.7, 3.4, 6.8, 13.5, 27 and 54 mg Ag L⁻¹ of SEF-Ag; and 50, 100, 150, 200 and 500 mg L^{-1} of Sigma-Ag NPs. Each concentration was tested in three replicates and the final cell density in the test was 5×10^5 cells mL⁻¹. Protozoan suspension in MilliQ water and Ag compounds in MilliQ water were used as non-treated and abiotic controls, respectively. The test plates were incubated on a microplate shaker (300 rpm, Heidolph Titramax 1000) at 25 °C. The pH of T. thermophila suspension in MilliQ water did not change significantly upon the addition of Ag compounds and remained unchanged for 24 h (pH = 6.6 \pm 0.3). After 2- and 24 h exposure 100 μ L of the cell suspension was sampled from each well, and viability of the cells was determined by measuring the ATP content using the luciferin-luciferase method essentially as described by Mortimer et al.24

Cells were visualized using a light microscope (Olympus CX41) equipped with a DP71 camera.

Data analysis

The ATP concentration in the samples was expressed as a percentage of the non-treated control. The EC50 (effective concentration leading to a 50% loss in cell viability) values with 95% confidence interval were calculated from concentration–effect curves using the REGTOX software for Microsoft Excel[™].²⁵

Results

Toxicity of silver nitrate to Tetrahymena thermophila

The EC50 values of AgNO₃ to *T. thermophila* calculated from the ATP concentration data were not significantly different after 2and 24 h exposure (1.8 and 1.5 mg Ag L⁻¹, respectively, Table 1). However, visualisation of the AgNO₃-exposed *T. thermophila* cultures under the light microscope indicated a moderate

 Table 1
 The toxicity^a (EC50, mg L⁻¹) of silver nitrate and Sigma-Ag NPs to Tetrahymena thermophila after 2- and 24 h exposure in MilliQ water

Exposure time	$EC50^b$, mg Ag L ⁻¹		
	AgNO ₃	Sigma-Ag NPs	
2 h 24 h	1.8 (1.7-3.6) 1.5 (1.5-1.6)	286 (233–454) 205 (133–503)	

 a Calculated from dose-response curves using ATP concentration as a viability endpoint. b Average values (95% confidence intervals) of at least three independent assays.

recovery of the protozoan culture after 24 h exposure compared to the 2 h exposed culture, indicated by the increased share of viable cells. Also, during the visual inspection of the assay wells containing *T. thermophila* culture exposed to the highest concentration of AgNO₃ a slight colour change from colourless to maroon was noted. As the toxicity assay was conducted in MilliQ water where no interfering media components were present, it was inferred that the colour change indicated potential changes in the speciation and/or transformation of AgNO₃ induced by the protozoan culture. To determine which cellular processes were responsible for the observed changes with AgNO₃, we isolated the protozoan exudates and examined their potential role in the transformation of AgNO₃.

Silver nanoparticle formation in the soluble extracellular fraction of *Tetrahymena thermophila*

Similar to the incubation of $AgNO_3$ in the protozoan culture, the addition of $AgNO_3$ to cell-free SEF of *T. thermophila* induced formation of maroon colour (Fig. 1, inset). Remarkably, during the same incubation period (up to 7 days), the colour change was detected only under the illuminated conditions but not in the dark (not shown). The intensity of the colour formed in SEF-Ag under illumination increased over time (Fig. 1, inset). After one week of incubation a black precipitate formed at the bottom of the incubation vessel.

The analysis of the UV-Vis absorbance spectra of the 2- and 24 h incubated SEF-Ag showed a clear surface plasmon resonance peak at 420–450 nm that is characteristic to Ag NPs (Fig. 1). After 7 days of incubation, the plasmon resonance peak of SEF-Ag was significantly broadened and its intensity was low (Fig. 1).

In Fig. 2A the size distribution of the particles formed in SEF-Ag is shown. After 2 h incubation the average hydrodynamic diameter of the formed NPs was 70 nm. In comparison, after





Paper

View Article Online

Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts



Fig. 2 (A) The size distribution of silver nanoparticles (NPs) formed after 2 h (dark blue bars) and 24 h (white bars) of the reaction of $AgNO_3$ (108 mg Ag L⁻¹ added at time zero) with the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of *Tetrahymena* thermophila, light blue bars indicate the overlap of the size distributions. (B) The concentration of silver ions in the mixture of 108 mg Ag L⁻¹ AgNO₃ and SEF of *T*. thermophila after 0, 2 and 24 h and 7 days of reaction; note the logarithmic scale of the v-axis.

24 h of incubation the mean particle size increased to 105 nm and after 7 days the particle size exceeded the measurement range of the Zetasizer Nano ZS (up to 10 μ m). The formation of particles was accompanied by a decrease of silver ion concentration in SEF-Ag (Fig. 2B).

Interestingly, although 108 mg Ag L^{-1} of AgNO₃ was added to SEF, only about 70 mg Ag⁺ L^{-1} was detectable by the ion selective electrode at the zero time point (Fig. 2B). Thus, the addition of SEF immediately decreased the concentration of Ag ions in AgNO₃ solution, apparently due to the immediate binding of silver ions to proteins and/or changed Ag speciation. The concentration of silver ions decreased even more over time and after 7-day incubation the concentration of silver ions in SEF was about 100 times lower (~0.9 mg Ag L^{-1}) compared to the initial nominal concentration.

The literature suggests that peptides and proteins may be responsible for the biotic formation of Ag NPs from Ag ions. Therefore we studied changes in the protein composition of SEF after its reaction with AgNO₃. According to SDS-PAGE, the most prevalent proteins in SEF were within the size range of 22–34 kDa (indicated by a square bracket in Fig. 3). During the reaction of SEF with AgNO₃, the amount of those proteins decreased compared to the pure SEF incubated under the same conditions. The intensity of the protein bands of 22–34 kDa size range in the SEF incubated with AgNO₃ for 2 h and 24 h decreased by 75% (Fig. 3, lane 4) and 85% (Fig. 3, lane 6), respectively. No proteins within the size range of 22–34 kDa were detected in SEF after 7-day incubation (Fig. 3, lane 8).



Fig. 3 SDS-PAGE analysis of the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of *Tetrahymena thermophila* and SEF incubated with AgNO₃ for 2 and 24 h and 7 days. The gel was silver stained; * SEF incubated with AgNO₃ (108 mg Ag L⁻¹ added at time zero); '[' proteins within the size range of 22–34 kDa.

Comparison of toxicity of SEF-Ag and Sigma-Ag NPs to Tetrahymena thermophila

The Ag particles formed in SEF-Ag were further analysed by SEM in the backscattered electron imaging mode. After 24 h of incubation of SEF-Ag, silver NPs were formed (Fig. S1[†]).

Given that (i) microscopic evaluation revealed a slight recovery of the *T. thermophila* culture upon exposure to $AgNO_3$ for 24 h compared to 2 h exposure and (ii) during that time, Ag NPs were formed, we propose that the observed recovery of the protozoan culture with an increasing exposure period could be associated with the decreasing concentrations of Ag ions *via* Ag NP formation. Indeed, when *T. thermophila* was exposed to SEF-Ag collected after different incubation times, the longer incubated SEF-Ag was less toxic as indicated by the less steep slope of the dose–effect curve and the higher EC50 values (Fig. 4).

To confirm that Ag NPs are less toxic to *T. thermophila* than AgNO₃, we chose commercial Ag NPs (herein designated as Sigma-Ag NPs) that were of comparable size with the NPs formed in SEF-Ag. The average hydrodynamic diameter of



Fig. 4 The effect of $AgNO_3$ pre-incubated in the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of *Tetrahymena thermophila* for 0, 2 and 24 h and 7 days on the viability of *T. thermophila*. On the logarithmic *x*-axis are the nominal concentrations of $AgNO_3$ added to SEF at t = 0 h. The percentage of dead cells was calculated by measuring the ATP concentration after 2 h of incubation of protozoa with test samples. Data points are the mean values of at least 3 independent experiments, error bars indicate standard deviation.

Table 2 Characterisation of the Sigma-Ag NPs in MilliQ water

Hydrodynamic diameter	147 nm	
Zeta potential	-51 mV	
Polydispersity index	0.48	
Solubility in time ^a		
0 h	$0.42 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$	0.20%
2 h	$0.56 \pm 0.04 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$	0.3%
24 h	$0.86 \pm 0.06 \ mg \ L^{-1}$	0.42%

^{*a*} The concentration of silver ions, measured in the suspension of Sigma-Ag NPs (nominal concentration 205 mg L⁻¹ *i.e.*, 24 h EC50 value for *T. thermophila*) in MilliQ water.



Fig. 5 Images of *Tetrahymena thermophila* under a light microscope. (A) Control cell, (B) after 2 h exposure to Sigma-Ag NPs at 100 mg L⁻¹, and (C) after 24 h exposure to SEF-Ag at 7 mg Ag L⁻¹. Black arrows indicate food vacuoles filled with agglomerates of silver NPs.

Sigma-Ag NPs was 147 nm. On the other hand, the polydispersity index of these commercial NPs was 0.48, indicating that the sample was not monodisperse and contained also larger agglomerates. Also, Ag ion concentration in the suspension of Sigma-Ag NPs in MilliQ water was very low: after 24 h only 0.42% (0.86 mg L^{-1} of 205 mg L^{-1}) of Ag was dissolved (Table 2).

Compared to AgNO₃, Sigma-Ag NPs were indeed remarkably less toxic: the EC50 values of the Sigma-Ag NPs were between 205 and 286 mg L⁻¹, while the EC50 values of AgNO₃ varied from 1.5 to 1.8 mg Ag L⁻¹ (Table 1). This indicates that the formation of Ag NPs from Ag ions could be one of the defence mechanisms of *T. thermophila* against the toxic silver ions. Remarkably, we also observed that Ag NPs could be taken up and stored intracellularly in the food vacuoles of *T. thermophila* (Fig. 5). Visual observations at different time periods revealed that the ingested Ag NPs further agglomerated in the food vacuoles of *T. thermophila*.

Discussion

The increasing use of Ag NPs in industrial and household applications likely leads to the release of Ag NPs to the environment, where the particles may either agglomerate or dissolve to impact the food chain.^{16,26} Dissolved silver ions are very toxic to most invertebrate, plant and fish species, and the LC50 values of AgNO₃ have been documented to be between 0.1 and 1 mg L⁻¹. According to Ratte⁷ the most sensitive freshwater organisms to AgNO₃ are the crustaceans (LC50_{Daphnia} magna,48 h = 0.5–35 µg L⁻¹), and the least sensitive the amphipod Hyalella azteca (LC50 = 1.6–397.7 mg L⁻¹). According to the current study, the freshwater protozoan *T. thermophila* showed a higher

tolerance to silver nitrate (EC50 values 1–2 mg Ag L⁻¹; Table 1) than other freshwater invertebrates. Such results are remarkable considering the fact that the toxicity assays were performed in MilliQ water, where the effects of the medium components on the Ag ion complexation and speciation were eliminated. Nevertheless, our results support the data reported by Shi *et al.*²² who showed that 1.5 mg Ag L⁻¹ of AgNO₃ resulted in ~60% growth inhibition of *Tetrahymena pyriformis*. Moreover, *T. thermophila* has been shown to be less sensitive to most toxic substances compared to other aquatic standard test species²⁷ and it possesses many ABC transporters associated with resistance to multiple drugs and toxins.²⁸ These features are presumably a result of the adaption to high environmental concentrations of pollutants as protozoa are also present in the wastewater purification process.²⁹

Even though in the current study the toxicity testing of AgNO₃ to T. thermophila was done in MilliQ water, with the aim of minimising any complexation and sedimentation of Ag ions as insoluble salts, the effect of the test organism to the speciation of the toxicant is also an important factor to consider. This was clearly demonstrated as the extensive formation of Ag NPs from Ag ions and further agglomeration of the NPs could occur in the SEF of T. thermophila (Fig. 1, inset). As several microorganisms have been shown to be capable of synthesising Ag NPs from Ag ions both intra- and extracellularly,9 it could be assumed that T. thermophila secreted Ag+-reducing compounds into the surrounding environment. Interestingly, under the illuminated conditions the colour changes in the test environment appeared within minutes, whereas no colour change was observed in the dark even after 7 days of incubation. This evidence is in agreement with the data reported by Nam et al.30 and Mokhtari et al.31 who pointed out that the biosynthesis of Ag NPs from Ag ions is promoted by the visible light. Nam et al.30 showed that silver ions were photoreduced in the presence of the carboxylic acid-containing peptides and ambient light. Peptides and proteins could be most likely involved in the Ag NP biosynthesis also in SEF of T. thermophila as the protozoan is known to release various acid hydrolases into the extracellular medium.32 Madinger et al.33 found that under starving conditions T. thermophila secreted ~30 different proteins, most of which were proteases. It has been shown that the peptides containing amino acid moieties such as arginine, cysteine, lysine and methionine reduced Ag ions and formed silver NPs of a wide size distribution.13 The Ag NPs formed in the SEF of T. thermophila in the current study were also characterised by high polydispersity in their hydrodynamic size (Fig. 2A) and the broad peaks in the UV-Vis spectra (Fig. 1). It is known that in the biological fluids NPs readily become coated by proteins leading to the formation of protein corona.34 Such corona has been shown to stabilize the NPs resulting in a more stable aqueous suspension35 but may also play a role of creating a chemically reducing environment around the silver clusters and promote crystal growth.12 Our result from SDS-PAGE analysis (Fig. 3) confirmed the involvement of proteins in Ag NP formation as in SEF-Ag the amount of proteins decreased in time. SEF proteins within the size range of 22-34 kDa seemed to show a specifically higher affinity for the Ag NPs at first.

Nevertheless, after 7 days of incubation all of the proteins in SEF-Ag appeared to be bound, as indicated by the lack of the protein bands in SDS-PAGE (Fig. 3). This suggests that under the conditions of the current study, where an excess amount of AgNO3 was used, formation of Ag NPs was limited by the amount of proteins secreted by T. thermophila, particularly considering the aggregation and precipitation of Ag particles after 7-day incubation. The role of proteins and peptides in the formation and growth of Ag NPs in SEF was further supported by the UV-Vis analysis of SEF-Ag (Fig. 1). The absorption spectra obtained from the SEF-Ag samples were consistent with the literature, with the absorption maximum of the biosynthesised Ag NPs occurring in the range of 400 to 450 nm.36,37 As the amplitude of the absorbance peak is proportional to the concentration of Ag NPs,38 the increase in absorbance observed after 24 h of incubation compared to the first 2 h of incubation indicated the increased number of Ag NPs over time. As it has been discussed previously in a study on the formation of Ag NP-human serum albumin (HSA) corona, the characteristic peak of the surface plasmon resonance of Ag NPs becomes red-shifted upon the binding of dielectric HSA molecules onto the Ag NP.³⁹ In our study, the characteristic absorbance peak of Ag NPs was identified at 445 nm after 2 h incubation and the peak maximum was shifted towards the shorter wavelength of 425 nm after 24 h incubation of SEF-Ag (Fig. 1). This phenomenon could be explained as follows (schematically illustrated in Fig. 6): during the first hours of the Ag NP formation the number of NPs was low enough to allow sufficient coating of NPs by the proteins excreted by T. thermophila. As the concentration of Ag NPs increased over time, as indicated by the higher absorbance peak in the UV-Vis spectrum after 24 h, the free and weakly bound SEF proteins (soft corona) disassembled from the earlier formed Ag NPs to coat the newly formed Ag crystals. During this process the average thickness of the protein corona surrounding the increasing number of Ag NPs decreased (hard corona was formed), which was reflected by the shift of the absorbance peak towards the lower wavelength. At the final stage, when the proteins were entirely consumed by Ag particles, while continuously reducing the excess Ag ions and promoting the NP formation, the uncoated Ag NPs started to aggregate and precipitate. This process was characterised by the broad and less intense absorbance peak obtained after 7 days of incubation that coincided with the visual observations and the



Fig. 6 Schematic illustration of the hypothetical mechanism for the formation of silver nanoparticles assisted by the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Soft SEF corona – proteins are weakly bound to nanoparticles; hard SEF corona – proteins are strongly bound to nanoparticles.

DLS measurements (Fig. 2A). The proposed reaction is also supported by the complete disappearance of the protein bands in the 7-day samples of the SDS-PAGE analysis.

The possible toxicity mechanisms of Ag NPs are still under discussion in the scientific community: some have proposed that the toxicity of Ag NPs is solely caused by dissolved Ag ions, others suggest that the particle itself also has a role.⁴⁰ Conflicting results can also arise as one particle might have different mechanisms in different organisms as has been demonstrated in the case of CuO NPs.^{24,41} Our results support the contribution of Ag ions to Ag NP toxicity in protozoa as longer incubation of SEF-Ag, which resulted in the formation and growth of Ag NPs accompanied by the decrease in Ag ion concentration, leads to the decreased toxicity of SEF-Ag.

It has been proposed in the literature that the biosynthesis of Ag NPs is one of the detoxification routes for Ag ions.10,11 Although several organisms synthesize Ag NPs intracellularly,9 T. thermophila created an environment that reduced Ag ions to Ag NPs extracellularly. Considering the fact that Ag NPs were less toxic to T. thermophila than Ag ions and the toxicity of Ag NPs decreased with the increasing size of the particle, we attribute the formation of Ag NPs catalysed by SEF as one of the primary adaptation mechanisms of T. thermophila to toxic metal ions. Further, the formed Ag NPs were taken up and stored intracellularly in the food vacuoles of T. thermophila. Indeed, Martín-González et al.42 proposed that biocomplexation could be an important mechanism of resistance of ciliated protozoa to toxic metal ions. The latter mechanism may be one of the adaptational tools for protozoa living in the metal-polluted environments.

Conclusions

The current study demonstrated for the first time that Ag ions were rapidly reduced to Ag NPs by the soluble extracellular fraction (SEF) of the ciliated protozoan *T. thermophila* under illumination at ambient temperature. The proteins of *T. thermophila* SEF were associated with the NP formation and might have also played a role in promoting NP growth. As incubation of silver in SEF reduced its toxicity to *T. thermophila*, formation of Ag NPs may be one of the response mechanisms of the organism to toxic metal ions. The results of the study provide insight into the dynamics of nanomaterials in the aquatic environment by broadening the knowledge on NP formation mediated by cellular exudates, toxicity of NPs and released ions on aquatic species and eventually on other species in the food web.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Estonian targeted funding project SF0690063s08, ETF8561, ETF9001, Estonian Research Council project TERIKVANT and EU FP7 Project NanoValid (grant agreement no. 263147). We would like to thank H. Vija and A. Käkinen for experimental assistance, Prof. U. Kallavus (Tallinn University of Technology) for electron microscopy and Dr M. Samel for helpful consultation on SDS-PAGE.

Paper

References

- 1 W. Wilson, Consumer products inventory Project on Emerging Nanotechnologies, a project of the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, 2012, http:// www.nanotechproject.org.
- 2 J. S. Kim, E. Kuk, K. N. Yu, J. H. Kim, S. J. Park, H. J. Lee, S. H. Kim, Y. K. Park, Y. H. Park, C. Y. Hwang, Y. K. Kim, Y. S. Lee, D. H. Jeong and M. H. Cho, *Nanomedicine*, 2007, 3, 95–101.
- 3 C. Marambio-Jones and E. M. V. Hoek, J. Nanopart. Res., 2010, 12, 1531–1551.
- 4 M. K. Rai, S. D. Deshmukh, A. P. Ingle and A. K. Gade, J. Appl. Microbiol., 2012, 112, 841–852.
- 5 G. A. Sotiriou and S. E. Pratsinis, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2010, 44, 5649–5654.
- 6 X. Li and J. J. Lenhart, *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2012, 46, 5378–5386.
- 7 H. T. Ratte, Environ. Toxicol. Chem., 1999, 18, 89-108.
- 8 H. Korbekandi, S. Iravani and S. Abbasi, *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.*, 2009, **29**, 279–306.
- 9 R. Vaidyanathan, K. Kalishwaralal, S. Gopalram and S. Gurunathan, *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 2009, **27**, 924–937.
- 10 C. K. Carney, S. R. Harry, S. L. Sewell and D. W. Wright, *Top. Curr. Chem.*, 2007, 270, 155–185.
- 11 J. M. Slocik, M. R. Knecht and D. W. Wright, *Encycl. Nanosci.* Nanotechnol., 2004, 1, 293–308.
- 12 N. Durán, P. D. Marcato, M. Durán, A. Yadav, A. Gade and M. Rai, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 2011, 90, 1609–1624.
- 13 R. R. Naik, S. J. Stringer, G. Agarwal, S. E. Jones and M. O. Stone, *Nat. Mater.*, 2002, **1**, 169–172.
- 14 R. Y. Parikh, S. Singh, B. L. V. Prasad, M. S. Patole, M. Sastry and Y. S. Shouche, *ChemBioChem*, 2008, 9, 1415–1422.
- 15 S. A. Kumar, M. K. Abyaneh, S. W. Gosavi, S. K. Kulkarni, R. Pasricha, A. Ahmad and M. I. Khan, *Biotechnol. Lett.*, 2007, 29, 439–445.
- 16 B. Nowack and T. D. Bucheli, Environ. Pollut., 2007, 150, 5-22.
- 17 P. Madoni, Water Res., 1994, 28, 67-75.
- 18 R. J. Seviour and L. L. Blackall, *The Microbiology of Activated Sludge*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, London, 1999.
- 19 M. P. Sauvant, D. Pepin and E. Piccinni, *Chemosphere*, 1999, 38, 1631–1669.
- 20 A. Kahru and H. C. Dubourguier, *Toxicology*, 2010, **269**, 105–119.
- 21 L. Kvitek, M. Vanickova, A. Panacek, J. Soukupova, M. Dittrich, E. Valentova, R. Prucek, M. Bancirova, D. Milde and R. Zboril, *J. Phys. Chem. C*, 2009, **113**, 4296– 4300.

- 22 J.-P. Shi, C.-Y. Ma, B. Xu, H.-W. Zhang and C.-P. Yu, *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*, 2012, 31, 1630–1638.
- 23 A. Ivask, O. Bondarenko, N. Jepihhina and A. Kahru, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 2010, **398**, 701–716.
- 24 M. Mortimer, K. Kasemets and A. Kahru, *Toxicology*, 2010, 269, 182–189.
- 25 E. Vindimian, MSExcel macro REGTOX_EV7.0.5.xls, 2011, http://www.normalesup.org/~vindimian/.
- 26 M. Delay and F. H. Frimmel, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 2012, 402, 583–592.
- 27 A. Gerhardt, A. Ud-Daula and K. W. Schramm, Acta Protozool., 2010, 49, 271–280.
- 28 J. Xiong, L. Feng, D. Yuan, C. Fu and W. Miao, *BMC Evol. Biol.*, 2010, **10**, 330.
- 29 G. Esteban, C. Tellez and L. M. Bautista, *Water Res.*, 1991, 25, 967–972.
- 30 K. T. Nam, Y. L. Lee, E. M. Krauland, S. T. Kottmann and A. M. Belcher, ACS Nano, 2008, 2, 1480–1486.
- 31 N. Mokhtari, S. Daneshpajouh, S. Seyedbagheri, R. Atashdehghan, K. Abdi, S. Sarkar, S. Minaian, H. R. Shahverdi and A. R. Shahverdi, *Mater. Res. Bull.*, 2009, 44, 1415–1421.
- 32 M. Hartmann, A. Guberman, M. Florin-Christensen and A. Tiedke, *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 2000, 54, 390–396.
- 33 C. L. Madinger, K. Collins, L. G. Fields, C. H. Taron and J. S. Benner, *Eukaryotic Cell*, 2010, 9, 674–681.
- 34 T. Cedervall, I. Lynch, S. Lindman, T. Berggard, E. Thulin, H. Nilsson, K. A. Dawson and S. Linse, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A., 2007, **104**, 2050–2055.
- 35 E. Casals, T. Pfaller, A. Duschl, G. J. Oostingh and V. F. Puntes, *Small*, 2011, 7, 3479–3486.
- 36 J. P. Xie, J. Y. Lee, D. I. C. Wang and Y. P. Ting, ACS Nano, 2007, 1, 429–439.
- 37 J. L. Huang, G. W. Zhan, B. Y. Zheng, D. H. Sun, F. F. Lu, Y. Lin, H. M. Chen, Z. D. Zheng, Y. M. Zheng and Q. B. Li, *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 2011, **50**, 9095–9106.
- 38 J. M. Zook, S. E. Long, D. Cleveland, C. L. A. Geronimo and R. I. MacCuspie, *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 2011, **401**, 1993– 2002.
- 39 R. Chen, P. Choudhary, R. N. Schurr, P. Bhattacharya, J. M. Brown and P. C. Ke, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 2012, 100, 13703–137034.
- 40 J. Fabrega, S. N. Luoma, C. R. Tyler, T. S. Galloway and J. R. Lead, *Environ. Int.*, 2011, 37, 517–531.
- 41 I. Blinova, A. Ivask, M. Heinlaan, M. Mortimer and A. Kahru, *Environ. Pollut.*, 2010, **158**, 41–47.
- 42 A. Martín-González, S. Díaz, S. Borniquel, A. Gallego and J. C. Gutiérrez, *Res. Microbiol.*, 2006, 157, 108–118.

Supporting information for: Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*

Katre Juganson,^{a,b} Monika Mortimer^{a*}, Angela Ivask^a, Kaja Kasemets^a and Anne Kahru^a

^a Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee

23, Tallinn, 12618, Estonia

^b Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn, 12618, Estonia




The light spots in the SEM micrograph are Ag NPs and agglomerates. AgNO₃ solution with no SEF added resulted in a uniform film (data not shown).

PUBLICATION IV

Juganson, K., Mortimer, M., Ivask, A., Pucciarelli, S., Miceli, C., Orupõld, K., Kahru, A. (2017). Mechanisms of toxic action of silver nanoparticles in the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*: from gene expression to phenotypic events. *Environmental Pollution 225*, 481-489.

Copyright © 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. The authors of this Elsevier article retain the right to include it in a thesis or dissertation.

Environmental Pollution 225 (2017) 481-489



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Environmental Pollution

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/envpol

Mechanisms of toxic action of silver nanoparticles in the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*: From gene expression to phenotypic events^{\star}



ENVIRONMENTAL POLLUTION

Katre Juganson ^{a, b, *}, Monika Mortimer ^{a, 1}, Angela Ivask ^a, Sandra Pucciarelli ^c, Cristina Miceli ^c, Kaja Orupõld ^d, Anne Kahru ^{a, e}

^a Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

^b Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

^c School of Biosciences and Veterinary Medicine, University of Camerino, Via Gentile III da Varano, 62032 Camerino, Italy

^d Institute of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Kreutzwaldi 5, 51014 Tartu, Estonia

^e Estonian Academy of Sciences, Kohtu 6, 10130 Tallinn, Estonia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 February 2017 Received in revised form 5 March 2017 Accepted 6 March 2017 Available online 16 March 2017

ABSTRACT

Silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) are highly toxic to aquatic organisms, however, there is no consensus whether the toxicity is caused solely by released Ag-ions or also by reactive oxygen species (ROS). Here, the effects of protein-coated AgNPs (14.6 nm, Collargol) were studied on viability, oxidative stress and gene expression levels in wild type strains (CU427 and CU428) of ciliate Tetrahymena thermophila. Viability-based 24 h EC₅₀ values of AgNPs were relatively high and significantly different for the two strains: ~100 mg/L and ~75 mg/L for CU427 and CU428, respectively. Similarly, the expression profiles of oxidative stress (OS) related genes in the two strains were different. However, even though some OS related genes were overexpressed in AgNP-exposed ciliates, intracellular ROS level was not elevated, possibly due to efficient cellular antioxidant defence mechanisms. Compared to OS related genes, metallothionein genes were upregulated at a considerably higher level (36 versus 5000-fold) suggesting that Ag-ion mediated toxicity mechanism prevailed over OS related pathway. Also, comparison between Agions released from AgNPs at EC_{50} concentration and the respective EC_{50} values of AgNO₃ indicated that Ag-ions played a major role in the toxicity of AgNPs in T. thermophila. The study highlights the importance of combining physiological assays with gene expression analysis in elucidating the mechanisms of action of NPs to reveal subtle cellular responses that may not be detectable in bioassays. In addition, our data filled the gaps on the toxicity of AgNPs for environmentally relevant and abundant organisms. The parallel study of two wild type strains allowed us to draw conclusions on strain to strain variability in susceptibility to AgNPs.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Silver has been used as an antibacterial agent in the form of silver ions or colloidal solutions for centuries (Fung and Bowen, 1996). Today, silver is widely incorporated into consumer

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.03.013 0269-7491/© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. products as nanoparticles: more than 440 nanosilver (AgNP) containing products are on the market (Project on Emerging Nanotechnologies, 2013; http://www.nanotechproject.org/cpi/), large part of these being antimicrobial textiles (Piccinno et al., 2012). According to literature up to 75% of AgNPs may be released from textiles in one washing cycle and, thus, may end up in receiving ecosystems (Mitrano et al., 2016b). Furthermore, in the end of the life cycle, a considerable share of silver-enabled products are disposed of in landfills (Reidy et al., 2013). Even though AgNPs are likely not very mobile in landfills (Mitrano et al., 2016a) they may pose a risk to the environment as silver can be toxic to some fresh water organisms, such as algae and zooplankton, already in

^{*} This paper has been recommended for acceptance by B. Nowack.

Corresponding author. Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia. *E-mail address:* katre,juganson@kbf.ee (K. Juganson).

¹ Present address: Bren School of Environmental Science & Management and Earth Research Institute, University of California, Santa Barbara, California 93106, United States.

parts per billion (ppb) concentrations (Bondarenko et al., 2013b).

Toxicity and antimicrobial activity of AgNPs has been recently reviewed from the standpoint of AgNP effects to target and nontarget organisms, i.e. targeted biocidal effects against pathogenic microbes and biofilm formation versus other aquatic organisms (Bondarenko et al., 2013b). Based on the analysis and synthesis of extensive data sets on AgNP toxicity to different types of organisms and in various test conditions it was concluded that the overall trend indicated higher toxicity of AgNPs to mostly eukaryotic nontarget than prokaryotic target organisms. This finding highlighted the importance of designing NPs that would be more specific to target species, but also prompted to elucidate the mechanisms of toxic action of AgNPs to non-target species.

Recently we showed that albeit the ecotoxic effects of AgNPs have been studied extensively, there is no consensus concerning the mechanism of action of AgNPs (Juganson et al., 2015). Similar conclusion was reached in several reviews published within the past few years (Duran et al., 2016; Ivask et al., 2014b; McShan et al., 2014). In the current study we used a freshwater ciliate Tetrahymena thermophila as a model eukaryotic organism to shed light on the mechanisms of toxic action of AgNPs. T. thermophila is an ecologically relevant model organism for nanotoxicology because ciliates play an important role in aquatic food webs being significant grazers of bacteria and a food source for metazooplankton (Sherr and Sherr, 2002). Differently from mostly autotrophic unicellular algae that have previously been used in AgNP toxicity studies (Li et al., 2015; Navarro et al., 2015), the ciliate T. thermophila is a heterotroph that internalizes NPs by phagocytosis, thus, is exposed to NPs not only through cell surface but also via phagosome membranes (Kahru et al., 2008; Mortimer et al., 2010). Moreover, its fully sequenced macronuclear genome provides an opportunity for targeted gene expression analysis in response to toxicant exposure (Eisen et al., 2006).

To our knowledge, no study has explored NP effects on different wild type ciliate strains to date, even though it has been acknowledged that attention should be paid to the strain of the test organism used and the differences in wild type phenotypes in toxicity testing (Rogowska-Wrzesinska et al., 2001; Vignet et al., 2013). In this paper we compare the gene transcription and physiological level responses of two wild type strains of T. thermophila upon exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of AgNPs. Our approach to connect the effects at gene expression level to the physiological changes aims to shed light on the somewhat controversial literature reports about the AgNP mechanism of toxic action: gene expression studies generally suggest that AgNPs generate oxidative stress (Chae et al., 2009; Niazi et al., 2011; Yeo and Kang, 2008), while bioassay-based studies have reported contradicting results in the induction of different oxidative stress markers such as intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels, superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX) activities (Gomes et al., 2014; Ulm et al., 2015; Wu and Zhou, 2012). Here we assessed the transcription regulation of metallothionein (MTT), heat shock protein (hsp), SOD, CAT, GPX and glutathione reductase (GSR) genes in parallel with biomarkers often associated with oxidative stress: cell viability, intracellular ROS level, lipid peroxidation, SOD and CAT activities in T. thermophila to elucidate the mode of action of AgNPs in this model eukaryotic organism.

2. Experimental

2.1. Chemicals

Casein-coated colloidal silver NPs (AgNPs, primary size 14.6 \pm 4.7 nm) were purchased from Laboratories Argenol S. L.

(Collargol, batch N° 297) and dispersed in deionized water (MilliQ, Millipore) at 1 g/L. Carboxyl-functionalized polystyrene NPs (PS NPs, primary size 26 nm, 9.97% w/v in deionized water supplemented with 0.05% NaN₃ and \leq 0.5% of surfactant) were from Bangs Laboratories (Lot Number 10 048). AgNO₃ was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich as a 0.1 M solution. All chemicals used in the study were of analytical grade. Stock suspensions/solutions of Agcompounds were stored at room temperature in the dark; PS NP stock suspension was stored at +4 °C in the dark. The dilutions of NPs and AgNO₃ were prepared in MilliQ water, the pH of the dilutions varied from 6 to 6.5.

2.2. Characterization of nanoparticle dispersions

The hydrodynamic diameters of AgNPs and PS NPs in MilliQ water were measured using a Zetasizer Nano ZS (Malvern Instruments). Dissolution of AgNPs in MilliQ water was quantified as follows: AgNP dispersions at 20, 75 and 100 mg Ag/L were incubated in polystyrene Petri dishes (90 mm) at 25 °C in the dark for 2 and 24 h, NPs were pelleted by ultracentrifugation at 390 000g, 20 °C, for 1 h and Ag concentration in the supernatant was quantified by atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS, Shimadzu AA-6800) equipped with graphite furnace atomizer (GFA-EX7). Detailed physico-chemical characterization of AgNPs has been reported previously (Blinova et al., 2013; Bondarenko et al., 2013a) and is summarized in Table S1.

The potential of NPs and AgNO₃ to generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) in abiotic conditions in the dark was determined as described previously (Aruoja et al., 2015), using 2',7'-dichloro-fluorescein-diacetate (DCFH-DA, Life Technologies) and hydroxyl radical-specific 3'-(*p*-hydroxyphenyl) fluorescein (HPF, Life Technologies). Mn₃O₄ NPs (Aruoja et al., 2015) (provided by University of Bremen) and Fenton reaction with 1.1 mg Fe/L of FeSO₄x7H₂O (Reachim, analytical grade) and 15 mg/LH₂O₂ (Sigma-Aldrich) were used as positive controls in general ROS assay (DCFH-DA) and hydroxyl radical generation assay (HPF), respectively.

2.3. Test strains, culturing and viability assay

Standard inbred *T. thermophila* strains CU427 (Chx/Chx [cycloheximide sensitive, mating type VI]) and CU428 (Mpr/Mpr [6methyl purine sensitive, mating type VII]) of the same background as strain SB210, whose macronuclear genome is sequenced, were used in this study (Bruns and Cassidy-Hanley, 2000). Protozoa were cultured and their viability, based on cellular ATP concentration, was determined as described in Jemec et al. (2016). See the Supplementary material for details.

2.4. Exposure to AgNPs and control chemicals

In bioassays and gene expression studies, *T. thermophila* was exposed to AgNPs at 20 mg Ag/L - a nominal sub-lethal concentration as determined from the dose-response curve (Fig. S1). AgNO₃ was used as an ionic silver control, and the exposures were done at a concentration equal to the dissolved silver concentration in the dispersion of AgNPs at 20 mg Ag/L. The respective concentration was determined by AAS analysis after 24-h incubation of AgNPs in MilliQ water as described above, and was 1.5 mg Ag/L. PS NPs served as an insoluble particle control and were used at the exposure concentration to AgNPs at the concentration of 20 mg/L (see Supplementary material). Positive control for ROS-related damages was Fenton reaction triggered by mixing of 1.1 mg Fe/L of FeSO₄x7H₂O and 15 mg/L H₂O₂ (Aruoja et al., 2015). All the compounds were used at sub-lethal concentrations (Fig. S2).

All exposures were conducted in triplicates in 24-well polystyrene plates (Falcon) at 25 °C in the dark and sampled for analysis at 2 h and 24 h. Protozoa were visualized with light microscope Olympus CX41equipped with DP71 camera to monitor the cells for any changes in the mobility and appearance after the exposures.

2.5. Gene expression quantification and physiological assays

Real-time PCR was used to measure the effects of NPs and control chemicals on the expression levels of selected genes listed in Table S2. Physiological changes were assessed using the following assays: (i) DCFH-DA for intracellular ROS, (ii) thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay for lipid peroxidation (LPO) (Mortimer et al., 2011), (iii) H₂O₂ degradation for catalase (CAT) activity, and (iv) 19 160 SOD determination Kit (Sigma-Aldrich) for superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity. The assays were performed as described in Supplementary material.

2.6. Data analysis

ATP concentrations in the protozoan samples were expressed as percentages of the untreated control. The concentration-effect curves by the log-normal model were constructed and the EC₅₀ values (the effective concentration that induces a response in 50% of the population) with their respective 95% confidence intervals were calculated based on nominal concentrations using REGTOX software for Microsoft ExcelTM (Vindimian, 2005). Statistical differences between the untreated control and treated samples were evaluated in R using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post-hoc test. Results were considered statistically significant when p < 0.05.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Characterization of AgNPs and selection of control chemicals

One of the key components in toxicity of many metal-containing nanomaterials has been shown to be their dissolution (Bondarenko et al., 2013b; Heinlaan et al., 2008; Kahru and Ivask, 2013). Moreover, as the dissolution strongly depends on the test environment (Kaekinen et al., 2011) the selection of appropriate test medium is of critical importance. Suppi et al. (2015) demonstrated that compared to conventional laboratory assays, often performed in organics-rich growth media, exposure of bacteria, yeasts and unicellular algae to toxic chemicals (especially to metals) in deionized water resulted in 10-1000 times higher toxicity. In the current study, for the purposes of elucidating the mechanism of action of AgNPs to T. thermophila, the test system was simplified by conducting the exposures in deionized water to avoid interactions of media components with AgNPs and dissolved Ag-ions. T. thermophila, owing to its contractile-vacuole system that is responsible for osmoregulation (Frankel, 2000), is known to survive in deionized water for at least a week (Koppelhus et al., 1994). Additionally, deionized water has proven to be a suitable exposure medium in toxicity assays with T. thermophila (Jemec et al., 2016; Juganson et al., 2013). Starved T. thermophila are known to undergo physiological, biochemical and molecular changes (Cassidy-Hanley, 2012). However, in the context of the current study these changes were not crucial factors in interpreting the results because the exposures to AgNPs and control chemicals were in the same conditions, i.e., in deionized water, as the cells without added chemicals. Thus, any reported changes in gene expression or physiology of protozoa were assumed to be induced by the chemical exposures.

The ongoing debate (Djurisic et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016) over

whether engineered nanomaterials (ENMs) have particle-specific adverse effects or the effects are driven by the same mechanisms as for bulk sized materials and/or the ionic constituents of the respective ENMs necessitates the incorporation of proper controls in the toxicity studies. Here, AgNO3 was used as a control for dissolved Ag-ions, expected to be present in AgNP dispersions. Expectedly, 2.1-6.6% of Ag solubilized from AgNPs as a function of dose and time (Fig. S3). These values were in the similar range as the ones reported previously for 4-24-h incubation in deionized water for the same NPs (Bondarenko et al., 2013a; Kaosaar et al., 2016). Polystyrene particles, reportedly incapable of ROS generation (Xia et al., 2006), with an advertised diameter of 26 nm that was in the similar size range of AgNPs selected for the study (Table S1) were used as a control for nanoparticle exposure. According to DLS measurement the hydrodynamic diameter of PS NPs $(27.9 \pm 0.1 \text{ nm})$ was close to their primary size and the particles were monodisperse in MilliQ water (Fig. S4). Both AgNPs and PS NPs were stable in MilliQ water and did not agglomerate significantly over the time of the experiment.

One of the mechanisms of toxic action proposed for ENMs, including AgNPs, is the production of ROS (Ivask et al., 2014b; McShan et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). Therefore, we first determined the ability of AgNPs to induce ROS in abiotic conditions, i.e. with no test organisms present. AgNPs generated ROS in MilliQ water time- and dose-dependently, as determined by increase in the fluorescence of ROS indicator dye DCFH (Fig. S5A). ROS induction was clearly specific to AgNPs as no increase in the fluorescence of DCFH in the AgNO3 solution or dispersion of PS NPs was observed. Similarly, Ivask et al. (2014c) reported recently that citrate stabilized 10 nm AgNPs at concentrations >10 mg/L and 20 nm AgNPs at concentrations > 50 mg/L generated ROS in abiotic conditions. According to Neal (2008), abiotic generation of ROS is possible through light-dependent detachment of electrons from the surface of ENMs that could initiate a chain of radical reactions resulting in production of ROS. The generation of abiotic ROS by AgNPs in the dark, i.e., in the conditions used in this study, is likely initiated by the oxidative dissolution of AgNPs, a reaction that proposedly produces AgNP-O2 adducts and H2O2 (Ho et al., 2011). Casein coating of collargol AgNPs likely contributes to generation of ROS by its amine groups and conjugated double bonds. An attempt to assess the potential of AgNPs to generate highly reactive hydroxyl radicals by employing the HPF assay was not successful because HPF fluorescence was quenched in the presence of AgNPs (Fig. S5B). Thus, although successfully used for measurement of abiotic hydroxyl radical production by various different NPs at similar concentrations as used here (Aruoja et al., 2015), the assay was not applicable with AgNPs. The result highlights the importance of considering NP-specific interferences with fluorescence assays. Ag-ions and PS NPs did not produce hydroxyl radicals in the concentration range tested.

3.2. Tetrahymena thermophila viability upon exposure to Agcompounds

2 and 24 h EC₅₀ values of the casein-coated AgNPs for the wild type strains of *T. thermophila* studied in the current work ranged from 72 to 100 mg Ag/L (Table 1). These values were almost two orders of magnitude higher than the EC₅₀ values of PVP-coated AgNPs for *T. thermophila* strain BIII (3.2–3.9 mg Ag/L) reported by Jemec et al. (2016). These significantly different values could be explained by higher share of soluble Ag⁺-species (approximately 50%) present in PVP-coated AgNP stock. As the toxic effects of Ag-ions, *T. thermophila* was exposed to AgNO₃. Compared to the tested AgNPs, the EC₅₀ values of Ag-ions were about 50-fold lower,

The toxicity^a (2 and 24 h EC₅₀, mg Ag/L) of silver nitrate and AgNPs (Collargol) to two strains of *Tetrahymena thermophila* (CU427 and CU428). The exposure to toxicants was performed in MilliQ water at 25 °C in the dark. Pairwise comparison of the statistical difference of EC₅₀ values is presented in Fig. S6.

Exposure time	EC ₅₀ ^b , mg Ag/L			
	AgNPs		AgNO ₃	
	CU427	CU428	CU427	CU428
2 h 24 h	98 (92–103) 100 (94–114)	72 (67–75) 79 (76–82)	2.2 (2.1–2.3) 2.8 (2.5–3.4)	1.8 (1.7–2.0) 2.6 (2.4–2.8)

 $^{\rm a}$ Calculated from respective dose-response curves (Fig. S1) using ATP concentration as a viability endpoint.

^b Average values (95% confidence intervals) based on nominal concentrations of at least three independent assays.

ranging from 1.8 to 2.8 mg Ag/L. Comparison of the dose-response curves (Fig. S1) of both strains for AgNO₃ and AgNPs showed that the curves had similar slopes indicating a similar mode of action for these compounds, which is in accordance with previous findings suggesting that Ag-ions are important in the antimicrobial activity of AgNPs (Duran et al., 2016). Indeed, when we re-calculated the EC₅₀ values of AgNPs on the basis of the dissolved fraction in NP dispersions, the EC₅₀ values were very similar to the respective values of AgNO₃ (Fig. S7), supporting the role of Ag-ions in the toxicity of AgNPs.

Interestingly, compared to the most vulnerable aquatic organisms – crustaceans, algae and fish – whose median EC_{50} values ranged from less than 1 µg Ag/L to several hundred µg Ag/L upon exposure to Ag-ions and from about 1 µg Ag/L to about 100 mg Ag/L upon exposure to AgNPs (Bondarenko et al., 2013b; Juganson et al., 2015), *T. thermophila* tolerated relatively high concentrations of Ag-compounds. One explanation for that could be the efficient mitigation of silver toxicity by reduction of Ag⁺ into less harmful metallic silver by *T. thermophila*'s secreted extracellular substances as we have shown in our previous work (Juganson et al., 2013).

The interspecies differences in silver toxicity indicate the role of cellular physiology in metal and NP toxicity. However, in addition to interspecies differences there can also be variability in toxicities between different strains or organisms of the same species or, as has been demonstrated in AgNP studies, mutant strains of bacteria (Ivask et al., 2010, 2014a), yeast (Kaosaar et al., 2016) and nematode Caenorhabditis elegans (Meyer et al., 2010). Here we compared the toxicity of AgNPs and AgNO3 to two wild type strains of T. thermophila with almost identical genetic backgrounds (related to the sequenced strain SB210). Interestingly, these two ciliate strains had significantly (p < 0.05) different responses to AgNPs with strain CU428 having EC₅₀ values about 20-30% lower than the strain CU427 (Table 1 and Fig. S6). On the other hand, the EC₅₀ values for AgNO₃ were not statistically different in the two strains (Table 1, Fig. S6), and were comparable to previously published AgNO₃ EC₅₀ values for another *T. thermophila* wild type strain BIII (1.5-2.9 mg Ag/L) (Jemec et al., 2016; Juganson et al., 2013).

3.3. Sub-lethal effects of AgNPs to Tetrahymena thermophila

Although the dissolution corrected EC_{50} values of AgNPs were similar to EC_{50} values of AgNO₃ (Fig. S7), indicating the primary role of Ag⁺ in NP exerted toxicity, as also reported previously (Burkart et al., 2015; Juganson et al., 2013), it was not unambiguously clear that Ag⁺-mediated toxicity was the sole mechanism of action for AgNPs. Namely, AgNPs, differently from AgNO₃ and PS NPs, generated ROS in abiotic conditions as described above (Fig. S5A) which was indicative of possible oxidative stress related effects of AgNPs. In order to elucidate the mechanisms of action of AgNPs in *T. thermophila* the expression of selected stress-, oxidative stress-related and metal-binding genes was monitored at sub-lethal concentrations. In total, the expression of ten genes in response to AgNPs, AgNO₃ and PS NPs was studied. The selection criteria for the exposure concentrations of AgNPs (20 mg Ag/L) and controls used (1.5 mg Ag/L for AgNO₃, 11 mg/L for PS NPs) are described in the Experimental section (2.4).

3.3.1. Expression of general stress related genes

The effect of AgNPs on the induction of genes encoding heat shock proteins (hsp703, 704, 705, belonging to the family of cytosolic Hsp70 proteins (Yu et al., 2012)) was studied to assess the general environmental stress (Barchetta et al., 2008). The involvement of Hsp proteins in Ag-triggered stress response pathways has also been shown in an earlier study where whole genome array of AgNP-exposed nematode C. elegans was performed (Roh et al., 2009). Interestingly, although the slopes of the dose-response curves and toxicity of AgNPs and Ag-ions to the two studied protozoan strains (Fig. S1) were similar, the expression profile of the selected Hsp genes in these strains was different (Fig. 1). While in strain CU427 sub-lethal exposure concentration (20 mg Ag/L) of AgNPs up-regulated hsp704 after 2-h and hsp703 expression after 24-h exposure (77- and 6-fold, respectively; Fig. 1A), and similar findings were seen with Ag-ions that induced hsp704 and hsp703 after 2-h exposure (55- and 4-fold, respectively), no changes in expression of these genes were observed in strain CU428 (Fig. 1B). Thus, the mechanism of action of Ag-compounds according to the expression of these two genes is not universal in different strains. As Hsp proteins have important role in many biological processes. e.g. protein folding (Fukuda et al., 2015), up-regulation of Hsp genes should aid the cells to rapidly cope with stress. Indeed, in strain CU427 upregulation of hsp704 and 703 coincided with lower toxicity of Ag-compounds as reported above (Table 1). Interestingly, in strain CU427 also PS NPs induced a slight but significant upregulation of hsp703 upon 24-h exposure (Fig. 1). This may indicate the potential of AgNPs to trigger NP-specific stress in the cells. Contrarily to hsp 703 and 704, the expression of hsp705 was downregulated after 2-h exposure to Ag-ions and AgNPs approximately at similar levels in both strains (Fig. 1). A recent study with T. thermophila revealed that although hsp705 is heat-inducible, Hsp705 protein could be compensated by other analogous proteins in response to heat-stress (Fukuda et al., 2015). Moreover, hsp705 expression levels in T. thermophila are low during starvation (TetraFGD; http://tfgd.ihb.ac.cn/) suggesting that the gene is nonessential; thus, down-regulation of this gene might indicate that the cells need to redirect their resources to cope with Ag-triggered stress in starvation conditions.

3.3.2. Expression of oxidative stress related genes

The other group of genes selected for gene expression analysis was antioxidant defence genes. Most important ROS scavenging enzymes are (i) superoxide dismutase (SOD) that catalyses the dismutation of superoxide ($O_2^{\star-}$) into oxygen and hydrogen peroxide, (ii) catalase (CAT) that directly dismutates hydrogen peroxide into water and oxygen, and (iii) glutathione peroxidase (GPX) that uses glutathione to reduce hydrogen peroxide into water and lipid hydroperoxides into their corresponding alcohols (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). In addition, there are several other enzymes involved in antioxidant defence mechanism, e.g. glutathione reductase (GSR) that catalyses the reduction of oxidized glutathione, and some enzymes that based on *Tetrahymena* Genome Database (TGD; http://ciliate.org/index.php/home/welcome) are not present in *T. thermophila*.

Superoxide dismutases. T. thermophila features four different SODs – one mitochondrial Mn-SOD (SOD1), and three isoforms of



Fig. 1. The alteration of expression of selected genes in two different *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains CU427 (A) and CU428 (B) upon exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of AgNPs, Ag-ions and polystyrene NPs for 2 h and 24 h at 25 °C in the dark. The asterisk (*) marks significant difference (p < 0.05) and (**) marks highly significant difference (p < 0.01) from the expression levels in the respective strain of protozoa incubated in MilliQ water; note the logarithmic scale of the y-axis. hsp – heat shock protein, SOD – superoxide dismutase, CAT – catalase, GPX – glutathione peroxidase, GSR - thioredoxin and glutathione reductase, MTT – metallothionein.

cytosolic Cu/Zn-SOD. One of the latter isoforms, proposed to have major importance in countering oxidative stress (Ferro et al., 2015), was included in the study (SOD2). Slight but significant 2-fold upregulation of SOD1 was detected after 24-h exposure to AgNPs in strain CU427 (Fig. 1A), and after 2-h exposure in CU428 (Fig. 1B). In addition, AgNPs induced significant 3-fold up-regulation of SOD2 in CU427 after 24-h exposure (Fig. 1A) and almost 14-fold upregulation of SOD2 in CU428 after 2-h exposure (Fig. 1B). In strain CU427 Ag-ions elevated SOD1 expression about the same extent as AgNPs after 24-h exposure and SOD2 expression after both, 2- and 24-h exposure. In general, exposure to Ag-compounds resulted in similar expression patterns of both SOD genes in strain CU427. However, SOD responses in strain CU428 appeared to be more AgNP-specific since the exposure to Ag-ions did not alter the expression significantly. Up-regulation of mitochondrial Mn-SOD by AgNPs but not Ag-ions has also been observed for C. elegans and the gene has been found important in response to AgNPinduced toxicity (Roh et al., 2009).

Catalase. According to *Tetrahymena* Genome Database (TGD), there is only one CAT gene in *T. thermophila*. In strain CU427, AgNPs elevated CAT expression 36-fold upon 2-h exposure (Fig. 1A), whereas Ag-ions induced up to 7-fold upregulation of CAT after both, 2- and 24-h exposure. Sub-lethal exposures to AgNPs have elevated CAT levels also in other organisms, e.g., the midge *Chironomus riparius*, suggesting excess formation of H₂O₂ by SODs (Nair et al., 2013). Contrarily, no changes in expression levels of CAT were seen in strain CU428 (Fig. 1B), again, indicating a strain-specific response in *T. thermophila*.

Glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase. There are several GPX and GSR genes in *T. thermophila*, however, the literature data about effects of different toxicants on the expression of these genes is scarce. Thus, one GPX (designated as GPX2) and one GSR gene were selected based on the expression profiles available in *Tetrahymena* Functional Genomics Database

(TetraFGD) and the uniform expression level in starving cells during 24 h. AgNPs induced expression of GPX2 in strain CU427 after 24-h exposure and in CU428 upon both, 2- and 24-h exposure (Fig. 1). Due to somewhat overlapping role of CAT and GPX2, it could be assumed that in strain CU428, reduction of H₂O₂ is primarily catalyzed by GPX2 and thus, induction of CAT gene was not observed as discussed above. Additionally, GPX2 was up-regulated in CU427 but not in CU428 upon 24-h exposure to Ag-ions. Differences in the expression profiles of GPX gene were also observed in AgNP and Ag-ion exposed juvenile rainbow trout livers but, unlike in T. thermophila, AgNPs were shown to decrease and Ag-ions increase the GPX expression (Gagne et al., 2012). Interestingly, the expression levels of GSR varied only in AgNP exposed CU428 strain up to 2-fold that was considered significant (Fig. 1) and is in line with GPX2 expression pattern in this strain.

Overall, the gene expression analysis revealed that T. thermophila may experience mild oxidative stress upon exposure to AgNPs and Ag-ions. While in strain CU427 exposure to AgNPs and Ag-ions resulted in similar gene expression patterns, the changes in gene expression of strain CU428 appeared to be AgNP-specific. However, these changes could not be attributed to NP size-specific effects as the expression levels of selected genes in protozoa exposed to PS NPs of the same size as AgNPs were not significantly different from those in the control cells (Fig. 1). We also noticed that the two strains differed in the exposure time required for the gene up- or down-regulation to take place: while in strain CU428 the changes in gene expression were generally detected after 2-h exposure, in strain CU427 the differential regulation of selected genes occurred often after 24-h exposure. This may indicate that the metabolism rate in strain CU428 is higher than in strain CU427. Indeed, CU428 was shown to maturate faster upon osmotic shock treatment compared to strain CU427 (Cole and Bruns, 1992).

3.3.3. Expression of metallothionein genes

Metallothioneins (MTT) have diverse roles in the cells, including the scavenging of ROS (Viarengo et al., 2000), and sequestration of toxic metals (Liu and Klaassen, 1996). T. thermophila has five different MTTs that fall into two groups - cadmium and copper responsive MTTs (Diaz et al., 2007). Although heavy metal treatments have been shown to result in similar induction patterns of MTT1 and MTT5, and both behave as a multi-stress response proteins. MTT5 responds to the widest range of stressors (Diaz et al., 2007). Here, AgNP exposure caused upregulation of both MTT genes in both T. thermophila strains (MTT1 40-650 fold, MTT5 130-5000 fold; Fig. 1). The induction patterns were very similar in both strains. In general, after 2 h the expression levels in AgNP- and Agion exposed cells were similar, while after 24-h treatment the expression of MTT genes was significantly higher in AgNP-exposed cells. These findings suggest that Ag-ions are taken up by T. thermophila cells, and AgNPs may act via Trojan horse type mechanism (Park et al., 2010) by releasing additional ions inside the protozoan cell. The hypothesis that MTT levels were elevated due to Ag-ions released from AgNPs was proposed also by Choi et al. (2010) who observed dose-dependent increase in MTT expression levels up to 7.1 fold in zebrafish liver upon treatment with nonlethal dose (120 mg Ag/L) of AgNPs.

3.3.4. Oxidative stress related physiological responses in Tetrahymena thermophila

To associate the findings of the gene expression analysis with the effects at the physiological level we determined the levels of intracellular ROS, lipid peroxidation, and activity of SOD and CAT enzymes in protozoa. In these assays, strains CU427 and CU428 were exposed to the test compounds at sub-lethal concentrations (Fig. S2), in the same conditions as in the gene expression studies. Microscopic observations further confirmed that the cell morphology and mobility in test compound treated cultures were visually comparable to the non-treated control cells (Fig. S8). Visual changes in ciliate cells were observed only in AgNP-exposed samples, where food vacuoles appeared dark after 2-h exposure (Fig. 2B), due to internalised AgNPs, and extracellular AgNP agglomerates consisting of expelled food vacuole contents were evident after 24 h (Fig. 2B, Fig. S8C). The latter finding has been reported also in several previous studies with different ENMs (Aruoja et al., 2015; Blinova et al., 2010; Juganson et al., 2013; Mortimer et al., 2010, 2011, 2014, 2016).

Intracellular generation of reactive oxygen species. Since the AgNPs used in this study generated ROS in abiotic conditions (Fig. S5) and triggered slight oxidative stress responses at gene expression level (Fig. 1), we measured intracellular ROS in AgNPexposed T. thermophila cells. The assay utilizing the ROS indicator dve DCFH-DA did not indicate increased intracellular ROS upon exposure to AgNPs, AgNO₃ and PS NPs in neither T. thermophila strain (Fig. 3A and B). In strain CU427, 2-h exposure to AgNO3 appeared to decrease ROS levels compared to non-treated control (Fig. 3A), however, we cannot explain this result based on the assays conducted in this study. Fenton reaction, used at sub-lethal level to T. thermophila as a positive control in bioassays, elevated ROS levels only in strain CU427, indicating different sensitivities of the two strains. Our observations of similar intracellular ROS levels in AgNP-exposed and unexposed cells are in agreement with some previous studies where ROS generation was monitored with DCFH-DA in live cells/organisms exposed to AgNPs. Namely, no ROS production was detected in green algae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii nor cyanobacteria Synechococcus leopoliensis (Taylor et al., 2016), and even decrease in the fluorescence intensity of DCF with increasing AgNP dose was seen in Daphnia magna (Ulm et al., 2015) and embryonic medaka (Wu and Zhou, 2012). In T. thermophila, production of ROS has been demonstrated with the same dye upon exposure to CuO NPs and Cu-ion (Mortimer et al., 2011); however, the effective concentrations studied were much higher (EC_{20} , EC_{50}) than those used in the current study. Hence, although no elevated levels of intracellular ROS were detected in T. thermophila upon exposure to AgNPs the changes in the expression of oxidative stress related genes (up to 36-fold upregulation) suggest that gene expression is a more sensitive endpoint in detecting subtle oxidative stress levels in the cells than the bioassay used.

Lipid peroxidation (LPO). One of the cellular targets of ROS are lipids. The resulting lipid peroxides decompose rapidly and the main product of this process is malondialdehyde (MDA). Interestingly, even when no intracellular ROS were detected in the protozoa after AgNP exposure (Fig. 3A and B), significant time-dependent increase in LPO was seen after 24-h exposure to AgNPs in strain CU427 (Fig. 3C), but not in strain CU248. (Fig. 3D). AgNO₃ induced significant LPO in both strains (Fig. 3C and D), indicating that LPO seen with AgNPs was likely triggered by released Ag-ions. Expectedly, PS NPs did not induce LPO. Our results on LPO upon AgNP exposure are in agreement with previous reports where LPO was demonstrated in AgNP-exposed early-stage embryonic medaka



Fig. 2. Bright field images of live Tetrahymena thermophila cells (strains CU427 and CU428) after 2- and 24-h incubation in MilliQ water (A) and exposure to nominal sub-lethal concentration of 20 mg Ag/L of AgNPs in MilliQ water (B). Black arrows indicate food vacuoles filled with AgNPs, white arrows indicate extracellular AgNP agglomerates.



Fig. 3. The potential of sub-lethal concentrations of Ag-compounds, polystyrene NPs, and Fenton reaction to generate ROS (A, B), lipid peroxidation (C, D), and their effect on superoxide dismutase activity (F, F) and on catalase activity (G, H) in *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains CU427 (A, C, E, G) and CU428 (B, D, F, H). The asterisk (*) marks significant difference (p < 0.05) and (**) marks highly significant difference (p < 0.01) from the respective *T. thermophila* strain incubated in MilliQ water (Control). The bars are the average values of at least 6 replicates and error bars indicate standard deviations.

(Wu and Zhou, 2012), and zebrafish liver (Choi et al., 2010). On the other hand, a few studies have shown that Ag-ions are not as powerful inducers of LPO as AgNPs. Increase in LPO has been observed with AgNPs but not Ag-ions in rainbow trout (Gagne et al., 2012), and although both treatments increased LPO levels in the gills of mussels, LPO levels in AgNP-treated mussels continued increasing in time while no time-dependent changes were detected for Ag-ion-treated mussels (Gomes et al., 2014).

Activity of antioxidant enzymes. Although no excess ROS levels in T. thermophila were detected, gene expression study indicated slight to moderate up-regulation of SOD and CAT genes in ciliates exposed to Ag-compounds which may be indicative of increased SOD and CAT enzyme activities. Contrarily, enzymatic assay showed that SOD and CAT activities were not elevated in T. thermophila after exposure to AgNPs or AgNO₃ (Fig. 3E, F, G, H). This result is in line with the data for AgNP-exposed D. magna where no change was observed in SOD levels (Ulm et al., 2015). On the other hand, no increase in SOD and CAT activity does not necessarily prove that the enzymes were not affected by AgNPs as silver might act as SOD and CAT enzyme inhibitor due to its high affinity towards sulfhydryl groups of the protein cysteine residues (Kaekinen et al., 2013). For example, AgNPs have been shown to interact with SOD enzyme (Zhang et al., 2015) and in this study, Ag-ions were inhibitory to catalase (Supplementary material). Thus, the up-regulation of SOD and CAT genes may have been promoted by the necessity to restore the level of active SOD and CAT enzymes in response to inhibition of the activity of these enzymes by silver compounds. We suggest that at sub-lethal concentrations, Ag-compounds likely interacted with SOD and CAT, necessitating overexpression of the respective genes for production of additional enzymes.

4. Conclusions

In this study, we showed that the main cause for AgNP-triggered toxicity in *T. thermophila* wild type strains CU427 and CU428 is NP dissolution. The central role of Ag-ions in AgNP toxicity was

confirmed by (i) the similar EC₅₀ values of AgNO₃ and dissolvedsilver based EC50 values of AgNPs and similar slopes of doseeffect curves, (ii) up to 5000-fold overexpression of metallothionein genes upon exposure to both AgNPs and AgNO₃, and (iii) similar response profiles of AgNPs and AgNO3 in all bioanalytical assays. Collargol AgNPs exerted different effects on the two strains both at physiological and transcriptional level: compared to strain CU427, AgNP EC₅₀ values were 20-30% lower and regulation of oxidative stress gene expression was AgNP-specific in strain CU428. Although AgNPs showed the potential to generate ROS in abiotic conditions and some oxidative stress related genes were upregulated upon exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Agcompounds, intracellular ROS levels and SOD and CAT activities were not elevated in protozoa. This suggests that T. thermophila has efficient antioxidant defence mechanisms and regulatory pathways to counteract AgNP toxicity. This study highlights the importance of combining physiological assays with gene expression analysis in elucidating the mechanisms of action of NPs. Subtle cellular responses such as oxidative stress related mechanism of AgNPs, undetectable in bioassays, were revealed at the transcriptional level. In addition, the difference in the magnitude of gene upregulation indicated that Ag-ion mediated toxicity mechanism of AgNPs prevailed over oxidative stress related pathway.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (target-financed themes IUT23-5, PUT748), the European Regional Development Fund project TK134 (EQUITANT) and EU Regional Development Foundation, Environmental protection and technology R&D programme project TERIKVANT (3.2.0802.11 –0043). We are grateful to the European Cooperation in Science and Technology (COST) action BM1102 "Ciliates as model systems to study genome evolution, mechanisms of non-Mendelian inheritance, and their roles in environmental adaptation" and to the European Commission Marie Sklodowska-Curie Actions H2020 RISE Metable - 645693. Dr. Suman Pokhrel (University of Bremen, Germany) is thanked for providing Mn₃O₄ nanoparticles.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.03.013.

References

- Aruoja V. Pokhrel S. Sihtmaae M. Mortimer M. Maedler I. Kahru A. 2015 Toxicity of 12 metal-based nanoparticles to algae, bacteria and protozoa, Environ. Sci.-Nano 2, 630-644.
- Barchetta, S., La Terza, A., Ballarini, P., Pucciarelli, S., Miceli, C., 2008. Combination of two regulatory elements in the Tetrahymena thermophila HSP70-1 gene controls heat shock activation. Eukaryot. Cell 7, 379–386.Blinova, I., Ivask, A., Heinlaan, M., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A., 2010. Ecotoxicity of
- nanoparticles of CuO and ZnO in natural water. Environ. Pollut. 158, 41–47.
- Blinova, I., Niskanen, J., Kajankari, P., Kanarbik, L., Kaekinen, A., Tenhu, H., Penttinen, O.-P., Kahru, A., 2013. Toxicity of two types of silver nanoparticles to aquatic crustaceans Daphnia magna and Thamnocephalus platyurus. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20, 3456-3463.
- Bondarenko, O., Ivask, A., Kaekinen, A., Kurvet, I., Kahru, A., 2013a. Particle-cell contact enhances antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles. PLos One 8 (5), e64060.
- Bondarenko, O., Juganson, K., Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A., 2013b. Toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected environmentally relevant test organisms and mammalian cells in vitro; a critical review. Arch. Toxicol. 87. $1181 - \bar{1}200$
- Bruns, P.J., Cassidy-Hanley, D., 2000. In: Asai, D.J., Forney, J.D. (Eds.), Methods for Genetic Analysis, Tetrahymena Thermophila, Methods in Cell Biology. Academic Press, New York, pp. 229-240.
- Burkart, C., von Tumpling, W., Berendonk, T., Jungmann, D., 2015. Nanoparticles in wastewater treatment plants: a novel acute toxicity test for ciliates and its implementation in risk assessment. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 7485-7494.
- Cassidy-Hanley, D.M., 2012. Tetrahymena in the laboratory: strain resources methods for culture, maintenance, and storage. Methods Cell Biol. 109, 237-276
- Chae, Y.J., Pham, C.H., Lee, J., Bae, E., Yi, J., Gu, M.B., 2009. Evaluation of the toxic impact of silver nanoparticles on Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). Aquat. Toxicol. 94, 320–327.
- Choi, J.E., Kim, S., Ahn, J.H., Youn, P., Kang, J.S., Park, K., Yi, J., Ryu, D.Y., 2010. Induction of oxidative stress and apoptosis by silver nanoparticles in the liver of adult zebrafish. Aquat. Toxicol, 100, 151–159.
- Cole, E.S., Bruns, P.J., 1992. Uniparental cytogamy a novel method for bringing micronuclear mutations of Tetrahymena into homozygous macronuclear expression with precocious sexual maturity. Genetics 132, 1017-1031.
- S., Amaro, F., Rico, D., Campos, V., Benitez, L., Martin-Gonzalez, A Diaz. Hamilton, E.P., Orias, E., Gutierrez, J.C., 2007. Tetrahymena metallothioneins fall into two discrete subfamilies. PLos One 2 (3), e291.
- Djurisic, A.B., Leung, Y.H., Ng, A.M.C., Xu, X.Y., Lee, P.K.H., Degger, N., Wu, R.S.S., 2015. Toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles: mechanisms, characterization, and avoiding experimental artefacts. Small 11, 26-44.
- Duran, N., Duran, M., de Jesus, M.B., Seabra, A.B., Favaro, W.J., Nakazato, G., 2016. Silver nanoparticles: a new view on mechanistic aspects on antimicrobial ac-tivity. Nanomedicine-Nanotechnology Biol. Med. 12, 789–799.
- Eisen, J.A., Coyne, R.S., Wu, M., Wu, D.Y., Thiagarajan, M., Wortman, J.R., Badger, J.H., Ren, Q.H., Amedeo, P., Jones, K.M., Tallon, L.J., Delcher, A.L., Salzberg, S.L. Silva, J.C., Haas, B.J., Majoros, W.H., Farzad, M., Carlton, J.M., Smith, R.K., Garg, J., Pearlman, R.E., Karrer, K.M., Sun, L., Manning, G., Elde, N.C., Turkewitz, A.P., Asai, D.J., Wilkes, D.E., Wang, Y.F., Cai, H., Collins, K., Stewart, A., Lee, S.R., Wilamowska, K., Weinberg, Z., Ruzzo, W.L., Wloga, D., Gaertig, J., Frankel, J., Tsao, C.C., Gorovsky, M.A., Keeling, P.J., Waller, R.F., Patron, N.J., Cherry, J.M., Stover, N.A., Krieger, C.J., del Toro, C., Ryder, H.F., Williamson, S.C., Barbeau, R.A., Hamilton, E.P., Orias, E., 2006. Macronuclear genome sequence of the ciliate Tetrahymena thermophila, a model eukaryote. PLos Biol. 4, 1620-1642.
- Ferro, D., Bakiu, R., De Pitta, C., Boldrin, F., Cattalini, F., Pucciarelli, S., Miceli, C., Santovito, G., 2015. Cu,Zn superoxide dismutases from Tetrahymena thern phila: molecular evolution and gene expression of the first line of antioxidant defenses, Protist 166, 131-145,
- Frankel, J., 2000. In: Asai, D.J., Forney, J.D. (Eds.), Cell Biology of Tetrahymena Thermophila, Tetrahymena Thermophila, Methods in Cell Biology. Academic Press, New York, pp. 27-125.
- Fukuda, Y., Akematsu, T., Attiq, R., Tada, C., Nakai, Y., Pearlman, R.E., 2015. Role of the cytosolic heat shock protein 70 Ssa5 in the ciliate Protozoan Tetrahymena thermophila. J. Eukaryot. Microbiol. 62, 481-493.
- Fung, M.C., Bowen, D.L., 1996. Silver products for medical indications: risk-benefit assessment. J. Toxicol.-Clin. Toxicol. 34, 119-126.
- Gagne, F., Andre, C., Skirrow, R., Gelinas, M., Auclair, J., van Aggelen, G., Turcotte, P., Gagnon, C., 2012. Toxicity of silver nanoparticles to rainbow trout: a toxicogenomic approach. Chemosphere 89, 615-622.

Gill, S.S., Tuteja, N., 2010. Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in

abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants, Plant Physiol, Biochem, 48, 909-930.

- Gomes, T., Pereira, C.G., Cardoso, C., Sousa, V.S., Teixeira, M.R., Pinheiro, J.P., Bebianno, M.J., 2014. Effects of silver nanoparticles exposure in the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis. Mar. Environ. Res. 101, 208-214.
- Heinlaan, M., Ivask, A., Blinova, I., Dubourguier, H.-C., Kahru, A., 2008. Toxicity of nanosized and bulk ZnO, CuO and TiO2 to bacteria Vibrio fischeri and crusta-ceans Daphnia magna and Thamnocephalus platyurus. Chemosphere 71, 1308-1316.
- Ho, C.M., Wong, C.K., Yau, S.K., Lok, C.N., Che, C.M., 2011. Oxidative dissolution of silver nanoparticles by dioxygen: a kinetic and mechanistic study. Chem. Asian I. 6. 2506-2511.
- Ivask, A., Bondarenko, O., Jepihhina, N., Kahru, A., 2010. Profiling of the reactive oxygen species-related ecotoxicity of CuO, ZnO, TiO2, silver and fullerene nanoparticles using a set of recombinant luminescent Escherichia coli strains: differentiating the impact of particles and solubilised metals. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 398, 701-716.
- Ivask, A., ElBadawy, A., Kaweeteerawat, C., Boren, D., Fischer, H., Ji, Z., Chang, C.H., Liu, R., Tolaymat, T., Telesca, D., Zink, J.I., Cohen, Y., Holden, P.A., Godwin, H.A., 2014a. Toxicity mechanisms in Escherichia coli vary for silver nanoparticles and differ from ionic silver. Acs Nano 8, 374-386.
- Ivask, A., Juganson, K., Bondarenko, O., Mortimer, M., Aruoja, V., Kasemets, K., Blinova, I., Heinlaan, M., Slaveykova, V., Kahru, A., 2014b. Mechanisms of toxic action of Ag, ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to selected ecotoxicological test organisms and mammalian cells in vitro; a comparative review. Nanotoxicology 8, 57-71.
- Ivask, A., Kurvet, I., Kasemets, K., Blinova, I., Aruoja, V., Suppi, S., Vija, H., Kaekinen, A., Titma, T., Heinlaan, M., Visnapuu, M., Koller, D., Kisand, V., Kahru, A., 2014c. Size-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles to bacteria, yeast, algae, Crustaceans and mammalian cells in vitro. PLos One 9 (7), e102108.
- Jemec, A., Kahru, A., Potthoff, A., Drobne, D., Heinlaan, M., Boehme, S., Geppert, M., Novak, S., Schirmer, K., Rekulapally, R., Singh, S., Aruoja, V., Sihtmaee, M., Juganson, K., Kaekinen, A., Kuehnel, D., 2016. An interlaboratory comparison of nanosilver characterisation and hazard identification: harmonising techniques for high quality data. Environ. Int. 87, 20-32.
- Juganson, K., Ivask, A., Blinova, I., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A., 2015. NanoE-Tox: new and in-depth database concerning ecotoxicity of nanomaterials. Beilstein J. Nanotechnol. 6, 1788-1804.
- Juganson, K., Mortimer, M., Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., Kahru, A., 2013. Extracellular conversion of silver ions into silver nanoparticles by protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Environ, Sci.-Process, Impacts 15, 244–250.
- Kaekinen, A., Bondarenko, O., Ivask, A., Kahru, A., 2011. The effect of composition of different ecotoxicological test media on free and bioavailable copper from CuSO4 and CuO nanoparticles: comparative evidence from a Cu-Selective electrode and a Cu-Biosensor, Sensors 11, 10502-10521.
- Kaekinen, A., Ding, F., Chen, P., Mortimer, M., Kahru, A., Ke, P.C., 2013. Interaction of firefly luciferase and silver nanoparticles and its impact on enzyme activity. Nanotechnology 24 (34), 345101.
- Kahru, A., Dubourguier, H.-C., Blinova, I., Ivask, A., Kasemets, K., 2008. Biotests and biosensors for ecotoxicology of metal oxide nanoparticles: a minireview. Sensors 8, 5153-5170.
- Kahru, A., Ivask, A., 2013. Mapping the dawn of nanoecotoxicological Research. Accounts Chem. Res. 46, 823-833.
- Kaosaar, S., Kahru, A., Mantecca, P., Kasemets, K., 2016. Profiling of the toxicity mechanisms of coated and uncoated silver nanoparticles to yeast Saccharo myces cerevisiae BY4741 using a set of its 9 single-gene deletion mutants defective in oxidative stress response, cell wall or membrane integrity and endocytosis. Toxicol. Vitro 35, 149–162.
- Koppelhus, U., Hellunglarsen, P., Leick, V., 1994. Physiological-parameters affecting the chemosensory response of Tetrahymena. Biol. Bull. 187, 1-7
- Li, X.M., Schirmer, K., Bernard, L., Sigg, L., Pillai, S., Behra, R., 2015. Silver nanoparticle toxicity and association with the alga Euglena gracilis. Environ. Sci.-Nano 2, 594-602.
- Liu, J., Klaassen, C.D., 1996. Absorption and distribution of cadmium in metallothionein-I transgenic mice. Fundam. Appl. Toxicol. 29, 294–300.
- McShan, D., Ray, P.C., Yu, H.T., 2014. Molecular toxicity mechanism of nanosilver. J. Food Drug Anal. 22, 116-127.
- Meyer, J.N., Lord, C.A., Yang, X.Y.Y., Turner, E.A., Badireddy, A.R., Marinakos, S.M., Chilkoti, A., Wiesner, M.R., Auffan, M., 2010. Intracellular uptake and associated toxicity of silver nanoparticles in Caenorhabditis elegans. Aquat. Toxicol. 100, 140 - 150
- Mitrano, D.M., Limpiteeprakan, P., Babel, S., Nowack, B., 2016a, Durability of nanoenhanced textiles through the life cycle: releases from landfilling after washing. Environ. Sci.-Nano 3, 375–387.
- Mitrano, D.M., Lombi, E., Dasilva, Y.A.R., Nowack, B., 2016b. Unraveling the complexity in the aging of nanoenhanced textiles: a comprehensive sequential study on the effects of sunlight and washing on silver nanoparticles. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 5790-5799.
- Mortimer, M., Gogos, A., Bartolome, N., Kahru, A., Bucheli, T.D., Slaveykova, V.I., 2014. Potential of hyperspectral imaging microscopy for semi-quantitative analysis of nanoparticle uptake by Protozoa. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 8760-8767.
- Mortimer, M., Kasemets, K., Kahru, A., 2010. Toxicity of ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to ciliated protozoa Tetrahymena thermophila. Toxicology 269, 182-189.
- Mortimer, M., Kasemets, K., Vodovnik, M., Marinsek-Logar, R., Kahru, A., 2011. Exposure to CuO nanoparticles changes the fatty acid composition of Protozoa

488

Tetrahymena thermophila. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 6617–6624.

- Mortimer, M., Petersen, E.J., Buchholz, B.A., Orias, E., Holden, P.A., 2016. Bioaccumulation of multiwall carbon nanotubes in *Tetrahymena thermophila* by direct feeding or trophic transfer. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 8876–8885.
- Nair, P.M.G., Park, S.Y., Choi, J., 2013. Evaluation of the effect of silver nanoparticles and silver ions using stress responsive gene expression in *Chironomus riparius*. Chemosphere 92, 592–599.
- Navarro, E., Wagner, B., Odzak, N., Sigg, L., Behra, R., 2015. Effects of differently coated silver nanoparticles on the photosynthesis of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 8041–8047.
- Neal, A.L., 2008. What can be inferred from bacterium-nanoparticle interactions about the potential consequences of environmental exposure to nanoparticles? Ecotoxicology 17, 362–371.
- Niazi, J.H., Sang, B.-I., Kim, Y.S., Gu, M.B., 2011. Global gene response in Saccharomyces cerevisiae exposed to silver nanoparticles. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 164, 1278–1291.
- Park, E.J., Yi, J., Kim, Y., Choi, K., Park, K., 2010. Silver nanoparticles induce cytotoxicity by a Trojan-horse type mechanism. Toxicol. Vitro 24, 872–878.
- Piccinno, F., Gottschalk, F., Seeger, S., Nowack, B., 2012. Industrial production quantities and uses of ten engineered nanomaterials in Europe and the world. J. Nanoparticle Res. 14 (1109).
- Project on Emerging Nanotechnologies, 2013. Consumer Products Inventory. http:// www.nanotechproject.org/cpi/products/ (Accessed 18 August 2016). Reidy, B., Haase, A., Luch, A., Dawson, K.A., Lynch, L., 2013. Mechanisms of silver
- Reidy, B., Haase, A., Luch, A., Dawson, K.A., Lynch, I., 2013. Mechanisms of silver nanoparticle release, transformation and toxicity: a critical review of current knowledge and recommendations for future studies and applications. Materials 6, 2295–2350.
- Rogowska-Wrzesinska, A., Larsen, P.M., Blomberg, A., Gorg, A., Roepstorff, P., Norbeck, J., Fey, S.J., 2001. Comparison of the proteomes of three yeast wild type strains: CEN.PK2, FY1679 and W303. Comp. Funct. Genom. 2, 207–225.
- Roh, J.-y., Sim, S.J., Yi, J., Park, K., Chung, K.H., Ryu, D.-y., Choi, J., 2009. Ecotoxicity of silver nanoparticles on the soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* using functional ecotoxicogenomics. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 3933–3940.
- Sherr, E.B., Sherr, B.F., 2002. Significance of predation by protists in aquatic microbial food webs. Ant. Van Leeuwenhoek Int. J. General Mol. Microbiol. 81, 293–308.
- Suppi, S., Kasemets, K., Ivask, A., Kuennis-Beres, K., Sihtmaee, M., Kurvet, I., Aruoja, V., Kahru, A., 2015. A novel method for comparison of biocidal properties of nanomaterials to bacteria, yeasts and algae. J. Hazard. Mater. 286, 1997.

75-84.

- Taylor, C., Matzke, M., Kroll, A., Read, D.S., Svendsen, C., Crossley, A., 2016. Toxic interactions of different silver forms with freshwater green algae and cyanobacteria and their effects on mechanistic endpoints and the production of extracellular polymeric substances. Environ. Sci.-Nano 3, 396–408.
- TetraFGD HOME, http://tfgd.ihb.ac.cn/, (Accessed 21 October 2013).
- TGD | Tetrahymena Genome Database Wiki, http://ciliate.org/index.php/home/ welcome, (Accessed 30 October 2016).
- Ulm, L., Krivohlavek, A., Jurasin, D., Ljubojevic, M., Sinko, G., Crnkovic, T., Zuntar, I., Sikic, S., Vrcek, I.V., 2015. Response of biochemical biomarkers in the aquatic crustacean *Daphnia magna* exposed to silver nanoparticles. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 19990–19999.
- Viarengo, A., Burlando, B., Ceratto, N., Panfoli, I., 2000. Antioxidant role of metallothioneins: a comparative overview. Cell. Mol. Biol. 46, 407–417.
- Vignet, C., Begout, M.L., Pean, S., Lyphout, L., Leguay, D., Cousin, X., 2013. Systematic screening of behavioral responses in two zebrafish strains. Zebrafish 10, 365–375.
- Vindimian, E., 2005. MSExcel Macro REGTOX EV7.0.5.xls. Online available at: http:// www.normalesup.org/~vindimian/en_download.html.
- Wu, Y., Zhou, Q.F., 2012. Dose- and time-related changes in aerobic metabolism, chorionic disruption, and oxidative stress in embryonic medaka (*Oryzias lat-ipes*): underlying mechanisms for silver nanoparticle developmental toxicity. Aquat. Toxicol. 124, 238–246.
- Xia, T., Kovochich, M., Brant, J., Hotze, M., Sempf, J., Oberley, T., Sioutas, C., Yeh, J.I., Wiesner, M.R., Nel, A.E., 2006. Comparison of the abilities of ambient and manufactured nanoparticles to induce cellular toxicity according to an oxidative stress paradigm. Nano Lett. 6, 1794–1807.
- Yeo, M.-K., Kang, M., 2008. Effects of nanometer sized silver materials on biological toxicity during zebrafish embryogenesis. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 29, 1179–1184.
- Yu, T., Barchetta, S., Pucciarelli, S., La Terza, A., Miceli, C., 2012. A novel robust heatinducible promoter for heterologous gene expression in *Tetrahymena thermophila*. Protist 163, 284–295.
- Zhang, B., Yu, L., Zhang, R., Liu, Y., Liu, R., 2015. Investigation on the interaction of nanoAg with Cu-Zn SOD. Luminescence 30, 1195–1200.
- Zhang, C.Q., Hu, Z.Q., Deng, B.L., 2016. Silver nanoparticles in aquatic environments: physiochemical behavior and antimicrobial mechanisms. Water Res. 88, 403–427.

Supplementary material for

Mechanisms of toxic action of silver nanoparticles in the protozoan *Tetrahymena thermophila*: from gene expression to phenotypic events

Katre Juganson,^{*^{a, b}} Monika Mortimer,^{‡^a} Angela Ivask,^a Sandra Pucciarelli,^c Cristina Miceli,^c Kaja Orupõld^d and Anne Kahru^{a, e}

- ^a Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia
- ^b Department of Chemistry and Biotechnology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia
- ^c School of Biosciences and Veterinary Medicine, University of Camerino, Via Gentile III da Varano, 62032 Camerino, Italy
- ^d Institute of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Kreutzwaldi 5, 51014 Tartu, Estonia
- e Estonian Academy of Sciences, Kohtu 6, 10130 Tallinn, Estonia
- * Corresponding author: katre.juganson@kbfi.ee
- Present address: Bren School of Environmental Science & Management and Earth Research Institute, University of California, Santa Barbara, California 93106, United States

Summary

Methods

Calculation of polystyrene NP mass-based concentration

In vitro enzyme activity assays

Tetrahymena thermophila cultivation and viability measurements

Gene expression studies with Tetrahymena thermophila

Assays for intracellular ROS generation and SOD and CAT activity

Results

Effect of Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs on SOD and CAT activity.

Tables

Table S1. Physico-chemical parameters of AgNPs.

Table S2. List of primers used in this study.

Figures

Fig. S1 Dose-response curves for viability of *Tetrahymena thermophila* upon exposure to Ag-compounds.

Fig. S2 Viability of *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains upon exposure to different toxicants.

Fig. S3 Dissolution of AgNPs in MilliQ water.

Fig. S4 Hydrodynamic size distribution of polystyrene NPs.

Fig. S5 Production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs in abiotic conditions.

Fig. S6 Pairwise comparison of EC₅₀ values for AgNO₃ and AgNPs.

Fig. S7 Toxicity of AgNP and AgNO₃ to *Tetrahymena thermophila*.

Fig. S8 Bright field images of live Tetrahymena thermophila cells.

Fig. S9 Effect of Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs on SOD assay performance and on enzymatic activity of SOD standard.

Fig. S10 Effect of Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs on catalase activity.

References

Number of pages: 14

Methods

Calculation of polystyrene NP mass-based concentration

Polystyrene particles were assumed to be ideal spheres with even densities.

$$C_{PS} = n_{Ag} * m_{PS} = \frac{20^{mg}/L}{m_{Ag}} * V_{PS} * \rho_{PS} = \frac{20^{mg}/L}{V_{Ag} * \rho_{Ag}} * \frac{4}{3} * \pi * r_{PS}^3 * \rho_{PS} = \frac{20^{mg}/L}{\frac{4}{3} * \pi * r_{Ag}^3 * \rho_{Ag}} * \frac{4}{3} * \pi * r_{PS}^3 * \rho_{PS} = \frac{20^{mg}/L}{r_{Ag}^3 * \rho_{Ag}} * \frac{4}{3} * \pi * r_{PS}^3 * \rho_{PS} = \frac{20^{mg}/L}{r_{Ag}^3 * \rho_{Ag}} * r_{PS}^3 * \rho_{PS} = \frac{20^{mg}/L}{7.3^3 * 10.49} mg/L \approx 11^{mg}/L$$

 $C_{PS} - \text{polystyrene NP mass-based concentration, mg/L}$ $m_{PS} - \text{mass of a polystyrene NP, mg}$ $n_{Ag} - \text{number of AgNPs/L}$ $\rho_{Ag} - \text{density of silver (10.49 g/cm^3)}$ $\rho_{PS} - \text{density of polystyrene (1.06 g/cm^3)}$ $r_{Ag} - \text{radius of an AgNP (7.3 nm)}$ $r_{PS} - \text{radius of a polystyrene NP (13 nm)}$ $V_{Ag} - \text{volume of an AgNP, cm}^3$ $V_{PS} - \text{volume of a polystyrene NP, cm}^3$

In vitro enzyme activity assays

The enzyme inhibitory effects of NPs and AgNO₃ were assessed by measuring the activity of purchased pure superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT) after incubation with the test chemicals. SOD activity was measured using 19160 SOD determination kit (Sigma-Aldrich). 10 μ L of SOD (2 U/mL, Sigma) was mixed with an equal volume of test dispersion/solution at a range of concentrations and pipetted into the wells of a transparent 96-well polystyrene microplate (Falcon). 200 μ L of water-soluble tetrazolium salt (WST-1, 2-(4-Iodophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium, monosodium salt) working solution and 20 μ L of Enzyme Working Solution or Dilution Buffer were added to samples or blanks, respectively. The plate was incubated at 37 °C with agitation (Titramax 1000 Incubator) for 20 min, followed by the absorbance measurement at λ =450 nm using a multi-mode microplate reader (SpectraMax Paradigm). Inhibition curve was constructed with SOD over a concentration range of 0.1...2 U/mL. SOD activities in the samples were calculated following the manufacturer's protocol.

CAT activity was assessed using the method described by Iwase et al. (Iwase et al., 2013) Briefly, 100 μ L of 1% Triton X-100 (Fluka) was pipetted to 5-mL round bottom polypropylene tubes (Greiner Bio-One). 50 μ L of CAT (0.5 mg/L, ~2000 U/mg, Sigma) in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (PPB, pH 7) was mixed with 50 μ L of NPs or AgNO₃ at a range of concentrations and added to Triton X-100. For the calibration curve, 50 μ L of CAT at the concentration range of 0.125...1 mg/L in 50 mM PPB was mixed with 50 μ L of MilliQ water and added to Triton X-100. Subsequently, 100 μ L of 30% H₂O₂ was added to the

mixtures and the tubes were incubated at room temperature for 30 min. CAT activity was quantified by taking an image of the tubes and measuring the height of foam produced by released O_2 by counting the pixels in the image.

Tetrahymena thermophila cultivation and viability measurements

100 µl of *T. thermophila* (strains CU427 and CU428) stock culture was pipetted into 10 mL of SSP medium consisting of 2% proteose peptone (Fluka), 0.1% yeast extract (Lab M) and 0.2% glucose, supplemented with antibiotics streptomycin sulphate (Sigma-Aldrich) and penicillin G (Fluka), each at 250 µg/mL, and 1.25 µg/mL of fungicide amphotericin B (Sigma-Aldrich), and incubated in a Petri dish at 30 °C for 18-24 h. The cells were harvested at the exponential growth phase by centrifugation at 300 g for 5 min at 4 °C and washed twice with MilliQ water. For experiments with NPs and AgNO₃, *T. thermophila* culture was added to 100 µL of test dispersion/solution. After 2- and 24-h exposure in 96-well polystyrene plates at 25 °C in the dark, the toxicity of NPs and AgNO₃ was evaluated by measuring the cellular ATP content using the luciferin-luciferase assay (Sigma-Aldrich). ATP was extracted from the cells essentially as in Kahru et al. (Kahru et al., 1982) with modifications as described previously (Jemec et al., 2016; Mortimer et al., 2010).

Gene expression studies with Tetrahymena thermophila

For gene expression studies, *T. thermophila* cells were exposed to AgNPs, AgNO₃ and PS NPs in above-mentioned concentrations and conditions in Petri dishes with 4 compartments, each treatment in two replicates. After 2- and 24-h exposure, total RNA was isolated using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. RNA concentration was measured at λ =260 nm and the purity of RNA was in the range of 1.8-2.2 ($\lambda_{260 \text{ nm}}/ \lambda_{280 \text{ nm}}$). The samples were further digested with DNase I (Fermentas) and reverse transcribed into cDNA using M-MuLV Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo Scientific) following the procedure suggested by the provider. For real-time PCR, Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific) was used and the reaction mix was prepared according to the manufacturer's protocol. The primers used to amplify selected genes are listed in Table S2. Real-time PCR was performed in a 96-well thermal cycler (Bio-Rad) using the following cycling program: 10 min at 95 °C, followed by 40 cycles of 15 sec at 95 °C and 60 sec at 55 °C. Two replicate reactions were performed for each primer pair. The relative ratio of each gene was calculated according to Yu et al. (Yu et al., 2012) by using *T. thermophila* 17srRNA gene (GenBank ID M10932) as a reference.

Assays for intracellular ROS generation and SOD and CAT activity

T. thermophila samples were subjected to intracellular ROS analysis immediately after exposure. For lipid peroxidation analysis, samples were frozen and kept at -20 $^{\circ}$ C until analysis, and for catalase (CAT) and superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity analysis, the samples were frozen with liquid nitrogen in order to disrupt the cells.

Generation of ROS in the cells was measured by adding 10 μ L of 1.03 mM DCFH-DA to 100 μ L of protozoan suspension pipetted in the wells of a black 96-well polypropylene microplate (Greiner Bio-One) and incubated for 1 h at 25 °C in the dark. The fluorescence was quantified using the Fluoroskan Ascent FL microplate reader (excitation 485 nm, emission 527 nm) and normalized to cellular ATP content (biomass of viable cells).

CAT activity in the samples was determined as described in Li and Schellhorn (Li and Schellhorn, 2007). Briefly, thawed protozoan samples from different exposure scenarios (see above) were diluted 10-fold in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7). 200 μ L of sample was transferred into transparent 96-well UV-Star microplate (655801, Greiner Bio-One). 50 μ L of 0.2% H₂O₂ was added to the sample and the decrease in absorption was measured at λ =240 nm every 15 sec for 5 min using a spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific Multiskan Spectrum). Calibration curve was constructed with CAT (Sigma) over the concentration range of 0.5-2 U/mL.

For SOD activity measurements the samples were thawed and diluted 5-fold in the Dilution Buffer from 19160 SOD determination kit (Sigma-Aldrich). 20 μ L of the diluted sample was transferred into a transparent 96-well polystyrene microplate (Falcon) and SOD activity was determined following the manufacturer's protocol as described above for the pure SOD activity (*In vitro* enzyme activity assays).

Results

Effect of Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs on SOD and CAT activity in vitro

Prior to using the SOD assay for assessment of the effect of Ag-compounds on purified SOD activity, the effect of Ag on the performance of the assay was tested first. AgNPs and AgNO₃ at concentrations used in *T. thermophila* study (1.5 mg Ag/L for Ag ions and 20 mg Ag/L for AgNPs) interfered with the assay performance by inhibiting an assay component - xanthine oxidase (Fig. S9). When Ag concentrations that did not interfere with the assay performance (0.3 mg Ag/L for Ag-ions and 4 mg Ag/L for AgNPs) were tested, no significant inhibitory effect by Ag-compounds on SOD enzyme was found. On the other hand, Ag-compounds did not appear to interfere with the SOD assay in the cell-based tests, i.e., where intracellular SOD activity was measured in *T. thermophila* after exposure to sub-lethal concentrations of Ag-compounds. This could be explained by possible binding of Ag to cellular compounds that reduced the concentration of free Ag ions inhibitory to xanthine oxidase (data not shown).

The conventional method for CAT activity assessment (Li and Schellhorn, 2007) where H_2O_2 is added and the change in optical density at 240 nm is measured was not applicable because AgNPs absorbed light at this wavelength and H_2O_2 bleached the AgNP suspension (data not shown). Instead, a foam based method (Iwase et al., 2013) was applied (Fig. S10). However, this method could not be used for determining the effect of AgNPs on CAT activity either: no dose dependent inhibition of CAT activity by AgNPs was detected, both sub-lethal

concentration of 20 mg Ag/L and close to 100% lethal concentration of 100 mg Ag/L appeared to equally inhibit CAT activity by 69%. This may have been an experimental artefact caused by H_2O_2 interactions with the protein coating of Collargol AgNPs. Ag-ions, on the other hand, inhibited CAT dose-dependently and 2 mg Ag/L inhibited approximately 50% of the activity.

Parameter		Reference
Primary size (diameter)	$14.6 \pm 4.7 \text{ nm}$	(Bondarenko et al., 2013)
Coating	casein (30% of total mass)	(Bondarenko et al., 2013)
Shape according to TEM	spherical	(Blinova et al., 2013)
Hydrodynamic diameter in MilliQ water	44 nm (pdi = 0.2)	(Bondarenko et al., 2013)
Zeta potential in MilliQ water	-42.7 mV	(Blinova et al., 2013)
Solubility in MilliQ water	7.6% at 10 mg/L in 4 h	(Bondarenko et al., 2013)
	6.9% at 5 mg/L in 24 h	(Kaosaar et al., 2016)
TEM – transmission electron microscopy pdi – polydispersity index MilliQ water – ultrapure water		

Table S1. Physico-chemical parameters of silver nanoparticles (Collargol, AgNPs)

Table S2. List of primers used in this study.

_

Gene	Primer	Sequence
HSP70a paralog SSA4 (TTHERM_01080440)	hsp703	FW: 5' TCTAAAAGCTAAGTCCACGAAGTT 3' RV: 5' AACCAGTTAGAATTGCAGCCTATA 3'
HSP70 (TTHERM_00105110)	hsp704	FW: 5' CAAGAACCAAGTCCACGAAGTC 3' RV: 5' GAACCAGAACCAGTCAAGATAGC 3'
HSP70a paralog SSA5 (TTHERM_00558440)	hsp705	FW: 5' TCTCAAAGCCAGTCAAGAATGC 3' RV: 5' GCCATAAGCAATAGCAGCAGC 3'
Metallothionein (TTHERM_00241640)	MTT1	FW: 5' GCGGATGTTGCTGCGTAAGTAA 3' RV: 5' GGGATCAAAGCAGCAGGGTTTA 3'
Metallothionein (TTHERM_00660230)	MTT5	FW: 5' GTCGGTTCAGGAGAAGGATGC 3' RV: 5' CCTCCAGGGCAGCATTCTTTAG 3'
Superoxide dismutase (TTHERM_00357070)	SOD1	FW: 5' GGGTGGTCATATTAACCACGCT 3' RV: 5' GGATAGCAGCAGTACGACCG 3'
Cu/Zn SOD (TTHERM_00059350)	SOD2	FW: 5' CCCTGCTCCAGGATATGATG 3' RV: 5' GTGAGGACCAACAGATTCTGTT 3'
Catalase (TTHERM_01146030)	CAT	FW: 5' GAGGTACTCCCGATGGTTAC 3' RV: 5' GGGCATCAGCTTCAGCAGC 3'
Glutathione peroxidase (TTHERM_00895660)	GPX2	FW: 5' CGTCTCATTGAAGAACTTTAACAA 3' RV: 5' CAGCCCAAGGTTCTTATTCACC 3'
Thioredoxin and glutathione reductase (TTHERM_00047660)	GSR	FW: 5' CCGTGGTACTGTACCTCACC 3' RV: 5' CCATAGTCTCTACACCGATATTC 3'
Ribosomal protein	17S	FW: 5' GAATTGACGGAACAGCACACC 3' RV: 5' TCACTCCACCAACTAAGAACGGC 3'



Fig. S1 Viability of *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains CU427 (A) and CU428 (B) upon exposure to Ag-compounds for 2 and 24 hours at 25 °C in the dark: a concentration-effect analysis. Data points are the average values of at least 3 replicates and error bars indicate standard deviations. ATP concentration was used as a viability endpoint. Concentration-effect curves were generated using REGTOX software for Microsoft ExcelTM.



Fig. S2 Viability of *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains CU427 (A) and CU428 (B) upon 2- and 24-h exposure at 25 °C in the dark to 1.5 mg Ag/L of AgNO₃, 20 mg Ag/L of AgNPs, 11 mg/L of polystyrene NPs and a mixture of 1.1 mg Fe/L of $FeSO_4x7H_2O$ and 15 mg/L H_2O_2 (a Fenton reaction). These sub-lethal exposure concentrations were used for gene expression study, ROS assay, lipid peroxidation test and for the measurement of the activity of antioxidant enzymes. The bars are the average values of at least 6 replicates and error bars indicate standard deviations. Protozoan viability was measured using an ATP assay (Jemec et al., 2016). The concentrations are nominal.



Fig. S3 Dissolution of different nominal concentrations of AgNPs after incubation for 2 and 24 h in MilliQ water at 25 °C in the dark. The bars are the average values of 2 to 4 replicate measurements and error bars indicate standard deviations. The values on top of the bars (with the fraction of initial Ag in parentheses) are Ag concentrations quantified by AAS as described in the methods.



Fig. S4 Hydrodynamic size distribution of polystyrene NPs. $d_{average}$ – average hydrodynamic diameter of 3 replicate measurements ± standard deviation, pdi – polydispersity index.



Fig. S5 Production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs in abiotic conditions (in the absence of protozoa) at 25 °C in the dark as quantified by DCFH-DA (A) and HPF (B) fluorescence. All the exposure concentrations are nominal and sublethal. The concentrations of Ag-compounds are presented as mg Ag/L. The bars are average values of 3 replicates and error bars indicate standard deviations. Red lines indicate background fluorescence (= 1.0) of MilliQ water in the respective assays. Panel B demonstrates that HPF fluorescence was quenched in the presence of AgNPs, i.e., indicates that the assay could not be used for quantifying abiotic ROS in AgNP dispersions. Fenton reaction was induced with 1.1 mg Fe/L of FeSO₄x7H₂O and 15 mg/L H₂O₂. In pairwise comparison, the asterisk (*) marks significant difference (p < 0.05) and (**) marks highly significant difference (p < 0.01).



Fig. S6 Pairwise comparison of 2 h and 24 h EC_{50} values for AgNO₃ (A) and AgNPs (B) for *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains CU427 and CU428. EC_{50} values are presented in Table 1 in the main paper.



Fig. S7 Toxicity of AgNP and AgNO₃ to *Tetrahymena thermophila* strains CU427 and CU428: 2 h and 24 h EC₅₀ values based on nominal *versus* dissolved silver concentrations. EC₅₀ values based on nominal concentrations are from Table 1; EC₅₀ values based on dissolved Ag ions are calculated using data presented in Figure 1. Data represent the average of 3 replicates and the error bars indicate 95% confidence intervals.



Fig. S8 Bright field images of live *Tetrahymena thermophila* cells (strains CU427 and CU428) after 2- and 24-h incubation in MilliQ water (A) and exposure to 1.5 mg Ag/L of AgNO₃ (B), 11 mg/L of polystyrene NPs (C), and mixture of 1.1 mg Fe/L of FeSO₄x7H₂O and 15 mg/L H₂O₂ (a Fenton reaction), (D) in MilliQ water. All the exposure concentrations are sub-lethal and nominal.



Fig. S9 Effect of Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs on SOD assay performance, i.e., inhibition of the assay component – xanthine oxidase (lines) and on enzymatic activity of SOD standard (full bars). The concentrations of Ag-compounds are nominal and presented as mg Ag/L.



Fig. S10 Effect of Ag-compounds and polystyrene NPs on catalase (CAT) activity in the foam test. Concentrations are nominal. Inh. – inhibition percentage compared to enzymatic activity of the same concentration of CAT standard in 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7). PS – polystyrene NPs. No dose dependent CAT inhibition by AgNPs was established using the assay which led us to conclude that the 69% inhibition was an experimental artefact caused by H_2O_2 interactions with the protein coating of Collargol AgNPs.

References:

Blinova, I., Niskanen, J., Kajankari, P., Kanarbik, L., Kaekinen, A., Tenhu, H., Penttinen, O.-P., Kahru, A., 2013. Toxicity of two types of silver nanoparticles to aquatic crustaceans Daphnia magna and Thamnocephalus platyurus. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 20, 3456-3463.

Bondarenko, O., Ivask, A., Kaekinen, A., Kurvet, I., Kahru, A., 2013. Particle-Cell Contact Enhances Antibacterial Activity of Silver Nanoparticles. Plos One 8.

Iwase, T., Tajima, A., Sugimoto, S., Okuda, K., Hironaka, I., Kamata, Y., Takada, K., Mizunoe, Y., 2013. A Simple Assay for Measuring Catalase Activity: A Visual Approach. Scientific Reports 3, 4.

Jemec, A., Kahru, A., Potthoff, A., Drobne, D., Heinlaan, M., Boehme, S., Geppert, M., Novak, S., Schirmer, K., Rekulapally, R., Singh, S., Aruoja, V., Sihtmaee, M., Juganson, K., Kaekinen, A., Kuehnel, D., 2016. An interlaboratory comparison of nanosilver characterisation and hazard identification: Harmonising techniques for high quality data. Environment International 87, 20-32.

Kahru, A., Liiders, M., Vanatalu, K., Vilu, R., 1982. ADENYLATE ENERGY-CHARGE DURING BATCH CULTURE OF THERMOACTINOMYCES-VULGARIS 42. Archives of Microbiology 133, 142-144.

Kaosaar, S., Kahru, A., Mantecca, P., Kasemets, K., 2016. Profiling of the toxicity mechanisms of coated and uncoated silver nanoparticles to yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae BY4741 using a set of its 9 single-gene deletion mutants defective in oxidative stress response, cell wall or membrane integrity and endocytosis. Toxicology in Vitro 35, 149-162.

Li, Y., Schellhorn, H.E., 2007. Rapid kinetic microassay for catalase activity. Journal of biomolecular techniques : JBT 18, 185-187.

Mortimer, M., Kasemets, K., Kahru, A., 2010. Toxicity of ZnO and CuO nanoparticles to ciliated protozoa Tetrahymena thermophila. Toxicology 269, 182-189.

Yu, T., Barchetta, S., Pucciarelli, S., La Terza, A., Miceli, C., 2012. A Novel Robust Heat-inducible Promoter for Heterologous Gene Expression in Tetrahymena thermophila. Protist 163, 284-295.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Katre Juganson

Date and place of birth: 09.06.1988, Tallinn, Estonia E-mail address: katre.juganson@eesti.ee

Education

2012-2018	Tallinn University of Technology, PhD student of Chemistry and Gene Technology
2010-2012	Tallinn University of Technology, Master of Science in Natural Sciences (cum laude)
2007-2010	Tallinn University of Technology, Bachelor of Science in Natural Sciences (cum laude)
2004-2007	Tallinn Secondary School of Science (silver medal)

Language competence/skills

Estonian, English (fluent) Russian (average) Finnish (basic)

Special courses

Sept. 26-30, 2016	Sweden, Karolinska Institutet, course "Safety assessment in drug discovery and development"
May 4-5, 2016	Estonia, NICPB, training school "Assessing the dose of nanomaterials in toxicological studies: Advanced approaches utilizing experimentation and modelling"
Nov. 4-9, 2013	Italy, University of Camerino, training school "Genomics and Evolutionary Biology"
May 6-10, 2013	Portugal, University of Aveiro, course "Implications of Nanomaterials: A hands on course on Synthesis, Characterization, and Ecotoxicology, 5th Edition"
Apr. 22-26, 2013	Sweden, Karolinska Institutet, course "Nanotoxicology - potential risks of engineered nanomaterials to human health and the environment"
Nov. 14-18, 2011	Turkey, course "EUROTOX Advanced Toxicology course"
Oct. 10-11, 2011	Estonian University of Life Sciences, short course on methods in transmission, scanning and immunoelectron microscopy
Jun. 27-Jul. 1, 2011	Serbia, University of Belgrade, course "EUROTOX Basic Toxicology course"

Professional Employment

- 2010-... National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Laboratory of Environmental Toxicology, junior researcher (2015-...), engineer (2012-2015), MSc student (2010-2012)
- 2009-2010 Tallinn University of Technology, Chair of Semiconductor Materials Technology, BSc student
- 2008–2009 Tallinn University of Technology, Chair of Molecular Diagnostics, BSc student

Honours & Awards

- 2017 Conference award for the best contribution at NanoImpact conference (Ascona, Switzerland), oral presentation
- 2016 Finalist and nominee of the three-minute lecture competition of the Estonian Academy of Sciences
- 2016 nanoTOX2016 Travel award for participation in the 8th International Nanotoxicology Congress
- 2013 COST action BM1102 Ciliates as model systems to study genome evolution, mechanisms of non-Mendelian inheritance, and their roles in environmental adaptation Short-Term Scientific Mission Grant for research at the University of Camerino, Italy (2 months)
- 2013 Katre Juganson and Urmas Joost; Tartu University and Tallinn University of Technology doctoral school "Functional Materials and Technologies"; Grant for interdisciplinary research project "Photocatalytic properties of nano-TiO₂ thin films: Effects on biomolecules and living cells"
- 2012 EUROTOX 2012 fellowship for participation in the 48th EUROTOX Congress

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Katre Juganson

Sünniaeg ja -koht: 09.06.1988, Tallinn, Eesti E-posti aadress: katre.juganson@eesti.ee

Hariduskäik

2012-2018	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, keemia- ja geenitehnoloogia doktorant
2010-2012	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, loodusteaduste magister (cum laude)
2007-2010	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, loodusteaduste bakalaureus (cum laude)
2004-2007	Tallinna Reaalkool (hõbemedal)

Keelteoskus

eesti, inglise (kõrgtase) vene (kesktase) soome (algtase)

Täiendusõpe

2630. sept. 2016	Rootsi, Karolinska Institutet, kursus: "Safety assessment in drug discovery and development"
45. mai 2016	Eesti, KBFI, kursus: "Assessing the dose of nanomaterials in toxicological studies: Advanced approaches utilizing experimentation and modelling"
49. nov. 2013	Itaalia, Camerino ülikool, kursus "Genomics and Evolutionary Biology"
610. mai 2013	Portugal, Aveiro ülikool, kursus "Implications of Nanomaterials: A hands on course on Synthesis, Characterization, and Ecotoxicology, 5th Edition"
2226. apr. 2013	Rootsi, Karolinska Institutet, kursus "Nanotoxicology - potential risks of engineered nanomaterials to human health and the environment"
1418. nov. 2011	Türgi, kursus "EUROTOX Advanced Toxicology course"
1011. okt. 2011	Eesti Maaülikool, transmissioon-, skaneeriva ja immuunoelektronmikroskoopia kursus
27. juuni-1. juuli 2011	Serbia, Belgradi ülikool, kursus "EUROTOX Basic Toxicology course"

Teenistuskäik

- 2010-... Keemilise ja Bioloogilise Füüsika Instituut, keskkonnatoksikoloogia laboratoorium, nooremteadur (2015-...), insener (2012-2015), magistrant (2010-2012)
- 2009-2010 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, pooljuhtmaterjalide tehnoloogia õppetool, bakalaureus
- 2008–2009 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, molekulaardiagnostika õppetool, bakalaureus

Teaduspreemiad ja -tunnustused

- 2017 Konverentsiauhind parima suulise ettekande eest rahvusvahelisel konverentsil NanoImpact (Ascona, Šveits)
- 2016 Eesti Teaduste Akadeemia kolme minuti pikkuste loengute konkursi finalist ja laureaat
- 2016 nanoTOX2016 stipendium 8. rahvusvahelisel nanotoksikoloogia konverentsil osalemiseks
- 2013 COST tegevuse BM1102 *Ciliates as model systems to study genome evolution, mechanisms of non-Mendelian inheritance, and their roles in environmental adaptation* lühiajalise teadusmissiooni stipendium teadustööks Itaalias, Camerino Ülikoolis (2 kuud)
- 2013 Katre Juganson ja Urmas Joost; Tartu Ülikooli ja Tallinna Tehnikaülikooli doktorikooli "Funktsionaalsed Materjalid ja Tehnoloogiad" toetus interdistsiplinaarseks uurimisprojektiks "TiO₂ nanoosakeste ning nanokilede fotokatalüütiliste omaduste uurimine bioloogiliste molekulide ning elusrakkude näitel"
- 2012 EUROTOX 2012 stipendium 48. EUROTOX'i konverentsil osalemiseks